Aus dem

Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung

und dem Fachbereich Veterinärmedizin

der Freien Universität Berlin

Development of predictive tenacity models for *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Biomedical Sciences

an der

Freien Universität Berlin

vorgelegt von

Anna-Delia Knipper (geb. Herbstmann)

aus Coesfeld

Berlin 2024

Journal-Nr.: 4432

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin

Dekan:Univ.-Prof. Dr. Uwe RöslerErster Gutachter:Univ.-Prof. Dr. Thomas AlterZweiter Gutachter:Prof. Dr. Charles FranzDritter Gutachter:PD Dr. Bernd-Alois Tenhagen

Deskriptoren (nach CAB-Thesaurus):

dairy cows, *campylobacter*, campylobacteriosis, raw milk, food safety, food hygiene, public health, risk assessment, germany

Tag der Promotion: 16.02.2024

Table of contents

Tables and Figures	IV
List of Abbreviations	VII
1 Introduction	. 1
2 Literature review	. 4
2.1 Sale and consumption of raw milk	4
2.2 Campylobacteriosis – a zoonotic disease	5
2.3 Contamination of raw milk along the supply chain	6
2.4 Survival strategies of Campylobacter spp.	7
2.5 Predictive microbiology	8
2.5.1 Model development	9
2.5.2 Model evaluation and validation	.11
2.5.3 Predictive models for <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in raw milk	.12
2.6 Risk analysis	.13
2.7 Risk assessment	.14
2.7.1 Variability and Uncertainty	.16
2.7.2 Dose-response model	.16
2.7.3 QMRAs for <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. along the raw milk supply chain	.19
3 Publications	20
3.1 List of publications and own contribution	.20
3.2 Publication 1: Prevalence and concentration of <i>Campylobacter</i> in feces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis	.22
3.3 Publication 2: Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in dairy cows, during milking and in the dairy farm environment	.41
3.4 Publication 3: Modeling the survival of <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC)	าg .56
3.5 Publication 4: Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for	
<i>Campylobacter</i> in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany	.70
4 Discussion	79
4.1 Cow feces: The initial contamination source	.79
4.2 Transmission of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. along the raw milk supply chain	.81
4.3 Survival of <i>C. jejuni</i> in raw milk	.83
4.4 Modelling the survival of <i>C. jejuni</i> in raw milk	.85
4.5 Risk mitigation strategies	.87
4.6 Limitations	.90
5 Conclusion	91
6 Summary	92

7 Zusammenfassung	
8 References	
9 Appendix	111
9.1 Supplementary material of Publication 1	111
9.2 Supplementary material of Publication 2	127
9.3 Supplementary material of Publication 3	134
10 List of Publications	143
11 Danksagung	145
12 Finanzierungsquellen	147
13 Interessenskonflikte	147
14 Selbstständigkeitserklärung	148

Tables and Figures

Introduction

Table 1	Primary inactivation model equations	10
Figure 1	Illustration of models used for describing the inactivation of pathogens in foods	10
Figure 2	Interaction between the three elements of risk analysis	13
Figure 3	QMRA model structure	14
Figure 4	Overview of classic dose-response model and outbreak dose-response model	17

Publication 1

Table 1	Overview of search strategy and number of articles found specific to the respective database	24
Figure 1	Flow diagram of selected studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis	27
Figure 2	Number of studies reporting data for potential influencing factors and their subgroups, which are the health status (a) and age class (b) of dairy cows, as well as the fecal collection method (c) and the <i>Campylobacter</i> species (d)	28
Figure 3	Forest plot of the aggregated sample estimating the pooled prevalence of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in cows' feces from 32 studies	30
Figure 4	Forest plot of the sub-group analysis of the aggregated sample comparing the prevalence estimates of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in feces of dairy cows between different fecal collection methods (A) and age classes of the dairy cows (B)	31

Publication 2

Table 1Prevalence data for all samp	e types and taxa analyzed 46
-------------------------------------	------------------------------

Table 2	Mean log ₁₀ concentration and standard deviation for all sample types and microorganisms analyzed	47
Figure 1	(A) Concentration of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in feces per month.(B) Proportion of negative, qualitative positive (enrichment) and quantitative positive samples	47
Figure 2	Overview of the concentration of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in feces of individual cows (ID numbers)	48
Figure 3	Association of minimum temperature with the occurrence of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. on teat skin	49
Table 3	Multi-level model with parameters with an effect on the occurrence of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. in teat swab and feces sample	49

Publication 3

Figure 1	Overview of experimental set-up for spiking of raw milk and culture- dependent plus culture-independent method for quantification of viable <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> in raw milk	59
Figure 2	Survival kinetics for <i>C. jejuni</i> strain BfR-CA-18043 (top row) and strain DSM 4688 (bottom row) in raw milk at 5 °C, 8 °C and 12 °C storage	62
Table 1	Recovery rates of <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> strains DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043	62
Table 2	Estimated parameters and goodness-of-fit values for the developed CFU data-derived tertiary models of <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> strain DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043	63
Figure 3	Relationship between predicted-concentrations ($\log_{10} N_t$) from the (A) DSM 4688-derived and (B) BfR-18043-derived tertiary models and the data used for the model development	63
Table 3	Estimated parameters and goodness-of-fit for the developed tertiary model derived from IPIU data of <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> strain DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043	63

Figure 4	Relationship between predicted-concentrations ($\log_{10} N_t$) from the intact and putatively infectious units (IPILI) derived tertiary model and	63
	data used for model development	
Figure 5	Validation of the predicted-concentrations ($\log_{10} N_t$) from the (A) DSM 4688 and (B) BfR-CA-18043 derived tertiary models and independent (internal and external) experimental validation data	64
Figure 6	Validation of the predicted-concentrations $(\log_{10} N_t)$ from the intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU) derived tertiary model and independent (internal and external) experimental validation data for <i>C. jejuni</i> (DSM 4688, BfR-CA-18040 and BfR-CA-18043) in previously frozen raw milk at different temperatures	64
Table 4	The t_{xd} (time to achieve x-log reduction, e.g., t_{1d}) values for CFU and IPIU data for <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> strains in raw milk of different	64

Publication 4

temperatures

- Figure 1 Baseline model and an overview of the different processes and units 71 used to describe the concentration and prevalence of *Campylobacter* in the raw milk pathway
- Table 1Overview of variables and parameters in the baseline model enabling72to estimate the number of *Campylobacter* cases from consuming rawmilk
- Table 2Overview of the parameters to evaluate uncertainty and their effect on74the estimated campylobacteriosis risk due to raw milk consumption,
relative to the baseline model74
- Figure 2Results of different scenario analysis to investigate the uncertainty76around the model parameter values on estimated campylobacteriosisrisk due to raw milk consumption, relative to the baseline model

List of Abbreviations

A _f	Accuracy factor
ANN	Artificial neural network
APC	Aerobic plate count
APZ	Acceptable predictions zone
a _w	Water activity
B _f	Bias factor
CC	Clonal complex
CFU	Colony-forming units
cgMLST	Core-genome multilocus sequence types
EHEC	Enterohaemorrhagic <i>E. coli</i>
EU	European Union
FAIR	Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reuse
FAO	Food Agriculture Organization
FSKX	Food Safety Knowledge Exchange
HACCP	Hazard analysis and critical control points
IPIU	Intact and putatively infectious units
k _{max}	Maximum specific inactivation rate
LAGESO	State Office for Health and Social Affairs
MPN	Most probable number
MPRM	Modular process risk model
N _{res}	Residual population density
PMA	Propidium monoazide
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
QMRA	Quantitative microbial risk assessment
R ²	Coefficient of determination
RMSE	Root mean square error
RoB	Risk of Bias
SI	Duration of shoulder effect
ST	Sequence type
STEC	Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli

TACC	Total aerobic colony count
t _{xd}	Time required to obtain an x-log reduction
VBNC	Viable but non-culturable
v-qPCR	Viable quantitative polymerase chain reaction
WHO	World Health Organization
σ	Time for the first decimal reduction

1 Introduction

The sale of raw cow's milk has become a common practice in many European countries in recent years. However, if the milk is not properly heat-treated before consumption, there is a potential that some pathogenic bacteria from the animal, like Campylobacter spp., may reach the consumer. The consumption of raw milk has repeatedly been associated with campylobacteriosis outbreaks (EFSA, 2021). Campylobacteriosis symptoms comprise shortterm effects (fever, abdominal cramps and diarrhea) and possible chronic complications including Guillain-Barré syndrome, irritable bowel syndrome and reactive arthritis (Keithlin et al., 2014). The transmission route of *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain from dairy cows is not completely understood. Cross-contamination due to fecal contamination of the raw milk through insufficient housing conditions and milking hygiene might be an important cause of Campylobacter spp. transfer to consumers. To estimate the cross-contamination, it is necessary 1) to investigate the prevalence and concentration of Campylobacter spp. in dairy cow feces and 2) to investigate feces and raw milk samples in the same setting. Only low concentration and prevalence of Campylobacter spp. have been reported in raw milk (BVL, 2020). Therefore, longitudinal studies with frequent sampling are required to get comprehensive insight in contamination events and an estimation of contamination frequency.

Campylobacter spp. are known to enter a viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state under harsh environmental conditions (Rollins and Colwell, 1986). Hence, it is assumed that the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk is underestimated since culture-dependent methods only detect colony-forming units (CFU) and are not able to detect *Campylobacter* spp. in VBNC state (Wulsten et al., 2020). The pathogenicity of *Campylobacter* spp. in the VBNC state is unknown. However, once favorable conditions recur, *Campylobacter* spp. can recover back from VBNC into CFU within a certain time window (Wulsten et al., 2020) and regain full infectious potential (Baffone et al., 2006). Reliable experimental data on the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk, taking into account not only CFU data but also VBNC data and recovery data of VBNC cells, are necessary to estimate the survival during raw milk storage.

Predictive microbiology models that describe the behavior (growth or decay) of foodborne pathogens are helpful tools that give a rapid response to assess food safety (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). To estimate and compare the potential of *Campylobacter* spp. survival in raw milk during storage in the two possible physiological states predictive models, based on CFU and VBNC data are needed.

Microbial risk assessment allows an *a priori* assessment of the effect of intervention measures along the whole food chain, or combinations of intervention measures on public health

(Havelaar et al., 2008). Current microbial risk assessments for *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk have focused on the vending machines and lacked detailed data from housing conditions and the milking hygiene (Giacometti et al., 2015; Anonymous, 2009). To reduce consumer exposure to *Campylobacter* spp. by identifying potential intervention measures QMRAs are needed over the whole food chain.

The aim of this PhD project was to conduct a detailed investigation on the presence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the raw milk production chain with the goal of identifying measures at the farm level to mitigate the risk of consumer exposure. In detail, the objectives were 1) to describe the presence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of dairy cows based on information contained in the literature, 2) to analyze the occurrence and transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. on a dairy farm during a longitudinal field study, 3) to obtain experimental data and predict the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk during storage and 4) to evaluate different risk mitigation strategies at the farm level to support risk managers. The following corresponding research steps were conducted:

I. <u>Systematic review on Campylobacter spp. in feces of dairy cows</u>

A systematic review and meta-analysis was performed to summarize previous research on *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of dairy cows worldwide. Prevalence and concentration data were extracted and important data gaps as well as limitations in current studies were highlighted.

II. <u>Longitudinal study to investigate the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain on one small German dairy farm over one year</u>

In a longitudinal study, different samples were collected directly from the cows, during milking and from the dairy farm environment over one year. The samples were fecal samples directly from the rectum of dairy cows, boot sock samples from the barn, teat skin swab samples, raw milk samples from the individual cows, milk filter samples and swab samples from milking equipment. Samples were analyzed for the presence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp., *E. coli*, total aerobic colony count (TACC) and for *Pseudomonas* spp. A scoring was performed for the consistency of cows' feces and the level of cleanliness of the teat skin swab samples.

III. <u>Survival studies and predictive models for *C. jejuni* in raw milk at different temperatures</u>

To investigate the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk, a culture-dependent and cultureindependent method were used to collect data on different *C. jejuni* strains in inoculated raw milk at 5°C, 8°C, and 12°C. A cultural detection method was used to detect CFU and viable quantitative polymerase chain reaction (v-qPCR) was applied to obtain intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU) comprising CFU and VBNC data. The generated data were used to develop predictive models on the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk based on CFU and IPIU data between 5°C to 12°C.

IV. Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model

A QMRA model for *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain was developed based on data from the longitudinal study and scientific literature. Different uncertainty analysis and risk mitigation scenarios along the supply chain were evaluated to identify data gaps and support risk managers in controlling *Campylobacter* spp.

2 Literature review

2.1 Sale and consumption of raw milk

In recent years, consumer demand for fresh and unprocessed products has increased, which has affected the food supply chain. In addition, the abolishment of the milk quota in 2015 has influenced milk production and intensified the direct sale of raw milk to consumers (TMR, 2016). Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 characterizes the product "raw milk" as "milk produced by the secretion of the mammary gland of farmed animals that has not been heated to more than 40°C or undergone any treatment that has an equivalent effect". In Europe, the microbial criteria for raw milk of cow's are \leq 100 000 aerobic plate count (APC)/ml via enumeration on agar plates at 30°C (Regulation (EC) No 853/2004).

Many European countries, including Germany, France, the Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark, Italy, Ireland and parts of the United Kingdom allow controlled direct sale of raw cow's milk to consumers on-farm (EFSA, 2015). Self-service and automatic vending machines are used for delivering raw milk. Certain requirements are necessary for the direct sale of raw milk. The conditions include that the delivery must take place at the farm producing the milk and the consumer must be advised to boil the raw milk before consumption. The competent authority must be informed about the provision of raw milk to consumers (BMJV, 2018). Raw milk for sale in vending machines should be cooled to below 4°C after milking and this temperature must be maintained during storage and transportation (EFSA, 2015). However, a study has shown that nearly one third of the raw milk samples (31.2%) investigated on site at farms in Germany had a temperature higher than 8°C (Böhnlein et al., 2020). In addition, surveys in Italy demonstrated that 13.9% to 43% of consumers ignore the advice of boiling raw milk before consumption (Giacometti et al., 2013).

In Germany nearly 850 raw milk sale outlets were registered at the end of 2019 based on a query of the respective state and county veterinary authorities (Labohm et al., 2021; Böhnlein et al., 2020). Raw milk sales through vending machines (n= 154) were on average 14,505 liters/year, with a range of 2,200 to 70,000 liters per year in Germany in 2019 (Labohm et al., 2021).

For the consumer the enhanced nutritional qualities, taste and health benefits, as well as support of regionally produced products were reasons for increased interest in raw milk consumption (Crotta et al., 2016; Claeys et al., 2014; Oliver, 2009). However, studies have shown that raw milk can be contaminated by a variety of pathogens, of which some are associated with human illness and disease (e.g. *Campylobacter* spp., Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) or *Salmonella* spp.) (Oliver, 2009).

2.2 Campylobacteriosis – a zoonotic disease

Campylobacteriosis is a zoonotic disease caused by bacteria of the genus *Campylobacter*. It is the most commonly reported foodborne gastrointestinal infection in humans in the European Union (EU) since 2007 (EFSA, 2022). In 2021, 127,840 cases of human illness were reported in the EU (EFSA, 2022). Most of these cases were associated with undercooked poultry meat and an insufficient kitchen hygiene related to raw meat handling and cross-contamination on ready-to-eat food. In total, four campylobacteriosis outbreaks with overall 174 human cases were associated with milk and milk products in 2020 in EU (EFSA, 2021). Among them, three outbreaks occurred in Germany associated with the consumption of raw milk, which led to 13 human cases and 1 hospitalization.

A relatively low number of *Campylobacter* spp. can induce clinical gastrointestinal symptoms (Black et al., 1988; Robinson, 1981). Human infections usually lead to a self-limiting gastroenteritis with acute symptoms including vomiting, fever, abdominal cramps and watery or bloody diarrhea (Negretti et al., 2019). In some cases, chronic complications involve reactive arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, and neurological disorders such as the Guillain-Barré syndrome or its variant, the Miller Fisher syndrome (Jackson et al., 2014; Keithlin et al., 2014; Poropatich et al., 2010; McCarthy and Giesecke, 2001). The Guillain-Barré syndrome and Miller Fisher syndrome are rare, but potentially fatal autoimmune diseases of the peripheral nerves usually triggered by infections (Leonhard et al., 2019; Wakerley et al., 2014).

Thermotolerant *Campylobacter*, mainly *C. jejuni* und *C. coli*, are responsible for most human campylobacteriosis cases. *Campylobacter* species information was provided by 22 Member States for 65.1% of confirmed cases reported in Europe in 2021 (EFSA, 2022). In detail, of the cases 88.4% were *C. jejuni*, 10.1% *C. coli*, 0.18% *C. fetus*, 0.12% *C. upsaliensis* and 0.09% *C. lari* (EFSA, 2022). However, other *Campylobacter* species such as *C. hyointestinalis* have also been reported in the literature to cause human disease (Kim et al., 2015; Edmonds et al., 1987).

Campylobacter spp. infections show a characteristic seasonality with a peak in the summer months (EFSA, 2022) and have been positively associated with temperature during early to mid-summer (Lake et al., 2019). Another smaller but distinct winter peak, around the Christmas and New Year period has recently also become apparent. The transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. might be promoted through meat fondues or table-top grilling investigated in a case-control study (Rosner et al., 2021; Bless et al., 2017).

2.3 Contamination of raw milk along the supply chain

Thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. are, often asymptomatically, carried in the intestinal tracts of numerous wild and domesticated bird and mammal species, like pig, bovine, sheep and goat (Mughini Gras et al., 2012; Waldenström et al., 2010; Humphrey et al., 2007). They have also been isolated from natural environment water samples (Mughini Gras et al., 2012; Humphrey et al., 2007).

Several transmission routes for *Campylobacter* spp. to humans have been suggested, mainly occurring via contaminated food, direct contact with colonized animals and through untreated water (Igwaran and Okoh, 2019; Rosner et al., 2017; Mughini-Gras et al., 2016; Kaakoush et al., 2015; Bronowski et al., 2014).

Contamination of raw milk along the supply chain is thought to be predominantly of fecal origin from cows carrying *Campylobacter* spp. (Del Collo et al., 2017; Modi et al., 2015; Bianchini et al., 2014; Schildt et al., 2006). It is unknown which mechanisms underlie this contamination and how frequently raw milk is contaminated during milking (Giacometti et al., 2015; Bianchini et al., 2014; Giacometti et al., 2013; Giacometti et al., 2012; Anonymous, 2009). Prevalences of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cow feces in different studies were 53% and 68% among all samples investigated (Idland et al., 2022; Jaakkonen et al., 2019). The reported concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. ranged from 2.1 \pm 0.45 to 4.2 log CFU/g (Ramonaité et al., 2013; Nielsen, 2002; Waterman et al., 1984). Possible direct excretion of *Campylobacter* spp. via the mammary gland was reported in only one study (Orr et al., 1995). Prevalence and concentration data of *Campylobacter* spp. from the early stage of the raw milk supply chain are important to estimate the risk for consumers by drinking raw milk (Anonymous, 2009).

Transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk is mainly assumed to originate from cow feces via the teats during the milking process. It is currently not clear how this contamination takes place (Giacometti et al., 2015; Bianchini et al., 2014; Giacometti et al., 2013; Anonymous, 2009). The amount of dirt transmitted to milk via the exterior of teats was estimated across farms to average approximately 59 mg/l with a range from 3 – to 300 mg/l (Vissers et al., 2007). *Campylobacter* spp. was detected in 13% of teat skin swab samples during six sampling time points from 18 dairy herds from four different geographical areas of Norway (Idland et al., 2022). Samples from the 18 dairy herds were analyzed together and only separate prevalence data for the six different sampling time points were available. The prevalence ranged from 6% to 21%. The highest prevalence in May (21%), January (17%) and February/March (17%) and lowest in August/September (6%), June (8%) and November/December (11%) (Idland et al., 2022).

Campylobacter spp. was only rarely detected in raw milk samples taken at retail with a prevalence of 0.47% (n= 212) in the EU 2021 (EFSA, 2022). Using the most probable number (MPN) method, the mean *C. jejuni* level was calculated as 0.1660 \pm 0.3 MPN/ml (Humphrey and Beckett, 1987). This value was affected by one single sample cell count with a high concentration of 1 MPN/ml, whereas the other four samples had levels below 0.05 MPN/ml. One positive *Campylobacter* spp. bulk tank sample (0.34%) was reported in a study from New Zealand in 2007-2008 (Hill et al., 2012). The *Campylobacter* spp. level for that sample was 0.047 MPN/ml (95% CI, 0.0069 to 0.33 MPN/ml). In a Finish study, the concentration of thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk samples ranged from 0.007 to 35 MPN/ml (Jaakkonen et al., 2020). Milk filters, which were installed at the end of the milk pipeline so that the entire raw milk from all cows passes the filter, were a more suitable sampling target for monitoring pathogenic bacteria than raw milk (Jaakkonen et al., 2019; FSAI, 2015). Prevalences of 14%, 4% or 1% were detected in this sample matrix, with concomitant lower prevalence or lack of detection in the raw milk or raw milk bulk tank (Idland et al., 2022; Hansson et al., 2020; Jaakkonen et al., 2019).

To estimate the transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. from feces to raw milk, it is necessary to investigate feces and raw milk samples in the same setting. Longitudinal studies with frequent samplings are required to detect contamination events and to estimate their frequency. One study from Norway provided concurrent prevalence data on *Campylobacter* spp. in cows' feces (68%), on teat skin (13%), in teat milk (3%), milk filter (4%) and bulk tank milk (3%) samples (Idland et al., 2022). No quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. was performed.

2.4 Survival strategies of Campylobacter spp.

Campylobacter spp. generally show low tenacity due to low oxygen tolerance and sensitivity to unfavorable environmental conditions including temperature and pH (Park, 2002). They also have a low tolerance to drying (Oosterom et al., 1983) and osmotic stress (Doyle and Roman, 1982).

It has been shown that thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. cannot grow below 30°C and lose cultivability after prolonged incubation at 4°C (Kim et al., 2021; Baffone et al., 2006). Nevertheless, inactivation of *Campylobacter* spp. by oxygen is slower at lower temperatures (Boleratz and Oscar, 2022; Yoon et al., 2004). The pH optimum and water activity (a_w) value for *Campylobacter* spp. are between pH 6.5 and pH 7.5 and an a_w -value of 0.997 (Silva et al., 2011).

Although *Campylobacter* spp. are fastidious organisms *in vitro*, they succeed in colonizing farm animals and spread effectively in flocks (Idland et al., 2022; Rawson et al., 2020; Hakkinen

and Hänninen, 2009). C. jejuni of multi-locus sequence type (MLST) ST-883 has been shown to persist on a dairy farm and contaminate bulk tank milk for seven months or longer (Jaakkonen et al., 2020). This indicates an adaptability of *Campylobacter* spp., allowing them to tolerate various stress conditions, e.g. adverse environmental factors and different matrices (Kim et al., 2021). The stress adaption mechanisms of Campylobacter spp. mainly involve the ability to adopt a VBNC status, but also include a more long-term strategy of adaptive potential based on high genetic diversity (Golz and Stingl, 2021; Burnham and Hendrixson, 2018). The VBNC status is induced by osmotic stress (Lv et al., 2019), starvation (Magajna and Schraft, 2015), cold-stress (Chaisowwong et al., 2012), and probably also aerobic stress (Oh et al., 2015). In this state, the bacteria have a coccoid shape, are unable to multiply (Poursina et al., 2018; Ramamurthy et al., 2014) and are no longer detectable by cultural methods (Krüger et al., 2014; Bovill and Mackey, 1997). The infectivity of Campylobacter spp. in the VBNC state is not known. It has been shown that when using a specific gas mixture with a low oxygen level the cells can be recovered from VBNC into CFU in raw milk at 5°C within a limited time window (Wulsten et al., 2020). VBNC cells that are retrieved back into CFUs can regain full infectious potential (Baffone et al., 2006). A v-qPCR with propidium monoazide (PMA) detecting IPIU indicated that the survival of C. jejuni (DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-13290) and C. coli (DSM 4689) as compared to CFU data in raw milk at 5°C was underestimated (Wulsten et al., 2020). Since the v-qPCR quantifies IPIU, comprising both VBNC and CFU, it provides currently a more complete picture of the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk.

2.5 Predictive microbiology

Predictive microbiology is a broad research field within food microbiology that provides mathematical models for predicting microbial behavior (growth and decay) in foods (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). These models describe the behavior of the bacteria in real systems by using mathematical equations, which are simplifications of the corresponding system, to predict microbial growth and inactivation in response to certain environmental conditions (Ross and McMeekin, 1994). In order for a model to be "complete", i.e. to be able to accurately predict the behavior of a microorganism, all essential environmental parameters must be included. Environmental parameters taken into account during modelling might be intrinsic factors, such as pH, a_w, salt and other microorganisms in the food matrix or extrinsic factors, e.g. atmosphere and temperature (Baird-Parker and Kilsby, 1987). Predictive microbiology provides information for two main areas, namely prevention of microbial food spoilage and the protection of the consumer against hazards in foods (Mossel and Drion, 1979). Effective predictive models allow researchers to predict the behavior of microorganisms in foods under foreseeable conditions in advance and become important decision support tools

(Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). Current applications of predictive microbiology in an industrial context can be summarized into three groups: 1) Product innovation, e.g. new products and processes are developed; 2) Operational support, e.g. implementing or running a food manufacturing operation; 3) Incident support, impacts on consumer safety or product quality are estimated based on reports of problems with products on the market (Membré and Lambert, 2008).

2.5.1 Model development

Predictive models can be divided into three groups, namely: primary, secondary and tertiary models (Pérez-Rodríguez, 2014). Primary models describe how microbial counts change over time and estimate kinetic parameters (e.g. maximum growth rate, lag phase, inactivation rate). Secondary models predict the changes in the kinetic parameters of primary models as a function of the effect of environmental conditions (e.g. pH or a_w) (Pérez-Rodríguez, 2014). Finally, tertiary models identify patterns in the parameters of the secondary models as a function of the organism and the nutrient source (as proposed by Baranyi et al. (2017)). They were first introduced as software programs that provide simplified user interfaces (Buchanan, 1993). Multiple programs are available e.g. ComBase, DMFit or the food safety and spoilage predictor (FSSP).

In the literature, a broad range of primary and secondary models are available and the selection of an appropriate model is essential to achieve adequate fitting of the parameters. The main groups of primary models are growth models, inactivation models or interaction models. Interaction models consider the effect of the food microbiota on the growth of microorganisms in food. These interactions can either be direct through competition for space and nutrients, or indirect, e.g. change in food characteristics (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013).

In the following, primary inactivation models will be further addressed. A known quantitative microbiology tool for microbial inactivation is the Geeraerd and Van Impe Inactivation Model Fitting Tool (GInaFiT). GInaFiT is a freeware Add-in for Microsoft Excel, which includes different types of microbial survival models employing linear and nonlinear regression approaches. The tool is useful for bridging the gap between developers of predictive modelling approaches and end-users in the food industry or research groups who are not familiar with advanced non-linear regression analysis tools (Geeraerd et al., 2005). The first version of the application published by Geeraerd et al. (2005), comprised nine model types: (i) classical log-linear curves, (ii) curves displaying a so-called shoulder before a log-linear decrease is apparent, (iii) curves displaying a so-called tail after a log-linear decrease, (iv) survival curves

displaying both shoulder and tailing behavior, (v) concave curves, (vi) convex curves, (vii) convex/concave curves followed by tailing, (viii) biphasic inactivation kinetics, and (ix) biphasic inactivation kinetics preceded by a shoulder. A tenth model, curves with a double concave/convex shape, extended the software. The model takes into account the development of bacterial resistance during inactivation curves (Coroller et al., 2006).

An overview of primary inactivation model equations is provided in Table 1.

Table 1. Prima	y inactivation	model equations.
----------------	----------------	------------------

Equation name	Equation		Source
Log-linear (Bigelow)	$log(N_t) = log(N_0) - \frac{k_{max} * t}{ln(10)}$	Eq. (1)	Bigelow and Esty (1920); Geeraerd et al. (2005)
Log-linear with tail (Bilinear)	$log(N_t) = log(N_0) - \frac{k_{max}}{ln(10)} * t, t \le S_t$ $log(N_t) = log(N_{res}), t \ge S_t$	Eq. (2)	Buchanan and Golden (1995)
Log-linear with tail (Geeraerd without S _I)	$log(N_t) = log[(10^{log(N_0)} - 10^{log(N_{res})} * e^{-k_{max} * t} + 10^{log(N_{res})}]$	Eq. (3)	Geeraerd et al. (2005)
Log-linear with shoulder and tail (Trilinear)	$log(N_t) = log(N_0), t < S_l$ $log(N_t) = log(N_0) - \frac{k_{max}}{ln(10)} * (t - S_l), S_l \le t \le S_t$ $log(N_t) = log(N_{res}), t \ge S_t$	Eq. (4)	Buchanan and Golden (1995)
Log-linear with shoulder and tail (Geeraerd)	$log(N_t) = log \left[(10^{log(N_0)} - log(10^{log(N_{res})}) * e^{-k_{max} * t} \\ * \left(\frac{e^{k_{max}S_l}}{1 + (e^{k_{max}S_l} - 1) * e^{-k_{max}t}} \right) + 10^{log(N_{res})} \right]$	Eq. (5)	Geeraerd et al. (2005)
Weibull	$log(N_t) = log(N_0) - \left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right)^p$	Eq. (6)	Mafart et al. (2002); van Boekel (2002)
Biphasic	$log(N_t) = log(N_0) + log(f * e^{-k_{max}1*t} + (1-f) * e^{-k_{max}2*t}$	Eq. (7)	Cerf (1977)

The parameter N_t is the concentration of microorganisms (CFU/ml or IPIU/ml) at a specific time point, N_0 (CFU/ml or IPIU/ml) is the initial concentration of microorganisms, k_{max} the maximum specific inactivation rate (1/h), t [h] is the time after inoculation, N_{res} the residual population density (CFU/ml or IPIU/ml), S_l the duration of shoulder effect (h) and S_t the time arriving tail (h), δ the time for the first decimal reduction (h) and p as shape parameter of the Weibull model.

An inactivation model with shoulder and tail and a Weibull model are presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Illustration of models used for describing the inactivation of pathogens in foods (modified according to Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013).

Commonly used secondary models are the square-root-type models (Ratkowsky et al., 1982) or cardinal parameter models (Zwietering et al., 1992), whereby the latter is more complex and requires more input parameters. If applicable, simple linear regressions can also be used to predict the effect of environmental parameters on the parameters of primary models.

Classical predictive models have been developed using a two-step fitting process (Whiting and Buchanan, 1993). For this, a primary regression that estimates kinetic parameters from observed cell counts and a secondary regression that independently fits parameter estimates from the primary regression to experimental variables are necessary. During this separate fitting process errors can accumulate and propagate in each step of the data analysis during the model development process (Huang, 2017). A one-step approach avoids these drawbacks as primary and secondary models are analyzed together during the estimation of kinetic parameters (Huang, 2017).

2.5.2 Model evaluation and validation

Statistical "goodness-of-fit indices" are used to assess whether the chosen mathematical function fits well to the data points after a mathematical function is fitted by regression. Not all indices are suitable for all cases and the selection should be made according to the type of function applied during the fitting procedure. A first overview of standardized residuals can be obtained by using simple scatter plots (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013).

For model evaluation, the goodness-of-fit indices are mainly the coefficient of determination (R²) and the root mean square error (RMSE) (Pérez-Rodríguez, 2014). The R² gives information about the percentage of data point variation than can be explained by the model, thus the closer the R² is to one, the better the model represents observations (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). The RMSE is simple to calculate and easy to interpret. Further, it is suitable for a first approach to the fitted model, as it is a valid index for linear and nonlinear functions (Ratkowsky, 2003). A low RMSE value indicates better adequacy of the model in describing the data, while a large value of RMSE points to a poor fit to the data. A drawback of RMSE is that it is not a standardized (absolute) measure. It depends on the magnitude of the data value, whereby data sets with different units are not directly comparable by RMSE. An F-test can be used to compare the goodness-of-fit for different models, if the models have the same number of regression parameters or are at least mathematically derived from each other (so-called "nested models") (Zwietering et al., 1990).

Validation is an imperative step in the modelling process, wherby the capacity of a model to predict the behaviour of the real system is assessed. Validation requires model-independent observations from challenge tests or data from the scientific literature (Gibson et al., 1988).

Predictive models should not be applied without previous validation (Dym, 2004). Graphical validation is used to categorized models as "fail-safe models", if predictions overestimate growth or as "fail-dangerous models", if predictions underestimate growth. A fail-safe model is maybe preferred for pathogenic bacteria as the predictions are more conservative and therefore safer in terms of public health (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013).

The validation indices, bias factor (B_f) and accuracy factor (A_f), or the acceptable predictions zone (APZ) are used for model validation. The bias and accuracy factor were proposed by Ross (1996) and give a good estimation of the reliability of models. The bias factor indicates whether a model systematically predicts growth to be faster (fail-safe) or slower (fail-dangerous) than observed (Ross, 1996). The accuracy factor is similar to the bias factor and is defined as the absolute value of the ratio between predictions and observations, where A_f = 1 indicates perfect agreement between observations and predictions and A_f = 2 means that predictions and observations vary by a factor of 2 (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). Both factors have limitations as they are mean values that might not detect certain forms of prediction bias and are subject to bias by outliers (Ross, 1996; Delignette-Muller et al., 1995). The APZ method overcomes these limitations as it classifies a model as acceptable when 70% of residuals are within the APZ, that can be defined as -1 log₁₀ (fail-safe) to 0.5 log₁₀ (fail-dangerous) (Oscar, 2005). The validation index of the APZ method is defined in the percentage of residuals within the APZ (Oscar, 2005).

2.5.3 Predictive models for *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk

Several predictive models are available for *Campylobacter* spp. inactivation in meat or other food products (Oyarzabal et al., 2010; Lori et al., 2007; Curtis et al., 1995), but few options are available for survival in raw milk. Only two are applicable to survival in liquid (Membré and Lambert, 2008) or raw milk (Boleratz and Oscar, 2022). The predictive model in liquid is based on a meta-analysis including survival data within a temperature range of 0 to 42°C. A log-linear model has been used to describe the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. (Membré and Lambert, 2008). Boleratz and Oscar (2022) developed an artificial neural network model for non-thermal inactivation (without external heat treatment) of *C. jejuni* in raw milk based on CFU data obtained from ComBase. Both models showed a faster non-thermal inactivation at warmer temperatures than at cold temperatures used in the experimental set-up. The models are based on CFU data and did not take VBNC data into account.

2.6 Risk analysis

The risk analysis paradigm, according to the Food Agriculture Organization (FAO) and World Health Organization (WHO) (FAO/WHO, 1995) comprises three components: risk management, risk assessment and risk communication (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Interaction between the three elements of risk analysis (modified according to FAO/WHO, 2006).

Risk assessment is the central scientific part of the risk analysis. It deals with the qualitative and/or quantitative evaluation of the adverse effects linked to a hazard (biological, chemical or physical agent) in the whole farm-to-fork food production chain or the part that is relevant to the problem (FAO/WHO, 2013; Nauta, 2008; Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999). The term "risk" is defined as the probability of occurrence of an adverse health effect as a consequence of the presence of a hazard in food (FAO/WHO, 2013).

Risk management includes risk evaluation, assessment and selection, implementation of risk management strategies, and monitoring and review (FAO/WHO, 2013). The decision of whether a risk assessment is necessary and the evaluation of whether it is an acceptable risk are the tasks of risk managers, compromising industry, public body representatives and policy makers alike. They also decide which control measures must be implemented in the case of non-acceptable risk (FAO/WHO, 2013).

Risk communication is the interactive exchange of information and options throughout the risk analysis process - including the explanation of risk assessment findings and the basis of risk management decisions - between risk assessors, risk managers and all stakeholders (e.g. industry, academic community and consumer). The exchange with the consumer is additionally attempted in order to enhance trust and confidence in the safety of the food supply (FAO/WHO, 2013).

The three interacting components of risk analysis should be 1) functionally separated and 2) documented systematically to avoid conflicts of interest or bias in the risk assessment process. The risk analysis needs to be performed in a transparent manner. The risk analysis process may be evaluated and reviewed when appropriate, taking into account newly generated scientific data (FAO/WHO, 2013).

2.7 Risk assessment

A risk assessment is the qualitative and/or quantitative evaluation of the adverse effects linked to hazards that might be present in foods (FAO/WHO, 2013). In a qualitative risk assessment, the risk is described by descriptive terms (e.g. low or high), while a quantitative risk assessment represents the risk in terms of numerical outcomes.

Quantitative risk assessment can be divided into deterministic and stochastic approaches with regard to how input variables are handled (Campagnollo et al., 2022). In the deterministic approach, point-estimated values are used for variables. However, the outcomes are not representative of real situations. Stochastic models use probability distributions taking variations around the values into account. An iterative calculation process, a so-called Monte Carlo simulation, is used for distribution calculation. During the Monte Carlo Simulation each iteration takes one output value from each of the distributions and calculates the expected number of microorganisms per serving or risk of illness per serving (Schaffner, 2008).

Within the quantitative risk assessment, the quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) has been widely used to assess the human exposure to microorganisms that can cause diseases. As any risk assessment, the QMRA follows a structured approach comprising four fundamental steps: hazard identification, hazard characterization, exposure assessment and risk characterization (Figure 3) (FAO/WHO, 2013).



Figure 3. QMRA model structure. QMRA model are usually developed along the four elements of a risk assessment (hazard identification, hazard characterization, exposure assessment and risk characterization). The different model classes that belong to the elements can be combined to form a full QMRA model (modified according to Haberbeck et al., 2018).

Before starting the hazard identification, the objective of the QMRA must be defined as a research question regarding the food product, population, food production chain and the microbiological hazard (Nauta, 2008). Generally, risk managers in consultation with risk assessors develop the research question.

The hazard identification is the qualitative description of the microbiological hazard, which may be present in foods (Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999), e.g. a description of thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk. After the hazard identification, the characterization of the hazard with focus on the consumer takes place, by description of the adverse health effects of the hazard. The dose-response relation is also part of the hazard characterization. A dose-response assessment determines the relation between the magnitude of exposure (dose) to a hazard and the severity and/or frequency of associated adverse health effects (response) (Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999). The exposure assessment evaluates the likely intake of a hazard. In the last stage of the risk characterization, the probability of occurrence and severity of an adverse health effect in a population is estimated based on hazard identification, hazard characterization and exposure assessment (Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999).

The Codex Alimentarius Commission guidelines (1999) for conducting QMRA gives a list of principles and definitions, but does not present a modelling methodology. A modular process risk model (MPRM) approach is recommended (Nauta, 2008). MPRM states that the transmission of the hazard through the food pathway can be regarded as a series of basic processes. In detail, following the MPRM approach, the food pathway describes where the bacteria enter the food pathway and what can happen to the bacteria in terms of either a microbial process (growth and inactivation), often described by predictive models, or product handling processes (cross contamination, mixing, removal or partitioning) (Nauta, 2008). The MPRM structure is determined by this series of basic processes. They may be used in any QMRA study. This can range from industrial food processing to "farm to table" risk assessment models. Besides the evaluation of likelihood of intake of the hazard via food (qualitatively and/or quantitatively estimated), general consumption data of the food product are included (FAO/WHO, 2008). In addition, the amount of product that is consumed has an impact on the likelihood to be exposed to the hazard.

The results of a risk assessment and the estimation of microbial concentration and prevalence in food by the end of the production process are an important management tool. They can help in the detection of critical control points (HACCP) in the food chain and in the assessment of intervention strategies and are consequently of great interest to the industry (FAO/WHO, 2008). The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) focused on the estimation of microbial concentration and prevalence in food at the time of consumption. Consumer behavior must therefore be included to assess the final risk for the consumer.

2.7.1 Variability and Uncertainty

In the development of stochastic QMRA models, it is essential to address variability and uncertainty, and to consider them independently of each other. In the context of QMRA "variability" represents the true biological heterogeneity in a population. Variability is not influenced and irreducible by additional data or better measurements since it is related to natural randomness (Anderson and Hattis, 1999; Murphy, 1998). To reflect the variability of data, statistical metrics such as standard deviation or quantiles are often used.

On the other hand, the term "uncertainty" represents the lack of perfect knowledge of the true value of a parameter due to a lack of data, analytical limitations or low precision of measurement methods (Anderson and Hattis, 1999). It should be reduced whenever possible by further data generation or, if applicable, adjustment of the experimental set-up. In exposure assessment, the uncertainty is usually quite large based on many unknown steps in the production process as well as at the consumer stage. Surveys addressing consumer behavior are limited. Therefore, the effect of the uncertainty in the consumer phase on the uncertainty of the risk estimate can be very large.

Most data sets include variability and uncertainty at the same time. Two approaches are possible for considering both independently in a stochastic exposure assessment model: the development of a nested set of distributions describing each factor (second order Monte Carlo simulation model) or different scenario analyses (e.g. mean, worst-case, etc.). In a second order Monte Carlo simulation, model uncertainty and variability are considered simultaneously (Nauta, 2000). Scenario analyses are used to consider variability and uncertainty after each other.

2.7.2 Dose-response model

The dose-response relationship provides the link between the hazard and population group and is part of the hazard characterization. In detail, this means the relationship between pathogen exposure and the probability of occurrence and severity of an adverse effect (e.g. infection, illness or death) (FAO/WHO, 2003).

Dose-response data are available for many microorganisms based on studies in human volunteers and animal models (Haas, 1983). Some dose-response models are assessed from

outbreak data of the microorganism, if the collected data on exposure are accessible (FAO/WHO, 2003) (Figure 4).

The current understanding is that any single pathogen may be capable of causing infection in the "single-hit concept" (Haas, 1983). It is not assumed that there is a minimum dose, a threshold below which infection cannot occur. Hence, the probability that any pathogen causes infection is independent of number ingested.



Figure 4. Overview of classic dose-response model and outbreak dose-response model. r* is the probability of each single pathogen being individually capable of causing infection in the exposed individual; r** is parameter estimated for pathogen model of illness dose-response.

This "single-hit concept" is a non-threshold approach, calculating the probability of infection (P_{inf}) given dose (*D*) of ingested microorganisms as (Eq. (8)).

$$P_{inf} = 1 - (1 - r)^D$$
 Eq. (8)

where r is the probability of each single pathogen being individually capable of causing infection in the exposed individual (by means of independent action).

The probability *r* depends on pathogen (e.g. pathogenicity, adaption to attack and grow), food item (e.g. fat content) and the host (e.g. microbiome or immune system). This model estimates the risk at the population level as it assumes that the interaction between the pathogen and the host is constant for every individual in the population (Sanaa and Guillier, 2022).

In a Beta Poisson model the variability between strains and the variability between individual consumers are considered (Sanaa and Guillier, 2022) (Eq. (9), Figure 4A, lower part). A Beta distribution of parameters α and β is used to describe how different hosts respond to exposure

to a similar dose (Sanaa and Guillier, 2022). The dose parameter represents the mean of Poisson distributed doses (Nauta et al., 2009).

$$P_{inf} = 1 - (1 + \frac{D}{\beta})^{-\alpha}$$
 Eq. (9)

Frequently, the Beta Poisson model does not describe the doses as accurately as is necessary for a QMRA food chain model since individuals are exposed to discrete numbers of bacteria. However, it can be accurate for fluid foods, like water, where the Poisson assumption makes sense. A more heterogeneous distribution is assumed in foods (Nauta et al., 2009). Therefore, a better implementation of the dose-response relationship is given by using the Beta Binomial model (Eq. (10)), for which the same parameters can be used as in the Beta Poisson model (Haas, 2002).

$$P_{inf} = 1 - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta)\Gamma(n + \beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta + n)\Gamma(\beta)}$$
 Eq. (10)

where $\Gamma(.)$ is Euler's Gamma function (Nauta et al., 2009; Haas, 2002) and n is the discrete dose.

For *Campylobacter* spp. two main dose-response models are available. The "classic" doseresponse model with α =0.145 and β =7.59 (Teunis and Havelaar, 2000) assessed from data from a human challenge study (*C. jejuni* strain A 3249) (Black et al., 1988) and an "outbreak" dose-response model (Nauta et al., 2022; Teunis et al., 2018), which combines data from human and primate challenge studies and data from epidemiological studies on foodborne diseases (raw milk outbreak studies). In recent studies, the median estimates of the model parameters provided by Teunis et al. (2018) for outbreak studies were used in the "outbreak" dose-response model with α =0.38 and β =0.51 (Nauta et al., 2022).

For the "classic" dose-response model, the probability of illness given infection ($P_{ill/inf}$) is a constant (0.33) (Nauta et al., 2007; Black et al., 1988), independent of the dose. The "outbreak" dose-response model uses a pathogen model of illness dose-response (with parameters *r* and η estimated by host species and strain) for $P_{ill/inf}$ (Teunis et al., 2018) (Eq. (11), Figure 4B, lower part).

$$P_{ill/inf} = 1 - (1 + \frac{D}{\eta})^{-r}$$
 Eq. (11)
with r= 0.76 and η = 0.0092

In the end, the number of ill consumers (I_{ll}) is calculated by multiplying the mean of P_{inf} and $P_{ill/inf}$ (Eq. (12)).

$$I_{ill} = meanP_{inf} * P_{ill/inf}$$
 Eq. (12)

The "outbreak" dose-response model indicates that infection with *C. jejuni* occurs at low doses but acute illness requires high doses (Teunis et al., 2018).

2.7.3 QMRAs for Campylobacter spp. along the raw milk supply chain

There are already existing QMRAs for *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain based on data from Italy and New Zealand (Giacometti et al., 2015; Anonymous, 2009).

The QMRA from New Zealand is based on four pathogens that can occur in raw cow's milk: *Campylobacter* spp., EHEC, *Salmonella* spp. and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Anonymous, 2009). This model incorporates fecal concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. based on the MPN method from Stanley et al. (1998). The mean concentration is $1.79 \log_{10} CFU/g \pm 1.01 \log_{10} CFU/g$ feces. For the dose-response relationship, the classical Beta Poisson dose-response model for *Campylobacter* spp. is applied. Three different scenarios are performed: (1) consumption from the bulk milk tank, (2) domestic consumption after farm gate purchase, (3) domestic consumption after packaging, distribution and retail sale, which leads to mean prediction of 19.9, 4.7 and 0.1 cases of illness respectively for adults from *Campylobacter* spp. per 100,000 daily servings of raw milk (Anonymous, 2009).

A recent QMRA from Italy focused on the prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk at vending machines and different raw milk handlings before consumption (boiled and unboiled) (Giacometti et al., 2015). A total of 1.08×10^8 servings per year were estimated whereby the model predicted for the population of the investigated regions 301,785 and 230,776 cases for the best (4°C) and worst time-temperature scenarios (11°C ± 0.5°C), respectively (Giacometti et al., 2015). The best-case scenario was performed at 4°C in order to prevent the growth of pathogenic bacteria. However, *Campylobacter* spp. is inactivated more rapidly at higher temperatures, resulting in lower case numbers in the worst-case scenario (11°C).

The QMRAs for *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk were mainly focused on the raw milk storage and handling before consumption. Transmission data for *Campylobacter* spp. during the milking process were not integrated. No QMRA for *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk in Germany is available. In order to reduce consumer exposure to *Campylobacter* spp. by identifying potential intervention measures QMRAs are needed over the whole food chain. Different risk mitigation strategies on farm level and along the supply chain need to be explored to identify data gaps and support risk managers in controlling *Campylobacter* spp.

3 Publications

3.1 List of publications and own contribution

Publication 1: Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Knipper A.-D., Ghoreishi N., Crease T.

PLoS ONE 2022; 17(10): e0276018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018

This is an open access article under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I developed the search strategy for the literature, performed independent title, abstract and full-text screening, created parts of the illustrations and wrote the first draft except for a few small sections. In my function as first and corresponding author, I submitted the article and considered and responded to the reviewer comments on behalf of all co-authors.

Publication 2: Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cows, during milking and in the dairy farm environment

<u>Knipper A.-D.</u>, Göhlich S., Stingl K., Ghoreishi N., Fischer-Tenhagen C., Bandick N., Tenhagen B.-A., Crease T.

Foods 2023; 12(8):1639. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12081639

This is an open access article under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I was involved in the experimental design and application of the animal experiment to State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LAGeSo). I performed the sampling in the stable and analyzed samples in the laboratory. Further, I evaluated the extracted data with statistical analyses, visualized the results and wrote the first draft. In my function as first and corresponding author, I submitted the article and considered and responded to the reviewer comments on behalf of all co-authors.

Publication 3: Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC)

Knipper A.-D., Plaza-Rodríguez C., Filter M., Wulsten I. F., Stingl K., Crease T.

Journal of Food Safety 2023, e13077. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfs.13077

This is an open access article under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I performed the experiments, analyzed and visualized the results, developed the models and wrote the first draft. I also made the developed model available in a Food Safety Knowledge Exchange (FSKX) format (de Alba Aparicio et al., 2018) in order to improve transparency in the model generation process and facilitate the exchange and reusability of the created models. In my function as first and corresponding author, I submitted the article and considered and responded to the reviewer comments on behalf of all co-authors.

Publication 4: Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for *Campylobacter* in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany

Knipper A.-D., Crease T., Guenther T., Filter M., Nauta M.

Microbial Risk Analysis 2023, 25, 100274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2023.100274

This is an open access article under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

I developed the QMRA model, implemented it in @RISK software, performed model analyses, visualized the results and wrote the first draft. I also made the developed model available in the software R 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2020) and in a Food Safety Knowledge Exchange (FSKX) format (de Alba Aparicio et al., 2018) in order to improve transparency in the model generation process and facilitate the exchange and reusability of the created models. In my function as first and corresponding author, I submitted the article and considered and responded to the reviewer comments on behalf of all co-authors.

3.2 Publication 1: Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in feces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis

PLOS ONE

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Anna-Delia Knipper^{1*}, Narges Ghoreishi², Tasja Crease¹

1 German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Department Biological Safety, Junior Research Group Supply Chain Models, Berlin, Germany, 2 German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Department Exposure, Unit of Epidemiology, Statistics and Exposure Modelling, Berlin, Germany

* Anna-Delia.Knipper@bfr.bund.de



OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Knipper A-D, Ghoreishi N, Crease T (2022) Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 17(10): e0276018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal pone.0276018

Editor: Sherin Reda Rouby, Beni Suef University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, EGYPT

Received: July 11, 2022

Accepted: September 28, 2022

Published: October 14, 2022

Copyright: © 2022 Knipper et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: A pre-specified study protocol was published on the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) database (CRD42021261914, https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_ record.php?RecordID=261914). All relevant data are within the manuscript and its Supporting information files.

Funding: This project was funded by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment as part of the Junior Research Group Supply Chain Models

Abstract

The consumption of raw milk from dairy cows has caused multiple food-borne outbreaks of campylobacteriosis in the European Union (EU) since 2011. Cross-contamination of raw milk through faeces is an important vehicle for transmission of Campylobacter to consumers. This systematic review and meta-analysis, aimed to summarize data on the prevalence and concentration of Campylobacter in faeces of dairy cows. Suitable scientific articles published up to July 2021 were identified through a systematic literature search and subjected to screening and quality assessment. Fifty-three out of 1338 identified studies were eligible for data extraction and 44 were further eligible for meta-analysis. The pooled prevalence was calculated in two different meta-analytic models: a simple model based on one average prevalence estimate per study and a multilevel meta-analytic model that included all prevalence outcomes reported in each study (including different subgroups of e.g. health status and age of dairy cows). The results of the two models were significantly different with a pooled prevalence estimate of 29%, 95% CI [23-36%] and 51%, 95% CI [44-57%], respectively. The effect of sub-groups on prevalence were analyzed with a multilevel mixed-effect model which showed a significant effect of the faecal collection methods and Campylobacter species on the prevalence. A meta-analysis on concentration data could not be performed due to the limited availability of data. This systematic review highlights important data gaps and limitations in current studies and variation of prevalence outcomes between available studies. The included studies used a variety of methods for sampling, data collection and analysis of Campylobacter that added uncertainty to the pooled prevalence estimates. Nevertheless, the performed meta-analysis improved our understanding of Campylobacter prevalence in faeces of dairy cows and is considered a valuable basis for the further development of quantitative microbiological risk assessment models for Campylobacter in (raw) milk and food products thereof.

PLOS ONE | https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018 October 14, 2022

(Project 1323-104). The funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Introduction

Since 2005 campylobacteriosis, caused by bacteria of the genus *Campylobacter*, is the most commonly reported foodborne gastrointestinal infection in humans in the EU [1]. The EU Member States reported an overall incidence of 120,946 confirmed cases of human campylobacteriosis, corresponding to an EU notification rate of 40.3 per 100,000 population in 2020. Although a decrease in cases was observed in 2020, the overall campylobacteriosis trend in the last four years was stable [1]. Campylobacteriosis symptoms include fever, vomiting, abdominal cramps and watery or bloody diarrhea. Associated chronic complications involve Guillain-Barré syndrome, irritable bowel syndrome and reactive arthritis [2].

Important animal reservoirs for *Campylobacter* spp. are poultry, in particular chicken, and cattle [3, 4]. However, the bacterium is mainly transmitted through contaminated food, direct contact with animals or untreated water [4–6]. In addition to uncooked poultry meat or poor kitchen hygiene in connection with the handling of raw meat, *Campylobacter* infections are frequently reported in connection with the consumption of raw milk and products thereof [1, 7–10]. From 2011 to 2020 raw milk was one of the food vehicles causing most strong-evidence foodborne campylobacteriosis outbreaks in the EU [1]. This is critical in light of the increasing consumer demand for raw milk [11], the intensification of local sales via raw milk vending machines [12] and the common neglect to boil raw milk before consumption. Surveys in Italy demonstrated that 13.9 to 43% of consumers did not boil raw milk before consumption [13, 14].

It is generally assumed that contamination of raw milk with pathogens is mainly of faecal origin [9, 15–17]. However, it is unclear which mechanisms underlie this contamination and how likely raw milk is to be contaminated during milking [14, 15, 18, 19]. In addition, it is also unclear whether there are seasonal differences in the occurrence and concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. in faeces of dairy cows, which could potentially help to explain the seasonal trend in campylobacteriosis cases [1]. Different mitigation options along the raw milk supply chain need to be assessed in order to understand the role of faecal contamination and a potential seasonality in the public health risk associated with the consumption of *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk. Prevalence and concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. in faeces form a basis for such a risk assessment.

In microbiology, a risk assessment is the qualitative and/or quantitative evaluation of the adverse effects linked to biological agents that may be present in foods [20]. During a quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) the risk is estimated in terms of numerical outcomes, typically the probability of illness or death [21]. Quantitative data, like the concentration in contamination sources (e.g. faeces) or the food matrix, is needed during exposure assessment for the relation between the dose ingested and the frequency of a given effect. To reduce the risk of human exposure to *Campylobacter* spp. it is essential to assess the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows'. In this sense, a systematic review is necessary to identify all literature on this particular topic. Further a meta-analysis is a highly valuable statistical tool whose objective is to combine the results of all studies on a particular research question to determine the size and direction of the effect.

This systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to provide and estimate the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in dairy cow faeces. Moreover, potential data gaps for risk assessments were identified in order to highlight where further research is needed. The knowledge and data generated from this study is ought to contribute to the development of QMRAs and the evaluation of different contamination or exposure scenarios along the raw milk supply chain, thereby helping risk managers to identify mitigation strategies to control *Campylobacter* spp. and to reduce the public health risk associated with the consumption of *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk.

Material and methods

Literature search and inclusion criteria

A systematic review was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement [22] (S1 Checklist). A prespecified study protocol was published on the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) database (CRD42021261914, https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/ display_record.php?RecordID=261914), in order to avoid duplication and to minimize bias. Literature searches were carried out using PubMed, Scopus and Web of Science databases for papers published to July 19th 2021. A detailed overview of search terms per database is provided in Table 1. Synonyms for relevant search terms were identified using the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) thesaurus by the US National Library of Medicine [23] (https://www.nlm. nih.gov/mesh/meshhome.html).

A title and abstract screening was performed, followed by a full-text screening for eligibility for inclusion and exclusion criteria already defined in the PROSPERO protocol and for the removal of duplicate publications of the same results or study. If the answer to the *a priori* defined exclusion criteria remained unclear during the initial screening the study was forwarded to the full-text screening. All relevant articles were uploaded to the Rayyan Systems Inc. [24] web tool for efficient organization of inclusion and exclusion and to document the reasons for exclusion. Two researchers (ADK, TC) performed both screenings independently in Rayyan. Discrepancies were resolved by a third researcher (NG). Studies were excluded if they met the pre-defined exclusion criteria.

Data extraction

Full text articles were examined and relevant data was extracted from text and tables into purpose-built tables using Microsoft Excel 2016 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA). Metadata on the general study design and metadata related to each reported outcomes was extracted separately. The following general metadata was extracted from each study: year of publication, country of study, faecal collection method, method for *Campylobacter* detection/ enumeration and species identification, number of dairy cow farms sampled, age class of cows, health status of cows, whether repeated samplings for individual cows or cow farms were performed, whether the repeated outcomes for individual cows or for cow farms were reported, and whether the available repeated outcome were reported by season (i.e. summer, fall, winter, spring).

Each study may comprise more than one prevalence outcome e.g. derived from different sub-groups or sampling conditions (i.e. *Campylobacter* species, age class, health status,

Table 1. Overview of search s	strategy and number of	f articles found	specific to t	he respective datatl	base
-------------------------------	------------------------	------------------	---------------	----------------------	------

Date Search performed	Database	Number of articles retrived	Search string/terms and limits	
19. July 2021	PubMed	453	All = (Search #1) AND All = (Search #2) AND All = (Search #3)	
19. July 2021	Scopus	485	Abstract, Title, Keyword = (Search #1) AND Abstract, Title, Keyword = (Search #2) AND Abstract, Title, Keyword = (Search #3)	
19. July 2021 Web of 400 Science	400	TOPIC = (Search #1) AND TOPIC = (Search #2) AND TOPIC = (Search #3)		
		Where:		
		Search #1	(Campylobacter*)	
		Search #2	(cow) OR (cattle) OR (bovine) OR (ruminant) OR (dairy) OR (heifer) OR (calf) OR (bos indicus) OR (zebu) OR (bos grunniens) OR (yak) OR (bos taurus)	
		Search #3	(feces) OR (faeces) OR (excrement) OR (fecal) OR (faecal) OR (dung)	

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.t001

seasons) and outcomes may be reported repeatedly within one study based on different subgrouping or data aggregation. All relevant prevalence outcomes were extracted and the subgrouping was documented in the metadata. Each extracted outcome was associated with the following additional metadata: *Campylobacter* species, season, number of faeces samples collected, health status of cows and age class of cows.

The review and data extraction was performed by two researchers (ADK, TC) individually and tables were subsequently merged. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion or consultation of a third researcher (NG). Authors of included articles were not contacted in case of missing data. The created database was double-checked independently by two researchers (ADK, TC).

Bias assessment

There is currently no validated tool for risk of bias (RoB) assessment in observational animal studies including prevalence studies. The available tools are appropriate for animal experiments (e.g. SYRCLE [25], CAMARADES [26]) or human observational studies (e.g. ROBINS-I [27]). As a result, risk of bias was assessed based on a purpose-built modified RoB tool. Applicable questions from the above mentioned tools were gathered in a table and adapted for prevalence studies (e.g. were rephrased or split into multiple, more study specific criteria). In total ten questions were included in the final tool (S2 Table). During the data extraction, the reviewers also filled the RoB tool for each study, counted the number of "yes", "no" and "unclear" answered questions, and labeled studies with more than four "yes" answers as "low risk of bias". Questions answered with "no" and "unclear" contributed to high risk of bias. No funnel plot was drawn since funnel plots are not appropriate for assessing the publication bias in studies with prevalence outcomes [28].

Description of data sets for meta-analysis

Study outcomes for pooled faecal samples and outcomes where the number of animals sampled was unclear or not specified were excluded from the meta-analysis. As described in section data extraction, we extracted all relevant prevalence outcomes from each study. This introduced duplications of the same data under different sub-groupings (i.e. *Campylobacter* species, age class, health status, and seasons) in our data set for meta-analysis. To consider the effect of these duplicates on the analysis we chose to work with two different data sets and meta- analytic models. One dataset was reduced to only those prevalence outcomes that were reported as an average across the whole study (e.g. across all potential sub-groups such as age class, health status and seasons). This dataset will hereafter be referred to as aggregated sample (S1 Table). The other dataset included all extracted outcomes, including potential duplications due to different sub-groupings and data aggregation. The method for meta-analytic model was chosen accordingly. This data set will hereafter be referred to as the non-aggregated sample (S1 Table).

Potential influencing factors of interest were, the season during faecal sample collection, the *Campylobacter* species, the age class and the health status of the cows as well as the faecal collection method. The effect of these factors on the prevalence estimates was further investigated via statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis

We used R Software version 4.1 for statistical analysis [29] and the packages "meta" [30] and "metafor" [31] for the development of the meta-analytic models.

Meta-analytic models. Two meta-analytic models were used to estimate the pooled prevalence. In the first model the prevalence outcomes of the aggregated sample were included in a random effect model for proportions with an inverse variance method, which we will refer to as simple model.

In the second model, the non-aggregated sample was included in a multilevel model where prevalence outcomes reported in each study were in one level and studies were compared in the other level. For each level an inconsistency index (I^2) was calculated as a measure of heterogeneity which is defined as the percentage of variability in the effect estimates that is not explained by the sampling error. In both models the estimates were double arcsin transformed.

Subgroup analysis. For subgroup analysis, we used the aggregated sample prevalence if at least three outcomes from different studies were available. The Q-test was used to test the difference between the subgroups.

Effect of subgroups on the prevalence. We performed an analysis on the non-aggregated sample (using all the extracted outcomes) to investigate the effect of subgroups on the pooled prevalence estimate based on a multilevel mixed-effect model with restricted maximum-likelihood estimation (REML). The model features included the *Campylobacter* species, health status and age class of the dairy cows, the season of outcome measurement and the faecal collection method. As with the previous multilevel model, the prevalence outcomes reported for each study were considered as one level and the comparison between the studies was calculated in the other level.

Meta-regression. We performed a meta-regression to evaluate the effect of the publication year of studies on the prevalence estimates. For this analysis, we added the publication year as a variable to the simple model regression and created a graph of the prevalence values versus publication year.

Sensitivity analysis. The created data table for RoB analysis was used to estimate the pooled prevalence for the high and low risk of bias studies of the aggregated sample and the results were compared using a Q-test. As the second sensitivity analysis, the pooled prevalence estimate from the aggregated sample in the simple model and results from the pooled non-aggregated sample in the multilevel model were compared.

Results

Search summary of the systematic review

Fifty-three out of 1338 identified studies were eligible for data extraction after screening and eligibility testing according to PRISMA-P (Fig 1).

Of these, 17 studies were from Europe (32%), 15 from North-America (28.3%), seven from Oceania (13.2%), six from Asia (11.3%), five from South-America (9.5%) and three from Africa (5.7%). Most of the Europe-based studies were from the UK (N = 5; 9.4%). Other European countries i.e. Austria, Denmark, Germany, Latvia, Lithuania and Sweden were represented by one study each, while Finland, Italy and Sweden were represented by two studies.

On average, 432 (\pm 678) dairy cows and 21 (\pm 34) farms were sampled in the included studies. The health status of the sampled dairy cows was not specified in a majority of studies (N = 35; 66%), while other studies (N = 18; 34%) gave a clear description of the health status of the dairy cattle (Fig 2a). Different age groups of dairy cows were sampled throughout the included studies (Fig 2b). However, in some studies no description of the age group of cows was given (N = 8; 15%).

The faecal collection methods were the collection of cow pats from the floor (N = 9; 17%) and direct rectal extraction methods (N = 31; 58.5%). In six studies (11.3%) the faecal

PLOS ONE | https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018 October 14, 2022

Meta-analysis Campylobacter



Fig 1. Flow diagram of selected studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis. Aggregated sample means a specific prevalence outcome was reported as an average outcome across the whole study, whereas with non-aggregated sample an outcome was reported for a specific sub-group or condition.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.g001

collection method was not stated and some studies pooled faecal samples before analysis (N = 7; 13.2%) (Fig 2c). *Campylobacter* was mainly detected by culture-based methods (N = 49; 92.5%). Only a few studies used PCR-based methods (N = 3, 5.7%) or a combination of PCR- and culture-based methods (N = 1; 1.9%). The majority of studies (N = 37; 69.8%) tested faecal samples for two or more *Campylobacter* species (including *Campylobacter* spp.). *Campylobacter* spp. (N = 35; 66%) and the species *C. jejuni* (N = 26; 49%) and *C. coli* (N = 11; 20.8%) were most commonly reported in all included studies. Other species such as *C*.


Fig 2. Number of studies reporting data for potential influencing factors and their subgroups, which are the health status (a) and age class (b) of dairy cows, as well as the faecal collection method (c) and the *Campylobacter* species (d). In some studies the collected faecal samples were analyzes for more than one species.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.g002

hyointestinalis, C. fetus, C. sputorum, C. lari, and C. fecalis, were rarely tested for, while some species could not be identified (Fig 2d).

Almost 50% of all studies (N = 26) reported repeated samplings for farms under study. Only some of these (N = 15; 28.3%) were taken according to seasons in temperate regions (i.e. spring, summer, autumn, winter), while others (N = 5; 9.4%) were taken according to rainy and dry season, depending on the geographical location of the country. In general, only few studies (N = 14; 26.4%) made the results of the repeated sampling explicitly available in their publication. This means that although repeated samplings were taken, the results of these samplings were not reported individually, but rather aggregated or not shown at all. Repeated sampling for individual cows were only taken in a small number of studies (N = 5; 9.4%), but none of these studies made the results for individual cattle available in their publication. Data extracted from publications and included in systematic review and meta-analysis are available in S1 Table.

Risk of bias assessment

The number of "yes", "no" and "unclear" answers for each RoB criteria is shown in S2 Table. No study answered all the RoB criteria with "yes". The highest answer rate was eight out of ten

7/19

"yes" answers for one study. Twenty-two studies (42%) had four or more "yes" answers which was considered as low risk of bias. Results of the meta-analysis on prevalence outcomes of RoB sub-groups are further presented in result section sensitivity analysis.

Findings from the concentration outcomes

Concentration outcomes were only reported in seven (13.2%) of the 53 studies included in the review. The provided concentration outcomes in three of these studies [32–34] was a semiquantitative estimate, which was determined by the most probable number (MPN) method for *Campylobacter* spp.. Concentration outcomes from another study could not be extracted as they were only presented in a box plot [35]. A meta-analysis for the remaining three studies [36–38] with quantitative concentration outcomes could not be performed, as one of these studies [38] did not provide any standard deviation or confidence intervals for the reported concentration.

The average *Campylobacter* spp. concentration in Danish dairy farms of 120 dairy cows was 2.1 \pm 0.45 log colony-forming unit (CFU)/g faeces [36]. In contrast, a Lithuanian study determined for cows higher concentrations of 3.55 \pm 0.92, 4.17 \pm 0.54, 3.29 \pm 0.44 log CFU/g faeces in three different dairy farms [37]. Another study from the United Kingdom found similar average concentrations with seasonal differences of 1 log CFU/g faeces between summer and winter, with an average of 3.2 log CFU/g faeces in summer and 4.2 log CFU/g faeces in winter [38].

Findings from the meta-analysis on prevalence outcomes

After excluding the studies with prevalence outcomes reported for pooled faecal samples and studies where the number of dairy cows sampled was not clear, 44 studies remained.

Out of these 44 studies, only 32 studies reported a prevalence for the aggregated sample, which equates to 32 prevalence outcomes. For the non-aggregated sample, including these 44 studies, 331 prevalence outcomes for different sub-groups and conditions were reported (S1 Table).

The overall prevalence estimate of the simple model that was based on the 32 prevalence outcomes of the aggregated sample was 29.3%, 95% CI [23–37%] with high heterogeneity $I^2 = 98.5\%$ [98–99%] and a prediction interval of 1.3% to 73% (Fig 3) [15, 36, 37, 39–67].

The pooled prevalence estimate of the multilevel model that was based on the 44 eligible studies and all their pooled prevalence was 51% with 95% CI [44–57%] and $I^2 = 97.96\%$ and a prediction interval of 0% to 100%. The sampling error was 2.04%. The heterogeneity within studies was 62.86% and the amount of between study heterogeneity constituted 35.1% of the total variation in our study (S1 Fig).

Subgroup analysis. A sub-group analysis of the aggregated sample was performed for the faecal collection method and the age class of cows. All other sub-groups in the aggregated sample could not be analysed because too few prevalence outcomes per group (N<3) were available.

For the faecal collection method, the prevalence outcomes between a rectal faecal extraction (18 studies) and the collection of cow pats (eight studies) from the floor (of the stable or meadow) were compared (Fig 4a). The prevalence estimate for the rectal extraction was 28%, 95% CI [19–38%] and for the cow pat collection 32%, 95% CI [22–44%]. The difference between these prevalence estimates was not significantly different (p = 0.52).

Only the prevalence outcomes of calves (five studies) and adult cows (19 studies) could be compared for the aggregated sample. For heifers, not enough aggregated outcomes were available (N<3) to be included in the analysis. The prevalence estimates for calves and adult cows

Study	Events	Total	Weight	IV. Random, 9	95% CI	Î.	IV. Ra	andom.	95% CI	
Silveira et al., 2021 [39]	0.030	60	3.0%	0:00.01 00.0	0.031		,			
Adesivun et al., 1996 [40]	18,981	333	3.2%	0.06 [0.03: 0	0.081	-				
McAuley et al. 2014 [41]	0.960	16	2.5%	0.06 [0.00]	0.241	-8				
Duncan et al., 2013 [42]	404,700	4260	3.3%	0.10 [0.09: 0	0.101		+			
Acha et al., 2004 [43]	43.230	393	3.2%	0.11 [0.08: 0	0.141	1				
Messelhaeuser et al. 2008 [44]	29.380	226	3.2%	0.13 [0.09: 0	0.181		-			
Watner-Toews et al., 1986 [45]	20.280	156	3.2%	0.13 [0.08; 0	0.191	4	Ē- 1			
Padungtod and Kaneene 2005 [46]	31.500	225	3.2%	0.14 [0.10; 0	0.19]		-			
Klein et al. 2013 [47]	56.918	382	3.2%	0.15 [0.11; 0	0.19		a			
Roug 2012 [48]	2.040	12	2.3%	0.17 [0.01; 0	0.441					
Adesiyun et al. 1992 [49]	60.065	293	3.2%	0.20 [0.16; 0	0.251		-			
Baserisalehi et al. 2007 [50]	25.410	121	3.1%	0.21 [0.14; 0	0.29]		-			
Dong et al., 2016 [51]	46.948	194	3.2%	0.24 [0.18; 0	0.30]		-			
Sato et al., 2004 [52]	332.289	1191	3.3%	0.28 [0.25; 0	0.30]		-+			
Bianchi et al., 2014 [15]	25.010	82	3.1%	0.30 [0.21; 0	0.41]		-			
Hoque et al., 2021 [53]	166.860	540	3.3%	0.31 [0.27; 0	0.35]		1			
Hagey et al., 2019 [54]	46.500	150	3.2%	0.31 [0.24; 0	0.39]					
Nielsen et al. 2002 [36]	106.904	332	3.2%	0.32 [0.27; 0	0.37]		-	-		
Khalifa et al. 2013 [55]	16.000	50	3.0%	0.32 [0.20; 0	0.46]					
Kashoma et al. 2015 [56]	67.968	192	3.2%	0.35 [0.29; 0	0.42]			-		
Kwan et al. 2008 [57]	433.672	1208	3.3%	0.36 [0.33; 0	0.39]			-+		
Grinberg et al., 2005 [58]	57.960	161	3.2%	0.36 [0.29; 0	0.44]			_		
Atabay and Corry 1997 [59]	48.960	136	3.2%	0.36 [0.28; 0	0.44]			_		
Sanad et al., 2013 [60]	83.082	227	3.2%	0.37 [0.30; 0	0.43]					
Acik and Centinkaya 2005 [61]	110.000	250	3.2%	0.44 [0.38; 0	0.50]			-	-	
Hakkinen and Hé< ninen, 2009 [62]	168.980	340	3.2%	0.50 [0.44; 0	0.55]			-	-	
Englen et al., 2007 [63]	734.720	1435	3.3%	0.51 [0.49; 0	0.54]				+	
Adhikari et al., 2004 [64]	28.080	52	3.0%	0.54 [0.40; 0	0.67]			-	-	
Rapp et al., 2020 [65]	48.600	90	3.1%	0.54 [0.44; 0	0.64]				-	
Cha et al., 2017 [66]	33.988	58	3.0%	0.59 [0.46; 0	0.71]			-		7
Giacoboni et al., 1993 [67]	61.006	94	3.1%	0.65 [0.55; 0	0.74]					-
Ramonait et al., 2013 [37]	157.000	200	3.2%	0.78 [0.73; 0	0.84]					-
Total (95% CI)		13459	100.0%	0.29 [0.23; 0	0.36]					
Prediction interval				[0.01; 0.7	72]	-				
Tau ² = 0.0453; Chi ² = 2136.64, df = 3 ⁴	1 (P = 0); l ²	2 = 99%				1	1	1	1	1
						0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8

Fig 3. Forest plot of the aggregated sample estimating the pooled prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. in cows' faeces from 32 studies. Event is pooled prevalence times number of individual cattle sampled.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.g003

were 18%, 95% CI [11–27%] and 30%, 95% CI [21–39%] respectively (Fig 4b). No significant difference between these results was found (p = 0.06).

The effect of subgroups on the prevalence. The multilevel mixed-effect model showed a variance of 3.7%, 95% CI [1.9–7.3%] between studies and a variance of 3.8%, 95% CI [3.1–4.7%] for within study variance estimates. The variables *Campylobacter* species *C. hyointestinalis* and *C. jejuni* and the rectal faecal collection had a significant impact on the prevalence. The heterogeneity measure within the studies after accounting for the subgroups was 49.46% and the heterogeneity between the studies accounted for 48.29% of the total variability (S1 Fig).

Meta-regression. In addition, we assessed the effect of study year of publication on the prevalence estimate in a meta-regression of the aggregated sample. The meta-regression showed that the study year explained less than 1% of the heterogeneity (0.88%) observed in the

PLOS ONE

```
Meta-analysis Campylobacter
```



Fig 4. Forest plot of the sub-group analysis of the aggregated sample comparing the prevalence estimates of *Campylobacter* spp. in facees of dairy cows between different faecal collection methods (A) and age classes of the dairy cows (B). Event is pooled prevalence times number of individual cattle sampled.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.g004

prevalence outcomes and was not significantly affecting the prevalence estimate. The bubble plot based on the meta-regression confirms the finding (S2 Fig).

Sensitivity analysis. The risk of bias assessment was performed on all studies included in the systematic review (N = 53) and 22 (42%) of these grouped as low risk of bias. In the studies included in the simple meta-analytic model 13 of the 32 studies (41%) were in the low risk of bias group. The pooled prevalence estimate in the simple meta-analytic model was 32.5%, 95% CI [22–44%] and 27%, 95% CI [18–37%] in the low and high risk of bias group, respectively (p = 0.45) (S3 Fig). The second sensitivity analysis was the comparison between the pooled prevalence estimate from the simple and multilevel meta-analytic model. The analysis showed a significant difference between the two models. The estimated prevalence was 29% [23–36%] and 51% [44–57%] and the prediction values were [1–73%] and [0–100%] for the simple and multilevel meta-analytic model, respectively.

Discussion

Based on the increasing consumer demand for fresh and raw products and the resulting consumption of unboiled raw milk, the raw milk supply chain has become more of a focus in recent decades. Especially because raw milk is one of the top vehicles causing strong-evidence outbreaks in the EU [1]. This might have contributed to the increase in studies focused on prevalence of *Campylobacter* in dairy cows facces in the last 20 years (S2 Fig). In addition, animal health and farm management are further reasons for increased studies. However, systematic reviews and meta-analysis which allow for an estimation of the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow faeces and identify potential data gaps have not been carried out yet. The assumption that *Campylobacter* contamination of raw milk is mainly caused by faecal contamination highlighted the importance of such systematic review and meta-analysis [9, 15–17]. The prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in faeces of dairy cows form an important basis for the mathematical modelling (via QMRAs) of potential

cross-contamination events and mechanisms along the raw milk supply chain. The development of such QMRAs can furthermore help to identify different mitigation options along the supply chain in order to reduce the public health risk associated with the consumption of *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk.

Here, we could only extract quantitative data on the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in faeces of dairy cows from three studies, as other studies gave only semi-quantitative estimates of the concentrations or presented results in a figure, which did not enable the extraction of e.g. a mean and standard deviation for the concentration. The average reported concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces varied between the three studies and a meta-analysis could not be performed due to missing uncertainty measures (e.g. standard deviations). Specifically concentration data (including mean and standard deviation) are an important input for QMRAs, because the risk is the product of the probability that a random serving is contaminated and the probability that a contaminated serving results in diseases. To clarify, the probability that a random serving is contaminated is based on the prevalence data and the probability that a contaminated serving results in diseases are calculated with concentration data (including uncertainty measures), which currently highlight the lack of concentration data (including uncertainty measures), which currently impedes risk assessments and consequently the refinement of mitigation options to reduce the public health risk from contamination of *Campylobacter* in cows' faeces.

The prevalence data for *Campylobacter* in dairy cow faeces were widely available in the scientific literatures, however, the range of prevalence varied highly (0–100%). In addition, some of the studies differed greatly in study design and quality e.g. in the specific and often missing information, e.g., on the health status studied (Fig 2). Subgroup analysis could therefore only be performed for the faecal collection method and the age class of dairy cows. All other subgroups of influencing factors of interest (i.e. the season during faecal sample collection, the *Campylobacter* species, and the health status of the cows) could not be compared because less than three prevalence outcomes per group were available.

Our RoB analysis could have been improved using a validated tool for observational animal studies. We hope future studies develop such a tool to make RoB analysis more standardized among prevalence studies. In addition, the RoB analysis showed that less than half of the studies are having a low risk of bias. It also showed that only five studies explicitly mentioned the application of ISO methods for *Campylobacter* detection and characterization. For most studies (N = 42) it remained unclear (meaning that it was not explicitly mentioned) whether an ISO method (e.g. ISO10272-1:2017 [69] and/or ISO10272-2:2017 [70]) was used. A detailed subgroup analysis of studies with and without the application of ISO methods was also not possible due to too few prevalence outcome in each group. This emphasizes the problem of wide heterogeneity between the studies further, especially since the detection and characterization of a sensitive bacterium such as *Campylobacter* spp. has proven challenging [71, 72].

The meta-analytical models aimed to estimate the pooled prevalence and to subsequently evaluate which influencing factors might affect the prevalence estimates and to some part explain the heterogeneity. The multilevel model offered the opportunity to include all extracted prevalence outcomes (N = 331) from the 44 studies. The pooled prevalence estimate from this model was higher than the estimate from the simple model. The prediction interval was also wider going from zero to one, better reflecting the heterogeneity between the outcomes. When adding the subgroups to the multilevel model the results were in some cases different to subgroup analysis based on aggregated sample (e.g. for faecal collection method). For the mixed-effect multilevel model, the variables of *Campylobacter* species *C. jejuni* and *C. hyointestinalis* (in comparison to *coli*) and rectal faecal collection method (in comparison to cow pat collection) additionally had a significant impact on the pooled prevalence estimate.

The subgroup analysis, in contrast, showed no difference in prevalence between the two faecal collection methods (rectal collection and cow pat) probably due to the remaining heterogeneity between the two subgroups, which have been adjusted for to an extent in the multilevel mixed-effect model.

Heterogeneity between studies was also evident in all meta-analytic models and their high inconsistency index (Fig 3 and S1 Fig). The variation was most likely a result of the different study designs and the subgroup differences. In the multilevel model it was evident that the variation between studies contributed less to the total variation than the within study variance. When subgroups were included in the multilevel model the within study variance decreased from 62.86% to 49.46% and as a result the between study variance accounted for almost half of the total variability (from 35.1% to 48.29%). Thus, making an estimation of the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in faces of dairy cows difficult based on current studies.

Interestingly, mixed-effect multilevel model showed a significant effect of the faecal collection method on the pooled prevalence estimate. However, the subgroup analysis of aggregated samples in this study showed no significant difference between the prevalence obtained by rectal extraction (28%) or cow pats (32%) (Fig 4a). These findings were contrary to a study by Hoar et al., [73] that showed that the prevalence in cow pats was lower compared to rectal extraction in beef cattle. Nevertheless, the prevalence obtained in this study were quite low with only 5% for rectal faecal samples and 0.5% for cow pats [73]. We assumed that the cow pats in most of the studies included in this review and meta-analysis were examined immediately after shedding, which could explain the high prevalence found in cow pats. Another reason could be that the rectal extraction is not necessary allow for a mixture of a large amount of faeces, but rather supports the extraction of a few grams (e.g. rectal swab), which might not reflect the true prevalence. However, these findings also emphasize that Campylobacter already exhibits several survival strategies to adapt harsh conditions, e.g. in cow pats, by genetic exchange [74], by adaption mechanisms [75-77] or undergoing the viable but non-culturable state [78]. Accordingly, the survival of Campylobacter in cow pats in the stable environment may have been underestimated in the past.

The subgroup analysis of the aggregated prevalence estimates for calves and adult cows were 18% and 30%. The lower prevalence in calves could possibly be due to the use of straw compared to the stalls of adult cows [79]. Anyway, no significant difference between these results was found based on the subgroup analysis (Fig 4b). The multilevel mixed-effect model also showed no significant effect of the subgroups on the pooled prevalence estimate. In the search for quantitative data, two studies were identified that detected significantly higher concentrations of *Campylobacter* in the faeces of calves compared to dairy cows [36, 37].

In general, thermotolerant *Campylobacter*; mainly *C. jejuni* und *C. coli*, accounted for most human campylobacteriosis cases [80]. Nevertheless, other *Campylobacter* species such as *C. hyointestinalis* have also been reported to cause disease [81, 82]. It is important to mention that different methods of cultivation favour different species of *Campylobacter* [83]. *C. hyointestinalis* mainly colonized cows, but the cultural detection of *C. hyointestinalis* is not always ensured based on the fact that this species is not known to be thermotolerant and higher detection levels would occur after enrichment at 37°C compared with direct culture [84]. Still, the *Campylobacter* species *C. hyointestinalis* and *C. jejuni* are predominantly found in dairy cows [59, 62]. Accordingly, in the meta-analysis with the multilevel mixed-effect model *C. hyointestinalis* and *C. jejuni* had a significant impact on the pooled prevalence estimate (S4 Fig).

Repeated samplings are needed in order to examine whether the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in facees of dairy cows follow a seasonal pattern. In total 14 studies have taken repeated samples according to season in temperate regions and made data available in

their publication. Anyway, this were not enough data for subgroup analysis on the aggregated sample and only the multilevel mixed-effect model could be used to analyse the effect of seasons on the pooled prevalence estimate (S5 Fig). The results from the multilevel mixed-effect model showed no significant effect of seasons on the pooled prevalence estimate which was contrary to results reported by other studies [1, 34, 85]. Seasonal changes in *Campylobacter* concentration in cow faces were expected based on the observations that the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in the faces of food-producing animals has been shown to be subject to seasonal changes [3, 86] and that every year a seasonal increase in *Campylobacter* infections is recorded in the warmer months [85, 87, 88]. It has been shown that *Campylobacter* has a characteristic seasonality with a sharp increase of cases in the summer and a smaller but distinct winter peak [1]. Additionally, a distinct peak in the *Campylobacter* concentration in cow faces in either winter or summer has been reported [89]. However, a bimodal trend with faecal extraction in spring and autumn has also been observed [34].

Strengths and limitations of the study

This systematic review demonstrates the important data gaps for the meta-analysis of the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in cow's faeces. The major hurdle in evaluating prevalence data for *Campylobacter* spp. in faeces of dairy cows from the literature was that the data were often made available only in an aggregated state (e.g. average per subgroup). Other identified data gaps were related to the missing metadata regarding the description of the population under study (e.g. age class and health status), the sampling conditions (e.g. season) or the methodology used (e.g. faecal collection method and the use of ISO methods for *Campylobacter* detection). Thus, meta-analysis and evaluation using the specific subgroups was significantly limited. A further limitation was based on the high heterogeneity between studies, which made an estimation of the prevalence difficult. This high heterogeneity was most likely based on the high degree of variability between studies in populations under study, sampling conditions, methodology and so on. In addition, heterogeneity was likely also affected by data aggregation and missing metadata.

Future studies should therefore consider publishing raw data in non-aggregated state in order to provide better re-usability of data and to move towards the Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reuse (FAIR) data principles for scientific data [90]. Moreover, we are suggesting that authors of future studies carefully consider which metadata to collect and report in their publications to further support re-usability.

In addition, we highlighted the importance of analysing the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in food-producing animals at farm levels in order to better understand and estimate potential cross-contamination mechanisms along the food chain. Specifically concentration data (including mean and standard deviation) are an important input for QMRAs and this review and meta-analysis emphasizes the need for more studies that collect concentration data for *Campylobacter* in dairy cow faeces.

Nevertheless, the analysis of the extracted prevalence data presented in this study is considered a valuable basis for the further development of QMRAs and different risk mitigation strategies along the raw milk supply chain for *Campylobacter* spp. in (raw) milk and food products thereof.

Supporting information

S1 Checklist. PRISMA checklist. (DOC)

S1 Fig. Heterogeneity. (A) Heterogeneity in the multilevel model, (B) Heterogeneity in the multilevel mixed effects model. (TIF)
S2 Fig. Bubbleplot. (TIF)
S3 Fig. Forest plot RoB. (TIF)
S4 Fig. Forest plot species. (TIF)
S5 Fig. Forest plot season. (TIF)
S1 Table. Extraction table. (XLSX)
S2 Table. Risk of bias. (XLSX)

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Anna-Delia Knipper, Tasja Crease.

Data curation: Anna-Delia Knipper, Tasja Crease.

Formal analysis: Anna-Delia Knipper, Narges Ghoreishi, Tasja Crease.

Investigation: Anna-Delia Knipper, Tasja Crease.

Methodology: Anna-Delia Knipper, Narges Ghoreishi, Tasja Crease.

Project administration: Tasja Crease.

Supervision: Tasja Crease.

Visualization: Anna-Delia Knipper, Narges Ghoreishi, Tasja Crease.

Writing - original draft: Anna-Delia Knipper, Tasja Crease.

Writing - review & editing: Anna-Delia Knipper, Narges Ghoreishi, Tasja Crease.

References

- EFSA. The European Union One Health 2020 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 2021; 19(12):e06971. https:// doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6971
- Keithlin J, Sargeant J, Thomas MK, Fazil A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the proportion of Campylobacter cases that develop chronic sequelae. BMC Public Health. 2014; 14(1):1203. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-1203 PMID: 25416162
- EFSA. Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ). Scientific opinion on *Campylobacter* in broiler meat production: Control options and performance objectives and/or targets at different stages of the food chain. EFSA J. 2011; 9(2105). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2105
- Rosner BM, Schielke A, Didelot X, Kops F, Breidenbach J, Willrich N, et al. A combined case-control and molecular source attribution study of human *Campylobacter* infections in Germany, 2011–2014. Sci Rep. 2017; 7(1):5139. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05227-x PMID: 28698561
- Kaakoush NO, Castaño-Rodríguez N, Mitchell HM, Man SM. Global Epidemiology of Campylobacter Infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2015; 28(3):687–720. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00006-15 PMID: 26062576

- Mughini-Gras L, Penny C, Ragimbeau C, Schets FM, Blaak H, Duim B, et al. Quantifying potential sources of surface water contamination with *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Water Res. 2016; 101:36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.05.069 PMID: 27244295
- Claeys WL, Cardoen S, Daube G, De Block J, Dewettinck K, Dierick K, et al. Raw or heated cow milk consumption: Review of risks and benefits. Food Control. 2013; 31(1):251–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodcont.2012.09.035
- Heuvelink AE, van Heerwaarden C, Zwartkruis-Nahuis A, Tilburg JJHC, Bos MH, Heilmann FGC, et al. Two outbreaks of campylobacteriosis associated with the consumption of raw cows' milk. Int J Food Microbiol. 2009; 134(1):70–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.12.026 PMID: 19167125
- Schildt M, Savolainen S, HÄNninen ML. Long-lasting Campylobacter jejuni contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family. Epidemiol Infect. 2006; 134(2):401–5. Epub 2005/ 09/05. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268805005029 PMID: 16490146
- Taylor EV, Herman KM, Ailes EC, Fitzgerald C, Yoder JS, Mahon BE, et al. Common source outbreaks of *Campylobacter* infection in the USA, 1997–2008. Epidemiol Infect. 2013; 141(5):987–96. Epub 2012/ 08/16. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0950268812001744 PMID: 22892294.
- Oliver SP, Boor KJ, Murphy SC, Murinda SE. Food safety hazards associated with consumption of raw milk. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2009; 6(7):793–806. Epub 2009/09/10. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2009. 0302 PMID: 19737059.
- Böhnlein C, Fiedler G, Loop J, Franz C, Kabisch J. Microbiological quality and safety of raw milk from direct sale in northern Germany. Int Dairy J. 2020; 114:104944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2020. 104944.
- Giacometti F, Bonilauri P, Serraino A, Peli A, Amatiste S, Arrigoni N, et al. Four-Year Monitoring of Foodborne Pathogens in Raw Milk Sold by Vending Machines in Italy. J Food Prot. 2013; 76(11):1902– 7. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-13-213 PMID: 24215694
- Giacometti F, Serraino A, Bonilauri P, Ostanello F, Daminelli P, Finazzi G, et al. Quantitative Risk Assessment of Verocytotoxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* 0157 and *Campylobacter jejuni* Related to Consumption of Raw Milk in a Province in Northern Italy. J Food Prot. 2012; 75(11):2031–8. https://doi. org/10.4315/0362-028x.Jfp-12-163 PMID: 23127713
- Bianchini V, Borella L, Benedetti V, Parisi A, Miccolupo A, Santoro E, et al. Prevalence in Bulk Tank Milk and Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* in Dairy Herds in Northern Italy. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014; 80(6):1832–7. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.03784-13 PMID: 24413598
- Del Collo LP, Karns JS, Biswas D, Lombard JE, Haley BJ, Kristensen RC, et al. Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. J Dairy Sci. 2017; 100(5):3470–9. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-12084 PMID: 28237599
- Modi S, Brahmbhatt MN, Chatur YA, Nayak JB. Prevalence of *Campylobacter* species in milk and milk products, their virulence gene profile and antibiogram. Vet World. 2015; 8(1):1–8. Epub 2015/01/01. PMID: 27046986
- 18. Anonymous, Microbiological Risk Assessment of Raw Cow Milk. Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 2009.
- Giacometti F, Bonilauri P, Albonetti S, Amatiste S, Arrigoni N, Bianchi M, et al. Quantitative Risk Assessment of Human Salmonellosis and Listeriosis Related to the Consumption of Raw Milk in Italy. J Food Prot. 2015; 78(1):13–21. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-14-171 PMID: 25581173
- 20. FAO/WHO. Codex Alimentarius Comission Procedural Manual. 2013;21st ed. Rome.
- Cummins E, Hospido A, Van Impe JFM. Quantitative tools for sustainable food and energy in the food chain. Food Res Int. 2019; 115:126–7. Epub 2019/01/03. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.08.026 PMID: 30599923.
- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Systematic Reviews. 2015; 4(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-4-1 PMID: 25554246
- Lipscomb CE. Medical Subject Headings (MeSH). Bull Med Libr Assoc. 2000; 88(3):265–6. PMID: 10928714.
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan—a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Systematic Reviews. 2016; 5(1):210. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4 PMID: 27919275
- Hooijmans CR, Rovers MM, de Vries RB, Leenaars M, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Langendam MW. SYR-CLE's risk of bias tool for animal studies. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014; 14:43. Epub 2014/03/29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-43 PMID: 24667063
- 26. CAMARADES Berlin Q-BC. Preclinical Systematic Reviews & Meta-Analysis Wiki. May, 2022.

- Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. Bmj. 2016; 355:i4919. Epub 2016/ 10/14. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4919 PMID: 27733354.
- Barker TH, Migliavaca CB, Stein C, Colpani V, Falavigna M, Aromataris E, et al. Conducting proportional meta-analysis in different types of systematic reviews: a guide for synthesisers of evidence. BMC Medical Research Methodology. 2021; 21(1):189. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01381-z PMID: 34544368
- 29. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2020.
- Balduzzi S, Rücker G, Schwarzer G. How to perform a meta-analysis with R: a practical tutorial. Evid Based Ment Health. 2019; 22(4):153–60. Epub 2019/09/30. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebmental-2019-300117 PMID: 31563865.
- Viechtbauer W. Conducting Meta-Analyses in R with the metafor Package. Journal of Statistical Software. 2010; 36(3):1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v036.i03
- Moriarty EM, Sinton LW, Mackenzie ML, Karki N, Wood DR. A survey of enteric bacteria and protozoans in fresh bovine faeces on New Zealand dairy farms. J Appl Microbiol. 2008; 105(6):2015–25. Epub 2008/11/20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03939.x PMID: 19016977.
- Rapp D, Ross CM, Cave V, Muirhead RW. Prevalence, concentration and genotypes of *Campylobacter jejuni* in faeces from dairy herds managed in farm systems with or without housing. J Appl Microbiol. 2014; 116(4):1035–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12425 PMID: 24372778
- Stanley KN, Wallace JS, Currie JE, Diggle PJ, Jones K. The seasonal variation of thermophilic *Campylobacters* in beef cattle, dairy cattle and calves. J Appl Microbiol. 1998; 85(3):472–80. Epub 1998/09/ 29. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.1998.853511.x PMID: 9750278.
- Rapp D, Ross CM, Pleydell EJ, Muirhead RW. Differences in the fecal concentrations and genetic diversities of *Campylobacter jejuni* populations among individual cows in two dairy herds. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012; 78(21):7564–71. Epub 2012/08/17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01783-12 PMID: 22904055.
- Nielsen EM. Occurrence and strain diversity of thermophilic Campy/obacters in cattle of different age groups in dairy herds. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2002; 35(1):85–9. Epub 2002/06/26. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1472-765x.2002.01143.x PMID: 12081556.
- Ramonaité S, Rokaityté A, Tamulevičiené E, Malakauskas A, Alter T, Malakauskas M. Prevalence, quantitative load and genetic diversity of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cattle herds in Lithuania. Acta Vet Scand. 2013; 55(1):87. Epub 2013/12/07. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-55-87 PMID: 24304521
- Waterman SC, Park RW, Bramley AJ. A search for the source of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk. J Hyg (Lond). 1984; 93(2):333–7. Epub 1984/10/01. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022172400064871 PMID: 6501879
- Rodrigues Silveira D, Kaefer K, Camargo Porto R, Deboni Cereser N, Gonzalez de Lima H, Dias Timm C. Campylobacter sp. IN DAIRY COWS FROM SOUTHERN BRAZIL. Campylobacter sp em vacas leiteiras do Sul do Brasil. 2021; 26(1):1–10. PMID: 149601355.
- Adesiyun AA, Webb LA, Romain H, Kaminjolo JS. Prevalence of Salmonella, Listeria monocytogenes, Campylobacter spp., Yersinia enterocolitica and Cryptosporidium spp. in bulk milk, cows' faeces and effluents of dairy farms in Trinidad. Rev Elev Med Vet Pays Trop. 1996; 49(4):303–9. Epub 1996/01/01. PMID: 9229938.
- McAuley CM, McMillan K, Moore SC, Fegan N, Fox EM. Prevalence and characterization of foodborne pathogens from Australian dairy farm environments. J Dairy Sci. 2014; 97(12):7402–12. Epub 2014/10/ 06. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8735 PMID: 25282417.
- Duncan JS, Leatherbarrow AJ, French NP, Grove-White DH. Temporal and farm-management-associated variation in faecal-pat prevalence of *Campylobacter fetus* in sheep and cattle. Epidemiol Infect. 2014; 142(6):1196–204. Epub 2013/09/27. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0950268813002379 PMID: 24067441.
- Achá SJ, Kühn I, Jonsson P, Mbazima G, Katouli M, Möllby R. Studies on calf diarrhoea in Mozambique: prevalence of bacterial pathogens. Acta Vet Scand. 2004; 45(1–2):27–36. Epub 2004/11/13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-45-27 PMID: 15535084
- Messelhäusser U, Beck H, Gallien P, Schalch B, Busch U. Presence of Shiga Toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* and thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. in cattle, food and water sources on Alpine pastures in Bavaria. Arch Lebensmhyg. 2008; 59(3):103–6. https://doi.org/10.2376/0003-925X-59-103
- Waltner-Toews D, Martin SW, Meek AH. An epidemiological study of selected calf pathogens on Holstein dairy farms in southwestern Ontario. Can J Vet Res. 1986; 50(3):307–13. Epub 1986/07/01. PMID: 3017528

 Padungtod P, Kaneene JB. Campylobacter in food animals and humans in northern Thailand. J Food Prot. 2005; 68(12):2519–26. Epub 2005/12/17. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-68.12.2519 PMID: 16355821.

- Klein D, Alispahic M, Sofka D, Iwersen M, Drillich M, Hilbert F. Prevalence and risk factors for shedding of thermophilic *Campylobacter* in calves with and without diarrhea in Austrian dairy herds. J Dairy Sci. 2013; 96(2):1203–10. Epub 2012/12/25. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-5987 PMID: 23261381.
- Roug A, Byrne BA, Conrad PA, Miller WA. Zoonotic fecal pathogens and antimicrobial resistance in county fair animals. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013; 36(3):303–8. Epub 2012/12/25. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2012.11.006 PMID: 23260373.
- Adesiyun AA, Kaminjolo JS, Loregnard R, Kitson-Piggott W. Campylobacter infections in calves, piglets, lambs and kids in Trinidad. Br Vet J. 1992; 148(6):547–56. Epub 1992/11/01. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0007-1935(92)90011-0 PMID: 1467924.
- Baserisalehi M, Bahador N, Kapadnis BP. Isolation and characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. from domestic animals and poultry in south of Iran. Pak J Biol Sci. 2007; 10(9):1519–24. Epub 2007/05/01. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.2007.1519.1524 PMID: 19069968.
- Dong HJ, Kim W, An JU, Kim J, Cho S. The Fecal Microbial Communities of Dairy Cattle Shedding Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* or *Campylobacter jejuni*. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2016; 13 (9):502–8. Epub 2016/07/08. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2016.2121 PMID: 27385033.
- Sato K, Bartlett PC, Kaneene JB, Downes FP. Comparison of Prevalence and Antimicrobial Susceptibilities of *Campylobacter* spp. Isolates from Organic and Conventional Dairy Herds in Wisconsin. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004; 70(3):1442–7.
- Hoque N, Islam SKS, Uddin MN, Arif M, Haque A, Neogi SB, et al. Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Molecular Detection of *Campylobacter* in Farmed Cattle of Selected Districts in Bangladesh. Pathogens. 2021; 10(3). Epub 2021/04/04. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10030313 PMID: 33800065
- Hagey JV, Bhatnagar S, Heguy JM, Karle BM, Price PL, Meyer D, et al. Fecal Microbial Communities in a Large Representative Cohort of California Dairy Cows. Front Microbiol. 2019; 10:1093. Epub 2019/ 06/04. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01093 PMID: 31156599
- Khalifa NO, Radwan MEI, Sobhy M. Molecular study of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolated from chicken, dairy cattle and human to determine their zoonotic importance. Global Veterinaria. 2013; 10(3):332–6. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.gv.2013.10.3.71200
- Kashoma IP, Kassem II, Kumar A, Kessy BM, Gebreyes W, Kazwala RP, et al. Antimicrobial Resistance and Genotypic Diversity of *Campylobacter* Isolated from Pigs, Dairy, and Beef Cattle in Tanzania. Front Microbiol. 2015; 6:1240. Epub 2015/12/01. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01240 PMID: 26617582
- Kwan PSL, Birtles A, Bolton FJ, French NP, Robinson SE, Newbold LS, et al. Longitudinal study of the molecular epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* in cattle on dairy farms. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2008; 74(12):3626–33. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01669-07 PMID: 18424539
- Grinberg A, Pomroy WE, Weston JF, Ayanegui-Alcerreca A, Knight D. The occurrence of *Cryptosporid*ium parvum, *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* in newborn dairy calves in the Manawatu region of New Zealand. N Z Vet J. 2005; 53(5):315–20. Epub 2005/10/13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2005. 36566 PMID: 16220123.
- Atabay HI, Corry JEL, On SLW. Isolation and characterization of a novel catalase-negative, urease-positive Campylobacter from cattle faeces. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1997; 24(1):59–64. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1472-765X.1997.00347.x PMID: 9024006
- Sanad YM, Closs G Jr, Kumar A, LeJeune JT, Rajashekara G. Molecular epidemiology and public health relevance of *Campylobacter* isolated from dairy cattle and European starlings in Ohio, USA. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2013; 10(3):229–36. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2012.1293 PMID: 23259503
- Açik MN, Çetinkaya B. The heterogeneity of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli strains isolated from healthy cattle. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2005; 41(5):397–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01780.x PMID: 16238642
- Hakkinen M, Hänninen ML. Shedding of Campylobacter spp. in Finnish cattle on dairy farms. J Appl Microbiol. 2009; 107(3):898–905. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04269.x PMID: 19486409
- Englen MD, Hill AE, Dargatz DA, Ladely SR, Fedorka-Cray PJ. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter* in US dairy cattle. J Appl Microbiol. 2007; 102(6):1570–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1365-2672.2006.03189.x PMID: 17578422
- Adhikari B, Connolly JH, Madie P, Davies PR. Prevalence and clonal diversity of Campylobacter jejuni from dairy farms and urban sources. N Z Vet J. 2004; 52(6):378–83. Epub 2005/03/16. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00480169.2004.36455 PMID: 15768139.

- Rapp D, Ross C, Hea S-Y, Brightwell G. Importance of the Farm Environment and Wildlife for Transmission of *Campylobacter jejuni* in A Pasture-Based Dairy Herd. Microorganisms. 2020; 8(12):1877. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8121877 PMID: 33260888.
- 66. Cha W, Mosci RE, Wengert SL, Vargas CV, Rust SR, Bartlett PC, et al. Comparing the genetic diversity and antimicrobial resistance profiles of *Campylobacter jejuni* recovered from cattle and humans. Front Microbiol. 2017; 8(MAY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00818 PMID: 28536568
- Giacoboni GI, Itoh K, Hirayama K, Takahashi E, Mitsuoka T. Comparison of fecal *Campylobacter* in calves and cattle of different ages and areas in Japan. J Vet Med Sci. 1993; 55(4):555–9. https://doi. org/10.1292/jvms.55.555 PMID: 8399732
- Teunis PFM, Bonačić Marinović A, Tribble DR, Porter CK, Swart A. Acute illness from *Campylobacter jejuni* may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. Epidemics. 2018; 24:1–20. Epub 2018/02/20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2018.02.001 PMID: 29456072.
- 10272–1:2017 I. Microbiology of the food chain—horizontal method for detection and enumeration of Campylobacter spp.—part 1: detection method.
- 10272–2:2017 I. Microbiology of the food chain—horizontal method for detection and enumeration of Campylobacter spp.—part 2: colony-count technique.
- Doyle MP, Roman DJ. Growth and Survival of Campylobacter fetus subsp. jejuni as a Function of Temperature and pH. J Food Prot. 1981; 44(8):596–601. Epub 1981/08/01. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-44.8.596 PMID: 30836532.
- Kim S-H, Chelliah R, Ramakrishnan SR, Perumal AS, Bang W-S, Rubab M, et al. Review on Stress Tolerance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021; 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb. 2020.596570 PMID: 33614524
- Hoar BR, Atwill ER, Elmi C, Utterback WW, Edmondson AJ. Comparison of fecal samples collected per rectum and off the ground for estimation of environmental contamination attributable to beef cattle. Am J Vet Res. 1999; 60(11):1352–6. PMID: 10566807
- 74. Samarth DP, Kwon YM. Horizontal genetic exchange of chromosomally encoded markers between Campylobacter jejuni cells. PLoS One. 2020; 15(10):e0241058. Epub 2020/10/27. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0241058 PMID: 33104745
- Aksomaitiene J, Novoslavskij A, Kudirkiene E, Gabinaitiene A, Malakauskas M. Whole Genome Sequence-Based Prediction of Resistance Determinants in High-Level Multidrug-Resistant *Campylo-bacter jejuni* Isolates in Lithuania. Microorganisms. 2021; 9(1):66. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms9010066 PMID: 33383765
- 76. Chu HY, Sprouffske K, Wagner A. Assessing the benefits of horizontal gene transfer by laboratory evolution and genome sequencing. BMC Evolutionary Biology. 2018; 18(1):54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-018-1164-7 PMID: 29673327
- Crofts AA, Poly FM, Ewing CP, Kuroiwa JM, Rimmer JE, Harro C, et al. Campylobacter jejuni transcriptional and genetic adaptation during human infection. Nature Microbiology. 2018; 3(4):494–502. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0133-7 PMID: 29588538
- Baffone W, Casaroli A, Citterio B, Pierfelici L, Campana R, Vittoria E, et al. Campylobacter jejuni loss of culturability in aqueous microcosms and ability to resuscitate in a mouse model. Int J Food Microbiol. 2006; 107(1):83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2005.08.015 PMID: 16290304
- 79. Hansson I, Olsson Engvall E, Ferrari S, Harborn B, Lahti E. Detection of Campylobacter species in different types of samples from dairy farms. Veterinary Record. 2020; 186(18):605-. https://doi.org/10. 1136/vr.105610 PMID: 31727852
- EFSA. The European Union One Health 2019 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 2021; 19(2). https://doi.org/ 10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6406 PMID: 33680134
- Edmonds P, Patton CM, Griffin PM, Barrett TJ, Schmid GP, Baker CN, et al. Campylobacter hyointestinalis associated with human gastrointestinal disease in the United States. J Clin Microbiol. 1987; 25 (4):685–91. PMID: 3571477.
- Kim DK, Hong SK, Kim M, Ahn JY, Yong D, Lee K. Campylobacter hyointestinalis isolated from a human stool specimen. Ann Lab Med. 2015; 35(6):657–9. https://doi.org/10.3343/alm.2015.35.6.657 PMID: 26354359.
- Corry JE, Post DE, Colin P, Laisney MJ. Culture media for the isolation of *campylobacters*. Int J Food Microbiol. 1995; 26(1):43–76. Epub 1995/06/01. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1605(95)00044-k PMID: 7662519.
- Hakkinen M, Heiska H, Hänninen ML. Prevalence of *Campylobacters*pp. in cattle in Finland and antimicrobial susceptibilities of bovine *Campylobacter jejuni* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007; 73 (10):3232–8. Epub 2007/03/21. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.02579-06 PMID: 17369335

- Kovats RS, Edwards SJ, Charron D, Cowden J, D'Souza RM, Ebi KL, et al. Climate variability and Campylobacter infection: an international study. Int J Biometeorol. 2005; 49(4):207–14. Epub 2004/11/27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-004-0241-3 PMID: 15565278.
- Wesley IV, Wells SJ, Harmon KM, Green A, Schroeder-Tucker L, Glover M, et al. Fecal shedding of Campylobacter and Arcobacter spp. in dairy cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2000; 66(5):1994–2000. Epub 2000/05/02. PMID: 10788372
- McCarthy ND, Gillespie IA, Lawson AJ, Richardson J, Neal KR, Hawtin PR, et al. Molecular epidemiology of human *Campylobacter jejuni* shows association between seasonal and international patterns of disease. Epidemiol Infect. 2012; 140(12):2247–55. Epub 2012/02/28. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0950268812000192 PMID: 22370165.
- Yun J, Greiner M, Höller C, Messelhäusser U, Rampp A, Klein G. Association between the ambient temperature and the occurrence of human *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* infections. Sci Rep. 2016; 6 (1):28442. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep28442 PMID: 27324200
- Blaser MJ, Taylor DN, Feldman RA. Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections. Epidemiol Rev. 1983; 5:157–76. Epub 1983/01/01. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.epirev.a036256 PMID: 6357819.
- 90. Wilkinson MD, Dumontier M, Aalbersberg IJ, Appleton G, Axton M, Baak A, et al. The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Scientific Data. 2016; 3(1):160018. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.18 PMID: 26978244

3.3 Publication 2: Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cows, during milking and in the dairy farm environment



Article

Longitudinal Study for the Detection and Quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in Dairy Cows during Milking and in the Dairy Farm Environment

Anna-Delia Knipper ^{1,*}⁽⁰⁾, Steven Göhlich ¹, Kerstin Stingl ¹⁽⁰⁾, Narges Ghoreishi ²⁽⁰⁾, Carola Fischer-Tenhagen ³, Niels Bandick ¹, Bernd-Alois Tenhagen ¹⁽⁰⁾ and Tasja Crease ¹

- ¹ Department of Biological Safety, German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Max-Dohrn-Straße 8-10, 10589 Berlin, Germany, steven, goehlich@bfr.bund.de (S.G.); kerstin.sting@bfr.bund.de (K.S.); richtend id (D. B.) bened de interface (C.G.); hereit in the set of the federal de (D. C.).
- niels.bandick@bfr.bund.de (N.B.); bernd-alois.tenhagen@bfr.bund.de (B.-A.T.); tasja.crease@bfr.bund.de (T.C.)
 2 Department Exposure, German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Max-Dohrn-Straße 8-10,
 10589 Berlin, Germany; narges.ghoreishi@bfr.bund.de
- Center for Protection of Experimental Animals, German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR),
- Max-Dohrn-Straße 8-10, 10589 Berlin, Germany; carola.fischer-tenhagen@bfr.bund.de
- * Correspondence: anna-delia.knipper@bfr.bund.de

Abstract: Campylobacteriosis outbreaks have repeatedly been associated with the consumption of raw milk. This study aimed to explore the variation in the prevalence and concentration of Campylobacter spp. in cows' milk and feces, the farm environment and on the teat skin over an entire year at a small German dairy farm. Bi-weekly samples were collected from the environment (boot socks), teats, raw milk, milk filters, milking clusters and feces collected from the recta of dairy cows. Samples were analyzed for Campylobacter spp., E. coli, the total aerobic plate count and for Pseudomonas spp. The prevalence of Campylobacter spp. was found to be the highest in feces (77.1%), completely absent in milking equipment and low in raw milk (0.4%). The mean concentration of Campylobacter spp. was 2.43 log₁₀ colony-forming units (CFU)/g in feces and 1.26 log₁₀ CFU/teat swab. Only a single milk filter at the end of the milk pipeline and one individual cow's raw milk sample were positive on the same day, with a concentration of $2.74 \log_{10} \text{CFU}/\text{filter}$ and 2.37 log10 CFU/mL for the raw milk. On the same day, nine teat swab samples tested positive for Campylobacter spp. This study highlights the persistence of Campylobacter spp. for at least one year in the intestine of individual cows and within the general farm environment and demonstrates that fecal cross-contamination of the teats can occur even when the contamination of raw milk is a rare event.

Keywords: food safety; food hygiene; raw milk; cattle; risk assessment

1. Introduction

Campylobacteriosis, caused by bacteria of the genus *Campylobacter*, is the most commonly reported bacterial foodborne gastrointestinal infection in humans in the European Union (EU) [1]. Aside from *Salmonella* spp. and the shigatoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC), *Campylobacter* spp., predominantly *Campylobacter* (*C*.) *jejuni*, have been regarded as the most notable health hazards, with clear links between drinking raw milk and human illness [2–4]. Between 2011 and 2020, raw milk was one of the main food vehicles causing "strong evidence" for foodborne campylobacteriosis outbreaks reported in the EU [5].

Thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. colonize the intestinal tract of cattle and are shed intermittently with the feces [6–9]. Therefore, it is assumed that in raw milk, this pathogen mainly originates from fecal cross-contamination during milking. However, it is not clear how this contamination takes place and how often raw milk is contaminated during milking [6,10–12].



Citation: Knipper, A.-D.; Göhlich, S.; Stingl, K.; Ghoreishi, N.; Fischer-Tenhagen, C.; Bandick, N.; Tenhagen, B.-A.; Crease, T. Longitudinal Study for the Detection and Quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in Dairy Cows during Milking and in the Dairy Farm Environment. *Foods* **2023**, *12*, 1639. https:// doi.org/10.3390/foods12081639

Academic Editors: Chiara Fanali and Giovanni Antonini

Received: 9 March 2023 Revised: 6 April 2023 Accepted: 11 April 2023 Published: 13 April 2023

Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

42

The limited number of studies on and low concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain have challenged previous risk assessments for raw milk consumption. Some studies investigated the prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the bulk milk tank and milk filter. A meta-analysis of results from North America, Europe and New Zealand provided an estimated mean prevalence of 1.54% for *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and 1.75% in milk filters [13]. Two studies attempted to quantify the contamination using the most probable number (MPN) method. They found 16 ± 30 MPN/100 mL in the bulk tank milk [14] and 1 MPN/21 mL in raw milk from farm vats [15]. Despite the low bacterial prevalence and concentration, the consumption of raw milk is considered a high-risk behavior [16]. Consumers are advised to boil raw milk prior to consumption to inactivate pathogens [2]. However, surveys in Italy found that 13.9% to 43% of consumers did not boil raw milk before consumption [17].

The prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces of dairy cows vary widely from 0 to 100% [18]. The studies included in the meta-analysis differed in their design and the size of the herds investigated [18]. Seven studies reported quantitative data for *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces [19–25]. The concentration ranged from 2 log₁₀ colony-forming units (CFU)/g feces to 4 log₁₀ CFU/g feces [20,21]. One study in New Zealand investigated the differences in the fecal concentrations of *C. jejuni* between individual cows based on rectal sampling [23]. Three cows on a pasture and three cows in confinement housing were grouped together as a "high-shedder group", harboring a median concentration of 3–3.6 log₁₀ *C. jejuni* per g of fresh feces [23].

Few studies have focused on the raw milk supply chain and the herd-level epidemiology of *Campylobacter* spp. [6,26–29]. To estimate the transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. from feces to milk, it is necessary to investigate both in the same setting. Limited longitudinal data on cross-contamination with *Campylobacter* spp. from feces to raw milk are available. Frequent sampling is required to detect contamination events and to estimate their frequency because the contamination of milk with *Campylobacter* spp. is expected to occur only sporadically. To the best of our knowledge, only one study from Norway provides concurrent qualitative prevalence data on *Campylobacter* spp. in cows' feces, on teat skin, in raw milk and in environmental samples [30]. However, *Campylobacter* spp. were not quantified in that study.

In our study, the prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in fecal samples, teat swabs, raw milk, milk filters and boot sock samples from the stable alley were determined to close the gaps in the described knowledge and data. We determined the frequency of fecal shedding of *Campylobacter* spp. in individual cows and in different seasons. We compared the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. on teat skin, in raw milk and in milk filters with the fecal shedding of this pathogen. *Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas* spp. and the total aerobic colony count (TACC) were analyzed as indicators of fecal and environmental contamination throughout the milking process.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sampling Site

A Holstein cow herd with 22 lactating animals in Berlin, Germany, was sampled over a period of one year, from the 19th of April 2021 to the 8th of April 2022. Cows were kept in a free-stall barn with a concrete floor and access to an outdoor sand paddock throughout the year. Samples were taken on two consecutive days every two weeks from primiparous (n = 19) and second lactation (n = 3; cow ID 4301, 4317, and 4320) cows. The animals were fed a diet consisting of 27.7% grass silage, 29.5% maize silage, 6.0% straw, 30.1% hay, 6.0% beet pulp, and 0.61% minerals ad libitum throughout the year. Concentrates were provided individually in a transponder-controlled automatic feeder to meet the energy requirements for 25 kg/d of energy-corrected milk. On the first day, samples were collected from raw milk, milk filters, teat skin and milking clusters at 6 a.m. Teat swabs and raw milk samples were taken from twelve lactating cows over the entire period. The same cows were sampled on every occasion with some exceptions: (1) dry cows on specific sampling days were replaced by lactating cows; (2) two cows had to be treated with antibiotics against mastitis during the trial period. These were excluded once from teat swab and raw milk sampling during treatment. These exceptions resulted in teat swab and raw milk samples from 21 different cows.

On the second day, rectal fecal samples were taken from twelve cows and boot sock samples were obtained from the stable corridor. A mathematical randomization fixed the twelve cows always used for rectal fecal sampling. One cow (6057) left the herd for a reason unrelated to the study and was replaced by a new cow (6005), who was used for rectal fecal sampling. Samples were transported on ice to the laboratory, and microbiological processing was carried out within two hours of sampling at the latest. The entire experiment was approved by the State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LAGESO) (Reg.-No.: G 0215/20).

2.2. Sample Preparation

2.2.1. Teat Swab Samples

Two gauze pads (10×10 cm, 8-fold) were placed in a plastic bag and moistened with 8 mL 0.9% NaCl. The bag was closed and stored at 4 °C until sampling. One bag was used per cow. On two occasions, teat swabs could only be collected from 11 cows, resulting in a total of 286 teat swab samples (instead of 288, 24×12 cows) during the study.

All four teats of a cow were wiped with the two gauze pads while wearing gloves before being cleaned by the milkers with moist cleaning wipes (udder wipes, clean paper[®], Lauchhammer, Germany). The gloves were changed between sampling each individual cow to avoid cross-contamination. In the laboratory, the gauze pads were visually scored to assess the fecal contamination of the teat skin. Four scoring categories were used: K1: gauze pad clean; K2: gauze pad colored yellowish; K3: gauze pad discolored brown, possibly with fecal particles; K4: gauze pad brownish in color, feces clearly visible on the gauze pads.

Twenty-five milliliters of 1% phosphate-buffered peptone water (PW) was added to each teat swab sample (consisting of two gauze pads) and homogenized using a GRINDOMIX GM200 (Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) for 120 s at 4000 rpm.

2.2.2. Raw Milk Samples

While wearing gloves and after the teats were cleaned with udder wipes (clean paper[®]), Lauchhammer, Germany), raw milk samples were obtained from all four teats and pooled in 50 mL falcon tubes. No disinfectant was applied before the raw milk was sampled. On two occasions, raw milk samples could only be collected from 11 cows, resulting in a total of 286 raw milk samples (instead of 288, 24 × 12 cows) during the study.

2.2.3. Milking Clusters Samples

After the completion of the milking process, one pooled sample was taken from each milking cluster (with four teat cups). One swab (nerbe plus, Winsen/Luhe, Germany) was used for each teat cup. Four swabs from the same cluster were pooled into one sample. Four milking clusters were used at the farm. One of the clusters was not used on seven occasions for technical reasons. Therefore, only 89 samples (instead of 96, 24×4 clusters) were analyzed.

Each sample was covered with 18 mL PW and homogenized as previously described.

During the study, intermediate disinfection of the teat cups with 3% peracetic acid between cows was introduced on the farm. The disinfection was introduced to achieve better milking hygiene between cows due to the poor udder health of some cows. However, we continued to take samples from the teat cup at the end of the completed milking process of all cows.

2.2.4. Milk Filter Samples

The milk filter was installed at the end of the milk pipeline, at the start of the milking process, i.e., all milk collected on that day passed through the filter. One milk filter was taken on each sampling day (n = 24). The filters measured 6 cm \times 52.5 cm, and the pore

size ranged from 100 μ m to 250 μ m. After the milking process was finished, the milk filter was removed and transferred to a plastic bag. In the laboratory, it was homogenized after being covered with 35 mL PW.

2.2.5. Boot Sock Samples

Socks (romerlabs, surface boot cover swabs, 10001911 (BTSW200BPW)) were placed on shoes before sampling. One pair of boot socks was taken on each sampling day (n = 24). The entire barn corridor was walked with the boot socks (approx. 80 steps), avoiding fresh fecal pats. After sampling, the socks were placed in a stomacher bag and transported to the laboratory in a cool box. At the laboratory, 180 mL PW, enough to cover the socks, was added to the stomacher bag, and the same procedure as described above was applied for homogenization.

2.2.6. Fecal Samples

Fecal samples were obtained from the recta of twelve cows, using gloved hands and a lubricant gel. On one sampling day, only eleven cows were sampled. Therefore, 287 samples were analyzed (instead of 288, 12 cows \times 24 samplings). The samples were placed in plastic cups with a screw-on lid. Gloves were changed between individual cows to avoid cross-contamination. In the laboratory, 10 g of feces per sample was transferred into stomacher bags and mixed with 90 mL PW. Three scoring categories were used to assess the consistency of the feces (K1: liquid; K2: mushy (normal) consistency; K3: dry and compact). The samples were homogenized individually for 120 s at 4000 rpm.

2.3. Microbiological Analysis

2.3.1. Detection and Quantification of Microorganisms

The detection limits of all microorganisms in the samples are provided in Table S1.

Escherichia coli (beta-glucoronidase-positive), TACC and Pseudomonas spp. were quantified according to ISO 16649-2:2001 (using the spread plate method instead of the pour plate method), ISO 4833:2015 and ISO 13720:2010, respectively. The samples were further diluted 1:10 in PW, and 100 µL per dilution step was spread on agar plates. Escherichia coli was cultured on tryptone bile X-glucuronide (TBX) agar (Oxoid Deutschland GmbH, Wesel, Germany) for 24 h at 41.5 °C, TACC on plate count agar (carl roth® GmbH + Co., KG, Karlsruhe, Germany) for 72 h at 30 °C and Pseudomonas spp. on cephaloridine fucidin cetrimide (CFC) agar (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) for 24 h at 25 °C. Thermophilic Campylobacter spp. were detected according to ISO 10272-1:2017, using modified charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar (mCCDA, mixture of Merck & Co., Kenilworth, NJ, USA and Oxoid; 48 h, 41.5 °C). For the enrichment of Campylobacter spp., Preston broth (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany; 24 h, 41.5 °C) was used. The enrichment for teat swabs, milk, swabs from milk clusters and milk filters was performed using 5 mL of the sample dilution and 45 mL of Preston broth. For boot sock samples, 1 mL of sample dilution was used in 9 mL of Preston broth. One gram of fecal sample was weighed into a test tube and covered with 9 mL of Preston broth.

Concurrently, ISO 10272-2:2017 was used for the enumeration of thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. The samples were further diluted 1:10 in PW, and 100 μ L per dilution step was spread on agar plates. In addition, 1 mL of the initial sample (raw milk) or sample suspension (all other sample matrices) was spread on agar plates.

2.3.2. Species Identification

One colony from each sample was selected for *Campylobacter* spp. identification. *Campylobacter* spp. colonies were sub-cultured on Columbia blood agar plates with defibrinated sheep blood (Oxoid Deutschland GmbH, Wesel, Germany) in a microaerobic atmosphere for 24 h at 41.5 °C. Afterwards, further analyses were performed according to ISO 10272-1:2017. In short, characteristic morphology and motility were observed via phase contrast microscopy. A catalase activity test was performed by streaking a loop of culture into a drop of hydrogen peroxide

solution on a clean microscope slide. The test was positive if bubbles appeared within 30 s. The detection of cytochrome oxidase activity was performed using a BactidentTM Oxidase test strip (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany), following the manufacturer's instructions. A color change to violet/blue indicated that hydrolysis had taken place.

In addition, the genus and species identification of the colonies from sheep blood agar plates was performed using a Bruker MALDI-TOF Biotyper System (Bruker Scientific LLC, Billerica, MA, USA). Colonies were transferred to the MALDI-TOF target and covered with 1.0 μ L of α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Bruker Scientific LLC, Billerica, MA, USA). The reference database for species identification was provided by Bruker Scientific LLC (MBT-BDAL-8468).

2.3.3. Somatic Cell Count

Somatic cell counts were determined using a simple cell count meter (DCC, DeLaval; Glinde, Germany). Sixty microliters of raw milk from individual cows was loaded into the cassette, and the measurement was carried out according to the operating manual.

2.4. Weather Data

Weather data were acquired from an official weather station close to the farm (https: //openweathermap.org/ (accessed on 22 June 2022)). The meteorological data collected were temperature (°C) (hourly), pressure (hPa), humidity (%), wind (m/s) and rain (mm/h) data.

2.5. Statistical Analysis

Microsoft Excel[®] 2016 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA) was used to store the data. The software R, version 4.2.1 (Vienna, Austria) [31], was used for data analysis.

2.5.1. Multi-Level Modeling

The effect of the environment data and cross-contamination was evaluated using multilevel modeling, which clusters the observations for each cow (repeated measurements) and offers variation effects on both the sample and cow level.

Due to the large number of zero values in the final results, a multivariate generalized linear regression model was not possible because numerous zero values result in heteroscedasticity and collinearity. They also caused the distribution to be skewed and non-normal. As a result, the *Campylobacter* spp. concentration data were classified as a binary variable (0 and 1), and a multi-level mixed logistic regression was performed. Level one of the model comprised the bi-weekly observations for each cow. Level two consisted of the cows.

Only the teat and feces samples were selected as dependent variables for modeling since the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in almost all other samples was negative. The occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the teats and feces was modeled against weather data (minimum temperature, pressure, wind and humidity), seasons, the concentration values of other microorganisms (*E. coli, Pseudomonas* spp. and TACC), teat cleanliness scores, fecal consistency scores and somatic cell count. Each parameter was added to the model in a stepwise manner, and the goodness-of-fit was decided based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC). Due to the relatively small number of observations and the difficulty in merging the model, only parameters with a significant effect were retained in the final model. To test whether the effect of minimum temperature was integrated into the multi-level model.

The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated to evaluate the variation in concentration values between the cows (Level 2) and for each cow throughout the year (Level 1). Multi-level modeling was performed using the lme4 package [32].

2.5.2. Correlation Analysis

The correlation of the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. on teat skin with its concentration in feces was graphically and statistically assessed using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient for non-parametric data.

3. Results

3.1. Species Identification

Campylobacter spp. were isolated from 263 of the 997 samples tested. Of the 263 isolates, 256 (97.3%) were identified as *C. jejuni* and 7 as *C. hyointestinalis* (2.7%). The latter was only isolated from feces. Five of the seven isolates were obtained from one cow (6001). The remaining two isolates were obtained from two other cows (4664 and 4652). All *Campylobacter* spp. isolates were positive for catalase activity and cytochrome oxidase activity.

3.2. Prevalence and Concentration Data

An overview of all prevalence data for the specific sample types and analyzed bacteria is shown in Table 1.

	Table	1.	Preval	ence	data	for	all	sample	types	and	taxa	analy	vzed	
--	-------	----	--------	------	------	-----	-----	--------	-------	-----	------	-------	------	--

Sample Type	Total Number of Samples	Proportion of Positive Samples (%)							
		Campylobacter spp.	E. coli	Pseudomonas spp.					
Teat swab	286	12.2	81.8	97.6					
Raw milk	286	0.4	15.0	71.7					
Milking cluster	89	0	15.7	51.7					
Milk filter	24	4.2	45.8	95.8					
Feces	287	77.1	94.8	Not tested					
Boot socks	24	29.2	100	58.3					

The prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. was the highest in fecal samples (77.1%), followed by boot sock samples (29.2%), teat swabs (12.2%), milk filters (4.2%) and raw milk samples (0.4%). No *Campylobacter* spp. were detected in the milking clusters.

Escherichia coli was most frequently detected in the fecal samples (94.8%), boot sock samples (100%) and teat swab samples (81.8%). *Pseudomonas* spp. were most frequently detected on the teats (97.5%), in the milk filters (95.8%), the milking clusters (51.7%) and in raw milk (71.7%). Fecal samples were not tested for *Pseudomonas* spp.

The somatic cell count in the 286 milk samples ranged from 3 to 933 \times 10³ cells/mL. One sample taken on 7 July 2020 had a somatic cell count of 4.7 \times 10⁶ cells/mL. This sample appeared normal, without signs indicative of inflammation such as flocculation.

An overview of the quantitative data on all bacterial microorganisms in all sample types can be found in Table 2.

Campylobacter spp. were only detected in one raw milk sample and one milk filter, with a concentration of 2.37 log₁₀ CFU/mL and 2.74 log₁₀ CFU/filter, respectively. These samples were taken on the same sampling day. Otherwise, the highest mean concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. detected in the boot sock samples was $3.01 \pm 1.05 \log_{10}$ CFU/2 socks and $2.43 \pm 0.9 \log_{10}$ CFU/g in the cow feces. The mean concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. at the cow teats was $1.26 \pm 0.75 \log_{10}$ CFU/4 teats. It is important to note the different units in the concentration data.

Sample Type [Unit]	Concentration Data (No. of Positive Samples)										
	Campylobacter spp.	E. coli	Pseudomonas spp.	TACC ¹							
Teat swab [log ₁₀ CFU/4 teats]	1.26 ± 0.75 (35)	3.87 ± 0.98 (234)	8.03 ± 0.62 (279)	5.36 ± 0.71 (284)							
Raw milk [log ₁₀ CFU/mL]	2.37 (1) ²	2.47 ± 0.53 (43)	2.7 ± 0.6 (205)	4.96 ± 0.66 (286)							
Milking cluster [log ₁₀ CFU/4 cups]	0 (0)	2.69 ± 0.55 (14)	2.78 ± 0.46 (46)	5.07 ± 0.66 (84)							
Milk filter [log ₁₀ CFU/filter]	2.74 (1) ²	3.74 ± 0.76 (11)	5.16 ± 0.9 (23)	6.91 ± 0.54 (24)							
Feces [log ₁₀ CFU/g]	2.43 ± 0.9 (215)	4.48 ± 1.18 (273)	Not tested	6.34 ± 0.48 (285)							
Boot socks [log ₁₀ CFU/2 socks]	3.01 ± 1.05 (4)	5.39 ± 1.11 (24)	6.64 ± 0.52 (14)	9.18 ± 0.63 (23)							

Table 2. Mean log₁₀ concentration and standard deviation for all sample types and microorganisms analyzed.

¹ total aerobic colony count; ² no standard deviation calculation possible.

3.3. Campylobacter spp. Prevalence and Concentration in Feces

The fecal consistency scores were not related to the *Campylobacter* spp.-positive fecal samples. In total, 26, 191 and 70 teat swab samples were categorized as K1, K2 and K3, respectively. The scoring for the positive *Campylobacter* spp. samples ranged from K1 to K3 (Table S2). A seasonal overview indicated that *Campylobacter* spp. could be detected in the herd's feces throughout the year. The mean concentration of the positive *Campylobacter* spp. samples ranged between 1.9 log₁₀ CFU/g and 2.9 log₁₀ CFU/g (Figure 1A). The proportion of negative samples was lower in the warm months (July and August) compared to colder months (November, January, February and April) except for December and March (Figure 1B).



Figure 1. (A) Concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces per month. (B) Proportion of negative, qualitative positive (enrichment) and quantitative positive samples.

The concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces of individual cows over time is depicted in Figure 2 and Table S2. Occasionally, no *Campylobacter* spp. were detected in individual cows. All cows carried *Campylobacter* spp. in at least two samples. Cow 4317 only tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. on two consecutive sampling occasions in July. Cows 4320, 4659 and 6005 were always positive.

7 of 15

47



Figure 2. Overview of the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of individual cows (ID numbers). In total, 24 samplings were performed over one year. The first sampling took place in April (week 1). Cow 6057 was replaced by cow 6005 after the 17th sampling. The limits of quantification and detection for enrichment are depicted as a red and blue line, respectively. Dots below the limit of detection indicate negative samples. Dots at the blue line indicate samples that were qualitatively positive but could not be quantified.

The highest median concentrations in the feces of individual cows shedding *Campy-lobacter* spp. were 2.9 \pm 0.9 log₁₀ CFU/g (4659), 2.8 \pm 0.96 log₁₀ CFU/g (4664) and 2.7 \pm 1.09 log₁₀ CFU/g (6057) and the lowest were 1.6 \pm 0.68 log₁₀ CFU/g (4660) and 2.0 \pm 0.57 log₁₀ CFU/g (6001).

3.4. Campylobacter spp. in Teat Swab Samples

Among the 286 teat swab samples, 35 were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. These originated from 15 different cows (Table S3). Teat swab samples from the individual cows were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. on up to three occasions. On one sampling day (14 June 2021), nine teat swab samples were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. On the same day, the positive raw milk sample and the positive milk filter were obtained. The positive raw milk sample was from one cow (6005) tested as a replacement for another cow in the dry period. Therefore, no fecal sample was collected from this cow.

On the other sampling days, a maximum of two teat swab samples were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. The cleanliness scores of the teat samples could not be linked to the *Campylobacter* spp. positive teat swab samples. In total, 23, 117, 93 and 53 teat swab samples were categorized as K1, K2, K3 and K4 respectively. The scoring for the positive *Campylobacter* spp. samples ranged from K1 to K4 (Table S3).

Campylobacter spp. positive teat swab samples were detected at minimum outdoor temperatures between -4 °C and 17 °C (Figure 3). The negative samples were observed at all minimum temperatures. The qualitative positive samples occurred within a smaller temperature range. The mean minimum temperature for the detection of negative, qualitative and quantitative positive samples were 5 °C, 4 °C and 7 °C, respectively.

8 of 15

Foods 2023, 12, 1639



Figure 3. Association of minimum temperature with the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. on teat skin (*Campylobacter* spp. negative, qualitatively positive (enrichment) and quantitatively positive teat swab samples). The black line indicates the median temperature, and the boxes display the interquartile range.

3.5. Multi-Level Model and Correlation Analysis

The multi-level model (Table 3) with a binary outcome of *Campylobacter* spp. (dependent variable) shows the effective parameters on the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the teat swab and fecal samples.

Table 3. Multi-level model with parameters with an effect on the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in teat swab and feces samples. The confidence intervals (CI) demonstrate the variability of the odds ratio (OR). When confidence interval contains 1, the effect is not significant.

	Effect Estimate (OR)	Lower CI	Upper CI
Fall	2.88	0.82	10.676
Spring	0.72	0.23	2.25
Summer	15.02	2.15	121.189
Teats	0.01	0.00	0.03
Log ₁₀ E. coli	1.56	1.2	2.11
Minimum temperature	0.98	0.84	1.13
Type Minimum Temperature (interaction term)	0.79	0.67	0.92

The seasons fall, spring and summer were individually compared to the winter. The effect of the season as a whole also significantly improved the model fit. The effect of the sample type is shown by the comparison of the teat and feces samples.

An integrated interaction term between the minimum temperature and the sample type (feces or teat swab) demonstrated a different temperature effect of the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. for the two sample types.

Other parameters tested, including the weather conditions (humidity, wind and rain), other microorganisms (*Pseudomonas* spp. and TACC), the scoring of teat and fecal samples and somatic cell counts, did not show an influence on the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp.

The ICC of the multi-level model was 0.11, indicating that 11% of the variation in the model comes from the variation between the cows, whereas the rest of the heterogeneity originates from the variation in the measurements for each cow that happened throughout the year.

Correlation analyses were performed for the concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. in teat swab samples and the concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces samples. No correlations were detected in these analyses.

4. Discussion

To explore the risk associated with the consumption of raw milk, the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in a small German dairy herd was studied. In our study, the highest



proportion of positive samples was found in the feces (77.1%), and the lowest proportion of positive samples was found in the milking clusters (0%) and raw milk (0.4%, one sample).

The high prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the cows' fecal samples is consistent with some previous studies, which reported a prevalence between 66.7% and 78.5% [21,27,30,33]. A lower prevalence (7–38%) of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces was reported in other studies [20,26,34,35]. Two of these studies used comparable study designs and detection methods [26,34]. One study did not mention the interval between sampling and testing [20]. The last study reported that the samples were analyzed one day after sampling [35]. The interval between sampling and testing could have influenced the detection of *Campylobacter* spp. in the samples as *Campylobacter* spp. is a fastidious organism (with a low oxygen tolerance and sensitivity to temperature and pH) [36]. In addition, a low prevalence was observed in a study carried out on smaller farms, while a larger farm displayed a higher prevalence [26].

This is the first study to monitor the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in individual dairy cows in Germany over a period of one year using rectal fecal sampling. The concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in the fecal samples varied between individual cows. It ranged between high concentrations (over $5 \log_{10} \text{ CFU/g}$) and negative samples. Some cows shed *Campylobacter* spp. consistently (4320, 4659), whereas other cows shed *Campylobacter* spp. less often (4662) or only twice (4317) throughout the year. The proportion of negative samples was lower in the warmer months than in colder months, whereas the mean concentration in any individual month was relatively constant, between 1.9 $\log_{10} \text{ CFU/g}$ and 2.9 $\log_{10} \text{ CFU/g}$.

The overall mean concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in fecal samples determined in this study was $2.43 \pm 0.9 \log_{10}$ CFU/g. A similar value of $2.1 \pm 0.45 \log_{10}$ CFU/g was reported in a Danish study [20]. A longitudinal study in New Zealand examined the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces from individual cows on pasture and in confinement housing [23]. The concentration of *C. jejuni* varied between 0 and 6.0 \log_{10} CFU/g in the herd on pasture and between 0 and 5.7 \log_{10} CFU/g in the confinement-housed herd. The median concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces per cow was between 2.9 \log_{10} CFU/g and 1.6 \log_{10} CFU/g for the individual cows. Significant differences in the frequency and range of the *C. jejuni* concentrations occurred among individual cows. At least three cows in the two different herds were identified as high shedders of *Campylobacter* spp., with a median concentration between 3.3 \log_{10} to 3.6 \log_{10} CFU/g [23]. Our study underscores the previous finding that cows excrete *Campylobacter* spp. intermittently [14,23,26], although according to the criteria of the New Zealand study, the cows we sampled would not be classified as high shedders.

Overall, 29.2% of the boot sock samples tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp., with a mean concentration in positive samples of $3.01 \pm 1.05 \log_{10}$ CFU/2 socks. The samples were taken in the barn corridor, avoiding direct contact with fresh cowpats. The positive boot sock samples were found once each in January, May, June and July. In November, both boot sock samples were positive. Both the prevalence and the concentration values show that *Campylobacter* spp. can be found in the barn environment, and that this can represent a contamination risk throughout the year.

Another study found a higher prevalence (60%) of *Campylobacter* spp.-positive boot sock samples [27]. However, they did not avoid fresh dung pats, and it was described that all parts of the socks were in contact with the feces [27]. The intensity of the fecal contamination of the boot sock samples could explain the differences in the concentrations found in our study.

The finding of *Campylobacter* spp. in 12.2% of teat swabs with a mean concentration of $1.26 \pm 0.75 \log_{10}$ CFU/4 teats underlines that the teat skin can become contaminated with *Campylobacter* spp. The origin of these bacteria is likely the fecal contamination of the environment. The occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in teat swab samples was not at a specific minimum temperature (Figure 3), although the multi-level model indicated the minimum temperature of *Campylobacter* spp. was based on feces and teat swab

samples. An interaction term indicated that both sample types were influenced differently. However, the number of positive teat swab samples is too small to effectively analyze the effect. Further, the negative, qualitative positive and quantitative positive samples all lay in the same temperature range. The minimum temperature was used for the analysis since the teat swab samples were taken early in the morning. Previous *in vitro* studies demonstrated a slower inactivation of *C. jejuni* by oxygen at cooler temperatures [37–39]. This was not observed in our study, as all classes of results occurred in the same temperature range.

In this study, the raw milk samples were taken after the teats had been cleaned. No sterile milk sampling with teat disinfection was performed to mimic the routine milking situation. Only one raw milk sample (0.4%) was positive. The Campylobacter spp. concentration in the raw milk sample was 2.37 log₁₀ CFU/mL. The contamination of the milk sample indicates that not all Campylobacter spp. had been removed from the teat skin by the routine cleaning process. A concentration of Campylobacter spp. of 2.74 log₁₀ CFU/filter was detected in the milk filter on the same sampling day. The entry of Campylobacter spp. into the milk pipeline, as indicated by the positive milk filter, could have occurred through the transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. from the teat skin to the milk during milking, which is in line with the positive milk sample on the same day. In addition, the nine positive teat swab samples on the same sampling day indicated a cross-contamination event of the raw milk and milk filter samples. The milking clusters did not test positive for Campylobacter spp. and were therefore not assumed to be an entry source. A recent meta-analysis estimated the prevalence of Campylobacter spp. in raw milk samples at 1.18% [13]. Two studies estimated concentration data for Campylobacter spp. in raw milk using the MPN method [14,15]. They found low concentrations of \leq 5 MPN/100 mL, but one outlier of 100 MPN/100 mL was detected [14]. In the other study, the Campylobacter spp. level of one sample was 1 CFU/21 mL of raw milk from the farm vats [15].

A recent study indicated that there is only a limited detection of *Campylobacter* spp. CFU in raw milk, possibly due to the *Campylobacter* spp. entering a viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state [40]. This was underlined by a newly developed viable qPCR using propidium monazide (PMA). This qPCR allows for the detection of intact and putatively infectious units (IPIUs) comprising CFU and VBNC bacteria. It demonstrated an underestimation of the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. with a difference of up to 4.5 log₁₀ between the CFUs and IPIUs. Furthermore, within a certain time period, the CFUs of those IPIUs could be restored using a special "low-oxygen" atmosphere, confirming the viability of the bacteria [40]. However, in field samples, the application of the viable qPCR method is difficult due to the low concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk, and the detection limit and application of different atmospheres is beyond the current ISO 10272-1.

Recent studies have shown that milk filter sampling is a potential approach to assessing the risk of *Campylobacter* spp. contamination in milk. The milk filter is installed at the end of the milking line so that all raw milk from all cows passes through it before ending up in the bulk tank. The reported prevalence of positive milk filters ranged from 0–14% [27,28,30,41]. In some studies, none of the concurrently collected bulk milk tank samples were positive, or a low prevalence was detected. In our study, one milk filter was positive, with a concentration of 2.74 log₁₀ CFU/filter. On the same sampling day, nine teat swab samples and one raw milk sample were positive.

In summary, our data indicate a low risk of *Campylobacter* spp. contamination in the raw milk of the herd under study. Still, even in such a small herd, the contamination of milk can occur sporadically. Further research is required to better understand the reasons for sporadic contamination events.

We have used a multi-level logistic model to investigate the effective parameters on the presence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces and teat swab samples. The ICC shows that 11% of the variation in the occurrence was between the cows, whereas the rest of the variation happened throughout the year for each cow. The effect of the seasons was confirmed in the multi-level model, indicating the significant difference between the summer and winter.

Based on our model, temperature affects the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in teat and feces samples differently. However, other weather data were not shown to have an effect.

We used E. coli as a fecal contamination indicator since feces are considered the primary source of milk contamination during or after the milking process [42,43]. Pseudomonas spp. were used as an indicator of environmental contamination. We could show that the prevalence of *E. coli* was the highest in the feces, on the teat swab and in the boot sock samples. In contrast, the prevalence of *Pseudomonas* spp. was the highest on the teat swab and in the milk filter, milk equipment and raw milk samples. The Escherichia coli concentration data comprised a parameter effecting the occurrence of Campylobacter spp. in the feces and teat swab samples. This strengthens the assumption that the cross-contamination of teats with Campylobacter spp. had a fecal origin. However, Pseudomonas spp. and TACC had no effect on the occurrence. Another study assumed a relationship between the presence of C. jejuni in the bulk tank milk and a high load of Enterobacteriaceae in the same samples [6]. They found no association and supposed that fecal contamination might not be the only mechanism responsible for the presence of C. jejuni in raw milk. It has been suggested that udder infection may play a role in raw milk contamination, whereby the pathogen is directly excreted into the raw milk [6,44,45]. Unfortunately, the somatic cell count was not measured in any of these studies.

The health status of the studied cows is often not reported [18]. *Campylobacter* spp. commonly colonizes the intestine of asymptomatic cows [19,25,35,46–50]. Our data confirm that *Campylobacter* spp. are part of the intestinal microbiota of healthy dairy cattle.

In one sample, 7 July 2022, there was a somatic cell count of 4.7×10^6 cells/mL. In this sampling event, we found no association between the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. and the high somatic cell count. In the following sampling runs, this cow was excluded from the milk samples for as long as the local antibiotic treatment continued. The *Campylobacter* spp. positive raw milk sample in this study had a low somatic cell count of 11×10^3 cells/mL. However, there was only one positive sample, and future research might therefore be necessary to determine whether there is an association of *Campylobacter* spp. with high somatic cell counts.

The scoring was used to either monitor whether the cows had diluted feces or a severe fecal contamination of the teats. In the experimental setup of this study, the teat scores were not found to be a parameter that influenced the occurrence *Campylobacter* spp. in the multi-level model. Another study also found no association between scores and the detection of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk milk tanks, milk filters or feces. They demonstrated an association between cow hygiene and the detection of *Campylobacter* spp. in the teat milk [30]. However, they used a mean score calculated for the herd at each visit and not only a teat skin score directly related to the *Campylobacter* spp. concentration.

This study demonstrated that the contamination of raw milk with *Campylobacter* spp. was a rare event, although the cows were consistently colonized with *Campylobacter* spp. in the intestine, and cross-contamination of the teats with *Campylobacter* spp. did occur. On one sampling day, nine teat swab samples, one raw milk sample and the milk filter tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. In terms of the annual study, we could not demonstrate a parameter that influenced this sporadic contamination event.

5. Conclusions

The obtained data can be integrated into risk assessments for *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain. The occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces differs between individual cows throughout the year. The season, *E. coli* concentration, minimum temperature and sampling type are effective parameters for the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces and teat swab samples. No correlation was observed between the concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces and teat swab samples. Further research is required to explain sporadic *Campylobacter* spp. contamination in raw milk.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www. mdpi.com/article/10.3390/foods12081639/s1, Table S1: Detection limits of microorganisms. Table S2: Concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of individual cows per sampling. Table S3: Concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. on teat swab samples of individual cows per sampling.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.-D.K., K.S., N.B. and T.C.; formal analysis, A.-D.K. and N.G.; investigation, A.-D.K. and S.G.; resources, C.F.-T.; data curation, A.-D.K., N.G. and T.C.; writing original draft preparation, A.-D.K.; writing—review and editing, A.-D.K., S.G., N.G., K.S., C.F.-T., N.B., B.-A.T. and T.C.; visualization, A.-D.K., N.G. and T.C.; supervision, T.C.; project administration, T.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR) as part of the Junior Research Group Supply Chain Models (Project 1323-104).

Institutional Review Board Statement: The entire experiment was approved by the State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LAGESO) (Reg.-No.: G 0215/20).

Data Availability Statement: Data is contained within the article or Supplementary Material.

Acknowledgments: The authors appreciate the support of Stephen F. Marino for the critical reading of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. EFSA. The European Union One Health 2021 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 2022, 20, e07666. [CrossRef]
- EFSA. Scientific opinion on the public health risks related to the consumption of raw drinking milk. EFSA J. 2015, 13, 3940. [CrossRef]
- Mungai, E.A.; Behravesh, C.B.; Gould, L.H. Increased outbreaks associated with nonpasteurized milk, United States, 2007–2012. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2015, 21, 119–122. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Oliver, S.P.; Boor, K.J.; Murphy, S.C.; Murinda, S.E. Food Safety Hazards Associated with Consumption of Raw Milk. *Foodborne* Pathog. Dis. 2009, 6, 793–806. [CrossRef]
- 5. EFSA. The European Union One Health 2020 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 2021, 19, e06971. [CrossRef]
- Bianchini, V.; Borella, L.; Benedetti, V.; Parisi, A.; Miccolupo, A.; Santoro, E.; Recordati, C.; Luini, M. Prevalence in bulk tank milk and epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* in dairy herds in Northern Italy. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2014, 80, 1832–1837. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Del Collo, L.P.; Karns, J.S.; Biswas, D.; Lombard, J.E.; Haley, B.J.; Kristensen, R.C.; Kopral, C.A.; Fossler, C.P.; Van Kessel, J.A.S. Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. J. Dairy Sci. 2017, 100, 3470–3479. [CrossRef]
- Modi, S.; Brahmbhatt, M.N.; Chatur, Y.A.; Nayak, J.B. Prevalence of *Campylobacter* species in milk and milk products, their virulence gene profile and antibiogram. *Vet. World.* 2015, *8*, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Schildt, M.; Savolainen, S.; Hänninen, M.L. Long-lasting Campylobacter jejuni contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family. Epidemiol. Infect. 2006, 134, 401–405. [CrossRef]
- Giacometti, F.; Serraino, A.; Bonilauri, P.; Ostanello, F.; Daminelli, P.; Finazzi, G.; Losio, M.; Marchetti, G.; Liuzzo, G.; Zanoni, R.; et al. Quantitative Risk Assessment of Verocytotoxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* O157 and *Campylobacter jejuni* Related to Consumption of Raw Milk in a Province in Northern Italy. *J. Food Prot.* 2012, 75, 2031–2038. [CrossRef]
- Anonymous. Microbiological Risk Assessment of Raw Cow Milk; Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Canberra, Australia, 2009.
 Giacometti, F.; Bonilauri, P.; Albonetti, S.; Amatiste, S.; Arrigoni, N.; Bianchi, M.; Bertasi, B.; Bilei, S.; Bolzoni, G.; Cascone, G.; et al. Quantitative Risk Assessment of Human Salmonellosis and Listeriosis Related to the Consumption of Raw Milk in Italy. J. Food Prot. 2015, 78, 13–21. [CrossRef]
- Christidis, T.; Pintar, K.; Butler, A.; Nesbitt, A.; Thomas, M.; Marshall, B.; Pollari, F. Campylobacter spp. Prevalence and Levels in Raw Milk: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J. Food Prot. 2016, 79, 1775–1783. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Humphrey, T.J.; Beckett, P. Campylobacter jejuni in dairy cows and raw milk. Epidemiol. Infect. 1987, 98, 263–269. [CrossRef]
- Hill, B.; Smythe, B.; Lindsay, D.; Shepherd, J. Microbiology of raw milk in New Zealand. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2012, 157, 305–308. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kenyon, J.; Inns, T.; Aird, H.; Swift, C.; Astbury, J.; Forester, E.; Decraene, V. Campylobacter outbreak associated with raw drinking milk, North West England, 2016. Epidemiol. Infect. 2020, 148, e13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Giacometti, F.; Bonilauri, P.; Serraino, A.; Peli, A.; Amatiste, S.; Arrigoni, N.; Bianchi, M.; Bilei, S.; Cascone, G.; Comin, D.; et al. Four-Year Monitoring of Foodborne Pathogens in Raw Milk Sold by Vending Machines in Italy. J. Food Prot. 2013, 76, 1902–1907. [CrossRef]

Foods 2023, 12	2, 1639
----------------	---------

- 18. Knipper, A.-D.; Ghoreishi, N.; Crease, T. Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* 2022, 17, e0276018. [CrossRef]
- Moriarty, E.M.; Sinton, L.W.; Mackenzie, M.L.; Karki, N.; Wood, D.R. A survey of enteric bacteria and protozoans in fresh bovine faeces on New Zealand dairy farms. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2008, 105, 2015–2025. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nielsen, E.M. Occurrence and strain diversity of thermophilic Campylobacters in cattle of different age groups in dairy herds. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 2002, 35, 85–89. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 21. Ramonaitė, S.; Rokaitytė, A.; Tamulevičienė, E.; Malakauskas, A.; Alter, T.; Malakauskas, M. Prevalence, quantitative load and genetic diversity of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cattle herds in Lithuania. *Acta Vet. Scand.* **2013**, *55*, 87. [CrossRef]
- 22. Rapp, D.; Ross, C.M.; Cave, V.; Muirhead, R.W. Prevalence, concentration and genotypes of *Campylobacter jejuni* in faeces from dairy herds managed in farm systems with or without housing. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **2014**, *116*, 1035–1043. [CrossRef]
- Rapp, D.; Ross, C.M.; Pleydell, E.J.; Muirhead, R.W. Differences in the fecal concentrations and genetic diversities of *Campylobacter* jejuni populations among individual cows in two dairy herds. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2012, 78, 7564–7571. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stanley, K.N.; Wallace, J.S.; Currie, J.E.; Diggle, P.J.; Jones, K. The seasonal variation of thermophilic *Campylobacters* in beef cattle, dairy cattle and calves. J. Appl. Microbiol. 1998, 85, 472–480. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Waterman, S.C.; Park, R.W.; Bramley, A.J. A search for the source of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk. J. Hyg. 1984, 93, 333–337. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hakkinen, M.; Hänninen, M.L. Shedding of Campylobacter spp. in Finnish cattle on dairy farms. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2009, 107, 898–905. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Hansson, I.; Olsson Engvall, E.; Ferrari, S.; Harbom, B.; Lahti, E. Detection of *Campylobacter* species in different types of samples from dairy farms. *Vet. Rec.* 2020, *186*, 605. [CrossRef]
- Jaakkonen, A.; Castro, H.; Hallanvuo, S.; Ranta, J.; Rossi, M.; Isidro, J.; Lindström, M.; Hakkinen, M. Longitudinal Study of Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni* on Finnish Dairy Farms and in Raw Milk. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2019, 85, e02910-18. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- McAuley, C.M.; McMillan, K.; Moore, S.C.; Fegan, N.; Fox, E.M. Prevalence and characterization of foodborne pathogens from Australian dairy farm environments. J. Dairy Sci. 2014, 97, 7402–7412. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Idland, L.; Granquist, E.G.; Aspholm, M.; Lindbäck, T. The prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp., *Listeria monocytogenes* and Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in Norwegian dairy cattle farms: A comparison between free stall and tie stall housing systems. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 2022, 132, 3959–3972. [CrossRef]
- 31. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2020.
- 32. Bates, D.M.M.; Bolker, B.; Walker, S. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 2015, 67, 1–48. [CrossRef]
- Oporto, B.; Esteban, J.I.; Aduriz, G.; Juste, R.A.; Hurtado, A. Prevalence and strain diversity of thermophilic campylobacters in cattle, sheep and swine farms. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2007, 103, 977–984. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Atabay, H.I.; Corry, J.E.L.; On, S.L.W. Isolation and characterization of a novel catalase-negative, urease-positive Campylobacter from cattle faeces. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 1997, 24, 59–64. [CrossRef]
- Wesley, I.V.; Wells, S.J.; Harmon, K.M.; Green, A.; Schroeder-Tucker, L.; Glover, M.; Siddique, I. Fecal shedding of *Campylobacter* and *Arcobacter* spp. in dairy cattle. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2000, 66, 1994–2000. [CrossRef]
- Park, S.F. The physiology of *Campylobacter* species and its relevance to their role as foodborne pathogens. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2002, 74, 177–188. [CrossRef]
- Boleratz, B.L.; Oscar, T.P. Use of ComBase data to develop an artificial neural network model for nonthermal inactivation of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk and beef and evaluation of model performance and data completeness using the acceptable prediction zones method. *J. Food Saf.* 2022, 42, e12983. [CrossRef]
- Olofsson, J.; Berglund, P.G.; Olsen, B.; Ellström, P.; Axelsson-Olsson, D. The abundant free-living amoeba, Acanthamoeba polyphaga, increases the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk and orange juice. *Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol.* 2015, *5*, 28675. [CrossRef]
 Yoon, K.S.; Burnette, C.N.; Oscar, T.P. Development of predictive models for the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* (ATCC 43051) on
- Yoon, K.S.; Burnette, C.N.; Oscar, T.P. Development of predictive models for the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* (ATCC 43051) on cooked chicken breast patties and in broth as a function of temperature. *J. Food Prot.* 2004, 67, 64–70. [CrossRef]
- 40. Wulsten, I.F.; Galeev, A.; Stingl, K. Underestimated Survival of *Campylobacter* in Raw Milk Highlighted by Viability Real-Time PCR and Growth Recovery. *Front. Microbiol.* **2020**, *11*, 1107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Artursson, K.; Schelin, J.; Thisted Lambertz, S.; Hansson, I.; Olsson Engvall, E. Foodborne pathogens in unpasteurized milk in Sweden. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2018, 284, 120–127. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Beumer, R.R.; Cruysen, J.J.; Birtantie, I.R. The occurrence of Campylobacter jejuni in raw cows' milk. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 1988, 65, 93–96. [CrossRef]
- 43. Oliver, S.P.; Jayarao, B.M.; Almeida, R.A. Foodborne pathogens in milk and the dairy farm environment: Food safety and public health implications. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 2005, *2*, 115–129. [CrossRef]
- Gudmundson, J.; Chirino-Trejo, J.M. A Case of Bovine Mastitis caused by Campylobacter jejuni. J. Vet. Med. Ser. B 1993, 40, 326–328. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hutchinson, D.N.; Bolton, F.J.; Hinchliffe, P.M.; Dawkins, H.C.; Horsley, S.D.; Jessop, E.G.; Robertshaw, P.A.; Counter, D.E. Evidence of udder excretion of *Campylobacter jejuni* as the cause of milk-borne campylobacter outbreak. J. Hyg. 1985, 94, 205–215. [CrossRef]

Foods 2023	, 12, 1639
------------	------------

- 46. Adhikari, B.; Connolly, J.H.; Madie, P.; Davies, P.R. Prevalence and clonal diversity of *Campylobacter jejuni* from dairy farms and urban sources. N. Z. Vet. J. 2004, 52, 378–383. [CrossRef]
- Açik, M.N.; Çetinkaya, B. The heterogeneity of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli strains isolated from healthy cattle. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 2005, 41, 397–403. [CrossRef]
- Baserisalehi, M.; Bahador, N.; Kapadnis, B.P. Isolation and characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. from domestic animals and poultry in south of Iran. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 2007, *10*, 1519–1524. [CrossRef]
- Giacoboni, G.I.; Itoh, K.; Hirayama, K.; Takahashi, E.; Mitsuoka, T. Comparison of fecal *Campylobacter* in calves and cattle of different ages and areas in Japan. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 1993, 55, 555–559. [CrossRef]
- Sato, K.; Bartlett, P.C.; Kaneene, J.B.; Downes, F.P. Comparison of Prevalence and Antimicrobial Susceptibilities of *Campylobacter* spp. Isolates from Organic and Conventional Dairy Herds in Wisconsin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2004, 70, 1442–1447. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

3.4 Publication 3: Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC)

		Check for updates
Received: 8 February 2023 Revised: 14 June 2023 Acce	e 2023	
DOI: 10.1111/jfs.13077		
ORIGINAL ARTICLE	Food Safety	WILEY

Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC)

Anna-Delia Knipper <a>
 | Carolina Plaza-Rodríguez | Matthias Filter | Imke F. Wulsten | Kerstin Stingl | Tasja Crease

German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Department Biological Safety, Berlin, Germany

Correspondence

Anna-Delia Knipper, German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Department Biological Safety, Max-Dohrn-Straße 8-10, 10589 Berlin, Germany. Email: anna-delia.knipper@bfr.bund.de

Funding information Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung

Abstract

Campylobacter spp. cannot grow in raw milk, but it is able to transform into a viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state enabling the survival in such harsh conditions. In this study, Campylobacter jejuni survival in raw milk was investigated taken into consideration colony-forming units (CFUs) and VBNC cells. CFU from two different strains of C. jejuni (DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043) were enumerated at three temperatures (5°C, 8°C, and 12°C). In parallel, a viability real-time PCR was conducted to quantify intact and putatively infectious units (IPIUs) (comprising CFU and VBNC bacteria). The data generated were used to model the viability of C. jejuni during raw milk storage. Here, a one-step fitting approach was performed using parameter estimates from an intermediate two-step fit as starting values to generate tertiary models. Different primary model equations (Trilinear and Weibull) were required to fit the CFU and the IPIU data. Strain-specific linear secondary models were generated to analyze the effect of storage temperature on the maximum specific inactivation rate of the CFU data. The time of the first decimal reduction parameter of the IPIU models could be modeled by a strain-independent linear secondary model. The developed tertiary models for CFU and IPIU differ significantly in their predictions, for example, for the time required for a one log10 reduction. Taken into consideration that VBNC could revert to a culturable state during the raw milk storage, our results underline the importance of considering IPIU and not only CFU to avoid underestimation of the survival of C. jejuni in raw milk.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Campylobacteriosis is the most commonly reported foodborne gastrointestinal infection in humans in the European Union (EU) with 127,840 reported cases in 2021 (EFSA, 2022). Typical acute symptoms of campylobacteriosis are diarrhea, abdominal pain, and fever. In addition, in few cases, reactive arthritis, irritable bowel syndrome, and neurological complications such as Guillain Barré syndrome can also occur as longterm complications (Jackson et al., 2014; Keithlin et al., 2014; Leonhard et al., 2019). *Campylobacter* infections in humans primarily originate from contaminated raw meat and raw milk, direct contact with colonized animals or consumption of contaminated untreated water (Kaakoush et al., 2015; Mughini-Gras et al., 2016; Rosner et al., 2017). *C. jejuni* is the most common *Campylobacter* species in human infections and the main route of zoonotic transmission to humans might occur from fecal cross-contamination of raw meat or raw milk (Del Collo

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 The Authors. Journal of Food Safety published by Wiley Periodicals LLC.

^{2 of 14} WILEY Food Safety

et al., 2017; EFSA, 2011; Knipper et al., 2023). However, the prevalence data of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of dairy cows herds vary in scientific literatures (0–100%) (Knipper et al., 2022).

In 2020, four campylobacteriosis outbreaks associated with milk and milk products were reported in the EU. The food vehicles had been attributed with "strong-evidence" (EFSA, 2021). These outbreaks might be associated with a high consumer demand for raw milk (Oliver et al., 2009) and the intensification of local sales via raw milk vending machines (TMR, 2016). Raw milk should be cooled down after milking to less than 4°C and maintained at this temperature during transportation and storage in vending machines (EFSA, 2015). Although most vending machines are equipped with a cooling device and an agitator to ensure homogenous cooling of the raw milk (EFSA, 2015), average temperature of raw milk measured directly on site was 7.7 ± 3.8°C and one third of the samples had a temperature exceeding 8°C with the maximum of 18.6°C (Böhnlein et al., 2020). Surveys in Italy illustrated that 13.9%-43% of consumers did not boil raw milk before consumption (Giacometti et al., 2012; Giacometti et al., 2013)

C. jejuni only grows under special conditions, that is, at high temperatures and low oxygen levels, and in general, its non-thermal inactivation by oxygen is slower at cold temperatures (Boleratz & Oscar, 2022; Olofsson et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2004). Additionally, *Campylobacter* spp. is highly adapted to surviving harsh conditions by undergoing the "viable but non-culturable" (VBNC) state. In that state, they are no longer detectable by cultural detection methods (Baffone et al., 2006), but are able to revive its infectious potential under specific conditions (Baffone et al., 2006; Federighi et al., 1998; Rollins & Colwell, 1986; Wulsten et al., 2020).

Only a few studies investigated the survival of different strains of Campylobacter spp. in raw, skimmed or unpasteurized milk at distinct temperatures (Boleratz & Oscar, 2022; Christopher et al., 1982; Doyle & Roman, 1982; Jaakkonen et al., 2020; Wulsten et al., 2020), and only one investigated the possibility of survival of Campylobacter spp. in VBNC state in raw milk (Wulsten et al., 2020). In this study, Wulsten et al. (2020) used a newly developed viability real-time PCR (v-qPCR) with propidium monoazide (PMA) staining. This method enables to specifically quantify intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU)-that is, all viable bacteria-comprising colony-forming units (CFUs) as well as VBNC bacteria. Consequently, it was shown that C, ieiuni survival in raw milk would be highly underestimated when using only CFU data, since up to 4.5 log10 more IPIU than classically enumerated CFU were detected. They also demonstrated that these IPIU could be reverted to the culturable state within an experimental time window by extremely lowering the partial pressure of oxygen (Wulsten et al., 2020).

Predictive microbiology models that describe the growth or inactivation of foodborne pathogens and spoilage microorganisms in foods are helpful tools to assess food safety and quality risks and are used to support decisions in regulatory agencies and food industries (Pérez-Rodríguez & Valero, 2013). The high sensitivity of *C. jejuni* to oxygen and other environmental stressors (e.g., pH, temperature) (AI-Qadiri et al., 2015; Christopher et al., 1982; Doyle & Roman, 1982; Kim et al., 2017) together with the limitation of available quantitative detection methods not only

KNIPPER ET AL.

makes *C. jejuni* difficult to be cultured and enumerated, but also leads to highly variable results. Therefore, data for model development and validation are still limited in this area and to our knowledge, just one predictive mathematical model describing the survival of *C. jejuni* in milk have been developed so far, but the authors did not take into account the IPIU data, but just the CFU data (Boleratz & Oscar, 2022).

According to the definition proposed by Whiting and Buchanan (1993), the data analysis in predictive microbiology research follows a standard approach of two-step fitting process. In the first step, a primary model describing bacterial growth/inactivation/survival over time under constant environmental conditions (e.g., temperature, humidity and water activity) is generated. In the second step, a suitable secondary model is used to analyze the effect of temperature and other environmental conditions on the kinetic parameters of the primary models (e.g., growth rate, lag time, or D value). Once the primary model to predict the final number of microorganisms over the time under the different environmental conditions (Baranyi et al., 2017). However, a one-step analysis, the primary and secondary models are analyzed together during the estimation of kinetic parameters (Dolan & Mishra, 2013; Huang, 2017; Jewell, 2012).

The objectives of the present study were:

- obtain reliable experimental data on the survival of C. jejuni in raw milk, taking into consideration not only CFU data but also IPIU data and recovery data of non-culturable cells;
- model and predict the survival of C. jejuni based on the CFU and IPIU data;
- compare the survival kinetics of CFU and IPIU based models and analyze the differences between the survival estimates.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Experimental data generation

2.1.1 | Preparation of inoculum

The *C. jejuni* DSM 4688 reference strain was obtained from the DSMZ strain collection (DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany). The field strain BfR-CA-18043 (Sequence type [ST]-21 according to multilocus sequence typing scheme [Dingle et al., 2001; Jolley et al., 2018]) isolated from feces of dairy cow at the National Reference Laboratory (NRL) for *Campylobacter* at the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR). In addition, the strain *C. jejuni* BfR-CA-18040 (ST-61) also obtained from fecal sample from dairy cow, was analyzed for model validation purposes, but just at 5°C.

Strains were stored at -80° C in cryocultures (MAST Group Ltd., Bootle, UK). Bacteria were cultured on Columbia blood agar (ColbA, Oxoid, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA) supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood (Oxoid) at 41.5°C under microaerobic conditions (5% O₂, 10% CO₂, rest N₂) for 24 h. After subculture on ColbA 18 ± 2 h under the same conditions, cells were resuspended in Brucella

KNIPPER ET AL.	Journal of	3 of 14
	Tood Safety	

broth (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) at $OD_{600} = 0.2$, corresponding to $\sim 9 \log_{10}$ cell counts per mL (Krüger et al., 2014). Furthermore, a 10-fold dilution was performed to reach 8 \log_{10} cell counts per mL, which was kept on ice before spiking of the raw milk.

2.1.2 | Inoculation of raw milk

Raw milk samples were spiked with one of the mentioned *C. jejuni* strains to reach an initial concentration of 6 log₁₀ cells/mL raw milk. Inoculated raw milk samples were kept in closed 50-mL tubes and incubated at 5°C \pm 0.54°C (accredited refrigerator with Sirius storage monitoring software), 8 \pm 0.1°C or 12 \pm 0.1°C for up to 97 h under normal atmospheric conditions. A data logger (plug & track, France) monitored the temperature for 8°C and 12°C at 30 min intervals. pH was measured (Mettler Toledo, Columbus, OH) throughout the experiment and was stable at 6.8 \pm 0.041 compared to a control sample at each temperature.

2.1.3 | Study of the survival of C. jejuni

Samples were analyzed at three different temperatures (5°C, 8°C, and 12°C) by quantifying CFU and v-qPCR analysis in parallel. A schematic overview of the experimental set-up is shown in Figure 1. The range of temperatures was selected according to the experiments carried out by Böhnlein et al., 2020. For CFU quantification of thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. modified charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar (mCCDA) (mixture of Merck & Co., Kenilworth, NJ and Oxoid) was used according to ISO 10272-2:2017 with a theoretical sensitivity of 1 CFU/mL milk. The mCCDA was incubated for 48 h at 41.5°C under microaerobic atmosphere.

In order to verify if the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw cow milk could be reproduced in previously frozen cow milk, some preliminary analyses were necessary. For that purpose, the same batch of raw bulk tank milk obtained from the institute's dairy herd was used. Fresh raw milk was kept at 4°C until processing, but not longer than 4 h after milking. Previously frozen raw milk batches were frozen at -20° C before use up to 100 days. For the preliminary experiments, we used the DSM 4688 strain in fresh and frozen raw milk at 5°C. Comparison of the results showed that there were no difference between them and therefore we carried out our experiments with previously frozen milk. This preliminary data obtained for the DSM 4688 strain at 5°C in fresh raw milk was subsequently used for validation purposes.

2.1.4 | Viability real-time PCR (v-qPCR)

Live and dead *C. jejuni* cells were differentiated according to already published methods (Pacholewicz et al., 2019; Stingl et al., 2021; Wulsten et al., 2020), as a previous step to the v-qPCR.

In brief, from each raw milk sample two aliquots of 1 mL were needed; one was processed with the DNA intercalating agent PMA (Biotium Inc., Hayward, CA) (only viable cells) and the other was used without PMA (total amount of cells). First, to enable the PMA staining both aliquots were 10-fold diluted in 9 mL of precooled Brucella broth and centrifuged at 8000 × g for 20 min at 4°C using 15 mL centrifugation tubes. Supernatants were discarded, pellets suspended in 1 mL PBS (Wulsten et al., 2020) and transferred to a 1.5 mL tube and stored on ice until PMA staining. Afterwards an internal sample process control (ISPC) of dead C. sputorum cells (Pacholewicz et al., 2019) was used at different concentrations (ISPC A 10⁸ copies/mL, ISPC B 10⁶ copies/mL) (Stingl et al., 2021) to confirm reliability of the PMA staining and monitor DNA loss during processing.

The sample and a control (1 mL peptone water) were treated with PMA as follows: 2.5 μ L of a 20 mM PMA solution in 20% DMSO (Dimethylsulfoxide, Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and 10 μ L of ISPC A were added, vortexed and incubated for 15 min at 30°C and 700 rpm in the dark. Crosslinking was performed for 15 min at room temperature using the PhAST Blue photo-activation system (GenIUL, Terrassa, Spain) at 100% light intensity. After crosslinking samples were placed on ice for 2 min, 10 μ L ISPC B was added, centrifuged at 4°C at 16,000 × g for 5 min and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellets were stored at -20° C until DNA extraction.

Samples and controls (again 1 mL peptone water) without staining were placed on ice. One of the four controls received 10 μ L ISPC A. Ten microliters of ISPC B were added to all controls and the samples, vortexed and centrifuged at 4°C at 16,000 \times g for 5 min. The supernatants were discarded and cell pellets were stored at -20° C until DNA extraction.

DNA extraction for v-qPCR was performed using the GeneJet Genomic DNA extraction kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) according to the manufacturers' protocol using 100 μ L elution volume. A negative-DNA-extraction control was included for quality assurance. A volume of 10 μ L of the extracted DNA of all samples and controls was analyzed in duplicate by v-qPCR.

Avoiding a competition of the *Campylobacter* signal on the ISPC signal, based on the high load of thermophilic *Campylobacter* in our setting, two duplex v-qPCR were applied (Stingl et al., 2021). One duplex v-qPCR was targeting thermophilic *Campylobacter* and IPC-ntb2 plasmid as an internal amplification control (IAC). The other one was targeting *C. sputorum*, the internal process control (ISPC), and the IAC. Genomic DNA standards from *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and *C. sputorum* DSM 5363 as well IPC-ntb2 plasmid as internal amplification control ware prepared accordingly. qPCR was performed targeting a fragment of the 16S rRNA gene of *C. jejuni* or of *C. sputorum*. Furthermore, qPCR was applied on a QuantStudio 5 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA).

Quantitative measurement was ensured by genomic standards, comprising five decile serial dilutions ranging from 50,000 to 5 genomic copies per reaction included in each qPCR run and results were analyzed using the excel sheet for analysis (Stingl et al. (2021), Suppl. Information 3).

2.1.5 | Recovery of viable but non-culturable cells

Wulsten et al. (2020) demonstrated that *C. jejuni* VBNCs could return into a cultivable state (recovery) within a certain time period after incubation in raw milk. However, their experiments were carried without covering the whole range of temperatures included in our study,



			0 h	3h	6 h	7 h	9 h	10 h	24 h	25 h	29h	30 h	31 h	48 h	49 h	72 h	73 h	80 h	97 ł
		5°C																	
ISO 10272-2	DSM 4688 / BfR-CA-18043	8°C																	
		12°C																	
	BfR-CA-18040 [±]	5°C																	
Deserve (MDMC	DSM 4688 / BfR-CA-18043	8°C													1				
Recovery of VBINC		12°C																	
		5°C																	
	DSM 4688 / BfR-CA-18043	8°C																	
V-qPCR		12°C																	
	BfR-CA-18040 [‡]	5°C																	

[‡] Just for validation purposes

FIGURE 1 Overview of experimental set-up for spiking of raw milk and culture-dependent plus culture-independent method for quantification of viable Campylobacter jejuni in raw milk.

but just at 5°C. In order to verify, if the recovery of VBNC could be possible under our experimental conditions and to know the percentage of VBNC that could be recovered, the raw milk samples were spiked as described before and controlled by platting on mCCDA under standard incubation condition. Recovery of CFU in *C. jejuni* was reached using a gas mixture with extremely low oxygen partial pressure, by incubation for 4–5 days at 37°C under 3.5% H₂, 1% O₂, 10% CO₂, and rest N₂ (Wulsten et al., 2020). Samples of 100 µL were taken at different time points up to 80 h after inoculation, leading to a theoretical detection limit of 10 CFU/mL per mL of milk.

Recovery rates were calculated as the percentage of cells that are culturable compared to the inoculum as follow:

$$Recovery rate = \frac{Concentration of culturable cells \left(\frac{\log_{10} CFU}{mL}\right)}{Inoculum \left(\frac{\log_{10} CFU}{mL}\right)} * 100 (1)$$

2.2 | Data analysis and modeling

2.2.1 | Model generation process

Experimental CFU and IPIU data from the DSM 4688 and the BfR-CA-18043 strains (at 5° C, 8° C, and 12° C) were included for the model generation process (Figure 1).

To model *C. jejuni* survival in raw milk, a one-step fitting approach was performed analyzing primary and secondary models together during the estimation of kinetic parameters. However, in order to make an initial estimate of the parameters to be used as a starting point for the one-step fitting approach, an intermediate two-step fitting approach was carried out, fitting the primary and secondary models separately. The models created under the onestep fitting approach are referred in this paper as tertiary models (Baranyi et al., 2017).

For the initial two-step fitting approach, different primary model equations were fitted to all individual CFU (log₁₀ CFU/mL vs. time) and IPIU data (log₁₀ IPIU/mL vs. time) obtained from three constant temperatures (5°C, 8°C, and 12°C).

Fitting was performed using R 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2020) and R package "nlsMicrobio" (Baty & Delignette-Muller, 2014). Generated models were compared pair-wise through an *F*-test using R 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2020) to identify the least complex primary model equation needed.

The three kinetic parameter models (Geeraerd with S_l [Geeraerd et al., 2005] and Trilinear [Buchanan & Golden, 1995]) had the best goodness-of-fit for the CFU data compared to the two kinetic parameter models without shoulder as indicated by the lower root mean squared error (RMSE) and the higher determination coefficient (R^2) values and *F*-test (Table S1). The Geeraerd with S_l and Trilinear models have a similar goodness-of-fit and were able to accurately describe the experimental data. However, the Trilinear model (Equation 2) was simpler and it was therefore selected for the present study as follow:

WILEY 5 of 14

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0), t < S_I$$

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0) - \frac{k_{\max}}{\ln(10)} * (t - S_l), S_l \le t \le S_t$$

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_{res}), t \ge S_t$$

where N_0 is the initial concentration (CFU/mL), N_t is the bacterial concentration (CFU/mL) at time t (h), N_{res} is the residual population density, k_{max} is the maximum specific inactivation rate (1/h), S_1 the duration of shoulder effect (h), and S_t is the time arriving tail (h). This last parameter was calculated using Equation (3):

$$S_t = S_l + (\log_{10}N_0 - \log_{10}N_{res}) * \frac{\ln 10}{k_{max}}$$
(3)

For the IPIU data set, the Weibull model (Equation 4) had the best goodness-of-fit compared to the other primary models tested (Table S2) and was used as follow:

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0) - \left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right)^p \tag{4}$$

where δ is the time for the first decimal reduction (h) and p is the shape parameter (van Boekel, 2002).

The effect of temperature on the primary inactivation rate parameter of the Trilinear model k_{max} , as well as of the Weibull model parameter δ , was modeled by a linear secondary model (Equations 5 and 6):

$$\log_{10}k_{\max} = \text{Intercept} + \text{Slope} * T$$
(5)

$$\log_{10}\delta = \text{Intercept} + \text{Slope} * T \tag{6}$$

where T is the temperature in °C.

To decide whether temperature influenced the survival of the reference and the field strains differently, independent secondary models were generated and compared using an *F*-test.

Finally, the parameters estimated in the two-step fitting procedure were used as starting values for the one-step fitting approach. In this way, models could be generated that directly link observed concentration data with environmental conditions. In case of the CFU data, we substituted k_{max} in the Trilinear model equation (Equation 2) by the linear secondary model equation (Equation 5).

 $\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0), t < S_t$

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0) - \frac{10^{(Intercept+SlopesT)}}{In(10)} * (t - S_l), S_l \le t \le S_t$$

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_{\rm res}), t \ge S_t \tag{7}$$

(2)

Furthermore, the mean of S_l values obtained in the primary model fitting step on all examined temperatures was used as starting value for fitting the parameter S_l in the tertiary model.

To obtain a tertiary model for all IPIU data the linear model for δ (Equation 6) was integrated into the Weibull model equation (Equation 4).

$$\log_{10}(N_t) = \log_{10}(N_0) - \left(\frac{t}{10^{(Intercept+Slope*T)}}\right)^p \tag{8}$$

The mean of p values obtained in the primary model fitting step on all examined temperatures was used as starting value for fitting the parameter p in the tertiary model.

The value of N₀ was determined by the experimental set-up and fixed to 5.7 log₁₀ CFU/mL or 5.54 log₁₀ IPIU/mL, respectively. To simplify the model fitting process we assigned to all data points below the detection limit of 1 CFU/mL and to the residual population density (log₁₀ N_{res}) parameter a value of $-0.1 \log_{10}$ CFU/mL. This information and the implications for the interpretation of predicted values below 1 CFU/mL is provided in the annotation of the model files (see below).

The goodness-of-fit of the created tertiary models were documented by calculating RMSE and R^2 values. Additionally, visual evaluation of the fitted curves was performed.

To check if different tertiary models were necessary for the different strains (reference and field strain), the obtained tertiary models for the different strains were compared using an *F*-test.

2.2.2 | Model validation

The three tertiary models generated for the *C. jejuni* survival in raw milk were validated with the following data:

- Independent experimental data from the DSM 4688 and the BfR-CA-18043 strains not used during the model generation phase (at 8°C and 12°C)
- Data generated in fresh raw milk from the DSM 4688 strain at 5°C
- Data generated from a different C. jejuni strain (BfR-CA-18040) at 5°C

In order to decide if these data were eligible for the model validation purpose an unpaired t-test was performed. For the DSM 4688 strain no significant difference in k_{max} estimates (for CFU data) or δ estimates (for IPIU data) could be identified when comparing the experiments carried out with previously frozen raw milk versus fresh raw milk at 5°C. There was also no significant difference between the survival of the two field strains, BfR-CA-18040 and BfR-CA-18043, at 5°C. Therefore, the data for fresh raw milk, that was not previously frozen, and the data from the BfR-CA-18040 strain were considered as

6 of 14 WILEY Food Safety

suitable for the validation of the related tertiary models for the DSM 4688 strain and the BfR-CA-18043, respectively.

In addition, a systematic search was carried out in the literature and in ComBase database in order to find suitable data for the external validation of the model.

The model performance was described by a graphical validation and by calculation of RMSE and R^2 values for predicted concentration values versus the corresponding validation data.

2.2.3 | Model exchange and reusability

The final CFU data derived models for the *C. jejuni* (DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 strains) as well as the IPIU data derived model were converted into the Food Safety Knowledge Exchange (FSKX) format, with the aim of improving transparency in the model generation process and facilitate the exchange and reusability of the models created. These FSKX files hold all model parameter estimates, the raw experimental data and all relevant metadata, including a description of the model's range of applicability. The model files can be accessed and downloaded via the following model repository: https://knime.bfr.berlin/landingpage/RAKIP-Model-Repository, and executed in the open-source software solution FSK-Lab (de Alba Aparicio et al., 2018).

2.3 | Comparison of the survival kinetics

To enable a comparison of the survival kinetics of the CFU and IPIU data derived models, the time required to obtain an x \log_{10} reduction (t_{xd}) was calculated (Buchanan et al., 1993). The t_{xd} for the CFU and IPIU models was calculated for x = 1, 2, 3, or 4 \log_{10} based on the fitted parameters of the generated tertiary models.

The t_{xd} for the CFU data was calculated using Equation (9) (Patil et al., 2010).

$$t_{xd} = S_l + (x) * \frac{\ln(10)}{k_{max}}$$
 (9)

The t_{xd} for the IPIU data was calculated using Equation (10) (Patil et al., 2010).

$$t_{xd} = \delta * (x)^{\frac{1}{p}} \tag{10}$$

Normal distribution and homogeneity of variances were tested using Shapiro-Wilk test and Levene-test, respectively. Homogeneity of variances was not found. Therefore, the differences between obtained t_{xd} values from CFU and IPIU data of DSM 4688 or BfR-CA-18043 were compared pairwise performing a Wilcoxon signedrank test.

For all statistical tests applied in this study the 0.05 significance level was applied.

KNIPPER ET AL.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Experimental data

For both data sets (CFU and IPIU), the measured data points of C. *jejuni* strain BfR-CA-18043 and strain DSM 4688 in raw milk exposed to 5° C, 8° C, and 12° C are shown in Figure 2. CFU survival of DSM 4688 strain was lower compared to the BfR-CA-18043 strain (Figure 2, dots). Only low concentrations up to a maximum of 0.9 log₁₀ CFU/ml of the strain BfR-CA-18043 were detected at 49 h. C. *jejuni* CFU cell concentration for both strains (DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043) were below the detection limit from the next sampling time point (72–73 h) onwards.

The IPIU data showed no strain and temperature-specific differences in C. *jejuni* survival (Figure 2, triangles).

Recovery of *C. jejuni* strain DSM 4688 from the VBNC state into a culturable state was shown by extremely lowering the partial pressure of oxygen at 8°C and 12°C. In addition, with the same method strain BfR-CA-18043 displayed time-dependent recovery of CFU from VBNC within 80 h of incubation in raw milk at 8°C and 12°C (Figure S1). At 12°C the BfR-CA-18043 strain was recovered up to 72 h while the DSM 4688 strain was only recovered up to 48 h. Recovery rates varied widely (Table 1) not only between strains and temperatures, but also within strains at the same temperature conditions. Lower recovery rates were observed over time.

3.2 | Modeling process

3.2.1 | Intermediate two-step fit: primary models

Figure 2 shows the selected primary models for CFU and IPIU data. Due to the large differences in the survival kinetics of the cell populations, two different primary model equations had to be used to model the survival of *C. jejuni*.

3.2.2 | Intermediate two-step fit: secondary models

For the CFU data, a linear relation could be observed between the log_{10} -transformed survival rates ($log_{10}k_{max}$) and the storage temperatures. This relationship was modeled in two secondary models with Equation (11) for the DSM 4688 strain (RMSE = 0.05) and Equation (12) for the BfR-CA-18043 strain (RMSE = 0.09).

$$DSM 4688 \log_{10} k_{max} = -0.35 (\pm 0.05) + 0.014 (\pm 0.005) * T$$
(11)

 ${\rm BfR-CA-18043} \log_{10}\!k_{max} = -0.60\,(\pm0.07) + 0.026\,(\pm0.008)*T \eqno(12)$

Comparison of the 95% confidence intervals of the estimated slopes and intercepts of these linear secondary models showed overlap in values, requiring an *F*-test (Table S3). The *F*-test indicated that

KNIPPER ET AL

FIGURE 2 Survival kinetics for *Campylobacter jejuni* strain BfR-CA-18043 (top row) and strain DSM 4688 (bottom row) in raw milk at 5°C, 8°C, and 12°C storage. Data points indicate colony forming units (CFU, •) and intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU, Δ). Lines show the fit with the Trilinear model for CFU data (dashed line) and the Weibull model for IPIU data (solid line). Detection limit of CFU data was 1 CFU/mL.



TABLE 1 Recovery rates of Campylobacter jejuni strains DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043.

	T (°C)	9 h	24 h	30 h	48 h	72 h	80 h
DSM 4688	8		44.3-70%		0-40%	0-23.3%	0-22%
	12	75-100%		0-22%	0-22%	0%	
BfR-CA-18043	8		74.5-82%		36.67-78.8%	23.3-60%	21-38%
	12	80-100%		0-73.2%	0-65.83%	0-28.2%	

Note: The minimum and maximum recovery rates are shown for each time-temperature and strain combination.

two separate models were needed for the CFU data of the DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 strain, which showed the different impact of the temperature on the two *Campylobacter* strains.

As also shown in recent publications, due to the high variability found in the shoulder region, a secondary model for the S_I parameter was not possible (Pérez-Rodríguez & Valero, 2013).

Regarding IPIU data, a linear equation for the secondary model was used to describe the log_{10} -transformed primary model parameter δ . For the DSM 4688 strain, the model in Equation (13) yield an RMSE of 0.8 whereas the model for BfR-CA-18043 data Equation (14) had an RMSE of 0.74.

$$DSM 4688 \log_{10} \delta = 2.83 (\pm 0.77) + 0.028 (\pm 0.09) * T$$
(13)

BfR - CA - 18043
$$\log_{10}\delta = 3.07 (\pm 0.72) + 0.02 (\pm 0.08) * T$$
 (14)

The comparison of the 95% confidence intervals of the model parameters from the two strains indicated that there is no significant difference between the two obtained equations (Table S4). Also, an *F*-test indicated that a single model (Equation 15) was sufficient to describe the IPIU data. This model yielded a RMSE and R^2 of 0.44 and 0.53 over all data.

$$\log_{10}\delta = 2.95 \,(\pm 0.51) + 0.023 \,(\pm 0.06) * T \tag{15}$$

3.2.3 | One-step fitting: tertiary models

The estimated parameters from the intermediate two step-approach were used as starting point to generate tertiary models. For the CFU data-derived tertiary models the estimated R^2 and RMSE values are shown in Table 2. In general, the CFU data-derived tertiary models predicted the inactivation rate of the corresponding strains reasonably well, as indicated the by RMSE and R^2 values.

In Figure 3, the relationship between the predictions and the experimental CFU data for DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 are shown. As it can be seen, in the specific case of the strain BfR-CA-18043, the wide scattering of the experimental data led to models that cannot provide an "accurate" prediction for the survival of *C. jejuni* at some time points.

The estimated R^2 and RMSE values for the developed IPIU dataderived tertiary model are shown in Table 3. The developed IPIUderived tertiary model is able to predict the bacterial concentration with a variation of about 0.5 log₁₀ IPIU/mL (Figure 4).



TABLE 2 Estimated parameters and goodness-of-fit values for the developed CFU data-derived tertiary models of Campylobacter jejuni strain DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043.

		Number of for model	of observations I development	Model parameters			Goodnes	s-of-fit value
Tertiary mode	Temperature range (°C)	Data points	Survival curves	Intercept	Slope	Shoulder (h)	RMSE	R ²
DSM 4688	5-12	96	14	-0.31 (-0.37 to 0.24)	0.007 (0.00-0.02)	5.13 (4.30-5.97)	0.41	0.98
BfR-CA-18043	5-12	132	20	-0.67 (-0.74 to 0.59)	0.05 (0.04-0.06)	15.99 (13.55-18.43)	0.65	0.93

Note: Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.



FIGURE 3 Relationship between predicted-concentrations ($\log_{10} N_t$) from the (a) DSM 4688-derived and (b) BfR-18043-derived tertiary models and the data used for the model development. Non-detects were assigned a value of $-0.1 \log$ CFU/mL.

TABLE 3 Estimated parameters and goodness-of-fit for the developed tertiary model derived from IPIU data of *Campylobacter jejuni* strain DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043.

Tertiary model	Temperature range (°C)	Number of observations for model development		Model parameters			Goodness of-fit-value	
		Data points	Survival curves	Intercept	Slope	p	RMSE	R ²
DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043	5-12	180	32	0.68 (-0.17 to 1.52)	0.31 (-0.09 to 0.53)	0.15 (0.06-0.24)	0.24	0.53

Note: Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.



FIGURE 4 Relationship between predicted-concentrations (log₁₀ N_t) from the intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU) derived tertiary model and data used for model development.

3.2.4 | Model validation

The results of the model validation are provided in Figures 5 and 6, Tables S5 and S6.

For the DSM 4688-derived models, independent data from C. *jejuni* strain DSM 4688 in raw milk (5°C) and in previously frozen raw milk (8°C, 12°C) were used. The BfR-CA-18043 derived model was validated with data from C. *jejuni* BfR-CA-18043 (8°C, 12°C) in raw milk and BfR-CA-18040 (5°C) in previously frozen raw milk. The variable evaluated for the model validation was N_t.

As indicated by the RMSE and R^2 values for each experimental run (Tables S5 and S6), the CFU data-derived tertiary models are able to make accurate predictions. Validation of the internal experimental data (Figure 5) showed that most of the CFU data were under the equivalence line for the DSM 4688 data-derived model


FIGURE 5 Validation of the predicted-concentrations ($\log_{10} N_t$) from the (a) DSM 4688 and (b) BfR-CA-18043 derived tertiary models and independent (internal and external) experimental validation data. Non-detects were assigned a value of $-0.1 \log$ CFU/mL.



FIGURE 6 Validation of the predicted-concentrations (log₁₀ N_t) from the intact and putatively infectious units (IPIU) derived tertiary model and independent (internal and external) experimental validation data for *Campylobacter jejuni* (DSM 4688, BfR-CA-18040 and BfR-CA-18043) in previously frozen raw milk at different temperatures.

and above the equivalence line for the BfR-CA-18043 dataderived model.

Experimental CFU data available in ComBase could not be used for model validation as these were outside the application range of the generated models.

Only the data from Wulsten et al. (2020), obtained under the same experimental conditions, could be used for external validation of our models. In case of the tertiary model predicting IPIU, RMSE, and R^2 values demonstrated a good performance and accuracy of the model predictions (Figure 6 and Table S6). However, results from the model validation using CFU data from Wulsten et al. (2020) were not acceptable (Figure 5a, Table S5), as their experimental data differed greatly from the data obtained in our study.

TABLE 4The t_{xa} (time to achieve x-log reduction, e.g., t_{1d}) valuesfor CFU and IPIU data for Campylobacter jejuni strains in raw milk ofdifferent temperatures.

	Strain	Data	Temperature (°C)	t _{1d} (h)	t _{2d} (h)	t _{3d} (h)	t _{4d} (h)
	DSM 4688	CFU	5	8.6	13.0	17.3	21.6
	DSM 4688	CFU	8	8.5	12.7	17.1	21.2
	DSM 4688	CFU	12	8.4	12.1	15.18	18.56
	BfR-CA-18043	CFU	5	18.46	24.92	31.38	37.84
	BfR-CA-18043	CFU	8	18.55	23.41	28.23	33.12
	BfR-CA-18043	CFU	12	13.79	17.6	21.41	25.22
	DSM 4688	IPIU	5	>100	>1000	>1000	>1000
	DSM 4688	IPIU	8	>100	>1000	>1000	>1000
	DSM 4688	IPIU	12	>100	>1000	>1000	>1000
	BfR-CA-18043	IPIU	5	>1000	>1000	>1000	>1000
	BfR-CA-18043	IPIU	8	>1000	>1000	>1000	>1000
	BfR-CA-18043	IPIU	12	>1000	>1000	>1000	>1000

3.3 | Comparison between colony-forming unit and intact and putatively infectious unit predicted survival

An overview of the time required to obtain a 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4- log reductions (t_{xd}) is available in Table 4. The t_{xd} from the IPIU dataderived model was significantly higher than for the CFU data-derived model, independent of the strain and temperature. For the CFU dataderived model a significant difference in t_{xd} between strains but not between temperatures for the same strain were found. In contrast, for the IPIU data-derived model no significant difference between strains was evident. For the CFU data, the time needed to reach one log reduction varies between 8.6 and 18.46 hours depending on the strain and the temperature. On the other hand, the predictions of the t_{xd} for IPIU data were outside the application range of the Weibull

10 of 14 WILEY Food Safety

model (>100 h), which indicates that *C. jejuni* in VBNC-state can survive until the end of the shelf-life of raw milk, assuming that raw milk is kept in the fridge for a week.

4 | DISCUSSION

The consumption of raw milk has repeatedly been associated with Campylobacter spp. outbreaks (EFSA, 2015, 2021; Heuvelink et al., 2009; Teunis et al., 2018). It had been shown that fecal cross-contamination of teat skin from dairy cows can occur (Knipper et al., 2023), even though it is a rare detectable event. Traditional cultural methods used for the detection of Campylobacter spp. in raw milk are challenging due to rapid decline of CFU (Barrell, 1981; Dovle & Roman, 1982; Humphrey, 1986), Even when Campylobacter spp. cannot grow in raw milk filling stations during storage, it has been suggested that it can survive under unfavorable environmental conditions in the VBNC state (Rollins & Colwell, 1986). In that state, they putatively remain pathogenic, once favorable conditions recur (Baffone et al., 2006; Federighi et al., 1998; Rollins & Colwell, 1986; Wulsten et al., 2020). Until now, there was no method capable of detecting cells in the VBNC state in raw milk. However, a recently developed v-qPCR enables the detection of IPIU (comprising CFU and VBNC) of Campylobacter spp. in raw milk (Wulsten et al., 2020). This raises the opportunity to study how efficiently Campylobacter spp. can survive in raw milk at different temperatures based on CFU and IPIU data.

In our work experimental data were obtained by using a culturedependent method for detection of CFU (ISO 10272-2:2017) and a culture-independent method for detection of IPIU (v-qPCR, [Wulsten et al., 2020]). The v-gPCR enabled the detection of IPIU while excluding DNA from already dead cells since PMA staining is performed prior to DNA extraction (Wulsten et al., 2020). In contrast to a conventional qPCR without staining, in the v-qPCR Campylobacter survival is not overestimated by DNA from dead cells (Krüger et al., 2014; Pacholewicz et al., 2019; Wulsten et al., 2020). According to Wulsten et al. (2020), we could demonstrate an underestimation of the survival of C. jejuni by CFU. We were able to confirm the data from Wulsten et al. (2020) for the DSM 4688 at 5°C and furthermore demonstrated that there is also no difference in the IPIU data at 8°C and 12°C. In this study the BfR-CA-18043 field strain showed a prolonged CFU survival compared to the reference strain DSM 4688. Wulsten et al. (2020), observed the same for the "outbreak" strain (BfR-CA-13290) isolated from raw milk compared to the reference strain DSM 4688. This could be explained by the fact that due to the level of stress tolerance, resistance and progression to the VBNC vary between different strains of C. jejuni (Lv et al., 2020), with the field strains being more stress tolerant than the reference strains.

The generated experimental data were used for modeling generation purposes. In our work, we applied a one-step fitting approach using parameter estimates from an intermediate two-step fit as starting values for the fitting of tertiary model equations. Traditionally, a two-step fitting approach has been used, in which primary and secondary models are generated in two different steps and then integrated in a software tool as a tertiary model to predict the number of

KNIPPER ET AL.

microorganisms under the different environmental conditions. However, this approach is not without drawbacks, as it can accumulate and propagate the errors in each step of the data analysis during the model development process (Huang, 2017). A one-step fitting approach in which the primary and secondary models are analyzed together during the estimation of kinetic parameters, have been also widely used in kinetic analysis as it is believed that the resulting tertiary models give better fits to the data. Directly interpretable regression diagnostics and standard errors can be also obtained with this latter approach (Dolan & Mishra, 2013; Huang, 2017; Jewell, 2012).

During the model design some assumptions were necessary. This is the case, for example, with the handling of non-detects during model fitting. As described before, the detection limit of our method was 1 CFU/mL. After around 70 h, we were not able to detect CFUs in raw milk. To simplify the generation of a predictive model applicable over the whole experimental time span we opted for a trilinear model that contains a tail. As we fixed the values for non-detects at $-0.1 \log_{10}$ CFU/mL this model predicts this concentration for all time points after S_t . To prevent users from misinterpreting this value we provide a dedicated annotation to the output parameter in the FSKX model file. In addition, we explored if for example, maximum likelihood estimation (MLE)-based method for parameter estimation given censored data would have yielded significantly different results, which was not the case (data not shown). Therefore, we decided to stick to the generated trilinear model for prediction purpose.

The wide scattering of the experimental CFU data led to CFUderived tertiary models that cannot provide an "accurate" prediction for the survival of *C. jejuni* at some time points. This is the case, for example, of the strain BfR-CA-18043. In addition, the quality of the model prediction on the concentration at a specific time point, especially of the DSM-4688-derived tertiary model, could be improved in the future by integrating further data. This applies specifically to the time range between 9 and 30 h, where there were only few and widely scattered data available.

On the other hand, the developed IPIU-derived tertiary model showed a small variation in the prediction of the IPIU, which could be linked to the more complex method of detecting IPIU by v-qPCR. However, the IPIU-derived model demonstrated to be better able to predict the concentrations than the CFU-derived model, which could be attributed to two reasons: 1. CFU data have a high variability compared to IPIU data, and 2. the inactivation of IPIU occurs in a short period of time, usually within the first few hours. Furthermore, for the IPIU data hardly any reduction on the number of cells will occur after the initial phase.

The validation process carried out with the internally generated validation data indicated that CFU data-derived tertiary models were able to make accurate predictions indicated by the RMSE and R^2 values. Most of the CFU data were under the equivalence line for the DSM 4688 data-derived model and above the equivalence line for the BfR-CA-18043 data-derived model. That means that the DSM 4688 data-derived model predicts a lower population of microorganisms than observed, meanwhile the BfR-CA-18043 data-derived model, predicts a higher population of microorganisms than observed.

KNIPPER ET AL

- Food Safety

Experimental data at temperatures other than those used in the experiments should be included in the future for further internal validation.

Experimental CFU data-sets available in ComBase strongly deviated from the measured values obtained in our experiments and could not be used for the external model validation because were outside the application range of the generated models. Comparison of model predictions with data from other studies that do not match the range-of-modelapplicability is difficult because the matrix and strain effects on the survival vary strongly. This underlines the importance of proper model annotations to clearly inform on the application range of each model.

Only data from Wulsten et al. (2020) could be used for the external model validation. A good performance and accuracy of the model predictions for the IPIU model were confirmed. This could be explained by the fact that IPIU levels in milk seem to remain unchanged irrespective of the specific matrix or strain used. This is also in line with the results from Wulsten et al. (2020), which showed that the developed v-oPCR is robust against different milk batches. The validation of CFU models with data from Wulsten et al. (2020) was, however, not acceptable. The large deviation from our data and therefore from the predictions of our model could be attributed to the different batch of the raw milk used. Even when the raw milk in both studies came from the same herd, our experiments were carried out 3 years later. Animal feed and therefore the amount and percentage of the components in raw milk, like protein and fat, may have changed. Further experiments with milk from different herds or even milk from different batches within the same herd should be carry out in order to evaluate the impact of the variations of milk composition in the CFU survival data.

The calculated time needed to reach one log reduction, demonstrated big differences between CFU and IPIU data, as for CFUs it varied between 8.6 and 18.46 h (depending on the strain and the temperature) while for IPIU data was predicted to be greater than 100 h (independent of the temperature and the strain used). This large difference again shows the underestimation of the concentration of *C. jejuni*, if only CFU are taken into account.

Regarding the recovery of CFU from VBNC, Wulsten et al. (2020) showed that it is possible to recover *C. jejuni* strain DSM 4688 from the VBNC state into a culturable state in raw milk by extremely lowering the partial pressure of oxygen at 5°C. We reproduced this phenomenon for the DSM 4688 strain in a wider range of temperature (from 8°C to 12°C) and furthermore, could demonstrate that for a recently isolated field strain derived from cow feces, BfR-CA-18043, displayed time-dependent recovery of CFU from VBNC. The recovery of CFU from VBNC showed that *C. jejuni* was viable at least during 80 h (both strains) at 8°C and 48 h (DSM 4688) and 72 h (BfR-CA-18043) at 12°C.

Due to the recovery of CFU from VBNC, the CFU concentration of *C. jejuni* in raw milk varies dependent on specific conditions (beyond standard incubation procedures), and therefore might range between our model predictions of CFU and IPIU, but so far it is unknown. Therefore, further studies including the modeling of the recovery data under different conditions should be carried out in order to be able to get more realistic predictions on the concentration of CFU in raw milk.

CFU recovery required very specific conditions (Li et al., 2014), and depended on many factors such as the strain used, the age of VBNC cells, the conditions that induced the VBNC state and, of course, the conditions provided for recovery (Pinto et al., 2011). CFU recovery from VBNC has been reported to happen in microaerobic conditions (Bovill & Mackey, 1997), in embroynated chicken eggs (Cappelier et al., 1999) and in vivo using mouse infection models (Baffone et al., 2006). So far, it has not been confirmed if this recovery occurs in the human gut, but if so, this would mean that the risk of exposure to infective cells through consumption of raw milk, leading to human disease, may be underestimated.

It was assumed that VBNC cells are avirulent, as they have a coccoid shape and a reduced rate of gene expression and protein translation required for pathogenesis (Ramamurthy et al., 2014). However, VBNC cells that are recovered back into CFUs can regain full infectious potential (Baffone et al., 2006). For example, it was demonstrated that *Campylobacter* cells recovered after embryonated-egg passage—considered as an animal model with reduced animal defense properties—since they regained attachment capacity to HeLa cells (Cappelier et al., 1999).

Maintenance of adhesion potential was used as pathogenicity indicator and suggested that the VBNC state of *Campylobacter* does, in fact, constitute a public health concern (Cappelier et al., 1999). This capacity of recovery with no apparent loss of virulence potential evidently raises concerns regarding the presence of VBNC bacteria in food (Li et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, the infectivity of VBNC cells is not known. One approach to test the infectivity of VBNC cells would be to test VBNCs within and beyond the "recovery window" in animal models. It should be noted that the "recovery window" is based on current knowledge on conditions for in vitro recovery of VBNCs, which might be extended in future. Hence, it is worth investigating if all VBNC cells are infectious or only those that can be recovered by special treatment into CFUs.

We conclude that as long as the infectivity and pathogenicity factors from VBNC and recovered CFU are not entirely understood in raw milk, the IPIU-derived model should be considered as a worstcase scenario, assuming that these VBNC might also be infectious. Nevertheless, even when the developed model could help to quantify the consumer exposure to *C. jejuni* through consumption of raw milk, the results presented in this study should be interpreted with caution, as they are based on a specific scenario, data and assumptions.

5 | CONCLUSION

Our study corroborate that the survival of *C. jejuni* is largely underestimated if only based on CFU data. This work confirmed the potential for underestimation of *C. jejuni* concentrations in raw milk, not only at 5° C but also at 8° C and 12° C. Furthermore, we confirmed that VBNCs in raw milk could be successfully recovered within a

12 of 14 WILEY Food Safety

relevant time window by drastically reducing the oxygen partial pressure. Three mathematical models were developed on the basis of the newly generated experimental data that can predict the effect of temperature on the survival of C. jejuni DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 in raw milk. For the IPIU survival of the C. jejuni our model predicts that not even a one log reduction will be observed within 100 h while the same reduction is predicted to occur at least after 18 h for CFUs. The obtained tertiary models clearly demonstrate the potential for underestimation of the survival of C. jejuni in raw milk. As the degree of infectivity of cells in VBNC status is still unknown, IPIU data should be taken into account as a worstcase scenario, as these VBNCs still might be infectious. To improve model-based predictions of IPIU and CFU concentrations it is necessary to collect more data, as the variability in C. jejuni survival in the complex matrix of raw milk is very high. In addition, it must be investigated weather VBNCs remain infectious even beyond the "recovery window." Despite of these considerations, the newly developed models might become valuable resources for food managers and risk assessors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Anna-Delia Knipper: Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Carolina Plaza-Rodríguez: Writing – review & editing. Matthias Filter: Writing – review & editing. Imke F. Wulsten: Writing – review & editing. Kerstin Stingl: Writing – review & editing. Tasja Crease: Conceptualization, Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Project Administration, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review & editing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Steven Göhlich and Dr. Petra Ganas for the excellent technical assistance and help in integrating the developed tertiary models into FSKX files respectively. Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

FUNDING INFORMATION

Funding for this research was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment as part of the Junior Research Group Supply Chain Models (Project 1323-104).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationship that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The developed models are available in the model repository: https:// knime.bfr.berlin/landingpage/RAKIP-Model-Repository. All relevant data are within the manuscript and its supporting information files.

ORCID

Anna-Delia Knipper 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9211-1925

REFERENCES

- Al-Qadiri, H., Sablani, S. S., Ovissipour, M., Al-Alami, N., Govindan, B., & Rasco, B. (2015). Effect of oxygen stress on growth and survival of Clostridium perfringens, campylobacter jejuni, and listeria monocytogenes under different storage conditions. *Journal of Food Protection*, 78, 691–697.
- Baffone, W., Casaroli, A., Citterio, B., Pierfelici, L., Campana, R., Vittoria, E., Guaglianone, E., & Donelli, G. (2006). Campylobacter jejuni loss of culturability in aqueous microcosms and ability to resuscitate in a mouse model. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 107, 83–91.
- Baranyi, J., da Silva, N. B., & Ellouze, M. (2017). Rethinking tertiary models: Relationships between growth parameters of Bacillus cereus strains. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1890.
- Barrell, R. A. (1981). The survival of campylobacter coli/jejuni in unpasteurised milk. *Journal of Infection*, 3, 348–352.
- Baty, F., & Delignette-Muller, M. (2014). nlsMicrobio: Data sets and nonlinear regression models dedicated to predictive microbiology.
- Böhnlein, C., Fiedler, G., Loop, J., Franz, C., & Kabisch, J. (2020). Microbiological quality and safety of raw milk from direct sale in northern Germany. International Dairy Journal, 114, 104944.
- Boleratz, B. L., & Oscar, T. P. (2022). Use of ComBase data to develop an artificial neural network model for nonthermal inactivation of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk and beef and evaluation of model performance and data completeness using the acceptable prediction zones method. *Journal of Food Safety*, 42, e12983.
- Bovill, R. A., & Mackey, B. M. (1997). Resuscitation of 'non-culturable' cells from aged cultures of *Campylobacter jejuni*. *Microbiology*, 143, 1575– 1581.
- Buchanan, R. L., & Golden, M. H. (1995). Model for the non-thermal inactivation of listeria monocytogenes in a reduced oxygen environment. *Food Microbiology*, 12, 203–212.
- Buchanan, R. L., Golden, M. H., & Whiting, R. C. (1993). Differentiation of the effects of *pH* and lactic or acetic acid concentration on the kinetics of listeria monocytogenes inactivation. *Journal of Food Protection*, 56, 474–478.
- Cappelier, J. M., Minet, J., Magras, C., Colwell, R. R., & Federighi, M. (1999). Recovery in Embryonated eggs of viable but Nonculturable *Campylobacter jejuni* cells and maintenance of ability to adhere to HeLa cells after resuscitation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65, 5154–5157.
- Christopher, F. M., Smith, G. C., & Vanderzant, C. (1982). Effect of temperature and pH on the survival of campylobacter fetus (1). *Journal of Food Protection*, 45, 253–259.
- de Alba Aparicio, M., Buschhardt, T., Swaid, A., Valentin, L., Mesa-Varona, O., Günther, T., Plaza-Rodríguez, C., & Filter, M. (2018). FSKlab—An open source food safety model integration tool. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 10, 13–19.
- Del Collo, L. P., Karns, J. S., Biswas, D., Lombard, J. E., Haley, B. J., Kristensen, R. C., Kopral, C. A., Fossler, C. P., & Van Kessel, J. A. S. (2017). Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of *campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 100, 3470–3479.
- Dingle, K. E., Colles, F. M., Wareing, D. R., Ure, R., Fox, A. J., Bolton, F. E., Bootsma, H. J., Willems, R. J., Urwin, R., & Maiden, M. C. (2001). Multilocus sequence typing system for *Campylobacter Jejuni*. *Journal of Clini*cal Microbiology, 39, 14–23.
- Dolan, K. D., & Mishra, D. K. (2013). Parameter estimation in food science. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 4, 401–422.
- Doyle, M. P., & Roman, D. J. (1982). Prevalence and survival of Campylobacter Jejuni in unpasteurized milk. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 44, 1154–1158.
- EFSA. (2011). Panel on biological hazards (BIOHAZ). Scientific opinion on *Campylobacter* in broiler meat production: Control options and performance objectives and/or targets at different stages of the food chain. EFSA Journal, 9(4), 2105. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2105

KNIPPER ET AL.

_WILEY_13 of 14

terrored of
Journal of
East Cafatas
Food Safety

EFSA. (2015). Scientific opinion on the public health risks related to the consumption of raw drinking milk. EFSA Journal, 13, 3940.

KNIPPER ET AL

EFSA. (2021). The European Union one health 2020 Zoonoses report. EFSA Journal, 19, e06971.

- EFSA. (2022). The European Union one health 2021 Zoonoses report. EFSA Journal, 20, e07666.
- Federighi, M., Tholozan, J. L., Cappelier, J. M., Tissier, J. P., & Jouve, J. L. (1998). Evidence of non-coccoid viable but non-culturable *Campylobacter jejuni* cells in microcosm water by direct viable count, CTC-DAPI double staining, and scanning electron microscopy. *Food Microbiology*, 15, 539–550.
- Geeraerd, A. H., Valdramidis, V. P., & Van Impe, J. F. (2005). GlnaFiT, a freeware tool to assess non-log-linear microbial survivor curves. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 102, 95–105.
- Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Serraino, A., Peli, A., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Bilei, S., Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Fustini, M., Mion, R., Petruzzelli, A., Rosmini, R., Rugna, G., Tamba, M., Tonucci, F., & Bolzoni, G. (2013). Four-year monitoring of foodborne pathogens in raw Milk sold by vending Machines in Italy. *Journal of Food Protection*, *76*, 1902–1907.
- Giacometti, F., Serraino, A., Bonilauri, P., Ostanello, F., Daminelli, P., Finazzi, G., Losio, M. N., Marchetti, G., Liuzzo, G., Zanoni, R. G., & Rosmini, R. (2012). Quantitative risk assessment of Verocytotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli* 0157 and *Campylobacter Jejuni* related to consumption of raw Milk in a province in northern Italy. *Journal of Food Protection*, 75, 2031–2038.
- Heuvelink, A. E., van Heerwaarden, C., Zwartkruis-Nahuis, A., Tilburg, J. J. H. C., Bos, M. H., Heilmann, F. G. C., Hofhuis, A., Hoekstra, T., & de Boer, E. (2009). Two outbreaks of campylobacteriosis associated with the consumption of raw cows' milk. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 134, 70–74.
- Huang, L (2017). IPMP global fit—A one-step direct data analysis tool for predictive microbiology. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 262, 38–48.
- Humphrey, T. J. (1986). Techniques for the optimum recovery of cold injured Campylobacter Jejuni from milk or water. Journal of Applied Bacteriology, 61, 125–132.
- Jaakkonen, A., Kivistö, R., Aarnio, M., Kalekivi, J., & Hakkinen, M. (2020). Persistent contamination of raw milk by *Campylobacter jejuni* ST-883. *PLoS One*, 15, e0231810.
- Jackson, B. R., Zegarra, J. A., López-Gatell, H., Sejvar, J., Arzate, F., Waterman, S., Núñez, A. S., López, B., Weiss, J., Cruz, R. Q., Murrieta, D. Y., Luna-Gierke, R., Heiman, K., Vieira, A. R., Fitzgerald, C., Kwan, P., Zárate-Bermúdez, M., Talkington, D., Hill, V. R., & Mahon, B. (2014). Binational outbreak of Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with Campylobacter Jejuni infection, Mexico and USA, 2011. Epidemiology and Infection, 142, 1089–1099.
- Jewell, K. (2012). Comparison of 1-step and 2-step methods of fitting microbiological models. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 160, 145–161.
- Jolley, K. A., Bray, J. E., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2018). Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.Org website and their applications. Wellcome Open Research, 3, 124.
- Kaakoush, N. O., Castaño-Rodríguez, N., Mitchell, H. M., & Man, S. M. (2015). Global epidemiology of *campylobacter* infection. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28, 687–720.
- Keithlin, J., Sargeant, J., Thomas, M. K., & Fazil, A. (2014). Systematic review and meta-analysis of the proportion of campylobacter cases that develop chronic sequelae. BMC Public Health, 14, 1203.
- Kim, S., Jeong, J., Lee, H., Lee, J., Lee, S., Ha, J., Choi, Y., Yoon, Y., & Choi, K. H. (2017). Kinetic behavior of *Campylobacter Jejuni* in beef tartare at cold temperatures and transcriptomes related to its survival. *Journal of Food Protection*, 80, 2127–2131.
- Knipper, A.-D., Ghoreishi, N., & Crease, T. (2022). Prevalence and concentration of campylobacter in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 17, e0276018.

- Knipper, A.-D., Göhlich, S., Stingl, K., Ghoreishi, N., Fischer-Tenhagen, C., Bandick, N., Tenhagen, B.-A., & Crease, T. (2023). Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cows during milking and in the dairy farm environment. *Foods*, 12, 1639.
- Krüger, N.-J., Buhler, C., Iwobi, A. N., Huber, I., Ellerbroek, L., Appel, B., & Stingl, K. (2014). "Limits of control"–Crucial parameters for a reliable quantification of viable campylobacter by real-time PCR. *PLoS One*, 9, e88108.
- Leonhard, S. E., Mandarakas, M. R., Gondim, F. A. A., Bateman, K., Ferreira, M. L. B., Cornblath, D. R., van Doorn, P. A., Dourado, M. E., Hughes, R. A. C., Islam, B., Kusunoki, S., Pardo, C. A., Reisin, R., Sejvar, J. J., Shahrizaila, N., Soares, C., Umapathi, T., Wang, Y., Yiu, E. M., ... Jacobs, B. C. (2019). Diagnosis and management of Guillain-Barré syndrome in ten steps. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *15*, 671–683.
- Li, L., Mendis, N., Trigui, H., Oliver, J. D., & Faucher, S. P. (2014). The importance of the viable but non-culturable state in human bacterial pathogens. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5, 258.
- Lv, R., Wang, K., Feng, J., Heeney, D. D., Liu, D., & Lu, X. (2020). Detection and quantification of viable but non-culturable *Campylobacter Jejuni*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10.
- Mughini-Gras, L., Penny, C., Ragimbeau, C., Schets, F. M., Blaak, H., Duim, B., Wagenaar, J. A., de Boer, A., Cauchie, H. M., Mossong, J., & van Pelt, W. (2016). Quantifying potential sources of surface water contamination with *Campylobacter Jejuni* and campylobacter coli. *Water Research*, 101, 36–45.
- Oliver, S. P., Boor, K. J., Murphy, S. C., & Murinda, S. E. (2009). Food safety hazards associated with consumption of raw milk. *Foodborne Patho*gens and Disease, 6, 793–806.
- Olofsson, J., Berglund, P. G., Olsen, B., Ellström, P., & Axelsson-Olsson, D. (2015). The abundant free-living amoeba, Acanthamoeba polyphaga, increases the survival of *Campylobacter Jejuni* in milk and orange juice. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, *5*, 28675.
- Pacholewicz, E., Buhler, C., Wulsten, I. F., Kraushaar, B., Luu, H. Q., Iwobi, A. N., Huber, I., & Stingl, K. (2019). Internal sample process control improves cultivation-independent quantification of thermotolerant campylobacter. *Food Microbiology*, 78, 53–61.
- Patil, S., Valdramidis, V. P., Cullen, P. J., Frias, J., & Bourke, P. (2010). Inactivation of Escherichia coli by ozone treatment of apple juice at different pH levels. Food Microbiology, 27, 835–840.
- Pérez-Rodríguez, F., Valero, A., 2013. Predictive microbiology in foods. Springer.
- Pinto, D., Almeida, V., Almeida Santos, M., & Chambel, L. (2011). Resuscitation of *Escherichia coli* VBNC cells depends on a variety of environmental or chemical stimuli. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 110, 1601– 1611.
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Ramamurthy, T., Ghosh, A., Pazhani, G. P., & Shinoda, S. (2014). Current perspectives on viable but non-culturable (VBNC) pathogenic bacteria. *Frontiers in Public Health, 2.*
- Rollins, D. M., & Colwell, R. R. (1986). Viable but nonculturable stage of campylobacter jejuni and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 52, 531–538.
- Rosner, B. M., Schielke, A., Didelot, X., Kops, F., Breidenbach, J., Willrich, N., Gölz, G., Alter, T., Stingl, K., Josenhans, C., Suerbaum, S., & Stark, K. (2017). A combined case-control and molecular source attribution study of human campylobacter infections in Germany, 2011– 2014. Scientific Reports, 7, 5139.
- Stingl, K., Heise, J., Thieck, M., Wulsten, I. F., Pacholewicz, E., Iwobi, A. N., Govindaswamy, J., Zeller-Péronnet, V., Scheuring, S., Luu, H. Q., Fridriksdottir, V., Gölz, G., Priller, F., Gruntar, I., Jorgensen, F., Koene, M., Kovac, J., Lick, S., Répérant, E., ... Huber, I. (2021).

14 of 14 WILEY Food Safety

Challenging the "gold standard" of colony-forming units-Validation of a multiplex real-time PCR for quantification of viable *Campylobacter* spp. in meat rinses. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 359, 109417.

- Teunis, P. F. M., Bonačić Marinović, A., Tribble, D. R., Porter, C. K., & Swart, A. (2018). Acute illness from campylobacter jejuni may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. *Epidemics*. 24, 1–20.
- TMR. (2016). Raw milk vending machine market—Europe industry analysis, size, share, growth, trends and forecast 2016-2024. Transparency Market Research.
- van Boekel, M. A. (2002). On the use of the Weibull model to describe thermal inactivation of microbial vegetative cells. *International Journal* of Food Microbiology, 74, 139–159.
- Whiting, R. C., & Buchanan, R. L. (1993). Letter to the editor: A classification of models in predictive microbiology—A reply to K. R. Davey. Food Microbiology, 10, 175–177.
- Wulsten, I. F., Galeev, A., & Stingl, K. (2020). Underestimated survival of campylobacter in raw milk highlighted by viability real-time PCR and growth recovery. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11, 1107.

KNIPPER ET AL.

Yoon, K. S., Burnette, C. N., & Oscar, T. P. (2004). Development of predictive models for the survival of *Campylobacter Jejuni* (ATCC 43051) on cooked chicken breast patties and in broth as a function of temperature. *Journal of Food Protection*, 67, 64–70.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Knipper, A.-D., Plaza-Rodríguez, C., Filter, M., Wulsten, I. F., Stingl, K., & Crease, T. (2023). Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC). *Journal* of Food Safety, e13077. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfs.13077</u>

3.5 Publication 4: Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for Campylobacter in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany

	Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274	
4222334	Contents lists available at ScienceDirect	
	Microbial Risk Analysis	MICROBIAL RISK ANALYSIS
ELSEVIER	journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/mran	Call

Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for Campylobacter in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany

Anna-Delia Knipper^{a,*}, Tasja Crease^a, Taras Günther^a, Matthias Filter^a, Maarten Nauta^b

German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR), Department Biological Safety, Max-Dohrn-Straße 8-10, 10589 Berlin, Germany ^b Statens Serum Institute, Artillerivej 5, 2300 København, Denmark

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: QMRA Modeling Food safety Vending machine Supply chain Campylobacteriosis

ABSTRACT

The consumer demand for raw milk from dairy cows has increased and local sales via vending machines have been intensified. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the risk associated with the consumption of unboiled raw milk contaminated with Campylobacter by estimating the number of campylobacteriosis cases. For this a sto chastic quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model was developed that covered the whole supply chain. Information and data for model parametrization were obtained from research publications. Different probability distributions were used to represent the data whenever possible and probabilistic risk estimation was performed using Monte Carlo simulations. Simulations for outbreaks from single vending machines were performed using the developed QMRA baseline model. Further, different risk mitigation scenarios along the supply chain were evaluated to support risk managers in controlling Campylobacter. The analysis suggest a role for Campylobacter infections due to fecal contamination of cows' udder. The model can easily be adapted and extended when additional data become available as it is provides in the harmonized exchange Food Safety Knowledge Exchange (FSKX) format.

1. Introduction

Campylobacter causes campylobacterisosis a diarrheal disease and represents one of the leading causes of zoonotic enteric infections worldwide. The 27 European Union (EU) Member States reported an overall incidence of 127,840 confirmed cases of human campylobacteriosis, corresponding to an EU notification rate of 41.1 cases per 100,000 population in 2021 (EFSA, 2022).

From 2011 to 2020 raw milk was one of the food vehicles causing most strong-evidence foodborne Campylobacter outbreaks in the EU (EFSA, 2021). In recent years, zoonoses monitoring in Germany reported 1 to 2.5% of bulk tank samples positive for Campylobacter (BVL, 2010, 2012, 2016a, 2016b, 2020). Further, in 2018 most of the outbreaks were caused by Campylobacter and associated with the consumption of unboiled raw milk (9/38 outbreaks) (BVL, 2019).

Direct sale of raw milk for human consumption by self-service and automatic vending machines is conditionally allowed in many European countries, such as Germany, France, the Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark, Italy, Ireland and parts of the UK (EFSA, 2015). A survey in 2019 of state and county veterinary agencies for registered raw milk sale outlets in Germany indicated nearly 850 raw milk sale outlets on farm

(Böhnlein et al., 2020). Websites based on farmers' voluntary entries capture currently just about half of the raw milk supply in Germany (Liebers, 2013).

A sign on the vending machines stating that the raw milk must be boiled before consumption is legally required (BMJV, 2018). Nevertheless, data from Italy demonstrated that up to 43% of consumers did not boil raw milk before consumption (Giacometti et al., 2013).

Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) has emerged in the area of food safety as a comprehensive and systematic approach which allows an a priori assessment of the effect of intervention measures along the whole food chain, or combinations of intervention measures on public health (Havelaar et al., 2008). QMRA is based on the principles for microbial risk assessment defined within the Codex Alimentarius and comprises four different stages: hazard identification, exposure assessment, hazard characterization and risk characterization (Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999). Of these, exposure assessment often requires the development of a food supply chain model that describes changes of prevalence and concentration of the microbial hazard, during food production, processing and handling. Such models are often designed using the modular process risk model (MPRM) approach for exposure assessment. It describes where the bacteria enter the food

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: Anna-Delia.Knipper@bfr.bund.de (A.-D. Knipper).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2023.100274

Received 11 May 2023; Received in revised form 2 July 2023; Accepted 23 July 2023

Available online 25 July 2023 2352-3522/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).

pathway and what can happen to the bacteria in consecutive modules, in terms of either a microbial process (growth and inactivation) or product handling processes (cross-contamination, mixing, removal or partitioning) (Nauta, 2008). The output of one module then serves as the input for the following module. The calculated probability and amount of exposure are then used in combination with a dose-response model to calculate the individual risk per serving. Further, to capture the true heterogeneity in a population (variability) and the lack of knowledge related to e.g. low precision of measurement methods (uncertainty), probability distributions are used in the different modules of a QMRA to estimate the risk for the population (Membré and Boué, 2018).

The aim of this study was to model the transfer of *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain and to assess the impact of potential mitigation options that may reduce the public health risk associated with the consumption of *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk in Germany. For that, a food chain modeling approach was applied using the MPRM methodology. First a baseline model was built describing a "normal" raw milk production, distribution and consumption scenario. The changes in prevalence and concentrations of *Campylobacter* at different steps of the supply chain were simulated. Next, alternative scenarios were defined to identify the most important data gaps (uncertainties) and to evaluate the effects of potential interventions. Two dose-response models were used: the "classic" model for the dose-response (Teunis and Havelaar, 2000), based on a human challenge study (Black et al., 1988) and a novel raw milk outbreak dose-response model scenarios.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Description of the food pathway and model implementation

The MPRM methodology (Nauta, 2008) was used to design the model structure. Fig. 1 displays the elements of the food pathway covered in the model.

To parameterize the QMRA experimental data from scientific literature were used, e.g. Knipper et al. (2023), Giacometti et al. (2015), Vissers et al. (2007) and Böhnlein et al. (2020). The entire model was implemented and executed in @Risk software (version 8.2 Pro, Palisade Corporation, Newfield, NY, U.S.) using the Monte Carlo simulation technique with 100,000 iterations. In addition, the final model was implemented in software R 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2020) and converted into the Food safety Knowledge Exchange (FSKX) format, with the aim

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

of improving transparency in the model generation process and facilitate the exchange and reusability of the model created. The FSKX files hold all model parameter estimates, the raw experimental data and all relevant metadata. The model files can be accessed and downloaded via the following model repository: https://knime.bfr.berlin/landingpage/RAK IP-Model-Repository, and executed in the open-source software solution FSK-Lab (de Alba Aparicio et al., 2018).

2.2. Baseline model

A detailed description of the distributions and parameters used is shown in Table 1. First, a baseline model was developed to estimate the number of *Campylobacter* cases through the consumption of raw milk from vending machines in Germany. This model includes the variability as explained below.

Step 1: Initial contamination of cows' feces

Campylobacter concentration in cows' feces (log colony-forming units (CFU)/g) was modelled by a normal distribution describing the variability between infected cows:

$$C_{feces} \sim Normal (m_{feces}; sd_{feces})$$
 (1)

where " m_{feces} " is the mean concentration and "sd_{feces}" the standard deviation.

Step 2: Fecal cross-contamination of udders

The amount of feces per udder (G_{feces}) was assumed to be 0.059 g (Vissers et al., 2007). To describe the variability between fecal cross-contamination of udders by different cows, a triangle distribution was used:

$$G_{feces} \sim Triangle \left(G_{feces:min}; G_{feces:most likely}; G_{feces:max} \right)$$
 (2)

" $G_{feces;min}$ " the minimum amount, " $G_{feces;most \ likely}$ " being the most likely amount of feces per udder, and " $G_{feces; \ max}$ " the maximum value. The prevalence of udders contaminated with feces (P_{udder}) had a fixed value.

Step 3: Milking process and bulk tank



Fig. 1. Baseline model and an overview of the different processes and units used to describe the concentration and prevalence of Campylobacter in the raw milk pathway.

Table 1

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

Overview of variables and parameters in the baseline model enabling to estimate the number of Campylobacter cases from consuming raw milk. Process Variable Description Data/Equation Unit References step Mean of Campylobacter 2.4 (Log CFU)/g Knipper et al. (2023) 1 mfeces concentration in cows feces Standard deviation of (Log CFU)/g Knipper et al. (2023) 0.9 sdfeces Campylobacter concentration in cows feces (Log CFU)/g Concentration of Campylobacter in Normal (mfeces; sdfeces) Calculated Cfeces [Variability per cow] cows feces 2 Gfeces: Minimum amount of feces per 0.003 Assumption based on Vissers et al. (2007) g udder Most likely amount of feces per (5% quantile of triangle distribution) 0.059 g ers et al. (2007) Gfeces:most likely udder Assumption based on Vissers et al. (2007) (90% quantile of triangle distribution) Calculated Maximum amount of feces per 0.3 G_{feces;max} g udder Gram feces per udder Gfeces ~ Triangle (Gfeces;min; Gfeces;most likely; g G_{fecesmax}) [Variability per cow] P_{udder} Prevalence of contaminated udders 12 % Knipper et al. (2023) with Campylobacter Mean amount of milk per cow Own data 3 30 mcow liter sd_{cow_liter} Standard deviation of amount of 10 1 Own data milk per cow Value α parameter Gamma 1.2 Estimated based on BMEL (2022) Aherd a Variable distribution Value β parameter Gamma distribution 59 Variable Estimated based on BMEL (2022) $A_{herd, \beta}$ Calculated Aherd Number of cows contributed to ~ 1+(round(Gamma($A_{herd_{ab}}$; $A_{herd_{ab}}$); 0) Cow bulk tank Raw milk liter volume in bulk tank [Variability per bulk tank] ~ A_{herd} x Normal(m_{cow_liter}; sd_{cow_liter}/ 1 Calculated V_{bulk tank} VAherd) [Variability per bulk tank] - Binomial (round(A_{herd};0);P_{udder}) Calculated Number of cows with contaminated Cow Acontaminated [Variability per bulk tank] = G feces x 10 ^{C feces} udder Number of Campylobacter a single cow contributed to bulk tank Number of Campylobacter in bulk Ncow CFU Calculated = sum(N_{cow}) sampled from A_{contaminated} CFU/bulk tank Calculated Nhulk tank tank cows (Log CFU/l) in Concentration of Campylobacter per Cliter = Log (N_{bulk_tank} / V_{bulk_tank}) Calculated liter in bulk tank bulk tank Giacometti et al. (2015) Giacometti et al. (2015) Giacometti et al. (2015) Minimum storage time Most likely storage time 0.5 h 4 24 Stime; most likely $S_{time;max}$ S_{time} Maximum storage time 120 h Time of raw milk storage ~ Pert (Stimemin: Stin h Giacometti et al. (2015) t likely; Stime [Variability per serving] Minimum decimal reduction time h Giacometti et al. (2015) Sreduction; min 113 based on 12 °C data Most likely decimal reduction time 132 Giacometti et al. (2015) h Sreduction;most likely S_{reduc} based on 12 °C data Maximum decimal reduction time 151 h Giacometti et al. (2015) based on 12 °C data Giacometti et al. (2015) Decimal reduction time based on · Pert (Sreduction;min; Sreduction;most likely) h Sreduction 12 °C data [Variability per serving] Concentration of Campylobacter at (Log CFU/l) Calculated Craw milk = Cliter consumption Mean volume of raw milk (S_{time}/ S_{reduction}) 0.21 5 1 Assumption (a mug) mconsumed consumed sd Standard deviation of volume of 0.05 1 Assumption raw milk consumed Portion of raw milk consumed per Lognormal (m_{cons} 1 Estimated (one mug) Uconsumed ned; sdconsumed) [Variability per doses] [Variability per doses] serving Dose CFU/serving Calculated Dingested = 1-Gamma $(\alpha + \beta)$ x Gamma $(\beta + D_{ingested})$ / Gamma $(\alpha + \beta + D_{ingested})$ / Gamma (β) Teunis and Havelaar (2000) Dose-Probability of infection (dose-Pinf respons response model) Teunis and Havelaar (2000) Dose-response model 0.145 α Dose-response model Mean probability of infection 7.59 = Mean (P_{inf}) Teunis and Havelaar (2000) Calculated Pinf. mean [mean for all servings (= iterations)] Black et al. (1988); Havelaar et al. (2000); Nauta et al. (2007) Calculated Probability of illness given = 1/3 P_{ill/inf} infection Mean probability of illness Pill, mea $= P_{inf, mean} \ge P_{ill/inf}$

(continued on next page)

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

A.-D. Knipper et al.

Table 1 (continued)							
Process step	Variable	Description	Data/Equation	Unit	References		
	Nserved	Raw milk's servings per year	44,365,750		Estimated based on Giacometti et al. (2013); Böhnlein et al. (2020); Labohm et al. (2021)		
	$N_{served_unboiled}$	Unboiled raw milk's servings per year	13,309,725		Estimation based on Giacometti et al. (2013)		
	Output	Cases per year	$= P_{ill, mean} * N_{served.unboiled}$		Calculated		

The variability in the number of cows contributing to the milk tank was included using a gamma distribution (Aherd). In Germany 2020, the average herd size on the farms was 72 cows, where 56% of all dairy cows were kept on farms with more than 100 animals (BMEL, 2022). This was fitted to a Gamma distribution, yielding a mean of about 71.8 cows per farm, a minimum of 1 cow per farm and about 55.7% of the cows in a farm with 100 cows or more:

$$A_{herd} \sim 1 + (round(Gamma(A_{herd_a}; A_{herd_b}); 0)$$
 (3)

We assumed that each cow gives 30 liters per day with a standard derivation of 10 liters based on our own data (not shown). To take into account that the amount of milk per cow is independent between the cows, the volume of raw milk liter in bulk tank $(V_{bulk tank})$ was calculated as:

$$V_{bulktank} \sim A_{herd} x \operatorname{Normal}\left(m_{cow_liter}; sd_{cow_liter} / \sqrt{A_{herd}}\right)$$
 (4)

where "mcow_liter" is the mean amount of milk per cow and "sdcow_liter" the standard deviation

The number of cows contributing to the bulk tank with contaminated udders is:

$$A_{contaminated} \sim \text{Binomial}\left(\text{Round}(A_{herd}); P_{udder}\right)$$
 (5)

Each of the Acontaminated cows contributes a different amount of feces and a different concentration, so the CFU added to the milk tank per cow is:

$$N_{cow} = G_{feces} x 10^{Cfeces}$$
(6)

and the total amount in the bulk tank is:

$$N_{bulk_tank} = \Sigma_{A_{contaminated}} N_{cow}$$
.

Next, the amount of Campylobacter per liter was calculated and expressed on a log scale

$$C_{bulk_tank} = \log(N_{bulk_tank} / V_{bulk_tank})$$
⁽⁷⁾

The storage in the bulk tank is assumed to be short (up to 5 h) and at 4 °C, and considered to have negligible effect in comparison to the storage in vending machines (see below).

Step 4: Storage (Vending machine)

The decimal reduction time of Campylobacter is higher at 4 $^\circ C$ (>200 h) than 12 °C (>100 h) (Giacometti et al., 2015). Therefore, we assumed storage at 12 °C in the baseline model to study the effect of Campylobacter concentration within the storage time of raw milk. Nevertheless, we have also considered other storage conditions in scenarios analysis (see below).

The variability of storage time (S_{time}) was included by a pert distribution, with a minimum 0.5 h, most likely 24 h and maximum 120 h, based on data from Giacometti et al. (2015). The decrease of Campylobacter concentration during storage in a vending machine (Craw milk) was calculated based on a time-temperature profile. The decimal reduction time of Campylobacter in raw milk was adopted from Giacometti et al. (2015).

To include the variability in the decimal reduction time a pert distribution was used:

 $S_{reduction} \sim \text{Pert}\left(S_{reduction;\min}; S_{reduction;mostlikely}; S_{reduction;\max}\right)$ (8) Afterwards the concentration of Campylobacter (log CFU/l) after storage was calculated:

$$C_{rawmilk} = C_{liter} - (S_{time} / S_{reduction})$$
⁽⁹⁾

Step 5: Exposure

A lognormal distribution was used to cover the variability of the portion size (Uconsumed):

$$U_{consumed} \sim \text{Lognormal}(m_{consumed}; sd_{consumed})$$
 (10)

The ingested dose (Dingested) in a raw milk portion should be an integer value, as bacteria are discrete units. Assuming the bacteria are homogeneously distributed in the raw milk, it is obtained as:

$$D_{ingested} \sim Poisson(10^{Crawmilk+Uconsumed})$$
 (11)

Additionally, we assumed the number of raw milk portions (210 ml, =one mug) in Germany is about 4.44 imes 10⁷ per year, whereby 30% of the servings are not boiled prior to consumption (Giacometti et al., 2013) resulting in 1.33×10^7 unboiled raw milk servings per year. This is calculated assuming that 850 vending machines in Germany (Böhnlein et al., 2020), operate 365 days a year, selling at least 30 litres per day (Labohm et al., 2021), which corresponds to 143 servings of 210 ml of milk.

2.3. Dose-response (DR)

As part of the hazard characterization, a dose-response model needs to be applied in a risk assessment. In the baseline model, we are using the Beta-Poisson model developed by Teunis and Havelaar (2000), which has been adopted widely before (EFSA, 2011, 2021; Nauta et al., 2009). It was implemented as:

$$P_{inf}(D; \alpha, \beta) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta)\Gamma(D + \beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta + D)\Gamma(\beta)}$$
(12)

where $\Gamma(.)$ is Euler's Gamma function (Haas, 2002; Nauta et al., 2009), $D = D_{ingested}$ $\alpha = 0.145$ and $\beta = 7.59$ (EFSA, 2011; Teunis and Havelaar, 2000).

The probability of illness given infection is assumed to be $P_{ill|inf} = 1/3$ (Black et al., 1988; Havelaar et al., 2000).

2.4. Probability of a daily outbreak from a single vending machine

We used the developed model to get an estimate of the probability that a campylobacteriosis outbreak will occur from the consumption of unboiled raw milk from one vending machine.

If we assume nunb servings of Uconsumed 1 of unboiled raw milk are consumed from a vending machine on one day, and the Campylobacter concentration in the machine is $C_{raw milk}$, so the expected (mean) dose is $D_{exp} = 10^{U_consumed} C_{raw milk}$, the number of servings containing $D = 0, 1, 2, \dots$ CFU, N(D = x), can be obtained by sampling from a Multinomial distribution

 $N(D=x) \sim \text{Multinomial}(n_{unb}, \{p_x\})$

for x = 0, 1, 2, ..., where p_x has the Poisson density

$$p_x = \frac{D_{exp} x e^{-D_{exp}}}{x!}$$

From this, the number of raw milk consumers that actually get infected is obtained from

 $N_{inf}(x) \sim \text{Binomial}(N(D=x), P_{inf}(x; \alpha, \beta))$

with the number of cases

 $N_{ill} = P_{ill \mid inf} \sum_{n'' \in \mathcal{N}} N_{inf}(x)$

In a Monte Carlo simulation, we estimate the probability that $N_{\rm ill} \geq 2$ or $N_{\rm ill} \geq 5$, i.e. the probabilities that more than 2 or 5 people would get ill from the consumption of unboiled raw milk from the same vending machine on the same day. Based on the data presented above we assume that 30% of 143 servings of raw milk from a vending machine are consumed unboiled, $n_{unb}=43\approx0.3^{*}143$ and that the serving size is $U_{consumed}=0.21$ l. The distribution of C_{raw} milk is obtained from the

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

baseline model.

2.5. Scenario analyses

In this assessment, uncertainties were taken into account for a selection of variables considered in the model through different scenario analyses as e.g. in Benamar et al. (2021) or Tirloni et al. (2020). We used variables were we thought are important and cover different aspects over the whole food chain. The results from the scenario analyses were further used to evaluate the implementation of different intervention strategies. An overview of the different variables that were modified to evaluate different scenarios is shown in Table 2.

Scenario analyses were performed for the initial contamination (step 1) of the baseline model using a mean concentration of m_{feces} of 0.92 CFU/g and 3.88 CFU/g, lower or higher than in the baseline model. To simulate the effect of the cross-contamination (step 2) lower or higher values of variables (5% quantile or 95% quantile) for the triangle distribution of G_{faces} and prevalence of contaminated udders (P_{udder}) were used. The effect of the mixing (step 3) in the bulk tank was simulated using lower and higher mean amount of milk per cow ($m_{cow, liter}$). In

Table 2

Overview of the parameters to evaluate uncertainty and their effect on the estimated campylobacteriosis risk due to raw milk consumption, relative to the baseline model. The effect is given as the relative risk (RR, Eq. 13) for each scenario (see Fig. 2).

Process step according to baseline model	Scenario	Description of the scenario	Model parameter changed	Alternative value/ distribution	Source	Estimated cases/year	RR in Log ₁₀ (scenario/ baseline)
			Baseline			9906	0
1	1A	Lower initial mean concentration in cow feces	Low m _{feces}	0.92	Assumption based on Knipper et al. (2023) (5% quantile)	360	-1.44
	2A	Higher initial mean concentration in cow feces	High m _{feces}	3.88	Assumption based on Knipper et al. (2023) (95% quantile)	173,414	1.24
2	1B	Lower amount of feces per udder	Low G _{feces}	~ Triangle (0; 0.0318; 0.059)	Assumption (5% quantile of G _{feces;min} , G _{feces;max}) based on Vissers et al. (2007)	2660	-0.57
	2B	Higher amount of feces per udder	High G _{feces}	 Triangle (0.059; 0.24; 0.3) 	Assumption (95% quantile of Gfeces;min, Gfeces;most likely, Gfeces;max) based on Vissers et al. (2007)	173,414	1.24
	1C	Lower prevalence of contaminated udders with Campylobacter	Low Pudder	0.05	Assumption based on Knipper et al. (2023) (5% quantile)	4202	-0.37
	2C	Higher prevalence of contaminated udders with Campylobacter	High P _{udder}	0.95	Assumption based on Knipper et al. (2023) (95% quantile)	73,818	0.87
3	1D	Lower mean amount of milk per cow	Low m _{cow_liter}	20	Assumption	14,525	0.17
	2D	Higher mean amount of milk per cow	High m_{cow_liter}	40	Assumption	7614	-0.11
	1E	Less cows contributed to bulk tank	Low Aherd	~ 1+(round (Gamma (0.3:14):0)	Assumption based on BMEL (2022) (5% quantile of $A_{herd,a}$ and $A_{herd,\beta}$)	7439	-0.12
	2E	More cows contributed to bulk tank	High A _{herd}	~ 1+(round (Gamma (2;100);0)	Assumption based on BMEL (2022) (95% quantile of $A_{herd,a}$ and $A_{herd,\beta}$)	10,496	0.03
4	1F	Less reduction during storage based on 4 °C data	High Sreduction	~ Pert (225; 625; 1023)	Based on Giacometti et al. (2015)	14,790	0.17
	2F	No reduction during storage	Stime/ Sreduction	0	Based on Wulsten et al. (2020)	16,928	0.23
5	1G	Lower mean volume of raw milk consumed	Low m _{consumed}	0.1	Assumption (5% quantile of m _{consumed} (a mug)	4904	-0.31
	2G	Higher mean volume of raw milk consumed	High $m_{consumed}$	0.5	Assumption 95% quantile of m _{consumed} (a mug)	22,227	0.35
Dose-response	1H	Less raw milk's servings per year	Low N _{served}	2699,175	Assumption minimum value (2.200 liter per year/per machine) based on Labohm et al. (2021)	2023	-0.69
	2H	More raw milk's servings per year	High N _{served}	85,070,550	Assumption maximum value (70.000 liter per year/per machine) based on Labohm et al. (2021)	63,595	0.81
	11	Less unboiled raw milk's servings per year	Low Nserved_unboiled	6211,205	Based on Giacometti et al. (2013) (14% unboiled)	4670	-0.33
	21	More unboiled raw milk's servings per year	High Nserved_unboiled	19,077,272	Based on Giacometti et al. (2013) (43% unboiled)	14,163	0.16

addition, lower and higher values as input for the distribution of number of cows contributed to a bulk tank (A_{herd}) were investigated. The impact of storage of raw milk (step 4) was determined using the decimal reduction time ($S_{reduction}$) at 4 °C based on Giacometti et al. (2015) and a scenario without reduction of *Campylobacter* (Wulsten et al., 2020). The effect of the exposure (step 5) was simulated with lower and higher mean volume of raw milk consumed ($m_{consumed}$). In a last step the values of the parameter used for the dose-response were taken into account using lower or higher values for raw milk's servings (N_{served}) and unboiled raw milk's servings per year (N_{served}).

The scenario analyses were compared by calculating the log of the relative risks:

Relative risk =
$$log\left(\frac{Risk_{alternative}}{Risk_{baseline}}\right)$$
 (13)

Risk_{baseline} is the value for "Output" as presented in Table 1. For the *Risk_{alternative}* one parameter value in the model was changed into a value that represents a low or high end of the uncertainty interval around the value chosen in the baseline model. This was performed to analyze the sensitivity of the risk estimate for some of the uncertain model parameters. Additionally the impact on the risk of different intervention strategies during milking were evaluated.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Model output

After simulation of the baseline model, the mean probability of infection is 0.22% and the mean probability of illness is 0.07% for consuming a random raw milk portion (a mug). Assuming that 1.33 imes107 Campylobacter risk servings without boiling prior to consumption were consumed in Germany per year, this results in an estimate of over 9300 campylobacteriosis cases per year. In general, the model estimates high prevalence and low concentrations of Campylobacter. Considering that a bulk tank is contaminated with Campylobacter when Acontaminated 0, i.e. as soon as one cow with contaminated udders contributes milk to the tank, the model predicts that the true prevalence of contaminated bulk tanks is 93.3%. The distribution of the concentrations in contaminated bulk tanks, Cliter, is a skewed empirical distribution with a mean of -0.41 log (CFU/l) and sd 0.67. The 93.3% prevalence is very high compared to the 1 to 2.5% of bulk tank samples found positive for Campylobacter in the German zoonoses monitoring in recent years (BVL, 2010, 2012, 2016a, 2016b, 2020). However, with the limit of detection of 1 CFU/25 ml raw milk, as applied in this monitoring, by sampling from a Poisson (10[°]C_{liter}/40) distribution in the Monte Carlo simulations to account for the discrete nature of bacteria, we obtained an observed prevalence of 2.3% contaminated bulk tanks in the model, which shows the model results do not contradict those of the monitoring.

The estimated mean ingested dose of *Campylobacter* in contaminated raw milk is $D_{ingested} = 0.13$ CFU/portion, which means a mean concentration of *Campylobacter* per ml of raw milk from the bulk tank is equal to 0.00062 ± 0.076 CFU/ml. Assuming a homogeneous distribution and taking into account that bacteria are discrete units, it is found that 91.3% of the portions is uncontaminated (contains 0 CFU), 8.7% contains one or more *Campylobacter* cells and 0.046% contains the or more.

The simulations for outbreaks from single vending machines, applying the baseline model, showed that the probability that more than two out of 43 consumers of raw milk get ill, $P(N_{tll} \ge 2)$, equals 0.22%, whereas this probability for 5 out of 100, $P(N_{tll} \ge 5)$, equals 0.01%. For 850 vending machines in Germany, this would be 2.2 and 0.05 daily outbreaks respectively, equivalent to about 800 and 20 annual outbreaks. These numbers are much larger than what is observed, which, next to uncertainty associated to the model, may be explained by the presumed acquired immunity of frequent consumers of raw milk and underreporting of campylobacteriosis. Further, we assumed a

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

homogeneous distribution of *Campylobacter* in the raw milk at every time point (e.g. in bulk tank or vending machine). We used this approach as a basic assumption as the real distribution is not known. This could be another reason why our estimation is higher than what is observed.

The developed QMRA model captured the contamination route of raw milk by *Campylobacter* through feces via the udder. This indirect contamination is assumed to be the most important route (Bianchini et al., 2014; Del Collo et al., 2017; Knipper et al., 2023; Modi et al., 2015; Schildt et al., 2006). One study reported a direct excretion of *Campylobacter* via the mammary gland (Orr et al., 1995). However, this knowledge is only based on one study and for one cow investigated in that study. Therefore, this direct contamination has not been considered in this QMRA model to date.

To our knowledge, this is the first QMRA for Campylobacter in raw milk in Germany, but the results can be compared with similar studies in Italy and New Zealand (Anonymous, 2009; Giacometti et al., 2015). In the study from Italy the number of expected cases of campylobacteriosis in the Italian population per year due to raw milk consumption were 301,785 for the best time-temperature scenario (4 °C), whereby the mean concentration of Campylobacter were estimated as 1.42×10^{-4} CFU/ml and standard deviation 1.93×10^{-5} (Giacometti et al., 2015). The number of expected cases in adult consumers linked to raw milk consumption in relation to the percentages of consumers that do not boil milk before consumption and different time-temperature storage conditions ranged between 79.4/100,000 population/year and 333.1/100, 000 population/ year using the Beta Poisson dose-response model (α = 0.145 and $\beta=$ 7.589). For young consumers (\leq 5 years old) the Betabinomial model (α = 0.024 and β = 0.011) was applied and estimated cases for this sensitive population between 1013.7/100,000 population/year and 8110.3/100,000 population/year (Giacometti et 2015)

The QMRA from New Zealand predicted a mean number of cases of illness for adults from *Campylobacter* of 19.9 or 4.7 per 100,000 daily servings of raw milk based on consumption from the bulk milk tank or domestic consumption after farm gate purchase respectively (Anonymous, 2009). We estimate 69.5 cases per 100,000 daily unboiled servings and 20.9 cases per 30,000 daily unboiled servings (assuming that 30% of the 100,000 servings are unboiled).

Only few concentration data for *Campylobacter* in raw milk are available. These have been generated by the most probable number (MPN) method due to the often very low concentration of *Campylobacter* in raw milk. One study reported 0.16 \pm 0.30 MPN/ml as mean *Campylobacter* level from five samples (Hill et al., 2012). Another one indicated approximately 0.047 MPN/ml (Humphrey and Beckett, 1987). The measured concentrations of *Campylobacter* in raw milk samples are higher than the mean estimated concentrations from QMRAs. This may be due to the fact that *Campylobacter* is difficult to detect by cultural methods and its survival is often underestimated by plate counts (CFU) (Wulsten et al., 2020).

Campylobacteriosis outbreak data based on raw milk consumption in Germany are available from 2017 (EFSA, 2018). In total, 15 outbreaks including 201 human cases were reported. Two of the outbreaks were attributed to direct consumption of raw milk on the farm. The other occurred due to consumption of raw milk from automatic distribution system for raw milk or inadequate heating at home. However, normally it is assumed that the number of cases in an outbreak associated with a farm visit, e.g. a total school class, is higher than in a 4–6 person household drinking raw milk at home (Heuvelink et al., 2009).

More recent data on campylobacteriosis outbreaks related to milk and milk products are available from the entire EU 2020 (EFSA, 2021). Only four outbreaks with in total 174 human cases were reported. Among them, three outbreaks occurred in Germany associated with the consumption of raw milk.

There are several reasons for the differences between the number of reported and predicted cases. Campylobacteriosis symptoms include mainly short-term complications such as fever, vomiting, abdominal

cramps and diarrhea. Only in few cases chronic complications occur (Jackson et al., 2014; Keithlin et al., 2014; Leonhard et al., 2019). This may lead to an underreporting in official numbers of campylobacteriosis, since people with short-term complications might not consult a doctor (Bouwknest et al., 2014).

Further, there are many uncertainties around the values integrated in the baseline model. These are based on lack of data or detection limits of methods. To get an understanding on the impact of these values for the relative risk different uncertainty analysis were applied. Another hypothesis is that people who drink unboiled raw milk regular could get immune. Higher immunity would lead to overestimation of risk, since such immunity is not captured in the "classic" dose-response model (Havelaar and Swart, 2014).

3.2. Scenario analysis

Eighteen hypothetical scenarios were compared to the baseline model which can be used to evaluate the impact of parameter uncertainty on the relative risk and/or to explore the potential effect of different mitigation strategies along the raw milk supply chain (Fig. 2).

For every scenario a higher (e.g. 95% quantile) and lower (e.g. 5% quantile) value for the parameter were used, except for the decimal reduction time during storage. Here two scenarios with a lower decimal reduction time or no reduction time during storage were applied.

When comparing different risk mitigation options, the strongest reduction of campylobacteriosis cases associated with the consumption of unboiled raw milk estimated per year are obtained by a lower concentration of *Campylobacter* in cows feces (scenario 1A), a lower amount of fecal dirt on udders (scenario 1B) and a lower prevalence of contaminated udders (scenario 1C). On consumer side, a smaller portion size (scenario 1G), less raw milk portions consumed (scenario 1H) and a

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

smaller amount of unboiled portions for consumption (scenario 11) indicated the highest reduction. The amount of milk per individual cow as well as the amount of cows contributing to the bulk tank had no high impact on the relative risk (scenario 1,2D and 1,2E).

There was only a small difference in the increase of the relative risk compared to a lower decimal reduction time (scenario 1F and 2F). This could be explained by the fact that the storage time is smaller than the decimal reduction time (time needed to achieve one log reduction).

3.3. Effect of dose-response model choice

In addition to the "classic" DR model (Teunis and Havelaar, 2000), which is based on a human challenge study (Black et al., 1988) and used in the baseline model, an alternative DR model was applied. The alternative model (Nauta et al., 2022; Teunis et al., 2018) was defined by the median estimates of the model parameters for outbreak studies. As in the baseline model, the Beta-Poisson model was applied (Eq. (12)), with $\alpha = 0.38$ and $\beta = 0.51$.

Whereas in the "classic" DR model P $_{il/inf}$ is a constant, independent of the dose, in the outbreak dose-response model it is calculated as:

$$P_{ill/inf} = 1 - \left(1 + \frac{D}{\eta}\right)^{-1}$$
(15)

with r = 0.76 and $\eta = 0.0092$, $D = D_{ingested}$

Using the outbreak model, 895,891 campylobacteriosis cases are predicted for consuming raw milk in Germany. This value is much higher than the prediction from the baseline model. *Campylobacter* might survive better in raw milk due to the protecting fat content. In addition, in the outbreak dose-response model specific *Campylobacter* strains are considered that are very virulent.



Fig. 2. Results of different scenario analysis to investigate the uncertainty around the model parameter values on estimated campylobacteriosis risk due to raw milk consumption, relative to the baseline model.

77

A.-D. Knipper et al.

3.4. Implications for risk management

The QMRA performed provides insights in the effects of potential mitigation strategies to reduce the risk of campylobacteriosis from drinking raw milk. Additionally, it identified gaps of knowledge.

The results of the different scenario analyses confirmed that clean udders are of crucial importance as improper hygiene can lead to fecal cross-contamination during milking (Oliver et al., 2005). This confirms that if an inadequate udder hygiene practice is applied, a higher risk for Campylobacter-contaminated raw milk occurs (Beumer et al., 1988).

For example, surveillance data on the amount of raw milk sold and consumed, as well as on the prevalence and concentrations of Campylobacter in vending machines in Germany would be helpful to improve the assessments.

4. Conclusion

This study presents a OMRA to investigate the public health risk of human infection with Campylobacter from the consumption of raw milk in Germany. This is the first QMRA model for Campylobacter that took into account data from early steps in the supply chain including cow feces concentration data and prevalence data of contaminated udders. Farmers should focus on performing good farm hygiene practices as this will reduce the prevalence and number of Campylobacter on cow's udder and by this the risk for consumers. Further, to maintain sales of raw milk via vending machines the consumers are still encouraged to heat-treat raw milk prior to consumption. However, the consumer practices cannot be changed easily and risk management should take place on the farm side. In addition, consumer data on the amount of raw milk consumed in Germany is urgently needed to provide a more accurate risk assessment.

Funding information

Funding for this research was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment as part of the Junior Research Group Supply Chain Models (Project 1323-104). In addition, Anna-Delia Knipper was funded by means of the Prof. Bingel Scholarship by the DAAD-Stiftung during her research stay in Denmark.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Anna-Delia Knipper: Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. Tasja Crease: Conceptualization, Project administration, Writing - review & editing. Taras Günther: Software, Writing - review & editing. Matthias Filter: Writing - review & editing. Maarten Nauta: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Supervision.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationship that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

The developed model is available in the model repository: https:// knime.bfr.berlin/landingpage/RAKIP-Model-Repository. All relevant data are within the manuscript and its supporting information files.

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

References

- Anonymous, 2009. Microbiological Risk Assessment of Raw Cow Milk. Food Standards Australia New Zealand.
- unar, I., Nauta, M., Cherif-Antar, A., Hadef, K., Boumediene, K., Mezian, L., namar, I., Nauta, M., Chenl-Antar, A., Hader, K., Boumeurene, N., Mezzian, I., Bellifa, S., Bendimerad, N., Moussa-Boudjemaa, B., 2021. Quantitative risk assessment of Campylobacter in döner kebab consumed in the west of Algeria. Microb. Risk Anal. 19, 100172. umert, R.R., Cruysen, J.J.M., Birtantie, I.R.K., 1988. The occurrence of Campylobacter information acoust with L. Angl. Bacterial 65, 92-96.
- jejuni in raw cows' milk. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 65, 93–96. nchini, V., Borella, L., Benedetti, V., Parisi, A., Miccolupo, A., Santoro, E., Recordati, C., Luini, M., 2014. Prevalence in bulk tank milk and epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* in Dairy Herds in Northern Italy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 1990. 2007.
- Campyuottee joint in 1832–1837, June 1982–1837, June 1982–1837, Computer Science, M.J., 1982
 Commulaborar ising infection in humans. J. Infect. Dis. 157, 472–4 38. Experin BMEL (Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft), 2022. Daten und Fakten
- Land-, Forst- und Ernährungswirtschaft mit Fischerei und Wein-und Gartenbau. ht ps://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Broschueren/daten-fakten-2022.h ml, access date: 10.05.2023. BMJV, 2018. Regulation on hygi
- ml, access date: 10.05.2023. VJ, 2018. Regulation on hygiene requirements for the production, treatment and placing on the market of certain foodstuffs of animal origin. Animal Food Hygiene Ordinance (Tier-LMHV) Version Publishihed On 18. Federal Ministery of Jusice and Consumer Protection, Berlin, Germany. April 2018 (BGBI. 1 S. 480 (619). Inlein, C., Fiedler, G., Loop, J., Franz, C., Kabisch, J., 2020. Microbiological quality and safety of raw milk from direct sale in northern Germany. Int. Dairy J. 114, 104044.
- Bouwknegt, M., Knol, A.B., van der Sluijs, J.P., Evers, E.G., 2014. Uncertainty of
- population risk estimates for pathogens based on QMRA or epidemiology: a case study of *Campylobacter* in the Netherlands. Risk Anal. 34, 847-864.
- BVL, 2010. Report of food safety 2009 Zoonoses-Monitoring (Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2009 Zoonosen-Monitoring). www.bvl.bund.dc
- BVL, 2012. Report of food safety 2012 Zoonoses-Monitoring (Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2012 Zoonosen-Monitoring). www.bvl.bund.de
- BU, 2016a. Report of food safety 2014 Zoonoses-Monitoring (Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2014 Zoonosen-Monitoring). www.bvl.bund.de/
- Zoonosen-Monitoring. BVL, 2016b. Report of food safety 2015 Zoonoses-Monitoring (Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2015 Zoonosen-Monitoring). www.bvl.bund.de/ n-Monitoring.
- ZOODOSCH-MONITOFING. BVL, 2019. Common national report of BVL and RKI on food-borne infections in Germany in 2018; in German (Gemeinsamer nationaler Bericht des BVL und RKI zu lebensmittelbedingten Krankheitsausbrüchen in Deutschland 2018). https://www.
- BVL, 2020. Report of food safety 2019 Zoonoses-Monitoring (Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2019 Zoonosen-Monitoring), www.bvl.bund.de
- Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999. Principles and guidelines for the conduct of microbiological risk assessment. In: Joint FAO/WHO Food standards Programme (Ed.), CAC/GL-30, Rome.

- (Ed.), CAC/GL-30, Rome.
 de Alba Aparicio, M., Buschhardt, T., Swaid, A., Valentin, L., Mesa-Varona, O., Günther, T., Plaza-Rodriguez, C., Filter, M., 2018. FSK-Lab An open source food safety model integration tool. Microb. Risk Anal. 10, 13–19.
 Del Collo, L.P., Karns, J.S., Biswas, D., Lombard, J.E., Haley, B.J., Kristensen, R.C., Kopral, C.A., Fossler, C.P., Van Kessel, J.A.S., 2017. Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. J. Dairy Sci. 100, 3470–3479.
- and milk filters from US dairies. J. Dairy Sci. 100, 3470–3479.
 EFSA, 2011. Scientific Opinion on *Campylobacter* in broiler meat production: control options and performance objectives and/or targets at different stages of the food chain. EFSA J. 9, 2105.
 EFSA, 2015. Scientific Opinion on the public health risks related to the consumption or raw drinking milk. EFSA J. 13, 3940.
 EFSA, 2018. The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2017. EFSA J. 16, e05500.
 EFSA, 2021. The European Union One Health 2020 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 19, e06971.

- EFSA, 2022. The European Union One Health 2021 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 20,
- Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Losio, M.N., Bilei, S., Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Merialdi, G., Mioni, R., Peli, A., Cascone G., Comm. D., Dammer, P., Decascun, E., archau, G., moni, K., Fen, A. Pertruzzelli, A., Tonucci, F., Piva, S., Serraino, A., 2015. Human campylobacterios related to the consumption of raw milk sold by vending machines in Italy: Quantitative risk assessment based on official controls over four years. Prev. Vet. Med. 121, 151–158.
- Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Serraino, A., Peli, A., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Serraino, A., Peli, A., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Bilei, S., Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Fustini, M., Mion, R., Petruzzelli, A., Rosmini, R., Rugna, G., Tamba, M., Tonucci, F., Bolzoni, G., 2013. Four-year monitoring of foodborne pathogens in raw milk sold by vending machines in Italy. J. Food Prot. 76, 1902–1907.Haas, C.N., 2002. Conditional dose-response relationships for microorganisms: development and application. Risk Anal. 22, 455–463.Havelaar, A.H., De Wit, M.A.S., Van Koningsveld, R., Van Kempen, E., 2000. Health burden in the Netherlands due to infection with thermophilic Campylobacter spp. Enidemiol. Infect. 125, 505–522.

8

Epidemiol. Infect. 125, 505-522.

- Havelaar, A.H., Evers, E.G., Nauta, M.J., 2008. Challenges of quantitative microbial risk assessment at EU level. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 19, S26–S33.
 Havelaar, A.H., Swart, A.N., 2014. Impact of acquired immunity and dose-dependent probability of illness on quantitative microbial risk assessment. Risk Anal. 34, 1807-1819.

- probability of illness on quantitative microbial risk assessment. Risk Anal. 34, 1807–1819.
 Heuvelink, A.E., van Heervaarden, C., Zwartkruis-Nahuis, A., Tilburg, J.J.H.C., Bos, M. H., Heilmann, F.G.C., Hofhuis, A., Hoekstra, T., de Boer, E., 2009. Two outbreaks of campylobacteriosis associated with the consumption of raw cows' milk. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 134, 70–74.
 Hill, B., Smythe, B., Lindsay, D., Shepherd, J., 2012. Microbiology of raw milk in New Zealand. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 157, 305–308.
 Humphrey, T.J., Beckett, P., 1987. *Campylobacter jejuni* in dairy cows and raw milk. Epidemiol. Infect. 98, 263–269.
 Jackson, B.R., Zegarra, J.A., López-Gatell, H., Sejvar, J., Arzate, F., Waterman, S., Núñez, A.S., López, B., Weiss, J., Cruz, R.Q., Murrita, D.Y., Luna-Gierke, R., Heiman, K., Vieira, A.R., Fitzgerald, C., Kwan, P., Zárate-Bermüdez, M., Talkington, D., Hill, V.R., Mahon, B., 2014. Binational outbreak of Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with *Campylobacter cases* that develop chronic sequelae. BMC Public Health 14, 1203.
 Knipper, A.-D., Göhlich, S., Stingl, K., Ghoreishi, N., Fischer-Tenhagen, C., Bandick, N., Tenhagen, B.-A., Crease, T., 2023. Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of *Campylobacter* join in dairy cows during milking and in the dairy farm environment. Foods 12, 1639.
- farm environment. Foods 12, 1639. Labohm, K., Baaken, D., Hess, S., 2021. Mikromarktstrukturen der Rohmilc
- in Deutschland, German Association of Agricultural Economists (GEWISOLA) >61st
- In Deutschiand, German Association of Agricultural Economists (GeWISULA) >01st Annual Conference, Berlin, Germany.
 nhard, S.E., Mandarakas, M.R., Gondim, F.A.A., Bateman, K., Ferreira, M.L.B., Cornblath, D.R., van Doorn, P.A., Dourado, M.E., Hughes, R.A.C., Islam, B., Kusunoki, S., Pardo, C.A., Reisin, R., Sejvar, J.J., Shahrizaila, N., Soares, C., Umapathi, T., Wang, Y., Yiu, E.M., Willison, H.J., Jacobs, B.C., 2019. Diagnosis and management of Guillain-Barré syndrome in ten steps. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 15, 672, 672. 671-683
- Liebers, R., 2013. Milk vending machines and direct marketers. https://milchautoma
- Levers, R., 2013. Mik vending machines and uncer marketers. https://michauten-direktvermarkter-de/, access date: 10.05.2023.Membré, J.-M., Boué, G., 2018. Quantitative microbiological risk assessment in industry: Theory and practical application. Food Res. Int. 106, 1132–1139. ent in food

Microbial Risk Analysis 25 (2023) 100274

- Modi, S., Brahmbhatt, M.N., Chatur, Y.A., Nayak, J.B., 2015. Prevalence of *Campylobacter* species in milk and milk products, their virulence gene profile and antibiogram. Vet. World 8, 1–8.Nauta, M., 2008. The modular process risk model (MPRM): a structured approach to food
- Nauta, M., 2008. The modular process risk model (MPRM): a structured approach to food chain exposure assessment. Microb. Risk Anal. Foods 99–136.
 Nauta, M., Bolton, D., Crotta, M., Ellis-Iversen, J., Alter, T., Hempen, M., Messens, W., Chemaly, M., 2022. An updated assessment of the effect of control options to reduce *Campylobacter* concentrations in broiner cacea on human health risk in the European Union. Microb. Risk Anal. 21, 100197.
 Nauta, M., Hill, A., Rosenquist, H., Brynstad, S., Fetsch, A., van der Logt, P., Fazil, A., Christensen, B., Katsma, E., Borck, B., Havelaar, A., 2009. A comparison of risk assessments on *Campylobacter* in broiler meat. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 129, 107–123.
 Oliver, S.P., Jayarao, B.M., Almeida, R.A., 2005. Foodbome pathogens in milk and the dairy farm environment: food safety and public health implications. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 2, 115–129.
 Orr, K.E., Lightfoot, N.F., Sisson, P.R., Harkis, B.A., Tweddle, J.L., Boyd, P., Carroll, A.,

- Pathog. Dis. 2, 115–129.
 Orr, K.E., Lightfoot, N.F., Sisson, P.R., Harkis, B.A., Tweddle, J.L., Boyd, P., Carroll, A., Jackson, C.J., Wareing, D.R., Freeman, R., 1995. Direct milk excretion of *Campylobacter jejuni* in a dairy cow causing cases of human enteritis. Epidemiol. https://www.com (Marcelline)
- Campylobacter jejuni in a dairy cow causing cases of numan enteritis. Epidemioi. Infect. 114, 15–24.
 Core Team, R. 2020. R: A language and Environment For Statistical computing. R Foundation For Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
 Skovlainen, S., Hanninen, M.L., 2006. Long-lasting Campylobacter jejuni contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family.
- contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family. Epidemiol. Infect. 134, 401–405.
 Teunis, P.F.M., Bonacić Marinović, A., Tribble, D.R., Porter, C.K., Swart, A., 2018. Acute illness from *Campylobacter jejuni* may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. Epidemics 24, 1–20.
 Teunis, P.F.M., Havelaar, A.H., 2000. The beta poisson dose-response model is not a single-hit model. Risk Anal. 20, 513–520.
 Tichni, E., Nauta, M., Vasconi, M., Di Pietro, V., Bernardi, C., Stella, S., 2020. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in ready-to-eat "shrimp cocktail": Risk assessment and possible preventive interventions. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 334, 108800.
 Vissers, M.A., Driehuis, F., Te Giffel, M.C., De Jong, P., Lankveld, J.M., 2007. Short communication: Quantification of the transmission of microorganisms to milk via dirt attached to the exterior of teats. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 3579–3582.

- Guantization of the uninstant of the uninstant of an uninstant of the units of th Microbiol. 11, 1107. -1107.

4 Discussion

Campylobacteriosis cases have been associated with the consumption of raw milk (Kenyon et al., 2020; Davis et al., 2016). In the years 2011 to 2020, raw milk was one of the food vehicles causing most "strong-evidence" foodborne campylobacteriosis outbreaks (EFSA, 2021). Thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. frequently colonize the intestines of dairy cows, without obvious negative health effects to host animals (Açik and Çetinkaya, 2005). Nevertheless, *Campylobacter* from cow feces can cross-contaminate teats and subsequently the raw milk, thereby posing a health risk to consumers (EFSA, 2015). The sale of raw milk is permitted in Germany and other countries, as long as guidelines are followed. These include the need for a label on vending machines to boil raw milk before consumption (BMJV, 2018). However, in a survey from Italy it became evident that 13.9% to 43% of consumers do not boil raw milk before consumption (Giacometti et al., 2013).

For a better understanding of the potential of raw milk to be contaminated by *Campylobacter* spp., prevalence and concentration data on *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of dairy cows were summarized from scientific literature in this PhD project. Furthermore, the occurrence and transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. on a small dairy farm was investigated for the duration of one year. The data obtained from the dairy farm samples and from literature raised the research question of for how long and in which status *C. jejuni* can survive in raw milk during storage. Therefore, additional experimental data were generated and modelled for the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk at different temperatures. Finally, the obtained data were used in a developed QMRA model for *Campylobacter* in raw milk to gain insight on the impact and usefulness of different intervention strategies along the supply chain.

4.1 Cow feces: The initial contamination source

A systematic literature review with meta-analysis on *Campylobacter* spp. prevalence and concentration in feces of dairy cows was performed (Knipper et al., 2022). *Campylobacter* spp. prevalence and concentration were summarized and data gaps were analyzed.

In the systematic review, 53 studies were included. Meta-data were extracted, and it was evident that there were substantial data gaps in the description and investigation of the individual studies. Most of the studies did not mention the health status of the cows investigated (n= 35) and did not further specify the *Campylobacter* species (n= 35). Samples were obtained primarily by rectal collection (n= 31). Different age groups of dairy cows were sampled with the most frequent being adult cows (n= 25). The age class and fecal collection method were not specified for eight and six studies, respectively (Knipper et al., 2022).

No meta-analysis could be performed for concentration data since only three studies provided this data (Ramonaité et al., 2013; Nielsen, 2002), and one did not include a measure of variation (Waterman et al., 1984). Other studies gave only semi-quantitative estimates of the concentrations (Rapp et al., 2014; Moriarty et al., 2008; Stanley et al., 1998) or presented results in a boxplot without providing raw data (Rapp et al., 2012). The reported *Campylobacter* mean concentrations ranged between 2.1 ± 0.45 and 4.17 ± 0.54 log CFU/g feces (Ramonaité et al., 2013; Nielsen, 2002; Waterman et al., 1984).

Only studies that included adequate information about prevalence could be included in the meta-analysis (n= 44). A total of 32 studies were identified that reported an aggregate prevalence value (average across the whole study). Based on that, the overall prevalence estimate was 29.3% with a prediction interval of 1.3% to 73% (Knipper et al., 2022). A multilevel model was used to investigate the pooled prevalence estimate based on the 44 studies, taking into account potential duplications due to different sub-groupings and data aggregation. The pooled prevalence was 51%, with a prediction interval of 44% to 57% (Knipper et al., 2022). The prevalence of Campylobacter spp. in cow feces varied widely. Some studies investigated flies or birds as additional contamination sources (Sanad et al., 2013; Adhikari et al., 2004). Adhikari and colleges (2004) found the highest prevalence in feces of cows (54%), followed by feces from sparrows (40%). Only a low prevalence was observed for whole flies (9%) (Adhikari et al., 2004). In contrast, another study found a significantly (p<0.01) higher prevalence of *C. jejuni* in birds than in dairy cattle (Sanad et al., 2013). Birds are also assumed to play a role as contamination source in the transmission of Campylobacter spp. along the raw milk supply chain. However, it is important to take into account the husbandry of the animals in order to evaluate the influence of birds. Birds often practically live in the barns. Therefore, stables cannot be cleaned that fast to avoid their droppings having an effect. The amount of feces produced per animal is significantly lower for most birds than for cows. Hence, we assumed that the greatest influence on *Campylobacter* spp. prevalence in raw milk is from cow feces.

Sub-group analyses were performed on the aggregated sample prevalence if three or more outcomes were available per subgroup. It was performed for the fecal collection method and the age class of cows (Knipper et al., 2022). No significant difference (p=0.52) was observed between the prevalence estimates for rectal extraction (28%) and cow pat collection (32%). For heifers, not enough aggregated outcomes were available for sub-group analysis (n<3). Therefore, the prevalence estimates for calves (18%) and adult cows (30%) were compared. No significant differences were found (p=0.06). The results from the multi-level model including sub-groups differed partly from the sub-group analysis. Here, the rectal fecal collection method in comparison to cow pat collection was significantly associated with higher

prevalence data (Knipper et al., 2022). This is probably due to the heterogeneity between the two sub-groups, which have been adjusted in the multi-level mixed-effect model. It is clear that effective comparisons of raw data from the literature are only possible when sufficiently detailed descriptions of sub-groupings are reported.

Based on this study, cow feces can be an initial source to consider that can lead contamination of raw milk. For this cross-contamination, *Campylobacter* positive feces must be excreted by the cow. Subsequently, the same or other cows must lie down in the cow pat to cause a potential contamination of the udders. Insufficient housing conditions and milking time hygiene can finally lead to contamination of raw milk.

It is apparent that concentration data of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces is scarce. Prevalence data are available to provide an overview of the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in cow feces. The data from the literature were often only available in aggregated state. However, it is important for the further use of the data that the individual data are retained and available. Authors of future studies should move towards the Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reuse (FAIR) data principles for scientific data and also deposit raw data in a suitable format to enable further open-access analysis (Wilkinson et al., 2016).

4.2 Transmission of Campylobacter spp. along the raw milk supply chain

Longitudinal studies covering the raw milk supply chain are needed for assessing the potential of *Campylobacter* spp. contamination in raw milk. Concentration and prevalence data from the barn, teat skin and milking environment are particularly helpful in assessing the potential of possible transmission.

A study was conducted to assess the potential of *Campylobacter* spp. contamination in raw milk through collection of feces samples from dairy cows and samples from the environment and during milking over one year (Knipper et al., 2023a). The highest *Campylobacter* spp. prevalence (77.1%) was found in cow feces, which supports the assumption that cow feces are an initial source of contamination (Knipper et al., 2023a; Knipper et al., 2022). The mean concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces was $2.43 \pm 0.9 \log \text{CFU/g}$ (n=215) (Knipper et al., 2023a). In total, 29.2% of the boot sock samples taken from the entire barn corridor, avoiding fresh fecal pats, were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. With a mean concentration of 3.01 \pm 1.05 log CFU/2 socks. Among the teat skin samples, 12.2% were positive for *Campylobacter* spp. The mean concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow teat skin samples was 1.26 \pm 0.75 log CFU/4 teats (n=35). None of the swab samples of milking clusters (with four teat cups) was positive. To achieve better milking hygiene between cows due to the poor udder health of some

cows an intermediate disinfection of the teat cups between cows was introduced on the farm. However, the swab samples of milking equipment were performed at the end of the completed milking process of all cows. Therefore, in this study the milking clusters were not assumed to be an entry source of *Campylobacter* spp. in the raw milk supply chain. Raw milk samples were taken after the teats had been cleaned. No further disinfection of the teats was performed to map the routine milking situation. One raw milk sample (0.4%) from an individual cow and one milk filter were positive on the same day with 2.37 log CFU/ml and 2.74 log CFU/filter respectively. In addition, on the same sampling day, nine teat swab samples were tested positive (Knipper et al., 2023a).

Rectal fecal extraction from 12 cows over the period of one year allowed examination of fresh feces and assignment of fecal samples to individual cows over time (Knipper et al., 2023a). Examination of fresh feces allows a higher chance of detection of oxygen sensitive *Campylobacter* spp. (Hoar et al., 1999). There were differences in *Campylobacter* spp. concentration in feces between cows and variations within the same cows at different sampling points (Knipper et al., 2023a). A study from New Zealand showed that cows intermittently excrete *Campylobacter* spp. with their feces (Rapp et al., 2012). This should be considered in the risk assessment of cross-contamination of raw milk by fecal origin using probability distributions.

This is the first longitudinal study that generated quantitative data for *Campylobacter* spp. on cow teats in Germany (Knipper et al., 2023a). To our knowledge, there is only one study from Norway that found a similar prevalence with 13% (Idland et al., 2022). However, the positive samples were not quantitative analyzed for *Campylobacter* spp.

A multi-level logistic model was used to investigate the association parameters on the presence of *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces and teat skin swab samples (Knipper et al., 2023a). Season as a whole had a significant impact on the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. The model showed a significant difference between the summer and winter. The minimum temperature influenced the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. significantly where the temperature effects in teat and feces samples differ. *Escherichia coli* was used as fecal contamination indicator. An association was observed between *E.coli* and the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. (Knipper et al., 2023a). This supported the assumption that the cross-contamination of teats with *Campylobacter* spp. had a fecal origin. The consistency of feces was not associated with the *Campylobacter* spp. occurrence. The teat scores for cleanliness of teats were not found to be a parameter that influenced the presence of *Campylobacter* spp. (Knipper et al., 2023a). Another study found also no association between the cow hygiene score (three zones: the udder, lower and upper portions of the hind limbs/flanks summarized

in one total score) and detection of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces and teat swabs (Idland et al., 2022). Still, they observed an association between hygiene score and detection of *Campylobacter* spp. in teat milk samples (Idland et al., 2022). No association was found between *Pseudomonas* spp. (indicator of environmental contamination) or TACC and the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. (Knipper et al., 2023a).

A correlation analysis was performed for the concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. in feces samples and in teat skin swab samples (Knipper et al., 2023a). No correlation was detected.

In conclusion, the results showed that sporadic cross-contamination of raw milk with *Campylobacter* spp. can occur. Although on one sampling day, nine teat swab samples, one raw milk sample and the milk filter was tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. none investigated parameter was found that influenced this sporadic contamination event (Knipper et al., 2023a). The results suggested that there are still unknown factors not covered in this study influencing the occurrence of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk. However, the data can provide a basis for the development of a QMRA for *Campylobacter* spp. in the context of raw milk.

The obtained *C. jejuni* isolates from the longitudinal study should be sequenced to perform cluster analysis to investigate which core-genome multilocus sequence types (cgMLST) are related to the different sampling matrices. The different time points of the samples should be considered in cluster analyses to analyze changes of the cgMLST over time. This could indicate whether adaptations of *C. jejuni* strains occurred over the year in which the investigation occurred or whether strains persisted.

4.3 Survival of C. jejuni in raw milk

C. jejuni and *C. coli* are the most important human pathogenic species of *Campylobacter*. *C. jejuni* occurs more frequently in poultry and cattle, while *C. coli* is more likely to be detected in pigs (BVL, 2022). In contrast to animals that are asymptomatically colonized by *Campylobacter* spp., severe infections can occur in humans (EFSA, 2022). Data from zoonotic monitoring in Germany demonstrated that between 1% and 2.5% of bulk tank milk samples have been *Campylobacter* positive in recent years (BVL, 2020, 2016, 2012, 2010). Only low concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. are reported in raw milk (Jaakkonen et al., 2020; Hill et al., 2012; Humphrey and Beckett, 1987).

In order to evaluate how high the risk is from the consumption of *C. jejuni* contaminated raw milk for the consumer, it is also necessary to investigate the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk. *Campylobacter* is a fastidious organism with the need for a reduced oxygen and increased

CO₂ atmosphere and cannot multiply at temperatures below 30°C (Kim et al., 2021). It can survive harsh conditions in a VBNC state in which it is no longer detectable by cultural detection methods (Baffone et al., 2006). Comparing IPIU data obtained by a v-qPCR to CFU data, an underestimation of survival of up to 4.5 log₁₀ CFU/ml by CFU data became evident for *Campylobacter* strains in raw milk stored at 5°C (Wulsten et al., 2020). Wulsten and colleagues (2020) showed this underestimation for the reference strains *C. jejuni* DSM 4688 and *C. coli* DSM 4689, as well as for an outbreak strain isolated from raw milk (BfR-CA-13290). Cells in VBNC status could be converted back to CFU status within a time window of 96 h for *C. coli* DSM 4689, 120 h for *C. jejuni* DSM 4688 and 144 h for BfR-CA-1290, using a gas mixture with extremely low oxygen partial pressure (Wulsten et al., 2020).

Two cultural detection methods, the first according to ISO 10272-2 (enumeration of CFU) and the second with the modified gas mixture at 37° C and with prolonged incubation time (recovery of VBNC) were used. A molecular method, v-qPCR (detection of IPIU), was applied to further explore the survival of *C. jejuni* (Knipper et al., 2023b; Wulsten et al., 2020). The pH of the raw milk was stable during the experiment with 6.8 ± 0.041 at each temperature, measured in uninoculated control samples.

The same *C. jejuni* reference strain DSM 4688 as in Wulsten et al. (2020) was used. *C. jejuni* DSM 4688 was obtained from the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH (DSMZ) and was originally isolated from bovine feces in Belgium. In addition, two field strains were used, BfR-CA-18040 (sequence type (ST)-61 according to multilocus sequence typing scheme (Jolley et al., 2018; Dingle et al., 2001)) and BfR-CA-18043 (ST-21), previously isolated from feces of dairy cows from the BfR farm.

C. jejuni strain DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 recovered from the VBNC state into a culturable state at 8°C and 12°C (Knipper et al., 2023b). The recovery time periods for both strains were longer at 8°C compared to 12°C, with up to 80 h and 72 h, respectively. At 12°C, the BfR-CA-18043 strain showed a longer recovery time (up to 72 h) compared to the DSM 4688 strain (up to 48 h). Wulsten and colleagues (2020) demonstrated recovery up to 120 h for *C. jejuni* (DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-1290) at 5°C. It was evident that the time window for recovery of VBNC cells decreases with increased temperature.

The recovery of VBNC at low oxygen levels led to the assumption of the presence of a yet unknown oxidative stress response sensor (Wulsten et al., 2020). Our data suggest that this oxidative stress response sensor might be influenced by temperature. A high temperature leads to a shorter period in which *C. jejuni* can be recovered from VBNC to CFU.

Survival studies were performed at 5°C, 8°C, and 12°C, corresponding to the variation of temperature in raw milk stored in vending machines (Böhnlein et al., 2020). As previously noted

by Wulsten and colleagues (2020) at 5°C in raw milk, we could not detect a difference in survival between the *C. jejuni* strains based on IPIU data and tested temperatures. In contrast, the CFU data showed a reduced survival of DSM 4688 compared to BfR-CA-18043. The CFU data also showed a reduced survival of both strains at higher compared to lower temperatures. This is in line with previous studies indicating a slower non-thermal inactivation of CFUs at cold temperatures (Boleratz and Oscar, 2022; Christopher et al., 1982).

The obtained CFU data and IPIU data confirmed the suspicion of an underestimated survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk from Wulsten et al. (2020). The recovery of VBNC cells into CFUs showed that *C. jejuni* was viable at least during the time periods of recovery (Baffone et al., 2006). Other studies reported CFU recovery from VBNC in microaerobic conditions (Bovill and Mackey, 1997), in embryonated chicken eggs (Cappelier et al., 1999) and *in vivo* using mouse infection models (Baffone et al., 2006). The capacity of recovery from the VBNC to the CFU state with no apparent loss of virulence potential of the resulting CFU highlights the potential regarding the presence of VBNC bacteria in food (Li et al., 2014). Nevertheless, the degree of direct infectivity of VBNC is not known, and awaits in-depth investigation. Further studies are needed to determine the infectious potential of *Campylobacter* spp. in the VBNC status. One approach would be to test VBNCs within and beyond the "recovery period" in animal models. Furthermore, the infectious doses of VBNC and CFU might be different and would need to be investigated in more detail.

4.4 Modelling the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk

Predictive models are tools for predicting microbial behavior in food environments (e.g. growth or decay). They enable a rapid response to specific food quality and food safety questions (Pérez-Rodríguez and Valero, 2013). The CFU and IPIU data sets were used to develop three tertiary models to predict the concentration of *C. jejuni* DSM 4688 and BfR-CA-18043 in raw milk at given time points depending on temperature (5°C to 12°C).

The primary trilinear model equation best described the CFU data. The primary Weibull model equation had the best goodness of fit for the IPIU data (Knipper et al., 2023b). The need for different primary models to describe the CFU and IPIU data sets has already become evident from the graphical representation. The CFU data of the two strains required two secondary models to determine the effect of temperature on k_{max} , whereas the IPIU data were independent of the strain and could be described in one secondary model for δ .

During the model design of the CFU data an assumption was included in the design. The tail of the trilinear model was set to -0.1 log CFU/ml. This was an assumption based on the detection limit of the experimental setup of 1 CFU/ml. Other approaches to deal with non-

detects values have been already proposed, including fitting a distribution for differentiation of artificial and true zeroes (Duarte et al., 2015), or using the maximum likelihood estimation (MLE) or Bayesian models (Bahk and Lee, 2021). An analysis was performed to include censored data in the model development using a MLE with a normal distribution. The inactivation rate did not change significantly. However, in our model, the predictions of the values from the tail must not be seen as numerical values, but only as very low concentrations below the detection limit (Knipper et al., 2023b).

Models were validated with independent internal data not used for model development at 5°C, 8°C and 12°C. The CFU and IPIU data-derived tertiary models were able to make accurate predictions (Knipper et al., 2023b). External data from other studies often do not match the range-of-mode-applicability and are therefore difficult to use for comparison of model predictions. Experimental CFU data from ComBase (Christopher et al., 1982; Doyle and Roman, 1982) could not be used for model validation as these were outside the application range (5°C to 12°C) of the generated models. Christopher and colleagues (1982) determined the effect of temperature and pH on the survival of Campylobacter fetus in skim milk. The storage temperatures of the available data in ComBase of the survival studies were 1°C, 10°C, 20°C and 30°C (Christopher et al., 1982). Even though the 10°C data fit the temperature range of the developed model, a different strain (C. fetus) and matrix (skim milk) were used. Another study determined *C. jejuni* survival in unpasteurized milk at 4°C (Doyle and Roman, 1982) where the temperature is outside of the application range of the generated models. The CFU and IPIU data of C. jejuni DSM 4688 from Wulsten et al., 2020 could be used for external validation as they were collected under the same experimental conditions. The tertiary model predicting IPIU demonstrated a good accuracy and performance of the model predictions using IPIU data (Knipper et al., 2023b). The outcome of the validation of the CFU DSM 4688-derived model with CFU data was not acceptable. The large deviation from the predictions of the model and the CFU data from Wulsten et al., 2020 are assumed to be attributed to the different batches of the raw milk used. Raw milk is a complex matrix made up of water, protein, fat, lactose, vitamins and minerals, with proportions of each being influenced by animal breed, feed, age and phase of lactation (Hudson et al., 2015). The results indicated that CFU data are more affected by environmental factors (e.g. matrix and temperature) than IPIU data. To make the developed models even more robust, further survival data at temperatures between 5°C and 12°C should also be considered for validation. In addition, different milk batches should be used to clarify the influence of the composition of the complex milk matrix.

An already existing model for survival of *C. jejuni* in liquid based on CFU data was developed based on a meta-analysis (Membré and Lambert, 2008). They used a log-linear model to fit the curves obtained from the literature. The log-linear model did not consider a possible

stationary phase (shoulder before log reduction). In our CFU data-derived models, we clearly demonstrated the need of a shoulder to accurately describe the data. Therefore, the model based on the meta-analysis underestimated the survival ability of *Campylobacter* spp. Raw milk is a complex matrix and CFU survival differed when using the same strain together with milk batches obtained from different years (Knipper et al., 2023b). Therefore, it can be assumed that the survival of *C. jejuni* differs remarkably in different liquid matrices. Data from ComBase were recently used to develop an artificial neural network (ANN) model for non-thermal inactivation of *C. jejuni* in raw milk (Boleratz and Oscar, 2022). The ANN model is a different approach than the traditional regression method used in this study (Najjar et al., 1997). Even though this approach can be used to model data that are not possible to model by traditional regression methods, some disadvantages (parameters lacking biological meaning or poor interpolation) are given. However, they could demonstrate, similar to our case, that CFU survival was better at lower temperatures than at ambient temperatures. The validation of the model failed because of data gaps. No IPIU data were considered in the model.

The developed CFU data-derived models and IPIU data-derived tertiary models differed significantly in the time required to achieve an x log reduction (t_{xd}) (Knipper et al., 2023b). For the CFU data it varied between 8.6 h and 18.46 h depending on the strain and the temperature. For the IPIU data it was outside of the application range of the Weibull model (>100 h). This demonstrated that *C. jejuni* can survive in VBNC state until the end of the shelf-life of raw milk, assuming that raw milk is stored for one week (Knipper et al., 2023b).

The survival of *C. jejuni* is largely underestimated if only based on CFU data. In accordance with the recovery data of VBNC, the real potential of the presence of infective *C. jejuni* in raw milk should be at some point between the predictions of CFU and IPIU (Knipper et al., 2023b). The degree of infectivity of cells in VBNC status is unknown, IPIU data should be taken into account as a worst-case scenario, as these VBNCs still might be infectious. In addition, further recovery data should be collected and a predictive model developed on these data.

4.5 Risk mitigation strategies

QMRAs are a helpful tool for assessing different risk mitigation strategies of bacteria along the food chain. Two different QMRAs for *Campylobacter* spp. in milk are found in the literature. These are focused on the bulk tank milk and storage in vending machines (Giacometti et al., 2015; Anonymous, 2009).

A QMRA model for *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain in Germany was developed with focus on the farm level (Knipper et al., 2023c). The data used in the model were obtained during a longitudinal study over one year (Knipper et al., 2023a). Only CFU

concentration data of *Campylobacter* were considered in this model. A QMRA from Australia (Anonymous, 2009) used fecal concentration data of *Campylobacter* spp. from Stanley et al. (1998), where they used the MPN method ($1.79 \pm 1.01 \log CFU/g$). The other QMRA from Italy did not take into account fecal concentration data (Giacometti et al., 2015).

The QMRA model predicts a mean probability of infection of 0.22% and a mean probability of illness of 0.07% for consuming a random raw milk portion (a mug) (Knipper et al., 2023c). We assumed that per year, 4.44 x 10^7 raw milk portions (210 ml; one mug) were consumed in Germany per year. The servings are calculated assuming that 850 vending machines in Germany (Böhnlein et al., 2020), operate 365 days a year, selling at least 30 litres per day (Labohm et al., 2021), which corresponds to 143 servings of 210 ml of milk. Of these servings 30% are not boiled prior to consumption (Giacometti et al., 2013). This results in 1.33 x 10^7 *Campylobacter* risk servings without boiling prior to consumption consumed in Germany.

The model estimates over 9,300 campylobacteriosis cases per year. These are 69.5 cases per 100,000 daily unboiled servings. A QMRA from Italy yielded between 79.4/100,000 population/year and 333.1/100,000 population/ year of expected cases for adult consumers based on percentages of consumers that do not boil milk before consumption and different time-temperature storage conditions (Giacometti et al., 2013). In a study from New Zealand, a mean number of cases of illness for adults of 19.9 or 4.7 per 100,000 daily servings of raw milk were predicted based on consumption from the bulk milk tank or domestic consumption after farm gate purchase respectively (Anonymous, 2009).

Overall, the model estimates a high prevalence but low concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk. The model predicts that 93.3% of the bulk tanks are *Campylobacter* contaminated with a mean concentration of -0.41 log₁₀ (CFU/I). In comparison with the German zoonoses monitoring in recent years which monitored 1 to 2.5% of bulk tank samples positive the 93.3% prevalence obtained from the model is very high. For zoonosis monitoring, samples should be analysed in the laboratory as soon as possible, so that CFU is expected not to have considerably declined. However, in the baseline model it is assumed that as soon as one cow with contaminated udders contributes milk to the tank the bulk tank becomes contaminated. Nevertheless, with the applied limit of detection of 1 CFU/25 ml raw milk in the monitoring the observed prevalence in the model is 2.3% contaminated bulk tanks. This underlines the model results do not contradict those of the monitoring (Knipper et al., 2023c).

We took into account that bacteria are discrete units (integer values), whereby it is found that 91.3% of the portions are uncontaminated, 8.7% contain one or more *Campylobacter* spp. cells and 0.046% contain ten or more (Knipper et al., 2023c). In the literature only few concentration data for *Campylobacter* in raw milk are available. These have been generated by the MPN

method due to the often very low concentration of *Campylobacter* in raw milk. Studies reported 0.16 ± 0.30 MPN/ml as mean *Campylobacter* level from five samples or indicated approximately 0.047 MPN/ml (Hill et al., 2012; Humphrey and Beckett, 1987).

The model was applied for simulation for outbreaks from single vending machines. It was assumed that 30% of 143 servings of raw milk per year from a vending machine are consumed unboiled (n_{unb} = 43 ≈ 0.3*143). The probability that more than two out of 43 consumers of raw milk get ill, P($N_{ill} \ge 2$), equals 0.22%, whereas this probability for 5 out of 100, P($N_{ill} \ge 5$), equals 0.01%. This would be 2.2 and 0.05 daily outbreaks respectively, equivalent to about 800 and 20 annual outbreaks in Germany for 850 vending machines (Knipper et al., 2023c). In 2018 most of the reported outbreaks were caused by *Campylobacter* spp. associated with the consumption of unboiled raw milk (9/38 outbreaks) (BVL, 2019).

In general, the estimated outbreak numbers obtained from the model are much larger than what is observed. There are several reasons for it. In general, campylobacteriosis cases are assumed to be underreported, since people with self-limiting complications might not go to a doctor (Bouwknegt et al., 2014).

Furthermore, besides to uncertainty associated to the model, frequent consumers of raw milk may acquire immunity and this is not captured in the "classic" dose-response model (Havelaar and Swart, 2014; Teunis and Havelaar, 2000). We considered an alternative dose-response model which is defined by the median estimates of the model parameters for outbreak studies (Nauta et al., 2022; Teunis et al., 2018). This resulted with 895,891 campylobacteriosis cases in a higher value than the prediction from the baseline model. However, this dose-response model considered specific *Campylobacter* strains that are very virulent.

Different scenarios were compared to the developed baseline model to evaluate the impact of parameter uncertainty on the relative risk and to explore the potential effect of mitigation strategies along the raw milk supply chain. The underestimation of survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk by CFU (Knipper et al., 2023b; Wulsten et al., 2020) was considered using a scenario were no inactivation of *Campylobacter* spp. during storage occurs. However, whether *Campylobacter* spp. is inactivated or not has only a low impact on the relative risk assuming that infections occur from rare high level contaminations. If there is already only a low concentration in the bulk tank, the inactivation no longer has a major influence. It was demonstrated that clean udders are of crucial importance (Knipper et al., 2023c).

Nevertheless, important surveillance data for the amount of sold and consumed raw milk in Germany are lacking. Furthermore, concentrations of *Campylobacter* in vending machines in Germany are unknown, since only prevalence data for *Campylobacter* spp. are available (BVL, 2017).

The developed QMRA model is the first QMRA model for *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain in Germany. It is the only existing one that includes concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cow's feces and prevalence data from contaminated teats through fecal cross-contamination. A risk assessment model can give insights in levels below the microbiological detection limits. This is useful for the understanding of the microbiology and low risk situations. Risk is often in the tail (i.e. rare high concentrations) – for these more samples may be needed than is practically feasible.

4.6 Limitations

There were many prevalence data for *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces from dairy cows in scientific literature (Knipper et al., 2022). However, there was hardly any quantitative data. No meta-analysis on quantitative data was possible.

A longitudinal study was performed to detect and quantify *Campylobacter* spp. in different samples along the raw milk supply chain (Knipper et al., 2023a). Only one raw milk sample and one milk filter tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. A high concentration could be detected in these samples. However, the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. is usually very low at the end of the supply chain. The ISO 10272-1 detection method reaches its detection limit. Therefore, no statement can be made whether we still have very low concentrations of *Campylobacter* spp. or whether there is no contamination. The v-qPCR developed by Wulsten et al. (2020), which was used for the survival study, could not be applied in the longitudinal study. Because of the PMA staining and for DNA extraction in general, dilution of the samples must occur, which further dilutes the already low concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. The dilution steps reaching the detection limit of the method. The longitudinal study was performed on a small dairy farm (Knipper et al., 2023a). Good housing conditions and milking time hygiene were found. Only limited comparison to conventional farms is possible.

The survival of *C. jejuni* was investigated and modelled for different temperatures in raw milk (Knipper et al., 2023b). Two different data sets for CFU and IPIU data were obtained. Since the infection potential of VBNC is unknown, the IPIU data can be used as a worst-case scenario for the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk. However, the true values are probably somewhere between the worst-case scenario and the CFU data. The recovery data obtained with a specific gas mixture with a lower oxygen level suggest a first hint as to how many cells are capable to reach cultivable state with potential infectivity. The recovery method should be used as a valid method in addition to the ISO 10272-2 method at low *Campylobacter* spp. concentrations. All existing dose-response models used in QMRAs are based on CFU data.

the infectivity of *Campylobacter* in VBNC status is obtained or about recovery of CFU within environmental niches (e.g. in conjunction with oxygen-consuming microbiota), the establishment of dose-response models for IPIU data can be initiated and discussed.

The developed models are a first step towards a more accurate prediction of the survival of *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk. Still, there is a need to extend the developed predictive models with further influencing parameters such as temperatures and differences in raw milk batches. When appropriate, other strains should also be used to improve and expand the models. For distinct outcome of the model, it is important to ensure that these do not differ significantly in survival. Likewise, two *C. jejuni* strains from the clonal complex CC-21 BfR-CA-18040 (ST-61) and BfR-CA-18043 (ST-21) could be combined in one model (Knipper et al., 2023b).

The developed QMRA model is the first one to include farm-level data from Germany and give information about different risk mitigation strategies and control options (Knipper et al., 2023c). QMRAs also rely on surveys of the population, so consumption and storage data of raw milk in households in Germany are essential. There should also be an official platform or survey of raw milk outlets. Both sets of data are not yet publicly available. Only prevalence data for *Campylobacter* spp. in vending machines in Germany are accessible (BVL, 2017).

5 Conclusion

Campylobacter are fastidious bacteria with high requirements for survival. However, *C. jejuni* have been shown to persist on a dairy farm and contaminate bulk tank milk for seven months or longer (Jaakkonen et al., 2020). The transmission routes of *Campylobacter* spp. from fecal cross-contamination into raw milk is unknown.

Scientific literature showed that cow feces are often contaminated with *Campylobacter* spp. A longitudinal study demonstrated that transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. can occur due to cross-contamination of teats by cow feces into raw milk even though it is a rare event. Survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk is underestimated by CFU data. Therefore, IPIU data should be used as a worst-case scenario even though the infectivity of VBNC or its return into CFU is not yet clarified. VBNC can be recovered in CFU within a certain time window *in vitro*. During these periods VBNC might still be infectious. However, further experiments are necessary to investigate the infectivity of VBNC within and beyond the recovery period. A QMRA model indicated clean udders as crucial importance to lower the risk of *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk. However, consumers should primarily heat their raw milk before consumption to reduce exposure to *Campylobacter* spp. from raw milk consumption and the risk of campylobacteriosis.

6 Summary

The consumer demand for raw milk has increased and local sales via raw milk vending machines have intensified in recent years. Alongside, many foodborne outbreaks in Germany were caused by *Campylobacter* spp. in raw milk that had not been properly heat treated prior to consumption. The consumption of not heat-treated raw milk contaminated with *Campylobacter* spp., remains a health risk for consumers. *Campylobacter* spp. often colonize the intestine of cows without causing clinical symptoms. Feces from *Campylobacter*-colonized cows pose a risk for cross-contamination of teats, which can transfer the *Campylobacter* spp. contamination into raw milk during the milking process. To date, it has not been clarified how exactly *Campylobacter* spp. contamination occurs along the raw milk supply chain.

The aim of this PhD project was to identify and fill data gaps regarding *Campylobacter* spp. transfer along the supply chain of raw milk and to investigate its survival in raw milk. Finally, possible intervention strategies to minimize the risk from raw milk consumption were outlined.

Within the framework of this PhD project a systematic review and meta-analysis was performed to summarize previous research on *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of dairy cows worldwide. The prevalence varied widely from 0-100%. Substantial data gaps within the studies, such as the health status of the animals and type of fecal sampling could be identified. Only limited quantitative data on *Campylobacter* spp. in the feces of dairy cows were available. The reported *Campylobacter* mean concentrations ranged between 2.1 and 4.17 log CFU/g feces.

A longitudinal study was performed to investigate the transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. along the raw milk supply chain. Therefore, different samples were taken from a small dairy farm of the BfR over a period of one year. The investigated samples comprised rectal feces, boot socks, teat skin swabs, milking cluster swabs, raw milk and milk filters. Samples were analyzed for the presence and concentration of *Campylobacter* spp., *E. coli*, total aerobic colony count (TACC) and for *Pseudomonas* spp. A scoring was performed for the consistency of cows' feces and the level of cleanliness of the teat skin swab samples. In total, *Campylobacter* spp. were detected in 77.1% of the fecal samples with an average concentration of 2.43 \pm 0.9 log CFU/g. There was variation in the concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces within the herd as well as individual cows and over time. The barn environment was tested with boot socks. Of the boot sock samples 29.2% were tested positive with a mean concentration of 3.01 \pm 1.05 log CFU/two socks. Contaminated barn environment posed a risk for fecal cross-contamination of the cows' teats. Among the teat swabs, 12.2% tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. None of the milking clusters were positive. Only one raw milk sample and the milk filter tested positive on the same day. In

addition, on this day nine teat swab samples were tested positive for *Campylobacter* spp. The results showed that contamination of raw milk, albeit rare, can occur.

The data obtained from the dairy farm samples raised the research question about time and physiological state of C. jejuni during suvival in raw milk during storage. Therefore, the survival of C. jejuni was investigated by two different methods, culturally according to ISO 10272-2 and in addition using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction specifically detecting viable Campylobacter spp. in raw milk (v-qPCR). The experiment was performed at three temperatures (5°C, 8°C, and 12°C). While only colony-forming units (CFU) can be detected according to ISO 10272-2, the newly developed v-qPCR (Wulsten et al., 2020) allows detection of intact and potentially infectious units (IPIU), which includes CFU and viable but nonculturable units (VBNC). The survival of three C. jejuni strains was tested. According to Wulsten et al. (2020) who performed their experiments at 5°C, the survival was also underestimated in our study by CFU for the strains and temperature tested. To date, the infectious potential of Campylobacter spp. in VBNC status is unknown. Wulsten et al. (2020) demonstrated that C. jejuni VBNCs developed upon incubation in raw milk at 5°C were recovered into a cultivable state (recovery) within a certain time period (at least 90 h), using a specific gas mixture with a lower oxygen level for 72 h. Here, the recovery was investigated at 8°C and 12°C. The recovery time periods for both strains were longer at 8°C (up to 80 h) compared to 12°C (at least up to 48 h). Hence, the recovery period shortened with increasing temperature.

Predictive models providing a rapid response for predicting microbial behavior in the food environment were developed on the two generated data sets. Three tertiary models consisting of one for all IPIU data and two for the CFU data due to the necessary separation according to the different *C. jejuni* strains, were provided to predict the survival of *C. jejuni* in raw milk between 5°C and 12°C. The time needed to reach one log reduction varied between 8.6 and 18.46 hours for the CFU data depending on the strain and the temperature. For all IPIU data the time was over 100 h.

Finally, a quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model was developed based on data scientific literature and incorporating the data generated in this PhD study. Through various uncertainty analyses, parameters with the greatest impact on the risk for consumers for drinking *Campylobacter* spp. contaminated raw milk were identified. In addition to the initial concentration of *Campylobacter* spp. in cow feces, the prevalence of contaminated teats had a major impact on the risk of consuming *Campylobacter*-contaminated raw milk.

In summary, transmission of *Campylobacter* spp. can occur due to cross-contamination of teats by cow feces into the raw milk. However, this is a rare event. Clean udders are therefore

of crucial importance. It was shown that survival of *C. jejuni* is underestimated based on CFU data compared to VBNC data at different temperatures in raw milk. The overall data are valuable to support risk managers in controlling *Campylobacter* spp. More CFU and IPIU data are needed to improve the developed predictive models. The significance of the finding on underestimated survival should be determined through studies, e.g., in animal models, on the infectivity of *Campylobacter* spp. in VBNC status, within and beyond the time window in which VBNC can be recovered to CFU.

7 Zusammenfassung

Entwicklung von Modellen zur Vorhersage der Widerstandsfähigkeit von *Campylobacter* entlang der Warenkette Rohmilch

Die Nachfrage der Verbraucher nach Rohmilch ist in den letzten Jahren gestiegen, und der lokale Verkauf über Rohmilchautomaten wurde intensiviert. Zudem wurden viele lebensmittelbedingte Krankheitsausbrüche in Deutschland durch *Campylobacter* spp. in Rohmilch verursacht, die vor dem Verzehr nicht ordnungsgemäß wärmebehandelt wurde. Der Verzehr von nicht wärmebehandelter Rohmilch, die mit *Campylobacter* spp. kontaminiert ist, stellt weiterhin ein Gesundheitsrisiko für die Verbraucher dar. *Campylobacter* spp. besiedeln häufig den Darm von Kühen, ohne klinische Symptome zu verursachen. Der Kot von *Campylobacter*-besiedelten Kühen stellt ein Risiko für eine Kreuzkontamination der Zitzen dar, wodurch die Kontamination mit *Campylobacter* spp. während des Melkens in die Rohmilch übertragen werden kann. Bis heute ist nicht geklärt, wie genau die Kontamination mit *Campylobacter* spp. entlang der Rohmilchversorgungskette erfolgt.

Ziel dieses Dissertationsprojekts war es, Datenlücken in Bezug auf die Übertragung von *Campylobacter* spp. entlang der Lieferkette von Rohmilch zu ermitteln und zu schließen sowie das Überleben von *Campylobacter* spp. in Rohmilch zu untersuchen. Schließlich wurden mögliche Interventionsstrategien zur Minimierung des Risikos durch Rohmilchkonsum dargelegt.

Im Rahmen dieses Promotionsprojekts wurde eine systematische Übersichtsarbeit und Meta-Analyse durchgeführt, um die bisherige Forschung zu *Campylobacter* spp. im Kot von Milchkühen weltweit zusammenzufassen. Die Prävalenz variierte stark von 0-100%. Es konnten erhebliche Datenlücken in den Studien festgestellt werden, z. B. in Bezug auf den Gesundheitszustand der Tiere und die Art der Kotprobenahme. Es liegen nur begrenzte quantitative Daten über *Campylobacter* spp. in den Fäkalien von Milchkühen vor. Die berichteten mittleren *Campylobacter*-Konzentrationen lagen zwischen 2,1 und 4,17 log CFU/g Kot.

In einer Längsschnittstudie wurde die Übertragung von *Campylobacter* spp. entlang der Rohmilchlieferkette untersucht. Dazu wurden über einen Zeitraum von einem Jahr verschiedene Proben aus einer kleinen Milchviehherde des BfR entnommen. Die untersuchten Proben umfassen rektalen Kot, Stiefelsocken, Zitzenhautabstriche, Melkzeugabstriche, Rohmilch und Milchfilter. Die Proben wurden auf das Vorhandensein und die Konzentration von *Campylobacter* spp. und *E. coli* sowie auf die Gesamtzahl aerober Kolonien (TACC) und *Pseudomonas* spp. untersucht. Die Konsistenz des Kuhkots und die Sauberkeit der

Zitzenhautabstriche wurden bewertet. Insgesamt wurden *Campylobacter* spp. in 77,1 % der Kotproben mit einer durchschnittlichen Konzentration von 2,43 \pm 0,9 log KBE/g nachgewiesen. Die Konzentration von *Campylobacter* spp. im Kuhkot variierte sowohl innerhalb der Herde als auch bei einzelnen Kühen und im zeitlichen Verlauf. Die Umgebung des Stalls wurde mit Stiefelsocken getestet. Von den Stiefelsockenproben wurden 29,2 % positiv getestet mit einer mittleren Konzentration von 3,01 \pm 1,05 log CFU/zwei Socken. Die kontaminierte Stallumgebung stellte ein Risiko für eine fäkale Kreuzkontamination der Zitzen der Kühe dar. Von den Zitzenabstrichen wurden 12,2 % positiv auf *Campylobacter* spp. getestet. Keines der Melkzeuge war positiv. Nur eine Rohmilchprobe und ein Milchfilter wurden am selben Tag positiv getestet. Außerdem wurden an diesem Tag neun Zitzenabstriche positiv auf *Campylobacter* spp. getestet. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass eine Kontamination von Rohmilch, wenn auch selten, vorkommen kann.

Die aus den Proben der Milchviehbetriebe gewonnenen Daten warfen die Forschungsfrage nach dem Zeitraum und dem physiologischen Zustand von C. jejuni beim Überleben in Rohmilch während der Lagerung auf. Daher wurde die Überlebensfähigkeit von C. jejuni mit zwei verschiedenen Methoden untersucht: kulturell nach ISO 10272-2 und zusätzlich unter Verwendung einer guantitativen Polymerase-Kettenreaktion zum spezifischen Nachweis lebensfähiger Campylobacter spp. in Rohmilch (v-qPCR). Der Versuch wurde bei drei Temperaturen (5°C, 8°C und 12°C) durchgeführt. Während gemäß ISO 10272-2 nur koloniebildende Einheiten (CFU) nachgewiesen werden können, ermöglicht die neu entwickelte v-qPCR (Wulsten et al., 2020) den Nachweis von intakten und potenziell infektiösen Einheiten (IPIU), die CFU und lebensfähige, aber nicht kultivierbare Einheiten (VBNC) umfassen. Das Überleben von drei C. jejuni-Stämmen wurde getestet. Nach Wulsten et al. (2020), die ihre Experimente bei 5°C durchführten, wurde die Überlebensrate auch in unserer Studie für die getesteten Stämme und Temperaturen um die KBE unterschätzt. Bislang ist das infektiöse Potenzial von Campylobacter spp. im VBNC-Status unbekannt. Wulsten et al. (2020) wiesen nach, dass C. jejuni VBNCs, die sich bei einer Inkubation in Rohmilch bei 5 °C entwickelt hatten, innerhalb eines bestimmten Zeitraums (mindestens 90 Stunden) wieder in einen kultivierbaren Zustand überführt wurden (Erholung), wobei ein spezifisches Gasgemisch mit einem niedrigeren Sauerstoffgehalt für 72 h verwendet wurde. Hier wurde die Erholung bei 8°C und 12°C untersucht. Die Erholungszeiträume für beide Stämme waren bei 8°C (bis zu 80 h) länger als bei 12°C (mindestens bis zu 48 h). Die Erholungszeit verkürzte sich also mit steigender Temperatur.

Vorhersagemodelle wurden anhand der beiden generierten Datensätze entwickelt, die eine schnelle Reaktion zur Vorhersage des mikrobiellen Verhaltens in der Lebensmittelumgebung ermöglichen. Drei tertiäre Modelle, bestehend aus einem für alle IPIU-Daten und zwei für die

CFU-Daten aufgrund der notwendigen Trennung nach den verschiedenen *C. jejuni*-Stämmen, wurden erstellt, um das Überleben von *C. jejuni* in Rohmilch zwischen 5°C und 12°C vorherzusagen. Die Zeit, die benötigt wird, um eine logarithmische Reduktion zu erreichen, schwankt bei den CFU-Daten je nach Stamm und Temperatur zwischen 8,6 und 18,46 Stunden. Bei allen IPIU-Daten lag die Zeit bei über 100 Stunden.

Schließlich wurde ein Modell zur quantitativen mikrobiellen Risikobewertung (QMRA) entwickelt, das auf Daten aus der wissenschaftlichen Literatur beruht und die in diesen Promotionsprojekt gewonnenen Daten einbezieht. Durch verschiedene Unsicherheitsanalysen wurden die Parameter ermittelt, die den größten Einfluss auf das Risiko für Verbraucher haben, mit *Campylobacter* spp. kontaminierte Rohmilch zu trinken. Neben der Ausgangskonzentration von *Campylobacter* spp. im Kuhkot hatte die Prävalenz von kontaminierten Zitzen einen großen Einfluss auf das Risiko des Konsums von *Campylobacter*-kontaminierter Rohmilch.

Zusammenfassend lässt sich sagen, dass eine Übertragung von *Campylobacter* spp. durch eine Kreuzkontamination von Zitzen mit Kuhkot in Rohmilch erfolgen kann. Dies ist jedoch ein seltenes Ereignis. Saubere Euter sind von entscheidender Bedeutung. Es wurde gezeigt, dass die Überlebensrate von *C. jejuni* auf der Grundlage von KBE-Daten im Vergleich zu VBNC-Daten bei verschiedenen Temperaturen in Rohmilch unterschätzt wird. Die Gesamtdaten sind hilfreich, um Risikomanager bei der Überwachung von *Campylobacter* spp. zu unterstützen. Um die entwickelten Vorhersagemodelle zu verbessern, werden mehr CFU- und IPIU-Daten benötigt. Die Bedeutung des Ergebnisses der unterschätzten Überlebensrate sollte durch Studien, z. B. in Tiermodellen, über die Infektiosität von *Campylobacter* spp. im VBNC-Status innerhalb und außerhalb des Zeitfensters, in dem VBNC zu KBE zurückgewonnen werden kann, ermittelt werden.

8 References

Açik, M.N., Çetinkaya, B., 2005. The heterogeneity of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* strains isolated from healthy cattle. Letters in Applied Microbiology 41, 397-403. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01780.x.

Adhikari, B., Connolly, J.H., Madie, P., Davies, P.R., 2004. Prevalence and clonal diversity of *Campylobacter jejuni* from dairy farms and urban sources. N Z Vet J 52, 378-383. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2004.36455.

Anderson, E.L., Hattis, D., 1999. Uncertainty and Variability. Risk Analysis 19, 47-49. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.1999.tb00386.x.

Anonymous, 2009. Microbiological Risk Assessment of Raw Cow Milk. Food Standards Australia New Zealand. Available online: https://www.foodstandards.gov.au/code/proposals/documents/p1007%20ppps%20for%20ra w%20milk%201ar%20sd1%20cow%20milk%20risk%20assessment.pdf (Accessed May 7, 2022).

Baffone, W., Casaroli, A., Citterio, B., Pierfelici, L., Campana, R., Vittoria, E., Guaglianone, E., Donelli, G., 2006. *Campylobacter jejuni* loss of culturability in aqueous microcosms and ability to resuscitate in a mouse model. Int J Food Microbiol 107, 83-91. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2005.08.015.

Bahk, G.J., Lee, H.J., 2021. Microbial-Maximum Likelihood Estimation Tool for Microbial Quantification in Food From Left-Censored Data Using Maximum Likelihood Estimation for Microbial Risk Assessment. Frontiers in Microbiology 12:730733. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.730733.

Baird-Parker, A.C., Kilsby, D.C., 1987. Principles of predictive food microbiology. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 63, 43s-49s. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1987.tb03610.x.

Baranyi, J., Buss da Silva, N., Ellouze, M., 2017. Rethinking Tertiary Models: Relationships between Growth Parameters of *Bacillus cereus* Strains. Frontiers in Microbiology 8:1890. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01890.

Bianchini, V., Borella, L., Benedetti, V., Parisi, A., Miccolupo, A., Santoro, E., Recordati, C., Luini, M., 2014. Prevalence in Bulk Tank Milk and Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* in Dairy Herds in Northern Italy. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80, 1832-1837. doi: 10.1128/aem.03784-13.

Bigelow, W.D., Esty, J.R., 1920. The Thermal Death Point in Relation to Time of Typical Thermophilic Organisms. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 27, 602-617. doi: 10.1093/infdis/27.6.602.

Black, R.E., Levine, M.M., Clements, M.L., Hughes, T.P., Blaser, M.J., 1988. Experimental *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in humans. J Infect Dis 157, 472-479. doi: 10.1093/infdis/157.3.472.

Bless, P.J., Schmutz, C., Mäusezahl, D., 2017. The recurrent campylobacteriosis epidemic over Christmas and New Year in European countries, 2006-2014. BMC Res Notes 10, 266. doi: 10.1186/s13104-017-2587-8.

BMJV, 2018. Regulation on hygiene requirements for the production, treatment and placing on the market of certain foodstuffs of animal origin. In Animal food hygiene ordinance (Tier-LMHV)

version publishihed on 18. Berlin, Germany: Federal Ministery of Jusitce and Consumer Protection. April 2018 (BGBI. I S. 480 (619)).

Böhnlein, C., Fiedler, G., Loop, J., Franz, C., Kabisch, J., 2020. Microbiological quality and safety of raw milk from direct sale in northern Germany. International Dairy Journal 114, 104944. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2020.104944.

Boleratz, B.L., Oscar, T.P., 2022. Use of ComBase data to develop an artificial neural network model for nonthermal inactivation of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk and beef and evaluation of model performance and data completeness using the acceptable prediction zones method. Journal of Food Safety 42, e12983. doi: 10.1111/jfs.12983.

Bouwknegt, M., Knol, A.B., van der Sluijs, J.P., Evers, E.G., 2014. Uncertainty of population risk estimates for pathogens based on QMRA or epidemiology: a case study of *Campylobacter* in the Netherlands. Risk Anal 34, 847-864. doi: 10.1111/risa.12153.

Bovill, R.A., Mackey, B.M., 1997. Resuscitation of 'non-culturable' cells from aged cultures of *Campylobacter jejuni*. Microbiology (Reading) 143 (Pt 5), 1575-1581. doi: 10.1099/00221287-143-5-1575.

Bronowski, C., James, C.E., Winstanley, C., 2014. Role of environmental survival in transmission of *Campylobacter jejuni*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 356, 8-19. doi: 10.1111/1574-6968.12488.

Buchanan, R.L., 1993. Predictive food microbiology. Trends in Food Science & Technology 4, 6-11. doi: 10.1016/S0924-2244(05)80004-4.

Buchanan, R.L., Golden, M.H., 1995. Model for the non-thermal inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* in a reduced oxygen environment. Food Microbiology 12, 203-212. doi: 10.1016/S0740-0020(95)80099-9.

Burnham, P.M., Hendrixson, D.R., 2018. *Campylobacter jejuni*: collective components promoting a successful enteric lifestyle. Nature Reviews Microbiology 16, 551-565.

BVL, 2010. Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2009 –Zoonosen-Monitoring. Available online: www.bvl.bund.de/ZoonosenMonitoring (Accessed March 5, 2023).

BVL, 2012. Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2010 – Zoonosen-Monitoring. Available online: www.bvl.bund.de/ZoonosenMonitoring (Accessed March 5, 2023).

BVL, 2016. Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2015 – Zoonosen-Monitoring. Available online: www.bvl.bund.de/ZoonosenMonitoring (Accessed March 5, 2023).

BVL, 2017. Bundesweiter Überwachungsplan 2016. Available online: https://www.bvl.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/01_Lebensmittel/02_BUEp_dokumente/BU Ep_Bericht_2016.pdf;jsessionid=916BCDB357CBB6478F4A809B1BED4E37.internet001?____ blob=publicationFile&v=7 (Accessed April 27, 2023).

BVL, 2019. Common national report of BVL and RKI on food-borne infections in Germany in 2018; in German (Gemeinsamer nationaler Bericht des BVL und RKI zu lebensmittelbedingten Krankheitsausbrüchen in Deutschland 2018). Available online: https://www.bvl.bund.de (Accessed September 9, 2022).

BVL, 2020. Berichte zur Lebensmittelsicherheit 2019 – Zoonosen-Monitoring. Available online: www.bvl.bund.de/ZoonosenMonitoring (Accessed September 9, 2022).
BVL, 2022. Zusammenfassender Bericht über die Ergebnisse der Prävalenzuntersuchungen im Zoonosen-Monitoring der Jahre 2010–2019. Available online: https://www.bvl.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/01_Lebensmittel/04_Zoonosen_Monitoring/ Zoonosen_Monitoring_Bericht_2010-2019.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=8 (Accessed August, 3, 2023).

Campagnollo, F.B., Santos, J.L.P.d., Alvarenga, V.O., Chaves, R.D., Prado-Silva, L.d., Sant'Ana, A.S., 2022. Application of Quantitative Risk Assessment Methods for Food Quality Microbiological Risk Assessment Associated with the Food Processing and Distribution Chain, pp. 117-141. doi: 10.1201/9780429083525-6.

Cappelier, J.M., Minet, J., Magras, C., Colwell, R.R., Federighi, M., 1999. Recovery in Embryonated Eggs of Viable but Nonculturable *Campylobacter jejuni* Cells and Maintenance of Ability To Adhere to HeLa Cells after Resuscitation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65, 5154-5157. doi:10.1128/AEM.65.11.5154-5157.1999.

Cerf, O., 1977. A Review Tailing of Survival Curves of Bacterial Spores. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 42, 1-19. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1977.tb00665.x.

Chaisowwong, W., Kusumoto, A., Hashimoto, M., Harada, T., Maklon, K., Kawamoto, K., 2012. Physiological characterization of *Campylobacter jejuni* under cold stresses conditions: its potential for public threat. J Vet Med Sci 74, 43-50. doi: 10.1292/jvms.11-0305.

Christopher, F.M., Smith, G.C., Vanderzant, C., 1982. Effect of Temperature and pH on the Survival of *Campylobacter fetus* (1). J Food Prot 45, 253-259. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-45.3.253.

Claeys, W.L., Verraes, C., Cardoen, S., De Block, J., Huyghebaert, A., Raes, K., Dewettinck, K., Herman, L., 2014. Consumption of raw or heated milk from different species: An evaluation of the nutritional and potential health benefits. Food Control 42, 188-201. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.01.045.

Codex Alimentarius Commission, 1999. Principles and Guidelines for the Conduct of Microbiological Risk Assessment. In: Joint FAO/WHO Food standards Programme (Ed.), CAC/GL-30, Rome.

Coroller, L., Leguerinel, I., Mettler, E., Savy, N., Mafart, P., 2006. General model, based on two mixed weibull distributions of bacterial resistance, for describing various shapes of inactivation curves. Appl Environ Microbiol 72, 6493-6502. doi: 10.1128/aem.00876-06.

Crotta, M., Paterlini, F., Rizzi, R., Guitian, J., 2016. Consumers' behavior in quantitative microbial risk assessment for pathogens in raw milk: Incorporation of the likelihood of consumption as a function of storage time and temperature. J Dairy Sci 99, 1029-1038. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10175.

Curtis, L.M., Patrick, M., Blackburn, C.D., 1995. Survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in foods and comparison with a predictive model. Lett Appl Microbiol 21, 194-197. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765x.1995.tb01039.x.

Davis, K.R., Dunn, A.C., Burnett, C., McCullough, L., Dimond, M., Wagner, J., Smith, L., Carter, A., Willardson, S., Nakashima, A.K., 2016. *Campylobacter jejuni* Infections Associated with Raw Milk Consumption--Utah, 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 65, 301-305. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6512a1.

de Alba Aparicio, M., Buschhardt, T., Swaid, A., Valentin, L., Mesa-Varona, O., Günther, T., Plaza-Rodriguez, C., Filter, M., 2018. FSK-Lab – An open source food safety model integration tool. Microbial Risk Analysis 10, 13-19. doi: 10.1016/j.mran.2018.09.001.

Del Collo, L.P., Karns, J.S., Biswas, D., Lombard, J.E., Haley, B.J., Kristensen, R.C., Kopral, C.A., Fossler, C.P., Van Kessel, J.A.S., 2017. Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. Journal of Dairy Science 100, 3470-3479. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12084.

Delignette-Muller, M.L., Rosso, L., Flandrois, J.P., 1995. Accuracy of microbial growth predictions with square root and polynomial models. Int J Food Microbiol 27, 139-146. doi: 10.1016/0168-1605(94)00158-3.

Dingle, K.E., Colles, F.M., Wareing, D.R., Ure, R., Fox, A.J., Bolton, F.E., Bootsma, H.J., Willems, R.J., Urwin, R., Maiden, M.C., 2001. Multilocus sequence typing system for *Campylobacter jejuni*. J Clin Microbiol 39, 14-23. doi: 10.1128/jcm.39.1.14-23.2001.

Doyle, M.P., Roman, D.J., 1982. Prevalence and survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in unpasteurized milk. Appl Environ Microbiol 44, 1154-1158. doi: 10.1128/aem.44.5.1154-1158.1982.

Duarte, A.S.R., Stockmarr, A., Nauta, M.J., 2015. Fitting a distribution to microbial counts: Making sense of zeroes. International Journal of Food Microbiology 196, 40-50. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.11.023.

Dym, C.L., 2004. Principles of Mathematical Modeling. Academic Press, Burlington, pp. 297-303. doi: 10.1016/B978-012226551-8/50011-9.

Edmonds, P., Patton, C.M., Griffin, P.M., Barrett, T.J., Schmid, G.P., Baker, C.N., Lambert, M.A., Brenner, D.J., 1987. *Campylobacter hyointestinalis* associated with human gastrointestinal disease in the United States. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 25, 685-691. doi: 10.1128/jcm.25.4.685-691.1987.

EFSA, 2015. Scientific Opinion on the public health risks related to the consumption of raw drinking milk. EFSA Journal 13, 3940. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2015.3940.

EFSA, 2021. The European Union One Health 2020 Zoonoses Report. EFSA Journal 19, e06971. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6971.

EFSA, 2022. The European Union One Health 2021 Zoonoses Report. EFSA Journal 20, e07666. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2022.7666.

FAO/WHO, 1995. Application of risk analysis to food standards issues : report of the Joint FAO/WHO expert consultation, Geneva, Switzerland, 13-17 March 1995. World Health Organization, Geneva. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/58913 (Accessed May 11, 2022).

FAO/WHO, 2003. Microbiological risk assessment series 3: hazard characterization for pathogens in food and water. World Health Organization, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations Geneva, Switzerland. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42693/9241562374.pdf (Accessed May 15, 2022).

FAO/WHO, 2006. Food safety risk analysis: a guide for National Food Safety Authorities. FAO Food and Nutrition Papers-87, FAO, Rome. ISBN: 9789251056042. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43718 (Accessed May 15, 2022).

FAO/WHO, 2008. Exposure Assessment of Microbiological Hazards in Food: Guidelines. Microbiological Risk Assessment series 7(61): 102. ISBN: 9241546891. Available online: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9241546891 (Accessed May 15, 2022).

FAO/WHO, 2013. Codex Alimentarius Commission Procedural Manual. 21st ed. Rome. ISBN: 978925107570-8. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/i3243e/i3243e.pdf (Accessed May 15, 2022).

FSAI, 2015. Raw Milk and Raw Milk Filter Microbiological Surveillance Programme. Monitoring and Surveillance Series: Microbiology; 12NS2. Available online: https://www.lenus.ie/bitstream/handle/10147/582810/Raw%20Milk%20Survey%20FINAL.pdf ?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Accessed January 23, 2023).

Geeraerd, A.H., Valdramidis, V.P., Van Impe, J.F., 2005. GInaFiT, a freeware tool to assess non-log-linear microbial survivor curves. Int J Food Microbiol 102, 95-105. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.11.038.

Giacometti, F., Serraino, A., Bonilauri, P., Ostanello, F., Daminelli, P., Finazzi, G., Losio, M.N., Marchetti, G., Liuzzo, G., Zanoni, R.G., Rosmini, R., 2012. Quantitative Risk Assessment of Verocytotoxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* O157 and *Campylobacter jejuni* Related to Consumption of Raw Milk in a Province in Northern Italy. Journal of Food Protection 75, 2031-2038. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x.Jfp-12-163.

Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Serraino, A., Peli, A., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Bilei, S., Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Fustini, M., Mion, R., Petruzzelli, A., Rosmini, R., Rugna, G., Tamba, M., Tonucci, F., Bolzoni, G., 2013. Four-Year Monitoring of Foodborne Pathogens in Raw Milk Sold by Vending Machines in Italy. Journal of Food Protection 76, 1902-1907. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x.Jfp-13-213.

Giacometti, F., Bonilauri, P., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, M., Losio, M.N., Bilei, S., Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Merialdi, G., Mioni, R., Peli, A., Petruzzelli, A., Tonucci, F., Piva, S., Serraino, A., 2015. Human campylobacteriosis related to the consumption of raw milk sold by vending machines in Italy: Quantitative risk assessment based on official controls over four years. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 121, 151-158. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.06.009.

Gibson, A.M., Bratchell, N., Roberts, T.A., 1988. Predicting microbial growth: growth responses of salmonellae in a laboratory medium as affected by pH, sodium chloride and storage temperature. Int J Food Microbiol 6, 155-178. doi: 10.1016/0168-1605(88)90051-7.

Golz, J.C., Stingl, K., 2021. Natural Competence and Horizontal Gene Transfer in *Campylobacter*, in: Backert, S. (Ed.), Fighting *Campylobacter* Infections: Towards a One Health Approach. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 265-292.

Haas, C.N., 1983. Estimation of risk due to low doses of microorganisms: a comparison of alternative methodologies. Am J Epidemiol 118, 573-582. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113662.

Haas, C.N., 2002. Conditional dose-response relationships for microorganisms: development and application. Risk Anal 22, 455-463. doi: 10.1111/0272-4332.00035.

Haberbeck, L.U., Plaza-Rodríguez, C., Desvignes, V., Dalgaard, P., Sanaa, M., Guillier, L., Nauta, M., Filter, M., 2018. Harmonized terms, concepts and metadata for microbiological risk assessment models: The basis for knowledge integration and exchange. Microbial Risk Analysis 10, 3-12. doi: 10.1016/j.mran.2018.06.001.

Hakkinen, M., Hänninen, M.L., 2009. Shedding of *Campylobacter* spp. in Finnish cattle on dairy farms. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107, 898-905. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04269.x.

Hansson, I., Olsson Engvall, E., Ferrari, S., Harbom, B., Lahti, E., 2020. Detection of *Campylobacter* species in different types of samples from dairy farms. Vet Rec 186, 605. doi: 10.1136/vr.105610.

Havelaar, A.H., Evers, E.G., Nauta, M.J., 2008. Challenges of quantitative microbial risk assessment at EU level. Trends in Food Science & Technology 19, S26-S33. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2008.09.003.

Havelaar, A.H., Swart, A.N., 2014. Impact of acquired immunity and dose-dependent probability of illness on quantitative microbial risk assessment. Risk Anal 34, 1807-1819. doi: 10.1111/risa.12214.

Hill, B., Smythe, B., Lindsay, D., Shepherd, J., 2012. Microbiology of raw milk in New Zealand. International Journal of Food Microbiology 157, 305-308. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.03.031.

Hoar, B.R., Atwill, E.R., Elmi, C., Utterback, W.W., Edmondson, A.J., 1999. Comparison of fecal samples collected per rectum and off the ground for estimation of environmental contamination attributable to beef cattle. American Journal of Veterinary Research 60, 1352-1356. PMID: 10566807.

Huang, L., 2017. IPMP Global Fit - A one-step direct data analysis tool for predictive microbiology. Int J Food Microbiol 262, 38-48. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.09.010.

Hudson, J., King, N., Cressey, P., 2015. *Campylobacter* in raw (unpasteurised) milk risk profile. ISBN: 978-0-478-43213-8. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.1.1612.6560.

Humphrey, T., O'Brien, S., Madsen, M., 2007. *Campylobacters* as zoonotic pathogens: a food production perspective. Int J Food Microbiol 117, 237-257. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2007.01.006.

Humphrey, T.J., Beckett, P., 1987. *Campylobacter jejuni* in dairy cows and raw milk. Epidemiol Infect 98, 263-269. doi: 10.1017/s0950268800062014.

Idland, L., Granquist, E.G., Aspholm, M., Lindbäck, T., 2022. The prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp., *Listeria monocytogenes* and Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in Norwegian dairy cattle farms: A comparison between free stall and tie stall housing systems. J Appl Microbiol 132, 3959-3972. doi: 10.1111/jam.15512.

Igwaran, A., Okoh, A.I., 2019. Human campylobacteriosis: A public health concern of global importance. Heliyon 5, e02814. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02814.

Jaakkonen, A., Castro, H., Hallanvuo, S., Ranta, J., Rossi, M., Isidro, J., Lindström, M., Hakkinen, M., 2019. Longitudinal Study of Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni* on Finnish Dairy Farms and in Raw Milk. Appl Environ Microbiol 85. doi: 10.1128/aem.02910-18.

Jaakkonen, A., Kivistö, R., Aarnio, M., Kalekivi, J., Hakkinen, M., 2020. Persistent contamination of raw milk by *Campylobacter jejuni* ST-883. Plos One 15, e0231810-e0231810. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231810.

Jackson, B.R., Zegarra, J.A., López-Gatell, H., Sejvar, J., Arzate, F., Waterman, S., Núñez, A.S., López, B., Weiss, J., Cruz, R.Q., Murrieta, D.Y., Luna-Gierke, R., Heiman, K., Vieira, A.R., Fitzgerald, C., Kwan, P., Zárate-Bermúdez, M., Talkington, D., Hill, V.R., Mahon, B., 2014. Binational outbreak of Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with *Campylobacter jejuni* infection, Mexico and USA, 2011. Epidemiol Infect 142, 1089-1099. doi: 10.1017/s0950268813001908.

Jolley, K.A., Bray, J.E., Maiden, M.C.J., 2018. Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.org website and their applications. Wellcome Open Res 3, 124. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.14826.1.

Kaakoush, N.O., Castaño-Rodríguez, N., Mitchell, H.M., Man, S.M., 2015. Global Epidemiology of *Campylobacter* Infection. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 28, 687-720. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00006-15.

Keithlin, J., Sargeant, J., Thomas, M.K., Fazil, A., 2014. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the proportion of *Campylobacter* cases that develop chronic sequelae. Bmc Public Health 14, 1203. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1203.

Kenyon, J., Inns, T., Aird, H., Swift, C., Astbury, J., Forester, E., Decraene, V., 2020. *Campylobacter* outbreak associated with raw drinking milk, North West England, 2016. Epidemiol Infect 148, e13. doi: 10.1017/s0950268820000096.

Kim, D.K., Hong, S.K., Kim, M., Ahn, J.Y., Yong, D., Lee, K., 2015. *Campylobacter hyointestinalis* isolated from a human stool specimen. Annals of laboratory medicine 35, 657-659. doi: 10.3343/alm.2015.35.6.657.

Kim, S.-H., Chelliah, R., Ramakrishnan, S.R., Perumal, A.S., Bang, W.-S., Rubab, M., Daliri, E.B.-M., Barathikannan, K., Elahi, F., Park, E., Jo, H.Y., Hwang, S.-B., Oh, D.H., 2021. Review on Stress Tolerance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 10. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.596570.

Knipper, A.-D., Ghoreishi, N., Crease, T., 2022. Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Plos One 17, e0276018. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0276018.

Knipper, A.-D., Göhlich, S., Stingl, K., Ghoreishi, N., Fischer-Tenhagen, C., Bandick, N., Tenhagen, B.-A., Crease, T., 2023a. Longitudinal Study for the Detection and Quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in Dairy Cows during Milking and in the Dairy Farm Environment. Foods 12, 1639. doi: 10.3390/foods12081639.

Knipper, A.-D., Plaza-Rodríguez, C., Filter, M., Wulsten, I.F., Stingl, K., Crease, T., 2023b. Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but non-culturable cells (VBNC). Journal of Food Safety n/a, e13077. doi: 10.1111/jfs.13077.

Knipper, A.-D., Crease, T., Günther, T., Filter, M., Nauta, M., 2023c. Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for *Campylobacter* in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany. Microbial Risk Analysis 25, 100274. doi: 10.1016/j.mran.2023.100274.

Krüger, N.-J., Buhler, C., Iwobi, A.N., Huber, I., Ellerbroek, L., Appel, B., Stingl, K., 2014. "Limits of control"--crucial parameters for a reliable quantification of viable *campylobacter* by real-time PCR. Plos One 9, e88108-e88108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088108.

Labohm, K., Baaken, D., Hess, S., 2021. Mikromarktstrukturen der Rohmilchautomaten in Deutschland, German Association of Agricultural Economists (GEWISOLA) > 61st Annual Conference, Berlin, Germany. doi: 10.22004/ag.econ.317053.

Lake, I., Colón-González, F., Takkinen, J., Rossi, M., Sudre, B., Dias, J.G., Tavoschi, L., Joshi, A., Semenza, J., Nichols, G., 2019. Exploring *Campylobacter* seasonality across Europe using The European Surveillance System (TESSy), 2008 to 2016. Eurosurveillance 24, 1800028. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.13.180028.

Leonhard, S.E., Mandarakas, M.R., Gondim, F.A.A., Bateman, K., Ferreira, M.L.B., Cornblath, D.R., van Doorn, P.A., Dourado, M.E., Hughes, R.A.C., Islam, B., Kusunoki, S., Pardo, C.A., Reisin, R., Sejvar, J.J., Shahrizaila, N., Soares, C., Umapathi, T., Wang, Y., Yiu, E.M., Willison, H.J., Jacobs, B.C., 2019. Diagnosis and management of Guillain-Barré syndrome in ten steps. Nat Rev Neurol 15, 671-683. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0250-9.

Li, L., Mendis, N., Trigui, H., Oliver, J.D., Faucher, S.P., 2014. The importance of the viable but non-culturable state in human bacterial pathogens. Front Microbiol 5, 258. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00258.

Lori, S., Buckow, R., Knorr, D., Heinz, V., Lehmacher, A., 2007. Predictive model for inactivation of *Campylobacter* spp. by heat and high hydrostatic pressure. J Food Prot 70, 2023-2029. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-70.9.2023.

Lv, R., Wang, K., Feng, J., Heeney, D.D., Liu, D., Lu, X., 2019. Detection and Quantification of Viable but Non-culturable *Campylobacter jejuni*. Front Microbiol 10, 2920. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02920.

Mafart, P., Couvert, O., Gaillard, S., Leguerinel, I., 2002. On calculating sterility in thermal preservation methods: application of the Weibull frequency distribution model. International Journal of Food Microbiology 72, 107-113. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(01)00624-9.

Magajna, B., Schraft, H., 2015. Evaluation of Propidium Monoazide and Quantitative PCR To Quantify Viable *Campylobacter jejuni* Biofilm and Planktonic Cells in Log Phase and in a Viable but Nonculturable State. J Food Prot 78, 1303-1311. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x.Jfp-14-583.

McCarthy, N., Giesecke, J., 2001. Incidence of Guillain-Barré Syndrome following Infection with *Campylobacter jejuni*. American Journal of Epidemiology 153, 610-614. doi: 10.1093/aje/153.6.610.

Membré, J.M., Lambert, R.J., 2008. Application of predictive modelling techniques in industry: from food design up to risk assessment. Int J Food Microbiol 128, 10-15. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.07.006.

Modi, S., Brahmbhatt, M.N., Chatur, Y.A., Nayak, J.B., 2015. Prevalence of *Campylobacter* species in milk and milk products, their virulence gene profile and antibiogram. Vet World 8, 1-8. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2015.1-8.

Moriarty, E.M., Sinton, L.W., Mackenzie, M.L., Karki, N., Wood, D.R., 2008. A survey of enteric bacteria and protozoans in fresh bovine faeces on New Zealand dairy farms. J Appl Microbiol 105, 2015-2025. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03939.x.

Mossel, D.A., Drion, E.F., 1979. Risk analysis. Its application to the protection of the consumer against food-transmitted diseases of microbial aetiology [proceedings]. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 45, 321-323. doi: 10.1007/bf00418599.

Mughini Gras, L., Smid, J.H., Wagenaar, J.A., de Boer, A.G., Havelaar, A.H., Friesema, I.H.M., French, N.P., Busani, L., van Pelt, W., 2012. Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis of Chicken, Ruminant, and Environmental Origin: A Combined Case-Control and Source Attribution Analysis. Plos One 7, e42599. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042599.

Mughini-Gras, L., Penny, C., Ragimbeau, C., Schets, F.M., Blaak, H., Duim, B., Wagenaar, J.A., de Boer, A., Cauchie, H.-M., Mossong, J., van Pelt, W., 2016. Quantifying potential sources of surface water contamination with *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Water Research 101, 36-45. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2016.05.069.

Murphy, B.L., 1998. Dealing with Uncertainty in Risk Assessment. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal 4, 685-699. doi: 10.1080/10807039891284569.

Najjar, Y.M., Basheer, I.A., Hajmeer, M.N., 1997. Computational neural networks for predictive microbiology: I. methodology. International Journal of Food Microbiology 34, 27-49. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(96)01168-3.

Nauta, M.J., 2000. Separation of uncertainty and variability in quantitative microbial risk assessment models. International Journal of Food Microbiology 57, 9-18. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00225-7.

Nauta, M.J., Jacobs-Reitsma, W.F., Havelaar, A.H., 2007. A Risk Assessment Model for *Campylobacter* in Broiler Meat. Risk Analysis 27, 845-861. doi: 10.1111/j.1539-6924.2006.00834.x.

Nauta, M., 2008. The Modular Process Risk Model (MPRM): a Structured Approach to Food Chain Exposure Assessment. Microbial Risk Analysis of Foods, pp. 99-136. doi: 10.1128/9781555815752.ch4.

Nauta, M., Hill, A., Rosenquist, H., Brynestad, S., Fetsch, A., van der Logt, P., Fazil, A., Christensen, B., Katsma, E., Borck, B., Havelaar, A., 2009. A comparison of risk assessments on *Campylobacter* in broiler meat. Int J Food Microbiol 129, 107-123. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.12.001.

Nauta, M., Bolton, D., Crotta, M., Ellis-Iversen, J., Alter, T., Hempen, M., Messens, W., Chemaly, M., 2022. An updated assessment of the effect of control options to reduce *Campylobacter* concentrations in broiler caeca on human health risk in the European Union. Microbial Risk Analysis 21, 100197. doi: 10.1016/j.mran.2021.100197.

Negretti, N.M., Clair, G., Talukdar, P.K., Gourley, C.R., Huynh, S., Adkins, J.N., Parker, C.T., Corneau, C.M., Konkel, M.E., 2019. *Campylobacter jejuni* Demonstrates Conserved Proteomic and Transcriptomic Responses When Co-cultured With Human INT 407 and Caco-2 Epithelial Cells. Frontiers in Microbiology 10. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00755.

Nielsen, E.M., 2002. Occurrence and strain diversity of thermophilic *Campylobacters* in cattle of different age groups in dairy herds. Lett Appl Microbiol 35, 85-89. doi: 10.1046/j.1472-765x.2002.01143.x.

Oh, E., McMullen, L., Jeon, B., 2015. Impact of oxidative stress defense on bacterial survival and morphological change in *Campylobacter jejuni* under aerobic conditions. Front Microbiol 6, 295. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00295.

Oliver, S.P., Boor, K. J., Murphy, S. C., & Murinda, S. E, 2009. Food Safety Hazards Associated with Consumption of Raw Milk. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 6, 793-806. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2009.0302.

Oosterom, J., GJA, D.E.W., E, D.E.B., LH, D.E.B., Karman, H., 1983. Survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* during Poultry Processing and Pig Slaughtering. J Food Prot 46, 702-706. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-46.8.702.

Orr, K.E., Lightfoot, N.F., Sisson, P.R., Harkis, B.A., Tweddle, J.L., Boyd, P., Carroll, A., Jackson, C.J., Wareing, D.R., Freeman, R., 1995. Direct milk excretion of *Campylobacter jejuni* in a dairy cow causing cases of human enteritis. Epidemiol Infect 114, 15-24. doi: 10.1017/s0950268800051876.

Oscar, T.E., 2005. Validation of Lag Time and Growth Rate Models for *Salmonella Typhimurium*: Acceptable Prediction Zone Method. Journal of Food Science 70, M129-M137. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2005.tb07103.x.

Oyarzabal, O.A., Oscar, T.P., Speegle, L., Nyati, H., 2010. Survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* on retail broiler meat stored at -20, 4, or 12 degrees C and development of Weibull models for survival. J Food Prot 73, 1438-1446. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-73.8.1438.

Park, S.F., 2002. The physiology of *Campylobacter* species and its relevance to their role as foodborne pathogens. Int J Food Microbiol 74, 177-188. doi: 10.1016/s0168-1605(01)00678-x.

Pérez-Rodríguez, F., Valero, A., 2013. Predictive Microbiology in Foods. New York: Springer ISBN: 978-1-4614-5519-6.

Pérez-Rodríguez, F., 2014. Development and application of predictive microbiology models in foods, Mathematical and Statistical Methods in Food Science and Technology, pp. 321-362. doi: 10.1002/9781118434635.ch18.

Poropatich, K.O., Walker, C.L., Black, R.E., 2010. Quantifying the association between *Campylobacter* infection and Guillain-Barré syndrome: a systematic review. J Health Popul Nutr 28, 545-552. doi: 10.3329/jhpn.v28i6.6602.

Poursina, F., Fagri, J., Mirzaei, N., Safaei, H.G., 2018. Overexpression of spoT gene in coccoid forms of clinical *Helicobacter pylori* isolates. Folia Microbiologica 63, 459-465. doi: 10.1007/s12223-017-0557-0.

R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

Ramamurthy, T., Ghosh, A., Pazhani, G.P., Shinoda, S., 2014. Current Perspectives on Viable but Non-Culturable (VBNC) Pathogenic Bacteria. Front Public Health 2, 103. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00103.

Ramonaitė, S., Rokaitytė, A., Tamulevičienė, E., Malakauskas, A., Alter, T., Malakauskas, M., 2013. Prevalence, quantitative load and genetic diversity of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cattle herds in Lithuania. Acta Vet Scand 55, 87. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-55-87.

Rapp, D., Ross, C.M., Pleydell, E.J., Muirhead, R.W., 2012. Differences in the fecal concentrations and genetic diversities of *Campylobacter jejuni* populations among individual

cows in two dairy herds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78, 7564-7571. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01783-12.

Rapp, D., Ross, C.M., Cave, V., Muirhead, R.W., 2014. Prevalence, concentration and genotypes of *Campylobacter jejuni* in faeces from dairy herds managed in farm systems with or without housing. Journal of Applied Microbiology 116, 1035-1043. doi: 10.1111/jam.12425.

Ratkowsky, D.A., Olley, J., McMeekin, T.A., Ball, A., 1982. Relationship between temperature and growth rate of bacterial cultures. J Bacteriol 149, 1-5. doi: 10.1128/jb.149.1.1-5.1982.

Ratkowsky, D., 2003. Model fitting and uncertainty, pp. 151-196. ISBN 9780429210969.

Rawson, T., Paton, R.S., Colles, F.M., Maiden, M.C.J., Dawkins, M.S., Bonsall, M.B., 2020. A Mathematical Modeling Approach to Uncover Factors Influencing the Spread of *Campylobacter* in a Flock of Broiler-Breeder Chickens. Frontiers in Microbiology 11. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.576646.

Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 of the European Parliament and the Council of 29 April 2004 laying down specific hygiene rules for on the hygiene of foodstuffs. Offical Journal of the European Union L 139/55. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32004R0853&from=EN (Accessed Juni 11, 2023).

Robinson, D.A., 1981. Infective dose of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 282, 1584.

Rollins, D.M., Colwell, R.R., 1986. Viable but nonculturable stage of *Campylobacter jejuni* and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 52, 531-538. doi:10.1128/aem.52.3.531-538.1986.

Rosner, B.M., Schielke, A., Didelot, X., Kops, F., Breidenbach, J., Willrich, N., Gölz, G., Alter, T., Stingl, K., Josenhans, C., Suerbaum, S., Stark, K., 2017. A combined case-control and molecular source attribution study of human *Campylobacter* infections in Germany, 2011–2014. Scientific Reports 7, 5139. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05227-x.

Rosner, B.M., Gassowski, M., Albrecht, S., Stark, K., 2021. Investigating the *Campylobacter* enteritis winter peak in Germany, 2018/2019. Scientific Reports 11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-02423-8.

Ross, T., McMeekin, T.A., 1994. Predictive microbiology. Int J Food Microbiol 23, 241-264. doi: 10.1016/0168-1605(94)90155-4

Ross, T., 1996. Indices for performance evaluation of predictive models in food microbiology. J Appl Bacteriol 81, 501-508. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1996.tb03539.x.

Sanaa, M., Guillier, L., 2022. Microbial Dose–Response Models, Microbiological Risk Assessment Associated with the Food Processing and Distribution Chain, pp. 141-166. doi: 10.1002/9781119986980.ch5.

Sanad, Y.M., Closs Jr, G., Kumar, A., LeJeune, J.T., Rajashekara, G., 2013. Molecular epidemiology and public health relevance of *Campylobacter* isolated from dairy cattle and European starlings in Ohio, USA. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 10, 229-236. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2012.1293.

Schaffner, D.W., 2008. Microbial Risk Analysis of Foods. ASM Press. ISBN: 1555814611.

Schildt, M., Savolainen, S., Hänninen, M.L., 2006. Long-lasting *Campylobacter jejuni* contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family. Epidemiology and Infection 134, 401-405. doi: 10.1017/S0950268805005029.

Silva, J., Leite, D., Fernandes, M., Mena, C., Gibbs, P.A., Teixeira, P., 2011. *Campylobacter* spp. as a Foodborne Pathogen: A Review. Front Microbiol 2, 200. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00200.

Stanley, K.N., Wallace, J.S., Currie, J.E., Diggle, P.J., Jones, K., 1998. The seasonal variation of thermophilic *Campylobacters* in beef cattle, dairy cattle and calves. J Appl Microbiol 85, 472-480. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.1998.853511.x.

Teunis, P.F.M., Havelaar, A.H., 2000. The Beta Poisson Dose-Response Model Is Not a Single-Hit Model. Risk Analysis 20, 513-520. doi: 10.1111/0272-4332.204048.

Teunis, P.F.M., Bonačić Marinović, A., Tribble, D.R., Porter, C.K., Swart, A., 2018. Acute illness from *Campylobacter jejuni* may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. Epidemics 24, 1-20. doi: 10.1016/j.epidem.2018.02.001.

TMR, 2016. Raw milk vending machine market - europe industry analysis, size, share, growth, trends and forecast 2016-2024. Transparency Market Research, Albany, NY, USA. Available online: http://bit.ly/2qR5fa2 (Accessed April 17, 2023).

van Boekel, M.A., 2002. On the use of the Weibull model to describe thermal inactivation of microbial vegetative cells. Int J Food Microbiol 74, 139-159. doi: 10.1016/s0168-1605(01)00742-5.

Vissers, M.M., Driehuis, F., Te Giffel, M.C., De Jong, P., Lankveld, J.M., 2007. Short communication: Quantification of the transmission of microorganisms to milk via dirt attached to the exterior of teats. J Dairy Sci 90, 3579-3582. doi: 10.3168/jds.2006-633.

Wakerley, B.R., Uncini, A., Yuki, N., 2014. Guillain-Barré and Miller Fisher syndromes--new diagnostic classification. Nat Rev Neurol 10, 537-544. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2014.138.

Waldenström, J., Axelsson-Olsson, D., Olsen, B., Hasselquist, D., Griekspoor, P., Jansson, L., Teneberg, S., Svensson, L., Ellström, P., 2010. *Campylobacter jejuni* Colonization in Wild Birds: Results from an Infection Experiment. Plos One 5, e9082. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009082.

Waterman, S.C., Park, R.W., Bramley, A.J., 1984. A search for the source of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk. J Hyg (Lond) 93, 333-337. doi: 10.1017/s0022172400064871.

Whiting, R.C., Buchanan, R.L., 1993. Letter to the editor: A classification of models in predictive microbiology—A reply to K. R. Davey. Food Microbiol., 175–177.

Wilkinson, M.D., Dumontier, M., Aalbersberg, I.J., Appleton, G., Axton, M., Baak, A., Blomberg, N., Boiten, J.-W., da Silva Santos, L.B., Bourne, P.E., Bouwman, J., Brookes, A.J., Clark, T., Crosas, M., Dillo, I., Dumon, O., Edmunds, S., Evelo, C.T., Finkers, R., Gonzalez-Beltran, A., Gray, A.J.G., Groth, P., Goble, C., Grethe, J.S., Heringa, J., 't Hoen, P.A.C., Hooft, R., Kuhn, T., Kok, R., Kok, J., Lusher, S.J., Martone, M.E., Mons, A., Packer, A.L., Persson, B., Rocca-Serra, P., Roos, M., van Schaik, R., Sansone, S.-A., Schultes, E., Sengstag, T., Slater, T., Strawn, G., Swertz, M.A., Thompson, M., van der Lei, J., van Mulligen, E., Velterop, J., Waagmeester, A., Wittenburg, P., Wolstencroft, K., Zhao, J., Mons, B., 2016. The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Scientific Data 3, 160018. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.18.

Wulsten, I.F., Galeev, A., Stingl, K., 2020. Underestimated Survival of *Campylobacter* in Raw Milk Highlighted by Viability Real-Time PCR and Growth Recovery. Frontiers in Microbiology 11, 1107-1107. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01107.

Yoon, K.S., Burnette, C.N., Oscar, T.P., 2004. Development of predictive models for the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* (ATCC 43051) on cooked chicken breast patties and in broth as a function of temperature. J Food Prot 67, 64-70. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-67.1.64.

Zwietering, M.H., Jongenburger, I., Rombouts, F.M., van 't Riet, K., 1990. Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. Appl Environ Microbiol 56, 1875-1881. doi: 10.1128/aem.56.6.1875-1881.1990.

Zwietering, M.H., Wijtzes, T., JC, D.E.W., Riet, K.V., 1992. A Decision Support System for Prediction of the Microbial Spoilage in Foods. J Food Prot 55, 973-979. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-55.12.973.

9 Appendix

RISMAN

9.1 Supplementary material of Publication 1

S1. PRISMA checklist.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	3-4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide registration information including registration number.	5
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	5-6
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	5-6
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	Table 1
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	6-7
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	5-6
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and simplifications made.	-
Risk of bias in individual studies	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	7-8
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	9-10
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency (e.g., I ²) for each meta-analysis.	9-10

Page 1 of 2



PRISMA 2009 Checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	7-8
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which were pre-specified.	9-10
RESULTS			
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	11, Fig 1
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	S1 table
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment (see item 12).	13
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each intervention group (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.	14, Fig 3
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.	Fig 4
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	13
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	16-17
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	17-22
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	23-24
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	Ξ.
FUNDING	÷		
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	-

From: Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097

For more information, visit: www.prisma-statement.org.

Page 2 of 2

Fig S1. Heterogeneity.

(A) Heterogeneity in the multilevel model, (B) Heterogeneity in the multilevel mixed effects model.



Fig S2. Bubbleplot.



Fig S3. Forest plot RoB.

Study or					
Subgroup	Events	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% (CI IV, Random, 95% CI
rob = low					
Acha et al., 2004 [43]	43.230	393	3.2%	0.11 [0.08; 0.14]	
Messelhaeuser et al. 2008 [44]	29.380	226	3.2%	0.13 [0.09; 0.18]	
Klein et al. 2013 [47]	56.918	382	3.2%	0.15 [0.11; 0.19]	.
Adesiyun et al. 1992 [49]	60.065	293	3.2%	0.20 [0.16; 0.25]	
Sato et al., 2004 [52]	332.289	1191	3.3%	0.28 [0.25; 0.30]	-
Bianchi et al., 2014 [15]	25.010	82	3.1%	0.30 [0.21; 0.41]	
Hoque et al., 2021 [53]	166.860	540	3.3%	0.31 [0.27; 0.35]	-
Hagey et al., 2019 [54]	46.500	150	3.2%	0.31 [0.24; 0.39]	- -
Kwan et al. 2008 [57]	433.672	1208	3.3%	0.36 [0.33; 0.39]	
Grinberg et al., 2005 [58]	57.960	161	3.2%	0.36 [0.29; 0.44]	
Adhikari et al., 2004 [64]	28.080	52	3.0%	0.54 [0.40; 0.67]	
Rapp et al., 2020 [65]	48.600	90	3.1%	0.54 [0.44; 0.64]	— — —
Ramonait et al., 2013 [37]	157.000	200	3.2%	0.78 [0.73; 0.84]	
Total (95% CI)		4968	41.4%	0.32 [0.22; 0.43]	
$Tau^2 = 0.0418$; $Chi^2 = 458.81$, df = 12 ((P < 0.01);	$ ^2 = 97^{\circ}$	%		
rob = high					
Silveira et al., 2021 [39]	0.030	60	3.0%	0.00 [0.00; 0.03]	.
Adesiyun et al., 1996 [40]	18.981	333	3.2%	0.06 [0.03; 0.08]	—
McAuley et al. 2014 [41]	0.960	16	2.5%	0.06 [0.00; 0.24]	- B
Duncan et al., 2013 [42]	404.700	4260	3.3%	0.10 [0.09; 0.10]	+
Watner-Toews et al., 1986 [45]	20.280	156	3.2%	0.13 [0.08; 0.19]	
Padungtod and Kaneene 2005 [46]	31.500	225	3.2%	0.14 [0.10; 0.19]	
Roug 2012 [48]	2.040	12	2.3%	0.17 [0.01; 0.44]	
Baserisalehi et al. 2007 [50]	25.410	121	3.1%	0.21 [0.14; 0.29]	
Dong et al., 2016 [51]	46.948	194	3.2%	0.24 [0.18; 0.30]	
Nielsen et al. 2002 [36]	106.904	332	3.2%	0.32 [0.27; 0.37]	
Khalifa et al. 2013 [55]	16.000	50	3.0%	0.32 [0.20; 0.46]	
Kashoma et al. 2015 [56]	67.968	192	3.2%	0.35 [0.29; 0.42]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 [59]	48.960	136	3.2%	0.36 [0.28: 0.44]	÷.
Sanad et al., 2013 [60]	83.082	227	3.2%	0.37 [0.30; 0.43]	
Acik and Centinkava 2005 [61]	110.000	250	3.2%	0.44 [0.38; 0.50]	
Hakkinen and Hé([~] ninen, 2009 [62]	168.980	340	3.2%	0.50 [0.44: 0.55]	-
Englen et al., 2007 [63]	734,720	1435	3.3%	0.51 [0.49: 0.54]	
Cha et al., 2017 [66]	33,988	58	3.0%	0.59 [0.46: 0.71]	
Giacoboni et al., 1993 [67]	61.006	94	3.1%	0.65 [0.55: 0.74]	——————————————————————————————————————
Total (95% CI)		8491	58.6%	0.27 [0.18: 0.37]	-
$Tau^2 = 0.0493$; Chi ² = 1566.04, df = 18	(P < 0.01); $ ^2 = 98$	9%	[,	
Total (95% CI)		13459	100.0%	0.29 [0.23; 0.36]	•
Prediction interval				[0.01; 0.72]	
Tau ² = 0.0453; Chi ² = 2136.64, df = 31	$(P = 0); I^2$	= 99%			
Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 0$.53, df = 1	(P = 0.	47)		0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8

Fig S4. Forest plot species.

Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% C	I IV, Random, 95% CI
Munroe et al. 1983	0.000	314	0.9%	0.00 [0.00; 0.01]	0
Giacoboni et al., 1993 Giacoboni et al., 1993	1.034	94	0.9%	0.01 [0.00; 0.03]	
Wesley et al., 2000 Wesley et al., 2000	8.130 37.530	542 2085	0.9%	0.01 [0.01; 0.03] 0.02 [0.01; 0.02]	
Guevremont et al., 2014 Wesley et al., 2000	14.346 29.317	797	0.9%	0.02 [0.01; 0.03]	•
Munroe et al. 1983 Terentieva et al. 2019	6.280	314	0.9%	0.02 [0.01; 0.04]	
Hakkinen and Héčninen, 2009	10.880	340	0.9%	0.03 [0.02; 0.05]	-
Kashoma et al. 2015	2.016	32	0.8%	0.06 [0.00; 0.12]	
Kashoma et al. 2015	14.012	113	0.9%	0.12 [0.07; 0.19]	
Kashoma et al. 2015 Baserisalehi et al. 2007	6.016 3.900	47 26	0.9%	0.13 [0.05; 0.24] 0.15 [0.03; 0.32]	
Acik and Centinkaya 2005 Total (95% CI)	23.980	110 6924	0.9%	0.22 [0.15; 0.30] 0.04 [0.02; 0.07]	•
Tau ² = 0.0140; Chi ² = 150.62, df = 1	6 (P < 0.01); 1 ² = 89	%		
Campylobacter_species = jeju Atabay and Corry 1997	ni 0.000	30	0.8%	0.00 [0.00; 0.06]	B -
Ward and Guevremont 2014 Hakkinen and Hécininen, 2009	0.000	20	0.8%	0.00 [0.00; 0.08] 0.00 [0.00; 0.09]	
Merialdi et al. 2015 Atabay and Corry 1997	4.760	280	0.9%	0.02 [0.00; 0.04]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	0.940	47	0.9%	0.02 [0.00; 0.09]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Guevremont et al. 2014	0.000	5	0.6%	0.00 [0.00; 0.32]	
Bianchi et al., 2014	1.003	17	0.8%	0.06 [0.00; 0.24]	
Adesiyun et al. 1992	31.937	293	0.9%	0.11 [0.08; 0.15]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Hakkinen and Hé∂ninen, 2009	0.490	19	0.6%	0.07 [0.00; 0.41] 0.10 [0.00; 0.29]	
Terentjeva et al., 2019 Hakkinen and Hé∉ninen, 2009	23.040 1.998	180 18	0.9% 0.8%	0.13 [0.08; 0.18] 0.11 [0.00; 0.31]	
Giacoboni et al., 1993 Atabay and Corry 1997	7.980	60 9	0.9%	0.13 [0.06; 0.23] 0.11 [0.00; 0.42]	
Kashoma et al. 2015 Kashoma et al. 2015	7.003	47	0.9%	0.15 [0.06; 0.27] 0.16 [0.05; 0.31]	
Munroe et al. 1983 Hakkinen and Hérminen 2000	53.380 3.002	314	0.9%	0.17 [0.13; 0.21]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Roug 2012	0.980	7	0.6%	0.14 [0.00; 0.51]	
Dong et al., 2016	46.948	194	0.9%	0.24 [0.18; 0.30]	
Munroe et al. 1983	26.750	107	0.7%	0.23 [0.04; 0.50] 0.25 [0.17; 0.34]	
Kashoma et al. 2015 Atabay and Corry 1997	4.050	113	0.9%	0.27 [0.19; 0.35] 0.27 [0.07; 0.53]	
Rapp et al., 2020 Bianchi et al., 2014	4.050 10.010	15 35	0.8%	0.27 [0.07; 0.53] 0.29 [0.15; 0.45]	
Hakkinen and Hé< ninen, 2009 Hakkinen and Hé< ninen, 2009	6.006	21	0.8%	0.29 [0.11; 0.50] 0.29 [0.10; 0.54]	
Baserisalehi et al. 2007 Bianchi et al., 2014	7.800 25.010	26 82	0.8%	0.30 [0.14; 0.49] 0.30 [0.21; 0.41]	
Hakkinen and Hé< ninen, 2009 Giacoboni et al., 1993	6.000 29.046	20 94	0.8%	0.30 [0.12; 0.52]	
Khalifa et al. 2013 Rann et al. 2013	16.000	50 105	0.9%	0.32 [0.20; 0.46]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Hakkings and Hé Jainon 2000	16.200	45	0.9%	0.36 [0.23; 0.51]	
Wesley et al., 2000 Hakkings and Hé Trings, 2009	786.045	2085	0.9%	0.38 [0.36; 0.40]	
Hakkinen and Hérininen, 2009	7.002	18	0.8%	0.39 [0.17; 0.63]	
Wesley et al., 2000 Wesley et al., 2000	624.915	1543	0.9%	0.40 [0.35, 0.44]	
Hakkinen and Hérininen, 2009	44.100	340	0.9%	0.42 [0.33, 0.52] 0.43 [0.38; 0.48]	-
Rapp et al., 2013 Hakkinen and Hécininen, 2009	45.150 149.600	105 340	0.9%	0.43 [0.34; 0.53] 0.44 [0.39; 0.49]	-
Hakkinen and Hé<"ninen, 2009 Hakkinen and Hé<"ninen, 2009	153.000 9.000	340 20	0.9%	0.45 [0.40; 0.50] 0.45 [0.24; 0.67]	
Bianchi et al., 2014 Rapp et al., 2020	14.010 7.050	30 15	0.8%	0.47 [0.29; 0.65] 0.47 [0.22; 0.73]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Acik and Centinkaya 2005	102.900 55.000	210 110	0.9%	0.49 [0.42; 0.56] 0.50 [0.41; 0.59]	-8-
Rapp et al., 2020 Rapp et al., 2020	7.950	15 15	0.8%	0.53 [0.27; 0.78]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Adhikari et al. 2004	23.850	45	0.9%	0.53 [0.38; 0.67]	
Rapp et al., 2020 Rapp et al., 2013	48.600	90	0.9%	0.54 [0.44; 0.64]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Ward and Guevremont 2014	210.600	390	0.9%	0.54 [0.49; 0.59]	20 - 2
Rapp et al., 2013	214.500	390	0.9%	0.55 [0.50; 0.60]	
Rapp et al., 2013	58.800	105	0.9%	0.56 [0.46; 0.65]	
Cha et al., 2017	33.988	58	0.9%	0.59 [0.46; 0.71]	
Rapp et al., 2013	21.012 27.900	34 45	0.8%	0.62 [0.45; 0.78]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Hakkinen and Hé< ninen, 2009	28.800	45 340	0.9%	0.64 [0.49; 0.77] 0.64 [0.59; 0.69]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Rapp et al., 2020	29.700 10.050	45 15	0.9%	0.66 [0.51; 0.79] 0.67 [0.41; 0.89]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Hakkinen and Hérninen, 2009	30.150 17.000	45 25	0.9%	0.67 [0.52; 0.80] 0.68 [0.48; 0.85]	
Hakkinen and Hécininen, 2009 Rapp et al., 2013	12.002 31.950	17 45	0.8%	0.71 [0.46; 0.90] 0.71 [0.57; 0.83]	
Rapp et al., 2013 Rapp et al., 2020	34.200	45 15	0.9%	0.76 [0.62; 0.88] 0.80 [0.55; 0.97]	
Hakkinen and Hécininen, 2009 Hakkinen and Hécininen, 2009	26.994	33	0.8%	0.82 [0.67; 0.93]	
Hakkinen and Hécninen, 2009 Total (95% CI)	29.997	33 12046	0.8%	0.91 [0.78; 0.99]	÷ -•
Tau ² = 0.0620; Chi ² = 1956.31, df =	83 (P = 0);	r ² = 96%		and ferred error	
Campylobacter_species = hyo Bianchi et al., 2014	intestina 0,990	lis 30	0.8%	0.03 [0.00: 0 14]	-
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	1.050	15	0.8%	0.07 [0.00; 0.27]	
Hakkinen and Hécninen, 2009	52.020	340	0.9%	0.15 [0.12; 0.19]	
Guevremont et al., 2014	153.821	797	0.9%	0.19 [0.17; 0.25]	
Giacoboni et al., 1993 Giacoboni et al., 1993	9.010	94	0.9%	0.19 [0.12; 0.28] 0.26 [0.13; 0.43]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	20.320	94 47	0.9%	0.28 [0.19; 0.38] 0.28 [0.16; 0.42]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	2.030 9.600	7 30	0.6%	0.29 [0.01; 0.69] 0.32 [0.16; 0.50]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	2.000 18.060	5 42	0.6%	0.40 [0.02; 0.86] 0.43 [0.28; 0.58]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Atabay and Corry 1997	5.980 14.100	13 30	0.7%	0.46 [0.19; 0.74] 0.47 [0.29: 0.65]	
Atabay and Corry 1997 Total (95% CI)	5.040	9	0.7%	0.56 [0.22; 0.87]	÷ •
Tau ² = 0.0158; Chi ² = 56.71, df = 16	(P<0.01)	; 1 ² = 729	6	The second second second	335 ⁷
Total (95% CI) Prediction interval		20627	100.0%	0.28 [0.23; 0.33]	÷
$Tau^2 = 0.0734$; Chi ² = 6258.86, df =	117 (P = 0); ² = 98	%	[0.00, 0.01]	
reactor subgroup differences: Chr	- 110.06,	ut = 2 (H	× 0.01)		5 0.2 0.4 0.0 0.0

Fig S5. Forest plot season.



Table S1. Extraction table.

(1) Review

																			Wae inform			Were_faces	Were_sampl		Was the ou		
																			ation about		Wae inform	_samples_p	es_ol_cows	Were ISO	tcome_repor		
											Were repeat	t Are the ren	Are the ren	are the ren					the season	-	ation given	analysis a	om the anal	Methods an	ted for all r		
				Detection o	~		Numbe	r of t		Were repeat	vvere_repea	ante_the_tep	Ale_lile_lep /	ate_trie_rep	le the conc			le informatio	weather mo	- le informatio	whether the	_didiysis_d	veie e.g. du	plied for the	elevant_cub		
				quantificati	ï		Number of t otal no	nulati Description		ed measure	ments for n	urements so	urements for u	rements for	entration of	ls informatio	ls informatio	n about ord	nths given	n about any	cows were	outcome re	e to technic	detection a	groups and		
				on method	f Species ind		otal fecal s ons far	ms h age class	-	ments for in	opulations f	lit by Grego	populations	individual c (Campylobac	n about the	n about the	anic or conv	when sample	other adjus	selected ra	ported for p	al or metho	uantification	the whole p		
	5	Publication	Fecal collec	or Campylo	entification	Country of	amples take ends s	ample f cattle sar	n Health statu	dividual cattl	arms record	i rian season	farms avail a	attle availabl t	ter in faces	housing of	feeding of	entional far	es were tak	tment variat	ndomly for	ooled sampl	dological fail	of Campylo	opulation st		
Author	DOL or PMID V	ear Study y	ear tion method	bacter spp	method	study	n d	nled	s of cattle	e recorded	ed	s	able (Note the second s	aiven	cows given	cows given	mina aiven	en	le given*	sampling	es	ure	bacter spp	udied	rob ves	rob
1 Acha et al	10 1186/1751	2004 1995	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	Mozambique	393	8 calves	mixed	0_10001404	ves	ves but non	no r	10	no	ves	ves	unclear	ves	ves	no	ves	unclear	unclear	no	100_900	5 low
2 Acik and Ce	en 10 1111/i 147	2005 2003	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	1 Turkey	250	1 adult	healthy	no	10	no	no r	10 1	no	no.	no.	no	no	no.	no	ves	unclear	unclear	Ves		2 high
3 Adesivun ar	nc 10.1016/0167	1994 1992	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed not performed	c Trinidad	304	17 cows, heife	's mixed	no	ves	unclear	no r	10 1	no	ves	ves	unclear	ves	no	no	ves	unclear	unclear	no		4 high
4 Adesiyun et	t e 10.1016/0007	1992 1991	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	Trinidad	293	20 calves	mixed	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	ves	no	ves	no	ves	no	ves	unclear	unclear	ves	1	5 low
5 Adesivun et	t a 10, 1590/s003	2001 not spec	cified rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed not performed	c Trinidad	74	12 calves	mixed	no	ves	ves, but non	ves r	10 1	no	no	no	no	ves	no	no	ves	unclear	unclear	no		2 high
6 Adesiyun et	t a 9239938	1996 not spec	sified rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	Trinidad	333	177 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	unclear	unclear	yes	1	3 high
7 Adhikari et a	al 10.1080/0048	2004 2002	rectal collect	ti culture-base	d other molecu	New Zealand	52	1 adult	healthy	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	unclear	unclear	ves	0	6 low
8 Atabay and	C 10.1046/i.147	1997 1995-19	96 rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	UK	136	3 cows and c	al not specified	ves	ves	ves	ves r	10 1	no	no	no	no	ves	no	no	ves	unclear	unclear	ves		3 high
9 Baserisaleh	ni (10.3923/pjbs.	2007 2006	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	Iran	121	adult	healthy	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	unclear	no	yes		2 high
10 Bianchini et	t a 10.1128/aem.	2014 2010-20	12 rectal collect	ti culture-base	d PCR-based	Italy	82	3 adult	not specified	no	yes	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	unclear	unclear	yes	2	5 low
11 Cha et al.,	10.3389/fmict	2017 2012	not specified	d culture-base	ed PCR-based,	USA	58	1 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	yes	unclear	unclear	yes	[!	3 high
12 Dong et al.,	10.1089/fpd.2	2016 2012-20	14 rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	South Korea	194	1 adult	not specified	yes	yes	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	no	yes	yes	unclear	unclear	no	(3 high
13 Duncan et a	al. 10.1017/s095	2013 not spec	sified cow pat	culture-base	ed PCR-based	UK	4260	15 adult	not specified	no	yes	no	no r	10 1	no	yes	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes	unclear	unclear	no	(4 high
14 Englen et al	il., 10.1111/j.136	2007 2002	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	USA	1435	96 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes	unclear	unclear	no	(3 high
15 Grinberg et	al 10.1080/0048	2005 2002	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	New Zealand	161	24 calves	mixed	no	yes	no	no r	10 1	no	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	no	yes	no	unclear	no	1	5 low
16 Guevremont	t є 10.1089/fpd.2	2014 2011	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	Canada	797	40 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	unclear	unclear	no	1	6 low
17 Guevremont	t є 10.1089/fpd.2	2008 not spec	sified pooled cow r	p PCR-based	PCR-based	Canada	185	adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	unclear	unclear	unclear	1	0 high
18 Hagey et al.	., 10.3389/fmict	2019 not spec	ified rectal collect	ti PCR-based	other molecu	USA	150	10 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	unclear	no	no	(F	6 low
19 Hakkinen ar	nc 10.1111/j.136	2009 2006-20	07 cow pat	culture-base	ed other molecu	I Finland	340	3 adult	not specified	no	yes	yes	yes r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes	unclear	unclear	yes	4	4 high
20 Hansson et	a 10.1136/vr.10	2019 2015	pooled cow r	p culture-base	MALDI-TOF	Sweden	110	5 cows, heife	s not specified	no	yes	yes	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	unclear	unclear	no	1	2 high
21 Harvey et al	I. 10.4315/0362	2004 2001	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed other molecu	JUSA	720	9 adult	not specified	no	yes	unclear	yes r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	no	no	yes	unclear	no	no		2 high
22 Irshad et al.	., 10.1017/S095	2016 2009	pooled cow r	p culture-base	ed PCR-based	New Zealand	72	20 cows, heife	s not specified	no	no	yes	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	yes	unclear	no	1	2 high
23 Giacoboni e	et 10.1292/jvms	1993 not spec	ified not specified	d culture-base	ed phenotypic	Japan	94	6 cows and c	al healthy	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	unclear	unclear	yes		2 high
24 Jaakkonen	et 10.1128/AEM	2019 2014-20	15 pooled cow p	p culture-base	ed PCR-based	Finland	257	3 cows and c	al not specified	no	yes	yes	yes r	10 1	no	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	no	no	yes	yes	yes	7	7 low
25 Kashoma et	t a 10.3389/fmict	2015 2013-20	14 cow pat	culture-base	ed PCR-based	Tanzania	192	3 not specifie	d not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	no	unclear	yes	unclear	unclear	yes		3 high
26 Khalifa et al	I. 10.5829/idosi	2013 not spec	ified cow pat	culture-base	ed PCR-based	Egypt	20	not specifie	d diarrhea	no	no	no	no r	10		no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	unclear	unclear	yes		2 high
27 Klein et al.	10.3168/jds.2	2013 2009-20	10 rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed MALDI-TOF	Austria	382	100 calves	mixed	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	unclear	yes	no		7 low
28 Kwan et al.	10.1128/AEM	2008 2003	cow pat	culture-base	ed PCR-based	UK	1208	5 adult	not specified	no	yes	yes	yes r	10 1	no	no	no	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	unclear	no		5 low
29 McAuley et	a 10.3168/jds.2	2014 2013 an	d 201 not specified	d culture-base	ed PCR-based	Australia	16	3 adult	not specified	yes	no	yes	no r	10 1	no	no	unclear	no	yes	no	no	yes	unclear	yes	no		3 high
30 Merialdi et a	al. 10.4315/0362	2015 2012-20	13 rectal collect	ti PCR-based	a phenotypic	Italy	50	1 cows, heife	s not specified	yes	yes	yes	no r	10 1	no	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	no	unclear	no	f	6 low
31 Messelhaeu	us 10.2376/0003	2008 2004	not specified	d culture-base	ed PCR-based	Germany	226	4 not specifie	d not specified	no	yes	yes	yes r	10 1	no	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	no	yes	unclear	unclear	yes	f	6 low
32 Moriarty et a	al 10.1111/j.136	2008 not spec	ified pooled cow p	p culture-base	ed PCR-based	New Zealand	155	4 adult	healthy	no	yes	yes, but non	no r	10 !	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	yes	no	no	unclear	unclear	no		4 high
33 Munroe et a	al. 10.1128/jcm.	1983 not spec	ified rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed phenotypic	USA	412	10 not specifie	d mixed	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	unclear	unclear	no		1 high
34 Murinda et a	al. 10. 1089/1535	2004 not spec	ified pooled cow p	p culture-base	ed PCR-based	USA	98	4 not specifie	a not specified	no	yes	yes	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	unclear	unclear	no		1 high
35 Nielsen et a	al. 10.1046/j.147	2002 1999	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed other molecu	Denmark	332	24 cows, heite	s not specified	no	no	no	no r	10	yes	no	no	no	yes	no	no	yes	unclear	unclear	no		2 high
30 Oporto et al	., IU.1111/J.136	2007 2003-20	JU RECIAL COLLECT	u culture-base	d DCR has	Theiland	493	11 not specifie	a not specified	10	10	10	10 1		110	yes	yes	yes	yes		yes	10	unclear	unclear	10	; ;	3 IUW 2 high
37 Padungtod a	ar 10.4315/0362	2005 2000-20	J3 not specified	culture-base	PUR-based	Inaliand	225	∠o adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10 1	no	no	no	no	no	no	yes	yes	unciear	unclear	no	*	2 nign
30 Pragnan et a	ai 10.3108/j0S.2	2009 2004	rectal collect	u culture-base	d PCP based	Lithuania	200	3 adult	not specified	yes	yes	yes	yes r		Nee	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	10	yes	unclear	unclear	NOC		6 low
40 Rann et al	10 1111//am	2013 2012	12 com pat	culture-base	ad DCR based	New Zealand	200	21 adult	a not specified		y 05	ver but ren	10 1	N	y00	y 05	VAP	VAR	y 65	yd5	10	y00	unclear	yea	700		6 low
41 Roug et al.,	10.1016/j.cim	2013 2011-20	cow pat	culture-base	d PCR-based	LISA	50	2 I duuit	not specified	no	705	yes, put non	yea [10	100	yes	100	y03 no	y 85	705	10	ves	unclear	unclear	Ves		3 high
41 Roug et al., 42 Coned et al.	10.1010/j.cliff	2012 2000	not openified	i culture boos	d DCR based	UEA	207	11 not opecifie	d not specified		no	10	no 1		110	y65	10	no	110	no	10	yes	unclear	unclear	yes		2 high
43 Sato et al	10 1128/AEM	2013 2009 2004 not ener	cified cow pat	culture-base	d not performer	LISA	1191	60 cows and c	al healthy	10	ves	ves	Ves		00	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	100	ves	00	00	100		6 low
44 Stanley et a	al 10.1046/i.136	1998 1993-19	95 pooled cow r	n culture-base	ad obenotypic	UK	1112	4 cows and c	al not specified	no	ves	ves	yes i	10 1	ves	100	y63	yes no	yes	ves	110	y63	unclear	unclear	00		2 high
45 Terentieva e	at 10 1089/fpd 2	2019 not sner	cified rectal collect	ti culture-base	MAI DI-TOF	Latvia	180	18 calves	not specified	no	100	00	no r	10	no.	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	unclear	ves	00		8 low
46 Watner-Toe	w 3017528	1986 1982	rectal collect	ti culture-base	ad not performer	Canada	156	87 calves	not specified	no	no	10	no r	10	no	100	100	, no	ves	Ves	100	unclear	unclear	unclear	no		2 high
47 Ward and C	Gi 10 1089/fpd 2	2014 not snew	cified rectal collect	ti PCR-based	other molecu	Canada	40	2 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10	no	ves	ves	no	ves	ves	Ves	Ves	unclear	unclear	no		6 low
48 Watermann	e 10 1017/s002	1984 not snee	cified rectal collect	ti culture-base	ad not performer	c UK	74	adult	healthy	no	ves	ves	ves	10	ves	10	no	no	ves	no	10	ves	unclear	00	unclear		2 high
49 Wesley et a	al 10 1128/aem	2000 1996	rectal collect	ti culture-base	d PCR-based	USA	2085	31 adult	healthy	10	ves	100	ves r	10	, no	no	no	no	ves	no	no	Ves	unclear	unclear	no		2 high
50 Hansson et	a 10 1111/jam	2020 2015-20	17 rectal collect	ti culture-base	MAI DI-TOF	Sweden	223	7 calves	mixed	no	ves	no	no r	10	no	ves	no	ves	ves	ves	no	no.	no	Ves	no	r i	5 low
51 Hogue et al	10.3390/path	2021 2018-20	20 rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	Bangladesh	540	90 cows heife	s mixed	no	100	ves but non	ves r	10	no	Ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	Ves	ves	unclear	unclear	no	;	7 low
52 Rapp et al	10.3390/micn	2020 not spec	cified cow pat	culture-base	ed PCR-based	New Zealand	90	1 adult	not specified	no	ves	ves	ves r	10	no	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	no	ves	unclear	unclear	no		6 low
53 Silveira et al	10.5380/avs v	2021 not spec	cified rectal collect	ti culture-base	ed PCR-based	Brazil	120	12 adult	not specified	no	no	no	no r	10	no	no	no	no	no	ves	no	ves	unclear	unclear	Ves		3 high
oniona ol a		LOL I NOT SPOT					120							-						,		,				`	
																									t		
* other adju	stment variables	were e.g. herd size. r	nanagement practi	ice, feeding sv	ystem, milkina	system, hyaie	ne standard, bedding																				
		- /					, 5																				

(2) non-aggregated

					Detection_or				Which seas			Description	Specific_out	
					on_method_f	f Species_ind			on_is_the_pr	Number_of_i		age_class_o	ed_for_whole	
П	Author	Publication_	Study year	Fecal_collec	or_Campylo	entification_	Campylobac	Prevalence_i	evalence_rep	ndividual_cat	Health_statu	f_cattle_sam	_data_set_or	ovent*
U	Autrioi	yea	Study_year	rectal	culture-	metriou	tel_species	n_population	oned_ioi	lie_sampled	s_oi_cattie	pied	_sup_group	eveni
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	0	not specified	23	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	0
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	0	not specified	55	healthy	calves	sub-group	0
1	Acha et al	2004	1995	rectal	culture-	nhenotynic	son	0	not specified	78	mixed	calves	sub-group	0
	Nona et al.,	2004	1000	rectal	culture-	pricitotypic	Spp.		not speenied	10	IIIXCu	Carves	Sup-group	
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	10	not specified	230	healthy	calves	sub-group	23
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	10	not specified	239	mixed	calves	sub-group	23.9
1	Acha et al	2004	1995	rectal	culture-	nhenotynic	son	11	not specified	330	healthy	calves	sub-group	36.3
	Aona et al.,	2004	1000	rectal	culture-	pricitotypic	Spp.		not speenied		nearry	Carves	Sup-group	00.0
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	11	not specified	393	mixed	calves	whole	43.23
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	11	not specified	63	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	6.93
1	Acha et al	2004	1995	rectal	culture- based	nhenotynic	spp	16	not specified	31	diamhea	calves	sub-group	4.96
	, nona or an,	2001	1000	rectal	culture-	prioriotypic	opp.		not opcomou		diamod	Carloo	oub group	
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	22	not specified	9	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	1.98
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	25	not specified	76	mixed	calves	sub-group	19
1	Acha et al	2004	1995	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	SDD.	31	not specified	45	healthy	calves	sub-aroup	13.95
						PCR-based,					,,		3·P	
2	Acik and Centinkava	2005	2003	rectal collection	culture- based	flaA-typing, RFLP	coli	21.8	not specified	110	healthy	adult	sub-aroup	23.98
						PCR-based,					,,		<u>3</u>	
2	Acik and Centinkava	2005	2003	rectal collection	culture- based	flaA-typing, RFLP	ieiuni	50	not specified	110	healthy	adult	sub-aroup	55
						PCR-based,	J-J				,,		3p	
2	Acik and Centinkava	2005	2003	rectal collection	culture- based	flaA-typing, RFLP	not identifiable	28.2	not specified	110	healthy	adult	sub-aroup	31.02
						PCR-based,					,,		<u>3</u>	
2	Centinkaya	2005	2003	collection	culture- based	flaA-typing, RFLP	spp.	44	not specified	250	healthy	adult	whole	110
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	not performed	spp.	0	not specified	16	mixed	heifers	sub-group	0
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	not performed	spp.	11	not specified	100	mixed	calves	sub-group	11
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	not performed	spp.	16.5	not specified	121	healthy	calves	sub-group	19.965
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	not performed	spp.	17.1	not specified	105	mixed	calves	sub-group	17.955
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	not performed	spp.	21.9	not specified	183	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	40.077
	Adesiyun													
3	and Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	performed	spp.	33.3	not specified	42	mixed	calves	sub-group	13.986
	Adesiyun			rectal	culture	not								
3	8 Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	performed	spp.	39.1	not specified	23	mixed	calves	sub-group	8.993
	Adesiyun			rectal	culture	not								
3	anu Kaminjolo	1994	1992	collection	based	performed	spp.	44.4	not specified	18	mixed	calves	sub-group	7.992
	Adesiyun et	1002	1001	rectal	culture-	nhenotypic	coli	9.6	not enertified	203	mixed	calues	sub group	28 128
	Adesiyun et	1352	1551	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	COIL	3.0	not specified	200	IIIXeu	Calves	sup-group	20.120
4	Adesivun et	1992	1991	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	10.9	not specified	293	mixed	calves	sub-group	31.937
4	al.	1992	1991	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	17.8	not specified	118	healthy	calves	sub-group	21.004
	Adesiyun et	1002	1991	rectal	culture- based	nhenotypic	spp	20.5	not specified	203	mixed	calves	whole	60.065
4	Adesiyun et	1992		rectal	culture-	prioriorypic	SPP.	20.5	. or specified	293		501935		00.005
4	al. Adesivun et	1992	1991	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic not	spp.	22.3	not specified	175	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	39.025
	al.,	2001	not specified	collection	based	performed	spp.	0	not specified	5	healthy	calves	sub-group	0
-	Adesiyun et	2001	not specified	rectal collection	culture- based	not performed	SDD	43	not specified	23	healthy	calves	sub-aroup	0.980
	Adesiyun et	2001		rectal	culture-	not	- 44.	4.3	spoolidu				- an group	0.009
5	al., Adesivun et	2001	not specified	collection rectal	based culture-	performed not	spp.	12.1	not specified	33	healthy	calves	sub-group	3.993
	al.,	2001	not specified	collection	based	performed	spp.	16.6	not specified	6	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	0.996
-	Adesiyun et	2001	not specified	rectal collection	culture- based	not performed	SDD	26.8	not specified	41	diamhea	calves	sub-aroup	10 988
	Adesiyun et	2001	not specilieu	rectal	culture-	not	эрр.	20.0	not specified	41	ulaintea	Calves	sup-group	10.300
5	al., Adesivun et	2001	not specified	collection rectal	based culture-	performed not	spp.	28.1	not specified	32	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	8.992
	al.,	2001	not specified	collection	based	performed	spp.	33.3	not specified	3	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	0.999
-	Adesiyun et	2001	not specified	rectal collection	culture- based	not performed	SDD	60	not specified	5	healthy	calves	sub-aroun	2
	Adesiyun et	2001		rectal	culture-	ponormeu	υрр.	00			nourry	Salvoo	san-group	3
6	i al.,	1996	not specified	collection	based	phenotypic other	spp.	5.7	not specified	333	not specified	adult	whole	18.981
	Adhikari et			rectal	culture-	molecular								
7	al., Atabay and	2004	2002	collection rectal	based culture-	method	jejuni	54	not specified	52	healthy	adult	whole	28.08
	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	fetus	0	summer	13	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
٩	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	fetus	0	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
	Atabay and		1005	rectal	culture-					10				
8	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	pnenotypic	IETUS	0	winter	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	0

8 (Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture- based	phenotypic	fetus	0	summer	c	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
4	Atabay and	1001		rectal	culture-	priorietypic					not op oonied	uuun	oub group	
8 0	Corry Atabav and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	fetus	0	winter	10	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	fetus	0	winter	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	fetus	2	all	94	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.88
4	Atabay and	1007	1005 1006	rectal	culture-	phonotypio	fatua		aummar	43	not openified	adult	aub group	1 00
4	Atabay and	1997	1990-1990	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	letus	4	summer	47	not specilieu	cows and	sub-group	1.00
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	fetus	11	all	15	not specified	calves	sub-group	1.65
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	fetus	31	all	42	not specified	calves	sub-group	13.02
8 (Atabay and	1007	1005-1006	rectal	culture-	nhenotynic	fetus	43	fall	30	not specified	calves	sub-group	12.0
4	Atabay and	1991	1990-1990	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	hyointestinal	45	Idii		not specified	Calves	sub-group	12.5
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is hyointestinal	7	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.05
8 (Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is	10	winter	10	not specified	adult	sub-group	1
8 (Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture- based	phenotypic	hyointestinal is	28	summer	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	13 16
4	Atabay and	1001		rectal	culture-	prioriotypic	hyointestinal	20	Cuminor		not op comou	uuun	oub group	10.10
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based culture-	phenotypic	is hyointestinal	28	all	94	not specified	adult	sub-group	26.32
8 (Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is	29	winter	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	2.03
8 (Atabay and Corrv	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	hyointestinal	32	all	30	not specified	cows and calves	sub-aroup	9.6
ŀ	Atabay and			rectal	culture-		hyointestinal							
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	IS hyointestinal	40	winter	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	2
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is	43	all	42	not specified	calves	sub-group	18.06
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is	46	summer	13	not specified	adult	sub-group	5.98
, A	Atabay and	4007	1005 1000	rectal	culture-		hyointestinal		e					
80	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture-	pnenotypic	ls hyointestinal	47	Tall	30	not specified	calves	sub-group	14.1
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	is	56	summer	9	not specified	adult	sub-group	5.04
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	0	fall	30	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
4	Atabay and	1007	1005 1006	rectal	culture-	phonotypic	iojuni	0	winter	10	not enerified	adult	sub group	0
4	Atabay and	1997	1990-1990	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	Jejuni	0	winter	10	not specilieu	auuit	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	0	winter	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	2	summer	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.94
8 (Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture- based	phenotypic	ieiuni	2	all	42	not specified	calves	sub-group	0.84
4	Atabay and	1001	1000-1000	rectal	culture-	prioriotypic	Jojuni		cin		not speenied	cows and	Sub-group	0.04
8 0	Corry Atabav and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	jejuni	7	all	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	0.49
8 (Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	10	all	94	not specified	adult	sub-group	9.4
8 (Atabay and Corrv	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	ieiuni	11	summer	g	not specified	adult	sub-aroup	0.99
4	Atabay and			rectal	culture-									
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	jejuni	14	winter	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	0.98
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	23	summer	13	not specified	adult	sub-group	2.99
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	27	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	4.05
4	Atabay and	1007	1005 1006	rectal	culture-	phonotypic	not	0	foll	20		aahaa	aub group	0
4	Atabay and	1997	1990-1990	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	not	0	Idli		not specilieu	carves	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	0	all	42	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	0	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
8 (Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	not identifiable	0	winter	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
4	Atabay and	1001		rectal	culture-	prioriotypic	not				not opcomed	Curroo	oub group	
8 0	Corry Atabav and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based culture-	phenotypic	identifiable	0	summer	9	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	0	winter	10	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	not identifiable	0	winter	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
, A	Atabay and	4007	100F 1000	rectal	culture-	nhanatu-i-	not		211		not cno-if-	cows and	cub grou	0.40
4	Atabay and	1997	1992-1990	rectal	culture-	phenotypic	not	1	an	13	not specilied	carves	sub-group	0.13
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	2	summer	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.94
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	2	all	94	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.88
8 0	Atabay and Corrv	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	not identifiable	R	summer	19	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	1 04
4	Atabay and	1991		rectal	culture-	prioriocypic		0		13		cows and	- ao group	1.04
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	36	all	136	not specified	calves	whole	48.96
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	37	all	19	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.03
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	39	all	28	not specified	adult	sub-group	10.92
	Atabay and	100-	1005 1000	rectal	culture-	nhor-tu '					not creation	oolus-	aub	
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	spp.	40	all	5	not specified	carves	sup-group	2
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	43	all	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	3.01
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	77	all	30	not specified	calves	sub-group	23.1
,	Atabay and	1007	1005-1006	rectal	culture-	nhenotypic	enn	01	all	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	39.07
4	Atabay and	1997	1990-1980	rectal	culture-	prioriotypic	SPP.	01	an	4/	apeonied	adunt	Sup-group	30.07
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	fall	30	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	all	42	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Atabay and Corrv	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture- based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	summer	10	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	n
4	Atabay and	1007		rectal	culture-			0		13			group	5
8 0	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection rectal	based culture-	phenotypic	sputorum	0	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
8 0	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	winter	7	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
8 0	Atabay and Corry	1997	1995-1996	rectal collection	culture- based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	summer	6	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
ŀ	Atabay and	100-	1005 1000	rectal	culture-	nhor-tu '	aputari		wint		not creation .	adult	aub	
8 0	COLLA	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	pnenotypic	sputorum	0	winter	10	not specified	adult	sup-group	0
	Atabay and			rectal	culture-									
8 0	Atabay and Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	sputorum	0	winter	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	0

A	Atabay and			rectal	culture-									
80	Corry Atabay and	1997	1995-1996	rectal	culture-	pnenotypic	sputorum	30	all	94	not specified	adult	sub-group	28.2
8 (Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	sputorum	60	summer	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	36
E	Baserisalehi	0007	0000	rectal	culture-			45						
9 e	et al. Baserisalehi	2007	2006	rectal	culture-	pnenotypic	COII	15	not specified	26	nealthy	adult	sub-group	3.9
9 e	et al.	2007	2006	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	30	not specified	26	healthy	adult	sub-group	7.8
9 e	Baserisalehi et al.	2007	2006	collection	culture- based	phenotypic	lari	11	not specified	26	healthy	adult	sub-group	2.86
E	Baserisalehi			rectal	culture-		not				, í			
9 e	et al. Baserisalehi	2007	2006	collection	based	phenotypic	identifiable	23	not specified	26	healthy	adult	sub-group	5.98
9 6	et al.	2007	2006	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	21	not specified	121	healthy	adult	whole	25.41
E	Baserisalehi	2007	2006	rectal	culture-	nhonotunio	anutarum	7	not openified	26	hoolthy	adult	oub group	1 00
E	Baserisalehi	2007	2000	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	sputorum	1	not specilieu	20	nealthy	adult	sup-group	1.02
9 6	et al.	2007	2006	collection	based	phenotypic	sputorum	11	not specified	26	healthy	adult	sub-group	2.86
10 a	al.,	2014	2010-2012	collection	based	PCR-based	is	3.3	not specified	30	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.99
40 E	Bianchini et	0014	2040 2040	rectal	culture-	DOD haved		5.0		47				4 000
IU a	ai., Bianchini et	2014	2010-2012	rectal	culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	5.9	not specilied	17	not specilied	adult	sub-group	1.003
 10 a	al.,	2014	2010-2012	collection	based	PCR-based	jejuni	28.6	not specified	35	not specified	adult	sub-group	10.01
10 a	Bianchini et al	2014	2010-2012	collection	culture- based	PCR-based	ieiuni	30.5	not specified	82	not specified	adult	whole	25.01
E	Bianchini et			rectal	culture-									
10 a	al.,	2014	2010-2012	collection	based culture-	PCR-based PCR-based	jejuni	46.7	not specified	30	not specified	adult	sub-group	14.01
11 (Cha et al.,	2017	2012	not specified	based	WGS	jejuni	58.6	not specified	58	not specified	adult	whole	33.988
12 [Dong et al	2016	2012-2014	rectal	culture- based	PCR-based	ieiuni	24.2	not specified	194	not specified	adult	whole	46 948
	Duncan et	2010	2012 2011	Concount	culture-	- orr buodu	Jolan	22	not opcomou		not opcomed	duale		10.010
13 a F	al., Englen et	2013		cow pat rectal	based culture-	PCR-based	fetus	9.5	not specified	4260	not specified	adult	whole	404.7
14 a	al.,	2007	2002	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	51.2	applicable	1435	not specified	adult	whole	734.72
15 0	Grinberg et	2005	2002	rectal	culture-	nhanotypic	con	36	not specified	161	mixed	colume	whole	57.06
10 8	Guevremont	2005	2002	rectal	culture-	Prieriorypic	spp.	36	not specilied	101	MINEU	Jaives	WI IOR	57.90
16 e	et al.,	2014	2011	collection	based	PCR-based	coli	1.8	summer	797	not specified	adult	sub-group	14.346
16 e	et al.,	2014	2011	collection	based	PCR-based	is	19.3	summer	797	not specified	adult	sub-group	153.821
16	Guevremont	0044	2011	rectal	culture-	DCP has ad	iojup:		cummor	707	not energies !	adult	sub crou	E1 005
 10 6	et al.,	2014	2011	collection	based	other	jejuni	0.0	summer	197	not specilied	adult	sub-group	51.605
		0040		rectal	505 J	molecular				450				10.5
10 1	Hagey et al., Hakkinen	2019	not specilied	collection	PCR-based	other	spp.	31	not specilied	150	not specilied	adult	whole	40.5
40	and	0000	0000 0007		culture-	molecular								40.00
19 1	Hanninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	other	COII	3.2	all	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	10.88
40	and	0000	0000 0007		culture-	molecular	hyointestinal	45.0						50.00
19 F	Hanninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	other	IS	15.3	all	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	52.02
a	and				culture-	molecular								
19 F	Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method other	jejuni	0	summer	19	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
a	and				culture-	molecular								
 19 H	Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method other	jejuni	10.5	winter	19	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.995
a	and				culture-	molecular								
 19 F	Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method other	jejuni	11.1	spring	18	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.998
a	and				culture-	molecular								
19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	15.8	spring	19	not specified	adult	sub-group	3.002
2	and				culture-	molecular								
19 H	Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method other	jejuni	28.6	winter	21	not specified	adult	sub-group	6.006
a	and				culture-	molecular								
19 H	Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method other	jejuni	29.4	summer	17	not specified	adult	sub-group	4.998
2	and				culture-	molecular								
 19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	30	fall	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	6
a	and				culture-	molecular								
19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	37	spring	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	125.8
r	and				culture-	molecular								
19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	38	summer	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	129.2
۲ ج	nakkinen and				culture-	otner molecular								
19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	38.9	fall	18	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.002
l a	nakkinen and				culture-	molecular								
19 F	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	43	winter	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	146.2
ł	nakkinen and				culture-	otner molecular								
19 F	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	44	all	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	149.6
F	Hakkinen and				culture-	other molecular								
19 F	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	45	fall	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	9
ł	Hakkinen and				culture-	other molecular								
19 F	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	45	fall	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	153
ł	Hakkinen and				culture-	other molecular								
 19 H	Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	jejuni	55.2	summer	29	not specified	adult	sub-group	16.008
					culture-	other molecular								
ŀ	and					mothod	jejuni	64	fall	340	not specified	adult	sub-group	217.6
H 19 H	Hakkinen and Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	memou								
19 H	Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based culture-	other								
19 H 19 H 19 H	Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen,	2009	2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	based culture- based	other molecular method	jejuni	68	fall	25	not specified	adult	sub-group	17
19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H	Hakkinen Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen	2009	2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	culture- based	other molecular method other molecular	jejuni	68	fall	25	not specified	adult	sub-group	17
19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H 2 19 H	Hakkinen Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen,	2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	based culture- based culture- based	other molecular method other molecular method	jejuni jejuni	68 70.6	fall	25	not specified	adult adult	sub-group	17
19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H	Hakkinen Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and	2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture-	other molecular method other molecular method other molecular	jejuni jejuni	68 70.6	fall fall	25	not specified	adult adult	sub-group	17
19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H 19 H	Hakkinen And Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hänninen, Hänkinen and Hänninen,	2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based	other molecular method other molecular method other molecular method	jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8	fall fall	25	not specified not specified not specified	adult adult	sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994
H 219	Hakkinen And Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hakkinen And Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and	2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture-	other molecular method other molecular method other molecular method other	jejuni jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8	fall fall	25 17 33	not specified not specified not specified	adult adult adult	sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994
+ 2 19 + 2	Harkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based	other molecular method other molecular method other molecular molecular method	jejuni jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8 84.4	fall fall spring	25 17 33 32	not specified not specified not specified not specified	adult adult adult adult	sub-group sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994 27.008
	Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based	method other molecular method other method other molecular method other molecular method other	jejuni jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8 84.4	fall fall fall spring	25 17 33 32	not specified not specified not specified not specified	adult adult adult adult	sub-group sub-group sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994 27.008
	Harkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen,	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based	nietnod other molecular molecular molecular method other molecular method other molecular method	jejuni jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8 84.4 90.9	fall fall fall spring winter	25 17 33 32 32	not specified not specified not specified not specified not specified	adult adult adult adult adult	sub-group sub-group sub-group sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994 27.008 29.997
H = 19 H	Harkninen Hankinen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hakkinen and Hänninen, Hänkinen and Hänninen, Hänkinen and	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009	2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007 2006-2007	cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat cow pat	based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based culture- based	niendd other molecular molecular molecular molecular method other molecular method other molecular	jejuni jejuni jejuni jejuni	68 70.6 81.8 84.4 90.9	fall fall fall spring winter	25 17 33 32 33	not specified not specified not specified not specified	adult adult adult adult adult	sub-group sub-group sub-group sub-group sub-group	17 12.002 26.994 27.008 29.997

21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	rectal collection	culture- based	other molecular method	spp.	0	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
				rectal	culture-	other molecular								
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	culture	other	spp.	0	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	based	method	spp.	1.7	not specified	120	not specified	adult	sub-group	2.04
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	rectal collection	culture- based	molecular method	spp.	1.7	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.02
				rectal	culture-	other molecular								
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	based	method other	spp.	3.3	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.98
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	based	method	spp.	3.3	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.98
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	rectal collection	culture- based	molecular method	spp.	5.8	not specified	120	not specified	adult	sub-group	6.96
				rectal	culture-	other molecular								
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	based	method other	spp.	6.7	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	4.02
21	Harvey et al.	2004	2001	collection	based	molecular method	spp.	10	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	6
21	Harvev et al.	2004	2001	rectal collection	culture- based	molecular method	SDD.	10	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	6
23	Giacoboni et al	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	coli	0	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
23	Giacoboni et al	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	coli	1.1	not specified	94	not specified	cows and calves	sub-group	1.034
23	Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	coli	2.9	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	0.986
23	Giacoboni et	1003	not specified	not specified	culture-	phonotypic	facalis	0	not execified	60	not specified	adult	sub group	0.000
23	Giacoboni et	1003	not specified	not specified	culture-	phenotypic	facalis	11	not specified	00	not specified	cows and	sub-group	1 034
23	Giacoboni et	1993	not specilied	not specilied	culture-	phenotypic	lecans	1.1	not specilied	94	not specified	caives	sub-group	1.034
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	fecalis	2.9	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	0.986
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	fetus	11.7	not specified	60	not specified	adult cows and	sub-group	7.02
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	fetus	17	not specified	94	not specified	calves	sub-group	15.98
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	fetus hyointestinal	26.5	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	9.01
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	is hyointestinal	15	not specified	60	not specified	adult cows and	sub-group	9
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	is hyointestinal	19.1	not specified	94	not specified	calves	sub-group	17.954
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	is	26.5	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	9.01
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	jejuni	13.3	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.98
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	jejuni	30.9	not specified	94	not specified	calves	sub-group	29.046
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	jejuni	61.8	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	21.012
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	lari	0	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	0
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	lari	2.1	not specified	94	not specified	cows and calves	sub-group	1.974
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	lari	3.3	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.98
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	1.7	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.02
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	9.6	not specified	94	not specified	cows and calves	sub-group	9.024
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	10	not specified	1	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.1
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	14.7	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	4.998
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	20	not specified	2	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.4
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	27.2	not specified	3	not specified	adult	sub-group	0.816
23	Giacoboni et al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	spp.	46.7	not specified	60	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	28.02
23	, Giacoboni et al.,	1903	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	SDD.	50	not specified	10	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	5
23	Giacoboni et	1003	not specified	not specified	culture- based	phenotypic	SDD	64.0	not specified	04	not specified	cows and calves	whole	61.006
23	Giacoboni et	1000	not enertified	not specified	culture-	nhenotypic	spp.	04.9 20	not enertified		not specified	calves	sub-aroun	3.0
23	Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	culture-	phenotypic	spp.		not specified		not specified	- dult	sub-group	3.2
23	Giacoboni et	1993	not specilied	not specilied	culture-	phenotypic	spp.		not specilied	4	not specified	adult	sub-group	3.2
23	ai., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	culture-	pnenotypic	spp.	80	not specified	4	not specified	adult	sub-group	3.2
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	97.1	not specified	34	not specified	calves	sub-group	33.014
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	9	not specified	calves	sub-group	9
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	10	not specified	calves	sub-group	10
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	4	not specified	adult	sub-group	4
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	5
23	al., Giacoboni et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	5	not specified	adult	sub-group	5
23	al., Kashoma et	1993	not specified	not specified	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	100	not specified	5	not specified	calves	sub-group	5
25	al. Kashoma et	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based culture-	PCR-based	coli	6.3	not specified	32	not specified	adult	sub-group	2.016
25	al. Kashoma et	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	coli	12.4	not specified	113	not specified	adult	sub-group	14.012
25	al. Kashoma et	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	coli	12.8	not specified	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	6.016
25	al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	14.9	not specified	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.003

	Kashoma et				culture-									
25	al. Kashoma et	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	15.6	not specified	32	not specified	adult	sub-group	4.992
25	al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	26.6	not specified	113	not specified	adult	sub-group	30.058
25	Kashoma et al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	25	not specified	32	not specified	adult	sub-aroup	8
	Kashoma et				culture-									
25	al. Kashoma et	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	29.8	not specified	47	not specified	adult	sub-group	14.006
25	al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	spp.	35.4	not specified	192	not specified	adult	whole	67.968
25	Kashoma et al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	40.7	not specified	113	not specified	adult	sub-aroup	45,991
					culture-				not				<u>3</u> p	
26	Khalifa et al.	2013	not specified	cow pat rectal	based culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	32	applicable	50	not specified	adult	whole	16
27	Klein et al.	2013	2009-2010	collection	based	MALDI-TOF	spp.	13.2	applicable	303	healthy	calves	sub-group	39.996
27	Klein et al	2013	2009-2010	rectal	culture-		son	14.9	not	382	mixed	calves	whole	56 918
21	Richt et al.	2010	2003-2010	rectal	culture-	MALDI-TOT	Spp.	14.5	not	002	IIIXCu	Galves	WHOIC	00.010
27	Klein et al.	2013	2009-2010	collection	based	MALDI-TOF	spp.	21.5	applicable	79	diarrhea	calves	sub-group	16.985
28	Kwan et al.	2008	2003	cow pat	based	PCR-based	spp.	35.9	not specified	1208	not specified	adult	whole	433.672
20	McAuley et	2014	2013 and		culture-	DOD haved		0	not	40				0.00
29	ai.	2014	2014	not specilied	PCR-based	PCR-based	spp.	0	applicable	10	not specilied	cows,	whole	0.96
20	Merialdi et	2015	2012 2012	rectal	and culture-	phonotypio	ioiuni	17	all	200	not aposified	heifers and	oub group	4.76
30	ai.	2015	2012-2013	collection	PCR-based	prienotypic	jejuni	1.7	an	280	not specilied	caives cows,	sup-group	4.70
	Merialdi et	0045	0040 0040	rectal	and culture-							heifers and		07.40
30	al. Messelhaeu	2015	2012-2013	collection	based culture-	phenotypic	spp.	9.7	all	280	not specified	calves	sub-group	27.16
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	0	summer	72	not specified	not specified	sub-group	0
31	Messelhaeu ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	0	summer	72	not specified	not specified	sub-aroup	0
	Messelhaeu				culture-									
31	ser et al. Messelhaeu	2008	2004	not specified	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	0	summer	72	not specified	not specified	sub-group	0
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	0	summer	75	not specified	not specified	sub-group	0
31	Messelhaeu ser et al	2008	2004	not specified	culture- based	PCR-based	spp	28	summer	72	not specified	not specified	sub-group	2 016
	Messelhaeu	2000	2001	not opcomed	culture-	1 Ort babba	opp.	2.0	o di li		not opcomed	not opcomed	oub group	2.010
31	ser et al. Messelhaeu	2008	2004	not specified	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	5.2	summer	75	not specified	not specified	sub-group	3.9
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	6.3	winter	79	not specified	not specified	sub-group	4.977
31	Messelhaeu ser et al	2008	2004	not specified	culture-	PCR-based	son	6.9	summer	72	not specified	not specified	sub-group	4 968
51	Messelhaeu	2000	2004	not specified	culture-	r cit-based	эрр.	0.5	summer	12	not specified	not specified	Sub-group	4.500
31	ser et al. Messelbaeu	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	8.3	winter	79	not specified	not specified	sub-group	6.557
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	13	all	226	not specified	not specified	whole	29.38
31	Messelhaeu ser et al	2008	2004	not specified	culture-	PCP based	600	14 7	cummor	75	not specified	not specified	sub group	11 025
51	Messelhaeu	2000	2004	not specified	culture-	r Cit-based	эрр.	14.7	summer	13	not specified	not specified	sup-group	11.025
31	ser et al. Messelbaeu	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	14.8	winter	79	not specified	not specified	sub-group	11.692
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	20.1	winter	79	not specified	not specified	sub-group	15.879
31	Messelhaeu ser et al	2008	2004	not specified	culture-	PCP based	con	20.7	cummor	75	not specified	not specified	sub group	15 525
51	Messelhaeu	2000	2004	not specified	culture-	r Cit-based	эрр.	20.1	summer	13	not specified	not specified	sup-group	13.323
31	ser et al. Messelbaeu	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	23.5	summer	75	not specified	not specified	sub-group	17.625
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	41.7	winter	79	not specified	not specified	sub-group	32.943
22	Munroe et	1092	not aposified	rectal	culture-	phonotypio	ooli	0	not oppoifed	214	diambaa	not aposified	oub group	0
	ai. Munroe et	1903	not specilieu	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	COIL	0	not specilieu	314	ulannea	not specilied	sup-group	0
33	al. Munroo et	1983	not specified	collection	based	phenotypic	coli	2	not specified	314	diarrhea	not specified	sub-group	6.28
33	al.	1983	not specified	collection	based	phenotypic	jejuni	17	not specified	314	diarrhea	not specified	sub-group	53.38
33	Munroe et	1093	not enerified	rectal	culture-	phonotypic	iojuni	25	not enecified	107	healthy	not specified	sub group	26.75
	ai.	1303		Collection	Daseu	other	jejuni	23	not specilieu	107	nearry	not specified	sup-group	20.73
25	Nielsen et	2002	1000	rectal	culture-	molecular	0.00	0.2	not oppoifed	120	not aposified	adult	oub group	11.04
30	ai.	2002	1999	collection	based	other	spp.	9.2	not specilied	120	not specilied	adult	sup-group	11.04
25	Nielsen et	2002	1000	rectal	culture-	molecular	0.00	20	not oppoifed	105	not aposified	haifara	oub group	21
30	ai.	2002	1999	collection	based	other	spp.	20	not specilied	105	not specilied	cows,	sup-group	21
	Nielsen et	0000	1000	rectal	culture-	molecular	0.00	00.0	not onif	000	not on-site 1	heifers and	oub ar	75 000
35	al.	2002	1999	collection	based	other	spp.	22.6	not specified	332	not specified	calves cows,	sub-group	75.032
	Nielsen et	0000	1000	rectal	culture-	molecular	con		not onesite i	000	not energie - '	heifers and	whole	106 00 1
35	al.	2002	1999	CONFCUON	Nased	other	spp.	32.2	not specified	332	not specified	carves	wilule	100.904
	Nielsen et	0000	1000	rectal	culture-	molecular	con	40.4	not onesite i	407	not energie - '	calues	sub crou-	45 047
35	aı. Padungtod	2002	1999	CONFCUON	Nased	meuloa	əpp.	42.1	not specified	107	not specified	carves	sup-group	45.047
	and		2000 2022	not and the	culture-	DCB -	0.00		not creation in		not groups in	not and it.	whol-	
37	Kaneene Pradhan et	2005	2000-2003	rectal	culture-	PCR-based	spp.	14	not specified	225	not specified	not specified	whole	31.5
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	0	spring	82	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
38	Pradnan et al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	0	spring	84	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
	Pradhan et		0004	rectal	culture-	DOD 1 1								
38	al., Pradhan et	2009	2004	rectal	culture-	PCR-based	spp.	0	summer	28	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	5	winter	26	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.3
38	Pradhan et al.,	2009	2004	rectal collection	culture- based	PCR-based	spp.	8.8	sprina	34	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	2,992
	Pradhan et		0007	rectal	culture-	005								
38	al., Pradhan et	2009	2004	collection rectal	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	9.4	tall	32	not specified	adult	sub-group	3.008
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	13.6	spring	44	not specified	adult	sub-group	5.984
29	Pradhan et	2000	2004	rectal collection	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD	13.0	fall	36	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	5 004
	Pradhan et	2009		rectal	culture-		- 46.	10.9					- as group	0.004
38	al., Pradhan et	2009	2004	collection rectal	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	21.4	summer	28	not specified	adult	sub-group	5.992
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	26.2	fall	84	not specified	adult	sub-group	22.008
29	Pradhan et	2000	2004	rectal	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD	20.4	fall	34	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	9 996
38	Pradhan et	2009		rectal	culture-	. 011-04580	opp.	29.4	-cm		apecilied	adun	San-Group	5.990
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	29.7	spring	37	not specified	adult	sub-group	10.989

	Pradhan et			rectal	culture-									
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	32.5	fall	83	not specified	adult	sub-group	26.975
38	Pradhan et	2000	2004	rectal	culture-	PCR-based	enn	44	spring	84	not specified	adult	sub-group	36.96
	Pradhan et	2003	2004	rectal	culture-	1 Olebased	эрр.		spring		not specified	addit	Sup-group	00.00
38	al., Deadhan at	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	53.6	fall	28	not specified	adult	sub-group	15.008
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	53.6	winter	28	not specified	adult	sub-group	15.008
	Pradhan et			rectal	culture-									
38	al., Pradhan et	2009	2004	collection	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	57.3	fall	82	not specified	adult	sub-group	46.986
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	57.7	winter	78	not specified	adult	sub-group	45.006
20	Pradhan et	2000	2004	rectal	culture-	DCR based		61 5	opring	26	not aposified	adult	oub group	15.00
	Pradhan et	2003	2004	rectal	culture-	r citebaseu	spp.	01.5	sping	20	not specified	auun	Sup-group	13.33
38	al., Deadhan at	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	76.9	winter	26	not specified	adult	sub-group	19.994
38	al.,	2009	2004	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	80.8	summer	26	not specified	adult	sub-group	21.008
	Ramonait et			rectal	culture-									
39	al., Ramonait et	2013	2012	collection	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	53.2	not specified	21	not specified	adult	sub-group	11.172
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	60	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	12
20	Ramonait et	2012	2012	rectal	culture-	DCR based		60.6	not aposified	61	not aposified	adult	oub group	26.066
	Ramonait et	2010	2012	rectal	culture-	r Grebaseu	spp.	00.0	not specified	01	not specified	auun	sup-group	30.300
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	70	not specified	20	not specified	calves	sub-group	14
39	Ramonait et	2013	2012	rectal collection	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	70	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	14
												cows,	<u>3</u> p	
30	Ramonait et	2013	2012	rectal	culture-	PCR-based	enn	78.5	not specified	200	not specified	heifers and	whole	157
	Ramonait et	2013	2012	rectal	culture-	r Cit+based	эрр.	70.5	not specified	200	not specified	Calves	WHOIE	157
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	85	not specified	20	not specified	heifers	sub-group	17
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	85	not specified	40	not specified	heifers	sub-group	34
	Ramonait et			rectal	culture-									
39	al., Ramonait et	2013	2012	collection	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	86.2	not specified	80	not specified	heifers	sub-group	68.96
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	86.5	not specified	59	not specified	calves	sub-group	51.035
20	Ramonait et	2012	2012	rectal	culture-	DCD based		90.4	not oppoifed	10	not aposified	aahaa	oub group	16 096
	Ramonait et	2013	2012	rectal	culture-	F GR-Dased	spp.	09.4	not specilieu	18	not specilieu	Carves	sup-group	10.900
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	90	not specified	20	not specified	heifers	sub-group	18
39	Ramonait et	2013	2012	rectal collection	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	100	not specified	20	not specified	calves	sub-group	20
	,				culture-								3	
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	36	summer	105	not specified	adult	sub-group	37.8
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	36	fall	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	16.2
40	Bopp et al	2012	2011 2012	agu pat	culture-	DCD based	ioiuni	42	aummor	105	not aposified	adult	oub group	44.1
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	42	summer	103	not specilied	adult	sup-group	44.1
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	43	summer	105	not specified	adult	sub-group	45.15
40	Rapp et al.	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	culture- based	PCR-based	ieiuni	49	all	210	not specified	adult	sub-group	102.9
					culture-		1-1						3	
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	53	fall	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	23.85
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	54	winter	105	not specified	adult	sub-group	56.7
10		0040	0011 0010		culture-									010.0
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	54	all	390	not specified	adult	sub-group	210.6
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	55	all	390	not specified	adult	sub-group	214.5
40	Rann et al	2013	2011-2012	cow nat	culture- based	PCR-based	ieiuni	56	winter	105	not specified	adult	sub-group	58.8
40	rapp or al.,	2010	2011-2012	con par	culture-	1 Olt-based	Jojuni		WITTER	100	not speenied	addit	Sup-group	00.0
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	58	winter	105	not specified	adult	sub-group	60.9
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	62	summer	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	27.9
					culture-									
40	ĸapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based culture-	PCR-based	jejuni	64	summer	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	28.8
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	66	winter	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	29.7
40	Rann et al	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	culture-	PCR-based	ieiuni	67	winter	A.	not specified	adult	sub-group	30.15
40	. upp ci di.,	2013	2011-2012	Jon par	culture-	. 01,-04580	jojuni	07		43	apecilied	addit	Sup-group	30.13
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	71	spring	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	31.95
40	Rapp et al.,	2013	2011-2012	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	76	spring	45	not specified	adult	sub-group	34.2
	Davis		2005		culture-	DOD :	1-1					- alveld		
41	Roug	2012	2005	cow pat	pased culture-	PUK-based	jejuni	17	not specified	12	not specified	aduit	whole	2.04
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	5.3	not specified	19	not specified	adult	sub-group	1.007
40	Sanad et al	2013	2009	not specified	culture- based	PCR-based	SDD.	17 6	not specified	17	not specified	adult	sub-aroun	2 002
42	- and of all,	2010			culture-		- ~~		ev opcomed		st opcomdu		- as group	2.552
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	24	not specified	25	not specified	adult	sub-group	6
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	28	not specified	25	not specified	adult	sub-group	7
					culture-									
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based culture-	PCR-based	spp.	35	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	7
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	36.6	not specified	227	not specified	adult	whole	83.082
40	Sanad et al	2012	2009	not specified	culture-	PCR-based	spp	40	not specified		not specified	adult	sub-group	0
42	Jandu et al.,	2013	2003	not specilied	culture-	- GIN-Dased	spp.	40	not specilied	20	not specilied	aduit	sub-group	8
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	40	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	8
42	Sanad et al	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	47.6	not specified	21	not specified	adult	sub-group	9.996
			00005		culture-									
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	pased culture-	PCR-based	spp.	50	not specified	10	not specified	adult	sub-group	5
42	Sanad et al.,	2013	2009	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	52	not specified	25	not specified	adult	sub-group	13
40	Sanad et al	2012	2009	not specified	culture-	PCR-based	spp	60	not specified		not specified	adult	sub-group	10
42	Sanaa Ct al.,	2013	2000		culture-	not	υрр.			20		cows and	Sub-group	12
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	18.9	fall	1192	healthy	calves	sub-group	225.288
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	23.2	all	1191	healthy	adult	sub-group	276.312

					culture-	not						cows and		
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	27.9	all	1191	healthy	calves	whole	332.289
					culture-	not								
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	32.7	all	1191	healthy	calves	sub-group	389.457
					culture-	not						cows and		
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	36.8	spring	1191	healthy	calves	sub-group	438.288
	Terentjeva et			rectal	culture-									
45	al.,	2019	not specified	collection	based	MALDI-TOF	coli	2.8	not specified	180	not specified	calves	sub-group	5.04
	Terentjeva et			rectal	culture-									
45	al.,	2019	not specified	collection	based	MALDI-TOF	jejuni	12.8	not specified	180	not specified	calves	sub-group	23.04
			1											
	Watner-			rectal	culture-	not								
46	Toews et al.,	1986	i 1982	collection	based	performed	spp.	13	fall	156	not specified	calves	whole	20.28
						other								
	Ward and			rectal		molecular								
4/	Guevremont	2014	not specified	collection	PCR-based	method	jejuni	0	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	0
						other								
	ward and			rectai		molecular								
4/	Guevremont	2014	not specified	collection	PCR-based	method	jejuni	55	not specified	20	not specified	adult	sub-group	11
10	Watermann	1001		rectal	culture-	not		10						0.00
48	et al.,	1984	not specified	collection	based	performed	spp.	13	summer	/4	nealthy	adult	sub-group	9.62
40	vvatermann	1004		rectal	culture-	not		54		74	h a althui			07.74
40	Weeley et	1964	not specilied	collection	Dased	periormed	spp.	51	winter	/4	nearrny	adult	sub-group	37.74
40	wesley et	2000	1006	collection	culture-	DCD based	ioiuni	20 5	opring	E 4 2	hoolthy	adult	aub group	214.00
49	Woelov of	2000	1990	rectal	culture	F CR-based	jejuni	39.5	spring	342	nearry	auun	sub-group	214.09
40	westey et	2000	1006	collection	based	DCD based	aali	15	opring	E 4 2	hoolthy	adult	aub group	0 12
49	Moolov ot	2000	1990	collection	oulture	F CR-based	COII	1.5	spring	542	nearry	auuit	sub-group	0.13
40	wesley et	2000	1006	collection	based	PCP based	coli	1.9	011	2085	bealthy	adult	sub group	37.53
43	Woclov of	2000	F 1330	rectal	culture	r Citebaseu	COII	1.0	an	2003	nearriy	auun	Sub-group	57.55
40	westey et	2000	1006	collection	based	PCP based	coli	10	summer	1543	bealthy	adult	sub group	20 317
43	Weslev et	2000	- 1330	rectal	culture-	r Citebaseu	COII	1.3	summer	1343	nearriy	auun	Sub-group	25.517
40	al	2000	1996	collection	based	PCR-based	iejuni	37.7	all	2085	healthy	adult	sub-group	786 045
	Weslev et	2000	-	rectal	culture-	I OIC DUSCU	Jejun	07.7	an	2000	nearry	addit	Sub-group	100.040
49	al	2000	1996	collection	based	PCR-based	ieiuni	40.5	summer	1543	healthy	adult	sub-group	624 915
	un,	2000	1000	concotton	buood	. ort babba	Jojan	10.0	ournino.	1010	nounny	cows	Gub group	02 110 10
				rectal	culture-							heifers and		
51	Hoque et al	2021	2018-2020	collection	based	PCR-based	SDD.	30.9	not specified	540	not specified	calves	whole	166.86
				rectal	culture-									
51	Hoque et al.,	2021	2018-2020	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	41.1	not specified	180	not specified	adult	sub-group	73.98
				rectal	culture-									
51	Hoque et al.,	2021	2018-2020	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	28.3	not specified	180	not specified	heifers	sub-group	50.94
				rectal	culture-		1						1	
51	Hoque et al.,	2021	2018-2020	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	23.3	not specified	180	not specified	calves	sub-group	41.94
					culture-									
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	54	all	90	not specified	adult	whole	48.6
					culture-									
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	27	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	4.05
					culture-									
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	53	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.95
					culture-									
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	53	winter	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.95
					culture-									
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	80	spring	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	12
					culture-		L						1.	
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	67	spring	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	10.05
					culture-		L						1.	
52	Rapp et al.,	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	47	spring	15	not specified	adult	sub-group	7.05
	Silveira et			rectal	culture-								1	
53	al.,	2021	not specified	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	0.05	not specified	60	not specified	adult	whole	0.03
	tourst D		ulation 11		had and the	-		-						
	= 10007 = 1000000		www.con v niumo	THE OT UNDER										

*event= Prevalence in population x Number of individual cattle sampled

(3) aggregated

		Publication		Fecal collec	Detection_or _quantificati on_method_f	Species_ind	Campylobac	Prevalence i	Which_seas on_is_the_pr	Number_of_i	Health statu	Description_ age_class_o f_cattle_sam	Specific_out come_report ed_for_whole			
ID	Author	vear	Study year	tion method	bacter spp.	method	ter species	n population	orted for	tle sampled	s of cattle	pled	sub group	event*	rob ves	rob
		,		rectal	culture-				_							
1	Acha et al.,	2004	1995	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	11	not specified	393	mixed	calves	whole	43.23	5	low
	A cik and			rootal	oulturo	PCR-based,										
2	Centinkava	2005	2003	collection	based	RFLP	SDD	44	not specified	250	healthy	adult	whole	110	2	high
	Adesiyun et	2000	-	rectal	culture-		opp.		not opcomou	200	nounny	cidan	linoio	110	-	
4	al.	1992	1991	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	20.5	not specified	293	mixed	calves	whole	60.065	5	low
	Adesiyun et			rectal	culture-											
6	al.,	1996	not specified	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	5.7	not specified	333	not specified	adult	whole	18.981	3	high high
	Adhikari et			rectal	culture.	other										
7	al.,	2004	2002	collection	based	method	jejuni	54	not specified	52	healthy	adult	whole	28.08	6	low
	Atabay and			rectal	culture-							cows and				
8	Corry	1997	1995-1996	collection	based	phenotypic	spp.	36	all	136	not specified	calves	whole	48.96	3	l high
	Baserisalehi et el	2007	2006	rectal	culture-	phonotypic		21	not aposified	101	boolthy	adult	whole	25.41		high
3	Bianchi et	2007	2000	rectal	culture-	prienotypic	spp.	21	not specilieu	121	nearriy	duun	whole	23.41	4	nign
10	al.,	2014	2010-2012	collection	based	PCR-based	jejuni	30.5	not specified	82	not specified	adult	whole	25.01	5	low
			r		culture-	PCR-based,										
11	Cha et al.,	2017	2012	not specified	based	WGS	jejuni	58.6	not specified	58	not specified	adult	whole	33.988	3	high
12	Dong et al	2016	2012 2014	rectal	culture-	PCP based	ioiuni	24.2	not aposified	104	not aposified	adult	whole	46 049		high
12	Duncan et	2010	2012-2014	CONECTION	culture-	r Grebaseu	Jejuni	24.2	not specilieu	134	not specilieu	auun	WIDE	40.540		nign
13	al.,	2013	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	fetus	9.5	not specified	4260	not specified	adult	whole	404.7	4	high
	Englen et		r	rectal	culture-				not							
14	al.,	2007	2002	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	51.2	applicable	1435	not specified	adult	whole	734.72	3	high
15	Grinberg et	2005	2002	rectal	culture-	phonotypic		26	not aposified	161	mixed	column	whole	57.06		low
15	ai.,	2003	2002	CONECTION	Daseu	other	spp.	30	not specilieu	101	mixed	calves	whole	57.90		IOW
				rectal		molecular										
18	Hagey et al.,	2019	not specified	collection	PCR-based	method	spp.	31	not specified	150	not specified	adult	whole	46.5	6	i low
	Hakkinen					other										
19	Hänninen.	2009	2006-2007	cow pat	based	method	SDD	49.7	all	340	not specified	adult	whole	168.98	4	hiah
10	Giacoboni et	2000	2000 2001	oon par	culture-	mounou	opp.	10.1		010	not opcomou	cows and		100.00		
23	al.,	1993	not specified	not specified	based	phenotypic	spp.	64.9	not specified	94	not specified	calves	whole	61.006	2	high
	Kashoma et				culture-											
25	al.	2015	2013-2014	cow pat	based	PCR-based	spp.	35.4	not specified	192	not specified	adult	whole	67.968	3	high
26	Khalifa et al.	2013	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	ieiuni	32	applicable	50	not specified	adult	whole	16	2	high
				rectal	culture-)-)		not							
27	Klein et al.	2013	2009-2010	collection	based	MALDI-TOF	spp.	14.9	applicable	382	mixed	calves	whole	56.918	7	low
20	Kuunn at al	2000	2002		culture-	DCD hand		25.0		1000			utela	400.670		1
20	McAulev et	2006	2003 2013 and	cow pai	culture-	PCR-based	spp.	35.9	not specilieu	1200	not specilied	adult	whole	433.072	5	IOW
29	al.	2014	2014	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	6	applicable	16	not specified	adult	whole	0.96	3	high
	Messelhaeu				culture-											
31	ser et al.	2008	2004	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	13	all	226	not specified	not specified	whole	29.38	e	ilow
	Nieleen et			rootal	outuro	other						COWS, boifers and				
35	al.	2002	1999	collection	based	method	spp.	32.2	not specified	332	not specified	calves	whole	106.904	2	high
	Padungtod															
	and		0000 0000		culture-											
37	Kaneene	2005	2000-2003	not specified	based	PCR-based	spp.	14	not specified	225	not specified	not specified	whole	31.5	2	nigh
	Ramonait et			rectal	culture.							cows, heifers and				
39	al.,	2013	2012	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	78.5	not specified	200	not specified	calves	whole	157	6	ilow
					culture-											
41	Roug	2012	2005	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	17	not specified	12	not specified	adult	whole	2.04	3	high
12	Sanad et al	2013	2000	not enertified	culture-	PCR-based	enn	36.6	not enertified	227	not enertified	adult	whole	83.082		high
42		2010		opooniou	culture-	not		30.0	opconiou	221		cows and		00.002		
43	Sato et al.,	2004	not specified	cow pat	based	performed	spp.	27.9	all	1191	healthy	calves	whole	332.289	e	low
40	Watner-	1000	1092	rectal	culture-	not		10	fall	450	not aposified	column	whole	20.20		high
40	roews et al.,	1986	1302	CONCLION	Daseu	penormed	syp.	13	Idii	150	not specified	COWS	wildle	20.28	2	nigh
				rectal	culture-							heifers and				
51	Hoque et al.,	2021	2018-2020	collection	based	PCR-based	spp.	30.9	not specified	540	not specified	calves	whole	166.86	7	low
					culture-											
52	Rapp et al., Silveira et	2020	not specified	cow pat	based	PCR-based	jejuni	54	all	90	not specified	adult	whole	48.6	6	IOW
53	al.	2021	not specified	collection	based	PCR-based	SDD	0.05	not specified	60	not specified	adult	whole	0.03		hiah
	,	2021		2.511004001	- 4000	. or based	- 99.	0.00						0.03		
	*event= Preve	alence_in_pop	ulation x Numl	ber_of_individu	al_cattle_sam	npled										

Table S2. Risk of bias.

	Question	yes	No	Uncle
		-		ar
1	Is information about the housing of cows given?	23	30	0
2	Is information about the feeding of cows given?	18	34	1
3	Is information about organic or conventional farming given?	14	36	3
4	Was information about the season weather months given when samples were taken?	39	14	0
5	Is information about any other adjustment variable given?	29	23	1
6	Was information given whether the cows were selected randomly for sampling?	13	38	2
7	Was the outcome reported for individual samples separately rather than pooled samples?	43	9	1
8	Was the whole sample included in the analysis?	3	4	46
9	Were ISO Methods applied for the detection quantification of Campylobacter spp.?	5	6	42
10	Was the outcome reported for all relevant sub groups and the whole population studied?	18	33	2

9.2 Supplementary material of Publication 2

Detection limit	microorganism	faeces [CFU/ g]	teats [CFU/ 4 teats]	raw milk [CFU/ ml]	milk filter [CFU/ milk filter]	boot socks [CFU/2 boot socks]	milking cluster [CFU/ 4 cups]
quantitative	<i>Campylobacter</i> spp.	10	25	1	35	180	18
quantitative	E. coli	100	200	100	350	1800	180
quantitative	<i>Pseudomonas</i> spp.	100	200	100	350	1800	180
quantitative	total aerobic cell count	1000	20000	1000	3500	18000	1800
enrichment	Campylobacter spp.	1	5	0.20	7	36	3.6

Table S1. Detection limits of microorganisms.

Table S2. Concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. in feces of individual cows per sampling. Zero indicates a positive sample in enrichment; negative samples are not included.

Sampling date	Cow_ID	log_campy	scoring consistency of faeces
20.04.2021	4662	2.10	1
20.04.2021	4660	1.26	1
20.04.2021	4652	2.85	2
20.04.2021	4658	2.32	2
20.04.2021	4659	3.1	2
20.04.2021	4320	1.7	2
20.04.2021	6057	2.21	2
04.05.2021	4320	2.55	2
04.05.2021	6001	1.30	2
04.05.2021	4658	0	2
04.05.2021	4660	1.6	1
04.05.2021	6057	2.21	2
04.05.2021	4662	1.48	1
04.05.2021	299	1.48	1
04.05.2021	4659	2.04	2
04.05.2021	4652	2.04	2

18.05.2021	4665	0	3
18.05.2021	4320	2.87	2
18.05.2021	6001	1.7	2
18.05.2021	4658	2.79	2
18.05.2021	4660	1.30	2
18.05.2021	6057	2.21	3
18.05.2021	299	4.19	3
18.05.2021	4659	4.17	2
18.05.2021	4652	3.09	2
01.06.2021	4665	3.97	3
01.06.2021	4320	2.16	2
01.06.2021	6001	2.97	2
01.06.2021	4658	2.5	2
01.06.2021	4660	1.30	2
01.06.2021	6057	3	2
01.06.2021	299	2.24	2
01.06.2021	4659	1	2
01.06.2021	4652	2.74	2
15.06.2021	4665	2.91	3
15.06.2021	4664	2.56	3
15.06.2021	4320	2.6	2
15.06.2021	6001	2.51	2
15.06.2021	4658	2	2
15.06.2021	4660	2.37	1
15.06.2021	6057	2.7	2
15.06.2021	4662	2.85	2
15.06.2021	299	2.65	2
15.06.2021	4659	2.54	2
15.06.2021	4652	4	2
29.06.2021	4665	3.02	1
29.06.2021	4664	0	3
29.06.2021	4320	2.49	2
29.06.2021	6001	1.66	2
29.06.2021	4658	2.11	2
29.06.2021	4317	2.5	3
29.06.2021	4660	3.39	2
29.06.2021	6057	2.23	2
29.06.2021	4662	3.88	2
29.06.2021	4659	1.86	2
29.06.2021	4652	2.36	2
13.07.2021	4665	2.26	2
13.07.2021	4320	2.48	2
13.07.2021	6001	2.37	2
13.07.2021	4658	2.80	2
13.07.2021	4317	2.28	2

13.07.2021	4660	2.49	2
13.07.2021	6057	1.78	2
13.07.2021	4662	2.3	2
13.07.2021	299	1	2
13.07.2021	4659	4.79	2
13.07.2021	4652	2.16	2
27.07.2021	4665	2	3
27.07.2021	4320	2.60	2
27.07.2021	6001	1.8	2
27.07.2021	4658	2.43	3
27.07.2021	4660	1.7	3
27.07.2021	6057	1.85	2
27.07.2021	4662	2.6	2
27.07.2021	299	2.77	2
27.07.2021	4659	3.6	2
27.07.2021	4652	2.81	2
10.08.2021	4665	3.81	3
10.08.2021	4664	3.91	3
10.08.2021	4320	2.21	3
10.08.2021	6001	2.32	2
10.08.2021	4658	2.88	2
10.08.2021	4660	2.37	2
10.08.2021	6057	2.11	2
10.08.2021	4662	2.53	3
10.08.2021	299	4.42	1
10.08.2021	4659	3.32	3
10.08.2021	4652	1	2
24.08.2021	4665	4.6	2
24.08.2021	4664	2.82	2
24.08.2021	4320	4.41	2
24.08.2021	6001	3	2
24.08.2021	4658	2.41	2
24.08.2021	4660	2.55	1
24.08.2021	6057	2.95	3
24.08.2021	4662	2.37	3
24.08.2021	299	4.74	1
24.08.2021	4659	3.28	2
24.08.2021	4652	0	2
07.09.2021	4665	3.74	2
07.09.2021	4664	2.92	2
07.09.2021	4320	2	2
07.09.2021	6001	1.3	2
07.09.2021	4658	2	3
07.09.2021	4660	2.42	2
07.09.2021	6057	1.9	2

07.09.2021	299	3.65	3
07.09.2021	4659	3.76	3
07.09.2021	4652	2.36	2
21.09.2021	4665	3.1	2
21.09.2021	4664	2.19	2
21.09.2021	4320	2.34	2
21.09.2021	4658	2.34	3
21.09.2021	4660	1.3	2
21.09.2021	6057	4.88	2
21.09.2021	4662	1.26	3
21.09.2021	299	2	1
21.09.2021	4659	3.74	2
21.09.2021	4652	2.91	2
05.10.2021	4665	3.24	2
05.10.2021	4664	4.14	2
05.10.2021	4320	2.5	2
05.10.2021	4658	2.34	2
05.10.2021	4660	1	2
05.10.2021	6057	2.9	2
05.10.2021	299	2.93	2
05.10.2021	4659	3.06	2
05.10.2021	4652	2.23	2
19.10.2021	4665	2.42	2
19.10.2021	4664	4.35	2
19.10.2021	4320	2.49	2
19.10.2021	4658	2.45	2
19.10.2021	4660	1.66	2
19.10.2021	6057	3.19	2
19.10.2021	4662	2.46	2
19.10.2021	299	2	2
19.10.2021	4659	2.95	3
19.10.2021	4652	2.5	2
02.11.2021	4665	2.75	2
02.11.2021	4664	2.67	3
02.11.2021	4320	3	2
02.11.2021	6001	2	2
02.11.2021	4658	2.04	3
02.11.2021	4660	1.48	3
02.11.2021	6057	2.74	3
02.11.2021	4662	2.56	1
02.11.2021	299	3.28	2
02.11.2021	4659	2.62	3
02.11.2021	4652	2.55	2
16.11.2021	4665	2.3	2
16.11.2021	4664	3.68	2

16.11.2021	4320	3.34	2
16.11.2021	6001	1.26	2
16.11.2021	4658	2.39	2
16.11.2021	4660	1.7	2
16.11.2021	6057	2.76	2
16.11.2021	299	2.07	1
16.11.2021	4659	3	2
16.11.2021	4652	2	2
30.11.2021	4665	1.7	2
30.11.2021	4664	3.32	3
30.11.2021	4320	3.15	3
30.11.2021	4658	1.86	3
30.11.2021	4660	2.68	3
30.11.2021	6057	5.92	3
30.11.2021	299	3.13	2
30.11.2021	4659	1.44	3
30.11.2021	4652	2.07	3
14.12.2021	4665	3	2
14.12.2021	4664	2.71	2
14.12.2021	4320	3.04	2
14.12.2021	6001	2.37	3
14.12.2021	4658	2.11	3
14.12.2021	4660	1	2
14.12.2021	299	2.81	3
14.12.2021	4659	2.62	2
11.01.2022	4665	1.7	1
11.01.2022	4664	2.68	1
11.01.2022	4320	2.61	2
11.01.2022	4658	0	2
11.01.2022	299	2.41	1
11.01.2022	4659	1.85	2
11.01.2022	6005	2.34	2
25.01.2022	4665	1.3	2
25.01.2022	4664	2.91	2
25.01.2022	4320	3.21	2
25.01.2022	299	2.86	1
25.01.2022	4659	2.98	3
25.01.2022	4652	1	2
25.01.2022	6005	1.9	2
08.02.2022	4665	2.19	2
08.02.2022	4664	2.32	2
08.02.2022	4320	2.44	2
08.02.2022	4658	1.48	3
08.02.2022	299	0	2
08.02.2022	4659	1.6	2

08.02.2022	4652	0	2
08.02.2022	6005	2.11	2
22.02.2022	4665	1.48	2
22.02.2022	4664	2.03	3
22.02.2022	4320	1.65	3
22.02.2022	6001	2	2
22.02.2022	4658	1.95	2
22.02.2022	299	2.2	2
22.02.2022	4659	1.6	2
22.02.2022	4652	2.15	1
22.02.2022	6005	2.19	2
22.03.2022	4665	1.7	1
22.03.2022	4664	2.79	2
22.03.2022	4320	1.48	2
22.03.2022	6001	1.6	2
22.03.2022	4658	2	2
22.03.2022	299	2.54	2
22.03.2022	4659	2.82	3
22.03.2022	6005	1.85	2
05.04.2022	4665	2.07	1
05.04.2022	4664	2.73	3
05.04.2022	4320	2.51	2
05.04.2022	4658	3.08	3
05.04.2022	299	2.59	1
05.04.2022	4659	2.81	2
05.04.2022	6005	2.46	2

Table S3. Concentration data for *Campylobacter* spp. on teat swab samples of individual cows per sampling. Zero indicates a positive sample in enrichment; negative samples are not included.

Sampling date	Cow_ID	log_campy	Scoring
03.05.2021	4662	0	3
17.05.2021	299	2	4
17.05.2021	4659	0	2
31.05.2021	6001	0	3
14.06.2021	4652	0	3
14.06.2021	4656	2.26	3
14.06.2021	6077	2.15	2
14.06.2021	4658	1.78	4
14.06.2021	6074	0	3
14.06.2021	6057	1.3	2
14.06.2021	4659	2.26	3

14.06.2021	1660	0 70	1
14.00.2021	4000	2.12	4
14.06.2021	6005	2.3	3
23.08.2021	299	1.86	3
23.08.2021	4660	0	4
23.08.2021	6005	0	4
20.09.2021	6057	2.68	3
20.09.2021	4665	1.6	4
04.10.2021	299	0	2
04.10.2021	4652	1.3	4
04.10.2021	4662	0	3
04.10.2021	4665	2.16	4
18.10.2021	6001	1.6	2
18.10.2021	4665	2.26	3
18.10.2021	4320	1.6	2
01.11.2021	4658	0	3
29.11.2021	4659	0	3
13.12.2021	4660	0	2
10.01.2022	4652	0	3
24.01.2022	4320	0	1
07.02.2022	299	0	4
21.02.2022	4320	0	3
04.04.2022	6005	1.3	4
04.04.2022	299	0	2
04.04.2022	4317	0	2

9.3 Supplementary material of Publication 3



Fig. S1. Recovery of non-culturable *C. jejuni* from raw milk. In total, two independent runs (dot or triangle symbol) in duplicates were performed. The dashed line represents the detection limit of 10 CFU/ml.

Table S1. Parameter estimates and goodness-of-fit[†] resulting from fitting different primary model equations to CFU data of survival of *C. jejuni* in inoculated raw milk. The parameter for the tail ($LogN_{res}$) was set to a constant of -0.1.

Strain	Temp. (°C)	Primary	Primary model equation												
		Geerard without shoulder (2 parameter)			Bilinear (2 parameter)			Geeraerd with shoulder and tail (3 parameter)			Trilinear (3 parameter)				
		k _{max}	RMSE	R ²	k _{max}	RMSE	R ²	S _I	k _{max}	RMSE	R ²	S ₁	<i>k_{max}</i>	RMSE	R ²
DSM 4688	5	0.46	0.37	0.98	0.44	0.37	0.98	4.75	0.54	0.31	0.98	4.18	0.52	0.31	0.98
	8	0.48	0.59	0.95	0.47	0.58	0.95	4.38	0.55	0.53	0.96	4.21	0.52	0.52	0.96
	12	0.54	0.45	0.97	0.54	0.44	0.97	6.04	0.69	0.22	0.99	5.34	0.64	0.23	0.99
BfR-CA- 18043	5	0.25	0.49	0.96	0.25	0.49	0.96	15.93	0.39	0.32	0.98	15.21	0.36	0.33	0.98
	8	0.26	0.97	0.85	0.26	0.96	0.85	20.89	0.77	0.86	0.88	13.36	0.35	0.89	0.87
	12	0.37	0.57	0.95	0.37	0.57	0.95	8.43	0.49	0.47	0.96	6.66	0.44	0.47	0.96

[†]Values obtained from the fit of all individual data points carried out at each temperature.

RMSE: root mean square error; R²: determination coefficient.
Table S2. Parameter estimates and goodness-of-fit[†] resulting from fitting different primary model equations to IPIU data of survival of *C. jejuni* in inoculated raw milk.

Strain	Temp. (°C)																				
		Bigelow (1 parameter)			Geeraerd without shoulder (2 parameter) (Bilinear (2 parameter)			Weibull (2 parameter)			Biphasic (3 parameter)							
		<i>k_{max}</i>	RMSE	R ²	<i>k_{max}</i>	Log ₁₀ N _{res}	RMSE	R ²	<i>k_{max}</i>	Log ₁₀ N _{res}	RMSE	R ²	ρ	δ	RMSE	R ²	f	k _{max} 1	k _{max} 2	RMSE	R ²
DSM 4688	5	0.02	0.17	0.51	0.22	4.63	0.11	0.79	0.04	4.6	0.11	0.79	0.21	568.82	0.07	0.92	0.67	0.28	0.005	0.11	0.81
	8	0.01	0.18	0.36	0.07	5.31	0.17	0.45	0.03	5.32	0.17	0.42	0.41	470.05	0.04	0.96	0.53	0.09	0.003	0.17	0.45
	12	0.02	0.16	0.51	0.35	5.14	0.11	0.77	0.03	5.05	0.12	0.74	0.21	800.5	0.08	0.88	0.59	0.55	0.008	0.09	0.82
BfR- CA- 18043	5	0.01	0.21	0.21	0.27	4.63	0.15	0.64	0.04	4.6	0.16	0.55	0.14	2247.65	0.15	0.63	0.71	0.29	0.002	0.15	0.64
	8	0.01	0.25	0.12	0.27	4.92	0.19	0.51	0.04	4.87	0.21	0.38	0.16	1098.85	0.19	0.50	0.67	0.45	0.006	0.2	0.44
	12	0.02	0.25	0.29	0.96	5.0	0.14	0.78	0.04	4.94	0.22	0.44	0.07	14513.2	0.13	0.80	0.75	1.46	0.004	0.13	0.79

[†]Values obtained from the fit of all individual data points carried out at each temperature.

RMSE: root mean square error; R²: determination coefficient.

Table S3. Estimated parameters for the linear secondary k_{max} model of *C. jejuni* strain BfR-CA-18043 and strain DSM 4688. Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.

Parameters	Fitted values (for log ₁₀	mean k_{max} per trial)	Fitted values (for all obtained <i>log</i> ₁₀ <i>k</i> _{max} estimates)				
	BfR-CA-18043	DSM 4688	BfR-CA-18043	DSM 4688			
Intercept	-0.6 (-0.790.41)	-0.35 (-0.470.24)	-0.6 (-0.74 0.44)	-0.35 (-0.450.25)			
Slope	0.03 (0.01 - 0.05)	0.01 (0.00 - 0.03)	0.03 (0.00 - 0.04)	0.01 (0.01 – 0.02)			
RMSE	0.07	0.03	0.09	0.05			

Table S4. Estimated parameters for the linear secondary δ model of *C. jejuni* strain BfR-CA-18043 and strain DSM 4688. Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.

Parameters	Fitted values (*for all obtained $log_{10} \delta$ estimates)								
	BfR-CA-18043	DSM 4688	Combination of BfR-CA- 18043 and DSM 4688						
Intercept	3.07 (1.46 – 4.68)	2.83 (1.1 - 4.56)	2.95 (1.9 - 4.0)						
Slope	0.02 (-0.17 - 0.2)	0.028 (-0.17 - 0.22)	0.023 (-0.1 – 0.14)						
RMSE	0.74	0.8	0.44						

Table S5. Comparison of observed and predicted concentration at a specific time point ($log_{10}N_t$) for *C. jejuni* CFU data in raw milk at different temperatures obtained by using the tertiary models for CFU data.

					D	SM 4688 de	erived mod	el	BfR-CA-18043 derived model				
					$Loq_{10} N_t$	(CFU/ml)	(CFU/ml) Validation values Log1		<u>Log₁₀ N_t (C</u>	FU/ml)	Validation values		
Ref ^a	Species	Strain	Temp. [°C]	Time [h]	Observe	Predicte	RMSE	R^2	Observed	Predicted	RMS	R^2	
					d	d					Е		
1	C. jejuni	DSM 4688	5	7	5.64	5.27			-	-	-	-	
					5.43	5.20							
					5.64	5.51							
					5.48	5.39							
				25	3.87	1.08							
					2.88	1.00							
					1.74	1.31							
					2.10	1.19							
				31	2.28	-0.1							
					1.07	-0.1							
					0.30	-0.1							
					0.48	-0.1	1.30	0.57					
2	C. jejuni	DSM 4688	5	18	5.21	2.56			-	-	-	-	
					4.98	2.56							
					4.58	2.56							
					5.05	2.56							
					4.36	2.22							
				24	4.49	1.16							
					4.06	1.16							
					3.25	1.16							
				42	2.49	-0.1							
					2.30	-0.1							
					1.48	-0.1							
					1.87	-0.1							
					1.28	-0.1							
				48	0.60	-0.1							
					1.11	-0.1							
					0.48	-0.1							

				66	-0.1	-0.1						
					-0.1	-0.1						
					-0.1	-0.1						
					0.00	-0.1	1 00	0.00				
1	C iojuni	DOM 4600	0	7	-0.1	-0.1	1.00	0.99				
I	C. jejuni	DSIVI 4000	0	1	5.40 5.20	5.40			-	-	-	-
				25	5.29	5.22						
				20	0.70	0.99	0.22	0.00				
4	<u>C</u> iaiuni	DOM 4600	10	6	0.40	0.01	0.22	0.99				
1	C. jejuni	DSIM 4688	12	0	4.96	5.22			-	-	-	-
				0	4.96	5.38						
				9	4.94	4.44						
				04	4.84	4.60						
				24	0.48	0.50	0.00	0.00				
4	C isiuni			7	0.60	0.00	0.30	0.98	F 7F	0.00		
1	C. jejuni	BIR-CA-18040	5	1	-	-	-	-	5.75	6.00		
									5.64	5.85		
									5.74	5.82		
				05					5.18	5.80		
				25					4.58	4.56		
									4.01	4.41		
									3.49	4.38		
				0.4					2.63	4.42		
				31					2.32	3.60		
									2.24	3.44		
									2.29	3.41		
				40					2.30	3.45		
				49					1.36	0.71		
									0.78	0.56		
									1.51	0.53		
									0.90	0.57	0.86	0.74
1	C. jejuni	BfR-CA-18043	8	7	-	-	-	-	5.82	6.00		
									5.71	5.83		
				25					5.00	4.01		
									4.84	3.84		

				31					3.44	2.68			
									1.64	2.51			
				49					0.48	-0.1			
									-0.1	-0.1	0.68	0.99	
1	C. jejuni	BfR-CA-18043	12	6	-	-	-	-	5.36	5.58			
									5.53	5.56			
				9					5.32	5.58			
									5.46	5.56			
				24					3.02	2.85			
									2.73	2.83			
				30					1.00	0.81			
									0.60	0 79	0 17	0 99	

9 Appendix 140

^a References: (1) this publication (2) Wulsten et al., 2020.
Comparison between the two models was not performed.

Table S6. Comparison of observed and predicted concentration at a specific time point $(log_{10}N_t)$ for *C. jejuni* IPIU data in raw milk at different temperatures obtained by using the tertiary model for IPIU data.

					<u>Log₁₀ N_t (IPIU/mI)</u>		Validation	
							<u>values</u>	
Ref ^a	Species	Strain	Temp.	Time	Observed	Predicte	RMSE	R^2
1	<u>C</u> iojuni	DSM 4699	[°C]	[n] 7	4.60	0 1 15		
I	C. jejuni	DSIVI 4000	5	1	4.00	4.40		
					4.50	4.47		
					4.75	4.70		
				25	4.00	4.20		
				20	4.43	4.32		
					4.52	4.34		
					4.55	4.03		
				21	4.04	4.15		
				51	4.30	4.30		
					4.20	4.32		
					4.00	4.01		
				40	4.23	4.13		
				49	4.33	4.20		
					4.59	4.27		
					4.52	4.00		
				70	4.44	4.00		
				13	4.44	4.20		
					4.43	4.21		
					4.34	4.30		
4	C iojuni		F	7	4.42	4.0Z		
I	C. jejuni	DIR-CA-10043	5	1	4.59	4.00		
					4.59	4.00		
					4.69	4.09		
				05	4.69	4.40		
				25	4.04	4.42		
					4.31	4.42		
					4.70	4.50		
				04	4.03	4.32		
				31	4.52	4.40		
					4.30	4.40		
					4.42	4.54		
				40	4.00	4.30		
				49	4.10	4.30		
					4.40	4.33		
					4.45	4.49		
				70	4.45	4.20		
				13	4.00	4.30		
					4.32	4.30		
					4.31	4.40		
2	C iojuni		Б	10	4.07	4.20 5.06		
2	C. jejuni	USIVI 4000	5	10	3.50	0.00 1 01		
					4.3U 1 72	4.01 150		
					4.13	4.00		
					4.13	4.10		
				04	4.90	4.90		
				24	J.ZŎ	J.UJ		

						4.63	4.78		
						4.43	4.55		
					42	5.26	4.96		
						4.39	4.71		
						4.35	4 4 8		
						4 32	4 65		
						4.85	4.00		
					18	5 33	4.00		
					40	1.00	4.95		
						4.29	4.70		
					66	4.40	4.47		
					00	5.20	4.91		
						4.45	4.66		
						4.38	4.43		
						4.81	4.60		
_						4.73	4.75	0.31	0.45
	1	C. jejuni	DSM 4688	8	7	5.18	4.86		
						5.27	5.34		
					25	5.09	4.77		
						5.03	5.25		
					31	5.06	4.75		
						5.07	5.23		
					49	5.03	4.71		
						5.05	5.19		
					73	4 90	4 67		
						4 97	5 15		
	1	C iejuni	BfR-CA-18043	8	7	4.82	4 92		
	I	0. jojuni	DIT-0A-10040	0	'	4.02	4.82		
					25	4.72	4.02		
					25	4.19	4.03		
					04	4.00	4.73		
					31	4.72	4.81		
					40	4.82	4.71		
					49	4.64	4.//		
						4.44	4.67		
					73	4.46	4.73		
_						4.62	4.63	0.20	0.21
	1	C. jejuni	DSM 4688	12	24	5.06	5.11		
						5.01	4.88		
					48	4.76	5.07		
						4.42	4.84		
					72	4.99	5.05		
						4.69	4.82		
	1	C. ieiuni	BfR-CA-18043	12	24	5.08	5.08		
		-]-]-				4.71	4.88		
					48	4 83	5.04		
						4.41	4.84		
					72	4 90	5.02		
						4 74	4 82	0.22	-0 057
						T.I T	7.04	0.22	0.001

9 Appendix 142

^a References: (1) this publication (2) Wulsten et al., 2020.

10 List of Publications

Journal articles:

<u>Knipper A.-D.</u>, Ghoreishi N., Crease T. (2022) Prevalence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in faeces of dairy cows: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 17(10): e0276018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276018

<u>Knipper A.-D.</u>, Göhlich S., Stingl K., Ghoreishi N., Fischer-Tenhagen C., Bandick N., Tenhagen B.-A., Crease T. (2023) Longitudinal study for the detection and quantification of *Campylobacter* spp. in dairy cows, during milking and in the dairy farm environment. *Foods*. 2023; 12(8):1639. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12081639

<u>Knipper, A.-D.</u>, Plaza-Rodríguez, C., Filter, M., Wulsten, I. F., Stingl, K., & Crease, T. (2023). Modeling the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk considering the viable but nonculturable cells (VBNC). Journal of Food Safety, e13077. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfs.13077

<u>Knipper, A.-D.</u>, Crease, T., Günther T., Filter M., Nauta M. (2023). Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for *Campylobacter* in raw milk of dairy cows in Germany. Microbial Risk Analysis, 25, 100274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2023.100274

Oral presentations:

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., Filter M., Nauta M., Evaluation of different risk mitigation strategies for *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain. 21st International workshop on *Campylobacter, Helicobacter* and Related Organisms (CHRO), 14.-19.11.2022, online

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, *Campylobacter* in Kot von Milchkühen. "Was wurde aus Alma?"-Abschluss-Symposium zum Organ-Sharing-Projekt 2020, 19.10.2022, Berlin, DE

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., Filter M., Nauta M., Quantitative microbiological risk assessment model for *Campylobacter* in raw milk. European Symposium - International Association for Food Safety (IAFP), 04.05.-06.05.2022, Munich, DE

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain. Junior Scientist Zoonoses Meeting, 03.-04.06.2021, online

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Development of predictive tenacity models for bacteria along the raw milk supply chain. Pre-Doc Symposium (Tagung der Promovierenden am BfR), 03.12.2020, Berlin, DE

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., Predictive tenacity model for *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain. RoKoCon 2020 - Outbreak Response, 30.10.2020, online

Poster presentations:

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., *Campylobacter* along the raw milk supply chain. Junior Scientist Zoonoses Meeting, 03.-04.06.2021, online

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Ghoreishi N., Buschhardt T., Prävalenz und Konzentration von *Campylobacter* spp. in Fäzes von Milchkühen: Eine systematische Literaturrecherche und Metaanalyse. Arbeitstagung des Arbeitsgebietes Lebensmittelsicherheit und Verbraucherschutz (DVG), 28.09.-30.09.2021, online

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Wulsten I. F., Göhlich S., Stingl K., Buschhardt T., Viability qPCR and CFU data acquisition for modelling survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk. International Symposium on Zoonoses Research, 13.-15.10.2021, online, 1st poster price

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Filter M., Wulsten I. F., Stingl K., Buschhardt T., Development of predictive survival models for *Campylobacter jejuni* in raw milk based on viability qPCR and CFU data. International Symposium on Zoonoses Research, 05.-07.10.2022, Berlin, DE, 3rd poster price

<u>Herbstmann A.-D.</u>, Buschhardt T., Filter M., Nauta M., Evaluation of risk mitigation strategies for *Campylobacter* in raw milk. 4. LGL-Kongress Lebensmittelsicherheit und Tiergesundheit, 25.10.-27.10.2022, Erlangen, DE

11 Danksagung

Zu allererst gilt mein Dank meiner Betreuerin Frau Dr. Tasja Crease für die Möglichkeit dieses interessante Thema innerhalb einer Promotion in der Nachwuchsgruppe der Abteilung Biologische Sicherheit des BfRs untersuchen zu dürfen. Ich danke ihr für das entgegen gebrachte Vertrauen und das hohe Maß an Freiheit bei der Durchführung und Ausgestaltung dieser Arbeit. Ich schätze sehr die daraus resultierenden Chancen und Herausforderungen. Gemeinsam konnten Hürden überwunden und Erfolge gefeiert werden. Zudem stand sie mir stets mit ehrlichem Rat zur Seite.

Mein Dank gilt Herrn Prof. Dr. Thomas Alter für die Übernahme der universitätsinternen Betreuung als Erstgutachter meiner Arbeit. Professor Dr. Charles Franz danke ich für die Übernahme des Zweitgutachten meiner Doktorarbeit.

Ich danke Herrn Dr. Maarten Nauta für die Möglichkeit eines wissenschaftlichen Austausches und Aufenthalt in Dänemark. Neben den Vorort neu erworbenen Kompetenzen, konnte ich ein fachliches Netzwerk generieren, dessen Expertise mich auch in meiner Zeit am BfR kontinuierlich begleitet hat. Vielen Dank für die fachliche Unterstützung und die persönliche Wertschätzung. Ich hoffe, dass wir auch in Zukunft diesen synergetischen Kontakt pflegen werden.

Ferner bedanke ich mich herzlich bei allen Personen aus den interdisziplinären Abteilungen und Fachgruppen des Bundesinstitutes für Risikobewertung, die mich bei der Durchführung dieser Arbeit unterstützt haben.

Ein besonderer Dank gilt Herrn Steven Göhlich, der mich nicht nur praktisch bei der Arbeit im Feld und Labor unterstützt hat, sondern auch stets ein offenes Ohr für mich hatte.

Ich danke Frau Dr. Kerstin Stingl für die konstruktive Diskussion wissenschaftlicher Fragestellungen, sowie die Möglichkeit, meine Laborarbeiten im Nationalen Referenzlabor für *Campylobacter* durchführen zu dürfen.

Zudem danke ich Herrn Matthias Filter für die fortwährende Unterstützung bei der Durchführung und Auswertung dieser Arbeit.

Privatdozent Dr. Bernd-Alois Tenhagen und Dr. Carolina Plaza Rodríguez danke ich für die fachliche Unterstützung zum Ende meiner Promotionszeit.

Mein Dank gilt ferner den Kolleginnen und Kollegen der Fachgruppe 41 und dem Nationalen Referenzlabor für *Campylobacter* für die fachliche und zwischenmenschliche Unterstützung. Insbesondere danke ich Laura, Anja, Dörte, Phine und Julia.

Bedanken möchte ich mich auch bei der DAAD-Stiftung für das Prof. Bingel Stipendium, das mir die Finanzierung meines Auslandaufenthaltes in Dänemark ermöglicht hat.

Mein größter Dank gilt meiner Familie, die mich immer liebevoll unterstützt und ermutigt hat!

12 Finanzierungsquellen

Gefördert wurde diese Arbeit vom Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung im Rahmen der Nachwuchsgruppe Warenkettenmodelle (Projekt 1323-104). Darüber hinaus wurde Anna-Delia Knipper während ihres Forschungsaufenthaltes in Dänemark durch das Prof. Bingel-Stipendium der DAAD-Stiftung gefördert.

13 Interessenskonflikte

Im Rahmen dieser Arbeit bestehen keine Interessenskonflikte durch Zuwendungen Dritter.

14 Selbstständigkeitserklärung

Hiermit bestätige ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig angefertigt habe. Ich versichere, dass ich ausschließlich die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfen in Anspruch genommen habe.

Berlin, den 16.02.2024

Anna-Delia Knipper